Optimisation of Anti-Platelet Therapy in Acute Coronary Syndromes

Thesis submitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy by **Richard Joaquim FitzGerald**

4th November 2019

Table of Contents

	Abbreviations	1
	Abstract	7
1	Introduction	8
1.1	Cardiovascular disease and acute coronary syndromes	8
1.1.1	Platelets as the fundamental agent in acute coronary syndromes	8
1.2	Anti-platelet agents	10
1.2.1	Aspirin	10
1.2.2	Clopidogrel	12
1.2.3	Prasugrel	13
1.2.4	Ticagrelor	16
1.2.5	Cangrelor	20
1.2.6	Direct Oral Anti-coagulants (DOACs)	21
1.2.7	Duration of anti-platelet therapy	22
1.3	Detecting and Measuring Response to Anti-Platelets	23
1.3.1	Light Transmittance Aggregometry (LTA)	24
1.3.2	VerifyNow	25
1.3.3	Multiplate	26
1.3.4	Platelet Function Analyser-100/200	27
1.3.5	Thromboxane Metabolites	29
1.3.6	Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein phosphorylation	29
1.3.7	Other Platelet Function Assays	30
1.3.8	Correlation between platelet function tests	32
1.3.9	Reproducibility over time	32
1.4	Potential modifiers of anti-platelet response	33
1.4.1	Compliance	33
1.4.2	Genetic Factors	34
1.4.3	Inflammation	44
1.4.4	Diabetes Mellitus	51
1.4.5	Hyperlipidaemia	55
1.4.6	Smoking	58
1.4.7	Gender	59
1.4.8	Anti-platelet dose	61
1.4.9	Drug interactions	62
1.5	Can we optimise anti-platelet therapy?	66
1.5.1	The potential for stratification	67
1.5.2	Genetic Stratification	68
1.5.3	Pharmacodynamic Stratification	70
1.5.4	Treatment of non-responders	71
1.6	Aims of the thesis	74
	Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacodynamic	
2	response to clopidogrel: a systematic review and meta-	76
2.4	anaiysis	70
2.1		/b To
2.2	ivietnoas	/9

2.2.1	Search Strategy	79
2.2.2	Data Extraction	79
2.2.3	Outcomes	79
2.2.4	Statistical Analysis	80
2.3	Results	80
2.3.1	Search Results and Study Characteristics	80
2.3.2	CYP2C19*2 and platelet reactivity	99
2.3.3	CYP2C19 metaboliser phenotype and platelet reactivity	103
2.3.4	Other CYP2C19 variants and platelet reactivity	106
2.3.5	CYP3A5*3 variants and platelet reactivity	107
2.3.6	CYP2C9*3 variants and platelet reactivity	107
2.3.7	ABCB1 C3435T and platelet reactivity	108
2.3.8	PON1 Q192R and platelet reactivity	110
2.4	Discussion	112
3	Influence of genetic polymorphisms on clinical response to	121
5	clopidogrel: a systematic review and meta-analysis	121
3.1	Introduction	121
3.2	Methods	124
3.2.1	Search Strategy	124
3.2.2	Data extraction	124
3.2.3	Outcomes	124
3.2.4	Statistical Analysis	124
3.3	Results	125
3.3.1	Search Results and Study Characteristics	125
3.3.2	Methodological Quality	126
3.3.3	Meta-analyses	126
3.3.4	CYP2C19*2 Polymorphism and Clinical Outcome Assessment	144
3.3.5	CYP2C19 metaboliser phenotype and Clinical Outcome Assessment	153
3.3.6	Other Polymorphisms and Clinical Outcome Assessments	160
3.4	Discussion	164
	The influence of genetic polymorphisms in aspirin's	
4	pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic pathway on	171
	platelet reactivity in aspirin treated patients with acute	
	coronary syndrome	
4.1	Introduction	171
4.2	Methods	1/4
4.2.1	Patient Cohort	174
4.2.2	Patient Selection	175
4.2.3	Outcome measures	1/5
4.2.4	Platelet Function testing	175
4.2.5	Selection of genetic polymorphisms	1/6
4.2.b	Genotyping Statistical Applysis	177
4.2./		177
4.3	Results	177
4.3.1		101
4.3.2	Genotyping	TQT

4.3.3	Allele and genotype frequencies	181
4.3.4	CYP2C9*2 and aspirin related platelet inhibition	181
4.3.5	CYP2C9*3 and aspirin related platelet inhibition	181
4.3.6	PEAR1 rs12041331 and aspirin related platelet inhibition	182
4.3.7	COX-1 rs10306114 (-824A>G) and aspirin related platelet inhibition	182
4.3.8	TBXA2R rs4523 (X308Y) and aspirin related platelet inhibition	182
4.3.9	UGT1A6 rs6759892 (S7A) and aspirin related platelet inhibition	183
4.3.10	UGT1A6 rs2070959 (T181A) and aspirin related platelet inhibition	183
4.3.11	UGT1A6 rs1105879 (R184S) and aspirin related platelet inhibition	184
4.4	Discussion	188
5	The relationship between OxLDL-β2GPI levels, lipid profile, platelet function and clinical outcomes in patients with an acute coronary syndrome treated with aspirin	196
5.1	Introduction	196
5.2	Methods	199
5.2.1	Patient Cohort	199
5.2.2	Patient Selection	200
5.2.3	OxLDL-β2GPI Assay	200
5.2.4	Lipid profile analysis	201
5.2.5	Platelet function testing	202
5.2.6	Statistical Analysis	202
5.3	Results	202
5.3.1	Patient Characteristics	202
5.3.2	Platelet Function Data	203
5.3.3	Relationship between OxLDL – β 2GPI complex levels and case-control status	203
5.3.4	Relationship between OxLDL- β 2GPI levels and lipid profiles	203
5.3.5	Relationship between OxLDL- β 2GPI levels and platelet reactivity	203
5.3.6	Relationship between platelet reactivity and case-control status	203
5.3.7	Relationship between lipid profile and case-control status	204
5.3.8	Relationship between lipid profile and platelet function	204
5.4	Discussion	210
6	The relationship between <i>Helicobacter Pylori</i> serology, <i>CYP2C19</i> genotype and clinical outcomes in patients with an acute coronary syndrome treated with clopidogrel and proton-pump inhibitors	220
6.1	Introduction	220
6.2	Methods	223
6.2.1	Patient Cohort	223
6.2.2	Patient Selection	224
6.2.3	H. Pylori Serology	224
6.2.4	CYP2C19 Genotype	224
6.2.5	Statistical Analysis	225
6.3	Results	226
6.3.1	Patient Characteristics	226
6.3.2	H. Pylori Serology	226

6.3.3	CYP2C19 genotype	226
6.3.4	Relationship between H. Pylori serology and case-control status	233
6.3.5	Relationship between CYP2C19 genotype and case-control status	233
6.3.6	Relationship between H. Pylori serology and CYP2C19 genotype	234
6.4	Discussion	239
7	Final Discussion	24
7.1	Genetic Factors	247
7.2	Platelet Function Testing	249
7.3	Inflammation and other clinical factors	25
7.4	Optimisation of anti-platelet therapy	25
7.5	Conclusion	25
8	Bibliography	25
Appendix 1	Reference List for Tables in Chapter 2	30
Appendix 2	Reference List for Tables in Chapter 3	317

	Tables	
2.1	Number of studies per gene and SNP	83
2.2	Number of studies per platelet function test	85
2.3	Characteristics of the studies included in the meta-analysis	86
2.4	Summary of all meta-analyses	95
3.1	Number of studies per gene and SNP	128
3.2	Number of studies per Clinical Outcome	130
3.3	MACE definitions per study	131
3.4	Characteristics of the studies included in meta-analysis	132
3.5	Summary of all meta-analyses	142
4.1	Genes and polymorphisms included in this analysis	178
4.2	Demographics of included patients	179
4.3	Summary of platelet function test data	180
4.4	Summary of PFA-100 defined aspirin response and genotype	185
4.5	Summary of Multiplate ASPI test defined platelet reactivity and genotype	187
5.1	Characteristics of included patients	205
5.2	Relationship between case-control status and platelet function	207
5.3	Relationship between case-control status, OxLDL- β 2GPI and lipid profile	208
5.4	Relationship between platelet function tests, OxLDL- β 2GPI and lipid profile	209
6.1	Characteristics of the included patients	227
6.2	H. Pylori serology results	229
6.3	Relationship between the <i>CYP2C19*17</i> polymorphism, case-control status and <i>H. Pylori</i> serology results	230

6.4	Relationship between the CYP2C19*2 polymorphism, case-control status and H. Pylori serology results	231
6.5	Relationship between the CYP2C19 metaboliser status, case-control status and <i>H. Pylori</i> serology results	232
6.6	CYP2C19*17 polymorphism sub-group analysis	236
6.7	CYP2C19*2 polymorphism sub-group analysis	237
6.8	CYP2C19 metaboliser phenotype sub-group analysis	238

Figures		
2.1	Literature Search results	81
2.2	LTA 5 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19*2	101
2.3	LTA 10 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19*2	101
2.4a	LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19*2	101
2.4b	LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19*2 (Unstable patients only)	101
2.5	VASP and CYP2C19*2	102
2.6	VerifyNow and CYP2C19*2	102
2.7	LTA 5 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19 Metaboliser Phenotype	104
2.8	LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19 Metaboliser Phenotype	104
2.9	VASP and CYP2C19 Metaboliser Phenotype	104
2.10	VerifyNow and CYP2C19 Metaboliser Phenotype	105
2.11	VerifyNow and CYP2C19*3	106
2.12	LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19*3	106
2.13	VerifyNow and CYP2C19*17	107
2.14	VerifyNow and CYP3A5*3	107
2.15	VerifyNow and CYP2C9*3	108
2.16	LTA 5 µmol/L ADP and <i>ABCB1</i> C3435T	108
2.17	LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and ABCB1 C3435T	109
2.18	VerifyNow and ABCB1 C3435T	109
2.19	VASP and ABCB1 C3435T	109
2.20	LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and PON1 Q192R	110
2.21	VASP and PON1 Q192R	110
2.22	VerifyNow and PON1 Q192R	111
3.1	Literature Search results	127
3.2	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and cardiovascular death	147
3.3	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and all-cause mortality	148
3.4	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and MACE	149
3.5	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and myocardial infarction	150
3.6	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and revascularisation	151
3.7	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and stent thrombosis	152
3.8	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19 metaboliser status and bleeding	155
3.9	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19 metaboliser status and CV death	156

3.10	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19 metaboliser status and MACE	157
3.11	3.11 Meta-analysis of <i>CYP2C19</i> metaboliser status and major bleeding	
3.12	Meta-analysis of CYP2C19 metaboliser status and stent thrombosis	159
3.13	Meta-analysis of ABCB1 C3425T and MACE	161
3.14	Meta-analysis of CYP3A5*3 and MACE	162
3.15	Meta-analysis of PON1 Q192R and MACE	163

Acknowledgements

I would like to recognise the many contributions made by others, without whom this thesis would not have been completed.

Firstly I would like to thank the following people for their immeasurable help in supporting me in laboratory work and data analysis: Dr Steven Lane (Chapter 2) and Dr Reynaldo Martina (Chapters 5 and 6), Dr Eunice Zhang (Chapters 5 and 6), Dr Suzannah Phillips (Chapter 5), Dr Mark Hopkins (Chapter 6), Laurence McEvoy (Chapters 5 & 6), Dr Dan Carr (Chapter 4), Dr Valentina Manzo (Chapter 5) and Dr Vanessa Fontana (Chapter 6). I would also like to thank the clinical pharmacology academic clinical lecturers (Dr Richard Turner, Dr Lauren Walker and Dr Vincent Yip) for all their invaluable tips on how to successfully write a thesis.

Secondly I would like to give my huge personal thanks to my supervisory team and other senior members of staff who have given their time to supporting and guiding me through my PhD. I would like to thank Prof Andrea Jorgensen for all her time guiding me through the various statistical analyses and checking my sometimes basic statistical work! I would also like to thank Prof Ana Alfirevic for all her support and motivation over the many years of my PhD. Most importantly, I would like to express my gratitude and thanks to my primary supervisor, Prof Sir Munir Pirmohamed, for his immense patience, mentorship and personal support to get me through to writing up this thesis. Without this, there would be no thesis. I would also like to recognise Sam Moss, whose motivational e-mails reminding me about deadlines were a huge factor in completing the thesis on-time (eventually) and whose support is much appreciated.

Finally, I would like to express my personal thanks to my friends and family. In particular I would like to thank Jenn Gibney and Becky Lyon for their endless cups of tea and personal support. I would also like to thank Tim Desai whose 'just get on with it' manner of support was surprisingly effective. Both of my parents emphasised the importance of education, and for that I am immensely grateful, as I am for my Dad's patience in the endless conversations about my thesis over the last few years. Despite my late mother's passing some years ago, I would also like to recognise that it is her tenacity that has also driven me to finally finish this thesis.

Most importantly, I would like to thank my wife, Lucy, and my daughter, Florence, for putting up with weekends and evenings where I have been either absent or sat writing or doing data analysis. Without their support, none of this would have been possible, and in many regards this thesis is testament to them rather than to me. Thank you both.

Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Term(s)
% inhib	% inhibition
11dhTXB2	11-dehydro thromboxane B2
AA	Arachidonic acid
ACE-I	Angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor
ACS	Acute coronary syndrome
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
Akt	Protein kinase B
AmA	Amino acid
ARB	Angiotensin-2 receptor blocker
ARU	Aspirin reaction units
ASA	Acetylsalicylic acid
AU	Aggregation units
AUC	Area under the curve
BD	Twice daily
CABG	Coronary artery bypass graft
CagA	Cytotoxin gene A
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
сс	Case-control
ССВ	Calcium channel blocker
CCS	Canadian Cardiovascular Society score
CD40L	CD40 Ligand
СЕРІ	Collagen-epinephrine cartridge
cGMP	Cyclic guanosine monophosphate
CI	Confidence interval
cIMT	Carotid intima-media thickness
CK-MB	Creatine kinase -muscle/brain
Cmax	Maximum concentration
Cont	Control subject
сох	Cyclo-oxygenase
CRP	C-reactive protein

СТ	Closure time
CV	Cardiovascular
CVA	Cerebrovascular disease
СҮР	Cytochrome
DAMP	Danger associated molecular pattern
DAPT	Dual anti-platelet therapy
DES	Drug eluting stent
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
Dom	Dominant model of inheritance
DOAC	Direct oral anti-coagulant
ECG	Electrocardiogram
ECP	Eosinophilic cationic protein
EGR-1	Immediate-early response gene
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EM	Extensive metaboliser
ENT	Equilibrative nucleoside transporter
FDA	Food and Drug Administration
Freq	Frequency
Funct Status	Functional status
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony stimulating factor
GOF	Gain of function
GWAS	Genome wide association study
Hb	Haemoglobin
Hct	Haematocrit
HDL-C	High density lipoprotein cholesterol
НР	Helicobacter Pylori
HR	Hazard ratio
hsCRP	high sensitivity C-reactive protein
HSP60	Heat shock protein 60
HTPR	High on-treatment platelet reactivity
HV	Healthy volunteer
Hyperlipid	Hyperlipidaemia
ICER	Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio

IFN	Interferon
lgG	Immunoglobulin G
IL	Interleukin
IM	Intermediate metaboliser
Interproc	Interprocedural
IntM	Indeterminate metaboliser
IP3	Inositol triphosphate
IPA	Inhibition of platelet aggregation
IPD	Individual patient data
IQR	Interquartile range
LD	Loading dose
LDL-C	Low density lipoprotein cholesterol
LLN	Lower limit of normal
LMWH	Low molecular weight heparin
LOF	Loss of function
LOX	Lipo-oxygenase
LOX-1	Lectin-type oxidised LDL receptor 1
LTA	Light transmittance aggregometry
LTA10	Light transmittance aggregometry, 10 μ mol/L ADP
LTA20	Light transmittance aggregometry, 20 μ mol/L ADP
LTA5	Light transmittance aggregometry, 5 μ mol/L ADP
MACE	Major adverse cardiovascular events
MAF	Minor allelic frequency
МСР	Monocyte chemoattractant protein
M-CSF	Macrophage colony stimulating factor
MD	Maintenance dose
MDA	Malondialdehyde-acetaldehyde
МІ	Myocardial infraction
mL	millilitre
ММР	Matrix metalloproteinase
MP	Multiplate
МРА	Maximal platelet aggregation
МРО	Myeloperoxidase

mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
МТ	Mutant type
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
Neg	Negative
NF	Nuclear factor
NLRP3	Nucleotide-binding domain, leucine rich protein
nm	Nanometre
NO	Nitrous oxide
NS	Not stated
NSTEACS	Non-ST elevation acute coronary syndrome
NSTEMI	Non ST-elevation myocardial infarction
ОСТ	Optical coherence tomography
OD	Once daily
OR	Odds ratio
OxHDL	Oxidised HDL
OxLDL	Oxidised LDL
PAPP-A	Pregnancy-associated plasma protein A
PAR	Protease-activated receptor
PC	Prospective cohort
PCI	Percutaneous coronary intervention
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PCSK9	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/Kexin type 9
PD	Pharmacodynamics
PEAR	Platelet endothelial aggregation receptor
PET	Positron emission tomography
PFA	Platelet function analyser
PGE1	Prostaglandin E1
PGI2	Prostaglandin I2 / Prostacyclin
P-gp	P-glycoprotein
РІЗК	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
РК	Pharmacokinetics
РКРД	Pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic
PLA2	Phospholipase A2

PM	Poor metaboliser
PON1	Paraoxonase 1
Pos	Positive
PPCI	Primary percutaneous coronary intervention
PPI	Proton pump inhibitors
PRI	Platelet reactivity index
PRU	P2Y12 reaction units
QALY	Quality adjusted life-year
QDS	Four times daily
RAGE	Receptor for advance glycation end products
RANTES	Regulated on activation, normal T cell expressed and secreted
RC	Retrospective cohort
RCT	Randomised controlled trial
Rec Angina	Recurrent angina
Regr	Regression analysis
RESIST	Resistant
Revasc	Revascularisation
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RPA	Residual platelet aggregation
RR	Relative risk
SCAD	Stable coronary artery disease
SD	Standard deviation
SENS	Sensitive
SMC	Smooth muscle cell
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
ST	Stent thrombosis
STEMI	ST-elevation myocardial infarction
T2DM	Type 2 diabetes mellitus
TBR	Target-to-background ratio
TEG	Thromboelastography
TG	Triglycerides
Th1	T helper 1 cells
TLR	Toll like receptors

TLR	Target lesion revascularisation
ТМВ	Tetramethylbenzidine
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
ТРО	Thrombopoetin
TVR	Target vessel revascularisation
TXA2	Thromboxane A2
ТХВ2	Thromboxane B2
UA	Unstable angina
ULN	Upper limit of normal
UM	Ultra-rapid metaboliser
VAR	Variable
VASP	Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein
VLDL-C	Very low density lipoprotein cholesterol
VN	VerifyNow
vWF	von Willebrand factor
WT	Wild type
β2GPI	Beta-2 Glycoprotein I

Abstract

Richard FitzGerald – Optimisation of anti-platelets in acute coronary syndromes

Acute coronary syndromes (ACS) are a major cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide. Platelets are central to the underlying pathology of ACS, and anti-platelet drugs, such as aspirin, clopidogrel and ticagrelor, form a cornerstone of its treatment. However, response to anti-platelet drugs is not uniform, with a substantial proportion of patients being nonresponsive to their effects, leading to an increase in risk of adverse cardiovascular events. Several mechanisms underlie this observed non-response, including clinical risk factors, genetic polymorphisms, drug interactions, medication adherence and inflammation. However, the data investigating these mechanisms are often contradictory with no consensus on how non-response should be detected or treated. This thesis sought to investigate easily detectable and potentially modifiable causes for anti-platelet nonresponse, which may have potential clinical utility.

Through comprehensive meta-analyses of the published literature, we demonstrated a consistent association between carriage of the *CYP2C19* loss-of-function polymorphisms, higher platelet reactivity and an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular events in clopidogrel treated patients. Importantly, we failed to demonstrate the effect of other genes such as *ABCB1, CYP3A5 and PON1*, which had been previously suggested as important in determining response to clopidogrel.

We failed to detect a clear association between genes in aspirin's pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic pathway and aspirin response, defined by two platelet function tests, in a cohort of patients with ACS. However, weak associations were detected between poor aspirin response and two polymorphisms in the *UGT1A6* and *TBXA2R* genes prior to correction for multiple testing, which may deserve further investigation in larger numbers of patients.

Given the importance of lipid oxidation in the context of vascular inflammation and the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis, we investigated the role of the OxLDL- β 2GPI complex in clinical outcomes, platelet reactivity and lipid profiles in ACS patients. We demonstrated an association between higher levels of OxLDL- β 2GPI and a lower risk of adverse cardiovascular events, which is not consistent with published clinical studies but is supported by *in vitro* and non-human data. We also detected a significant association between aspirin non-response and raised HDL to cholesterol ratios in patients, although there was no association between OxLDL- β 2GPI levels and platelet reactivity demonstrated.

Finally, we investigated whether *H. Pylori* which has been associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes due to increased inflammation may be responsible for the well-documented interaction between clopidogrel and proton pump inhibitors, which are often prescribed in patients with non-specific gastrointestinal symptoms. In a cohort of patients with ACS, we failed to demonstrate any association between *H. Pylori* serology and clinical outcome although an association between clinical outcome and carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele was observed, but only in *H. Pylori* negative patients. The underlying cause for this finding is unclear but may represent an interaction between PPI use and changes in the gastric flora induced by a higher gastric pH.

In summary, this thesis has identified the *CYP2C19* gene as a critical determinant of clopidogrel response which could be used as a biomarker for stratification of ADP receptor antagonists. In addition, we have identified putative biomarkers for aspirin response including the *TBXA2R* gene and clinical risk factors such as hyperlipidaemia. These data suggest that stratification and personalisation of anti-platelets is possible by using genetic and clinical biomarkers, and further, well-powered, clinical outcome studies are necessary.

Chapter 1 - Introduction

1.1: Cardiovascular disease and acute coronary syndromes

Cardiovascular disease remains one of the leading causes of death worldwide. Coronary atherosclerosis is a chronic process leading to progressive vascular stenosis and ischaemia. Acutely, however, rupture of atherosclerotic plaques and subsequent thrombosis, termed acute coronary syndromes (ACS), lead to substantial mortality and morbidity. Acute coronary syndromes are a spectrum of disorders defined on the basis of symptoms, biomarkers (such as troponin) and changes on electrocardiograms (ECGs). ST-elevation myocardial infarctions (STEMI) represent one end of the ACS spectrum and are responsible for over 1.8 million deaths annually in Europe alone (Ibanez et al., 2018). It is a common disorder, with an incidence rate between 43 and 100 per 100,000 per year and carries a significant risk of mortality both in hospital (4-12%) and after 1 year (10%). Diagnosis of STEMI rests on the presence of persistent ST-elevation on an ECG with typical symptoms and because of the significant mortality associated with it, an early invasive strategy utilising percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI) is generally preferred. Non-ST elevation acute coronary syndromes (NSTEACS) represent a more diverse range of conditions, with a generally lower short-term mortality compared to STEMIs but a broadly similar longer-term mortality beyond 2 years. However, NSTEACS can present with a range of different symptoms and ECG characteristics, with some presentations being low risk and others being very high risk with haemodynamic instability, arrhythmias and ongoing myocardial ischaemia. Consequently, treatment of NSTEACS varies dependent on the clinical presentation of a patient, with some patients requiring an early invasive strategy and others not (Roffi et al., 2016).

1.1.1: Platelets as the fundamental agent in acute coronary syndromes

Platelet activation, leading to aggregation and thrombus formation, is fundamental to the underlying pathology of most acute coronary syndromes (Siller-Matula et al., 2013). It is a complex and multi-step process, which can be influenced by a number of non-platelet specific factors such as inflammation, diabetes and hyperlipidaemia.

The initial rupture of an atherosclerotic plaque leads to collagen and von Willebrand Factor (vWF) being exposed to platelets via GPIb receptors (Siller-Matula et al., 2013, Marcucci et al., 2016). Collagen, in particular, is highly thrombogenic (Koltai et al., 2017) and binds directly to the platelet GPVI receptor. Activation of platelets via GPVI receptor binding leads to platelet activation and degranulation with increases in a number of platelet derived

mediators such as adenosine diphosphate (ADP), fibrinogen, P-selectin and Factor V. Release of these mediators activates phospholipase C, changing the conformation of the platelet GPIIbIIIa complex (Koltai et al., 2017). The conformational change in GPIIbIIIa is fundamental to the generation of platelet rich thrombi via several mechanisms. Firstly, it allows crosslinking with fibrinogen leading to both platelet to platelet adhesion and platelet to wall adhesion. Secondly, it activates both diacylglycerol and inositol triphosphate (IP3) leading to calcium influx and release of calcium from platelet stores. Thirdly, it increases intracellular platelet signalling which further increases platelet activation and release of pro-aggregatory mediators (Marcucci et al., 2016). The excess calcium released from intracellular stores and from increased calcium influx leads to conformation change in the platelet including shape change (increased free surface area) and degranulation into the platelet canicular system. Phospholipase A2 (PLA2) activation is also increased (Koltai et al., 2017) by excess calcium, liberating arachidonic acid (AA) from phospholipids, which is then converted to thromboxane A2 (TXA2) by the enzyme cyclo-oxygenase 1 (COX-1). TXA2 causes further activation of platelets (Koltai et al., 2017), acting in tandem with other agonists to significantly amplify platelet activation (Fitzgerald and Pirmohamed, 2011). Importantly, and relevant to the use of aspirin as an anti-platelet drug, TXA2 may also be generated by non-COX-1 dependent pathways, for example via PLA2, and is also a potent vasoconstrictor. Degranulation of platelet alpha granules releases coagulation factors and inflammatory mediators (Knowles and Warner, 2019) which stimulates thrombus formation, further platelet activation and endothelial dysfunction.

ADP released by platelet activation binds to platelet P2Y12 receptors and P2Y1 receptors, amplifying responses to various platelet agonists such as thrombin (Siller-Matula et al., 2013). Thrombin is a highly effective platelet agonist (Marcucci et al., 2016) binding via two thrombin receptors PAR-1 and PAR-4. Both receptors require very low concentrations of thrombin for activation (although PAR-4 requires a higher concentration than PAR-1), several fold lower than required for activation of the clotting cascade (Marcucci et al., 2016). P2Y12 stimulation also leads to platelet activation via inhibition of adenylate cyclase and reduction in platelet levels of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cGMP). Platelet cAMP and cGMP act as potent inhibitors of platelet activation and are modified substantially via endothelial interaction within the capillary bed (Knowles and Warner, 2019). Furthermore, the P2Y12 receptor induces release of alpha granules and consequent expression of P-selectin as well as stabilising platelet rich thrombi via GPIIbIIIa and Ia/IIa receptor activation. (Siller-Matula et al., 2013).

In addition, other mechanisms have been suggested to be involved in platelet aggregation. In particular, junctional adhesion molecules (JAM), signalling lymphocyte activation molecules (SLAM) and CD40 ligand have all been suggested as important in platelet rich thrombus formation and platelet activation (Koltai et al., 2017). Consequently, immune activation, inflammation and infection may also be potent stimulators of platelet activation.

Endothelial interactions are also key regulators of platelet activation (Knowles and Warner, 2019, Marcucci et al., 2016). In particular, inhibition of platelet activation can be driven via a number of endothelial derived factors including prostacyclin (PGI2) and nitrous oxide (NO) (Marcucci et al., 2016). Exposure to NO and prostacyclin increases platelet cAMP and cGMP which 'damp' platelet responses to agonists via a number of mechanisms including prevention of shape change, reducing P-selectin expression, inhibition of GPVI dimerization and reduction in calcium release and platelet degranulation (Knowles and Warner, 2019).

Given the pluripotent effects of TXA2, inhibition of COX-1 by Aspirin (Acetylsalicylic acid, ASA) is a bedrock of treating and preventing cardiovascular disease. Similarly, the P2Y12 receptor has multiple effects and is inhibited by thienopyridine drugs such as clopidogrel and prasugrel as well as by non-thienopyridine drugs such as ticagrelor and cangrelor. The combination of both ASA and a P2Y12 receptor inhibitor (dual antiplatelet therapy, DAPT) have become the primary treatment for reducing the risk of recurrent ischaemic events following an acute coronary syndrome, with additional drugs supporting the peri-event or peri-procedure period. In high-risk ACS or during percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI), drugs to inhibit GPIIb/IIIa can be administered in addition to DAPT to reduce the risk of ischaemic complications or stent thrombosis, although routine use in primary PCI (PPCI) is no longer recommended (Ibanez et al., 2018). Furthermore, new anti-platelet agents, such as thrombin receptor antagonists (Vorapaxar), have been licensed in combination with or DAPT or single anti-platelet therapy (Roffi et al., 2016).

1.2: Anti-platelet agents

1.2.1: Aspirin

ASA has been a bedrock of anti-platelet therapy in the context of ACS for many years. Aspirin irreversibly inhibits cyclooxygenase-1 (COX-1) via acetylation at the serine-529 position. Aspirin inhibits COX-1 in a dose-dependent manner (Patrignani et al., 1982) and is rapidly

absorbed in the GI tract with a half-life of 20 minutes prior to being converted to its inactive metabolite salicylic acid. Acetylation of COX-1 by aspirin is irreversible and its effect continues for the lifetime of the platelet. Given that platelets are replaced at around 10% of volume per day, global platelet function returns over a period of 2-5 days (Cai et al., 2016). A study by Pamuckcu, 2007, demonstrated that a single, 300mg, dose of aspirin can suppress both serum and urine thromboxane B2 (TXB2), a metabolite of TXA2, by up to 95% for 5 days (Pamukcu, 2007). However, recent evidence suggest that platelets may retain mRNA coding for COX-1 which may allow partial recovery from the irreversible COX-1 inhibition by aspirin (Weyrich et al., 2009).

Aspirin has been demonstrated to have a critical place in the management of cardiovascular disease and its prevention. The Anti-thrombotics Trialists' Collaboration (2002) (Antithrombotic Trialists, 2002) meta-analysis of 197 randomised controlled trials and 135, 640 patients, demonstrated a risk reduction of 25% for serious vascular events or cardiovascular deaths. Interestingly, there appeared to be no benefit of receiving high doses of aspirin (300mg) as opposed to lower doses of aspirin (75-150mg). Whilst this MA was performed in high risk patients, who would be assumed to gain greatest benefit from an antiplatelet agent, similar studies in a lower risk population have also shown the benefit of aspirin for prevention of adverse cardiovascular events (de Gaetano and Collaborative Group of the Primary Prevention, 2001) although the data for aspirin's utility in primary prevention alone is contradictory (Cai et al., 2016, McNeil et al., 2018b, McNeil et al., 2018c, McNeil et al., 2018a).

However, response to aspirin is not always uniform, and some patients may not receive the same benefit from aspirin as others (Michelson, 2004). In a recent study, Chen HY et al (Chen and Chou, 2018b) demonstrated a fourfold increase in risk of further cardiovascular events in a cohort of patients with stable cardiovascular disease, with 20% of patients defined as non-responsive to aspirin. However, in a larger, 900 patient cohort of stable cardiovascular disease, non-response to aspirin was not associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes in stable disease (Larsen et al., 2017). However, meta-analysis of reported trials do demonstrate a consistent effect of aspirin non-response on the rate of adverse cardiovascular events. In a 20 study, 2930 patient, meta-analysis, Krasopoulos et al (Krasopoulos et al., 2008) demonstrated a fourfold increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events and a six-fold increase in risk of death. Similarly, a meta-analysis by Snoep et al (Snoep et al., 2007a) also demonstrated a significant adverse effect on patients determined as aspirin resistant across a range of different measures.

1.2.2: Clopidogrel

Clopidogrel is a first-generation thienopyridine ADP receptor antagonist used in the treatment of both stable and unstable cardiovascular disease. Clopidogrel is a pro-drug that requires conversion to its active metabolite prior to binding and inhibition of the platelet P2Y12 receptor. It is an irreversible inhibitor of the P2Y12 receptor and, like aspirin, its effect continues for the life of the platelet.

Large randomised controlled trials have clearly demonstrated that clopidogrel significantly reduces mortality and adverse cardiovascular events. In the CURE trial, clopidogrel reduced mortality, non-fatal myocardial infarction and non-fatal stroke from 11.4% in the placebo group to 9.3% in the clopidogrel group (Relative Risk (RR) 0.80; 95% Confidence Interval (CI) 0.72-0.90, p <0.001) (Yusuf et al., 2001). This finding has been mirrored by other large RCTs such as CHARISMA, CREDO and CLARITY-TIMI 28 (Bhatt et al., 2006, Sabatine et al., 2005, Steinhubl et al., 2002). In addition, a meta-analysis by Berger et al of all blinded, randomised controlled trials comparing clopidogrel to placebo, demonstrated a 14% proportional reduction in risk of cardiovascular events (Odds Ratio (OR) 0.86; 95% CI 0.80-0.93) (Berger et al., 2009). Clopidogrel has been evaluated for safety in over 42,000 patients in clinical trials in addition to over 15 years of clinical experience. The commonest adverse event, given its mode of action, is bleeding. The risk of bleeding with clopidogrel (as with other anti-platelets) is modified by the context of its use: bleeding risk is highest in studies including patients with unstable cardiovascular disease as compared to studies only including stable patients. For example, in the CURE study which included patients with unstable cardiovascular disease, the bleeding rate in the first month was 9.6% in the clopidogrel arm and 6.6% in the placebo arm. The risk of bleeding diminished over the course of follow up, with the risk of bleeding in the clopidogrel arm 1.9% and in the placebo arm 1.0% in the 9 to 12 month period (Yusuf et al., 2001). In contrast to the CURE study, the CHARISMA study, which included patients with stable cardiovascular disease, the incidence of bleeding was much lower with 1.7% of patients suffering a bleed in the clopidogrel arm compared to 1.3% in the placebo arm (Bhatt et al., 2006).

Of recent, non-response to clopidogrel has become an important clinical issue particularly in relation to PCI and the advent of newer, more potent P2Y12 antagonists such as prasugrel and ticagrelor. In a meta-analysis of 25 studies investigating clopidogrel non-response and PCI, Snoep and colleagues reported a 21% prevalence of clopidogrel non-response corresponding to an eight-fold increase in the risk of an adverse cardiovascular event (OR

8.0; 95% CI 3.4-19.0) post procedure (Snoep et al., 2007b). Furthermore, individual studies have highlighted clopidogrel non-response as the single most important factor in predicting both stent thrombosis and cardiovascular outcome following PCI (Lev et al., 2007a). However, as is the case with aspirin non-response, it is not immediately clear how non-response should be looked for nor is it clear how it should be treated if found.

As clopidogrel is a pro-drug, it requires activation to its active metabolite, R-130694. Clopidogrel activation is a two-step process involving several cytochrome P450 (CYP) isoforms, with CYP2C19, 1A2 and 2B6 postulated for the first metabolic step and 2C19, 2C9 and 2B6 responsible for the second (Gurbel et al., 2009). CYP2C19 appears to be the primary CYP isoform for both steps in this process although the 3A4 isoform is also involved in clopidogrel's activation. Given the complex activation process, it is likely that most variability in clopidogrel response can be explained to some degree by it, an argument substantially strengthened by the known variability in CYP isoforms and risks of interactions caused by enzyme induction or inhibition. In addition, clopidogrel is also a substrate for the drug efflux transporter, P-glycoprotein (P-gp), and consequently alterations in the activity of P-gp may alter the intestinal absorption of clopidogrel, with a marked increase (Taubert et al., 2006) in clopidogrel accumulation demonstrated in the presence of P-gp inhibitors. Indeed, the newer anti-platelet drugs have been designed to avoid this risk.

1.2.3: Prasugrel

Prasugrel, like clopidogrel, is an irreversible thienopyridine P2Y12 receptor antagonist. It is licensed for the treatment of unstable cardiovascular disease for at least 12 months following an acute coronary syndrome or STEMI. As with clopidogrel, it remains bound to the P2Y12 receptor for the lifetime of the platelet.

Prasugrel is a third generation thienopyridine agent, with a faster onset time compared to clopidogrel (Greenhalgh et al., 2015). In the pivotal TRITON-TIMI 38 trial, prasugrel was demonstrated to be superior to clopidogrel in reducing the primary composite endpoint of Major Adverse Cardiovascular Events (MACE) (comprising cardiovascular death, non-fatal myocardial infarction (MI) and non-fatal stroke). TRITON-TIMI 38 included patients with moderate to high risk non ST-elevation ACS (NSTEACS) (N=10,074) and ST-elevation MI (STEMI) (N=3534) undergoing PCI who were randomised to receive either clopidogrel (loading dose 300mg, maintenance dose 75mg) or prasugrel (loading dose 60mg, maintenance dose 10mg) co-administered with aspirin (75 to 162 mg). During the follow up period (15 months), the primary endpoint occurred in 12.1% of patients treated with

clopidogrel compared to 9.9% of patients treated with prasugrel (Hazard ratio (HR) 0.81; 95% CI 0.73-0.90, P < 0.001). The benefit of prasugrel was seen both early (up to day 3 post randomisation) and late (from 3 days post randomisation to completion of follow up) and significant benefit was observed in both NSTEACS patients and STEMI patients (Wiviott et al., 2007). Interestingly, the benefit of prasugrel over clopidogrel is primarily driven by the reduction in non-fatal MIs in the prasugrel group; other components of the primary outcome occur at similar rates in both the prasugrel and clopidogrel groups, and it should be noted that the loading dose of clopidogrel administered in the trial is lower than conventional practice in the UK currently (300mg vs 600mg). Importantly, in the CURENT-OASIS 7 study (Mehta et al., 2010), there appeared to be no significant difference in outcomes between patients receiving a 600mg loading dose of clopidogrel as opposed to those receiving a 300mg loading dose. However, a subgroup analysis of patients in the study treated with PCI suggests that there may be a benefit of using a 600mg loading dose of clopidogrel versus 300mg and would be more consistent with the trial population in TRITON-TIMI 38. Metaanalysis of other trials comparing 600mg and 300mg loading doses of clopidogrel also support the use of the higher loading dose (Lotrionte et al., 2007).

The TRILOGY-ACS study assessed the benefit of prasugrel versus clopidogrel in a cohort of NSTEACS patients who were managed without PCI/revascularisation. A total of 9326 patients were enrolled and randomised to receive clopidogrel (75mg) or prasugrel (10mg or 5 mg (if <60 Kg, \geq 75 years)) and were followed up for a minimum of 6 months and a maximum of 30 months. In the clopidogrel group, the primary endpoint of CV death, non-fatal MI and non-fatal stroke occurred in 16.0% of patients versus 13.9% for the prasugrel group (HR 0.91; 95% CI 0.79-1.05, P=0.21). Whilst TRILOGY-ACS did not demonstrate a clear benefit of prasugrel over clopidogrel in NSTEACS treated without revascularisation, a time-dependent divergence of the survival curves did occur 12 months post randomisation in patients under the age of 75 years, with prasugrel demonstrating significant reductions in the rates of the primary composite outcome, myocardial infarctions and strokes but not cardiovascular deaths (Roe et al., 2012).

Recent meta-analyses comparing prasugrel and clopidogrel have been inconsistent. A network meta-analysis by Shah and colleagues (Shah et al., 2017) demonstrates that prasugrel is superior to clopidogrel across a range of cardiovascular endpoints: MACE (OR 0.87; 95% CI 0.80-0.94), recurrent MI (OR 0.89; 95%CI 0.82-0.98) and stent thrombosis (OR 0.48; 95% CI 0.36-0.64) but was not superior to clopidogrel in preventing all-cause or cardiovascular death. Interestingly, a further recent network meta-analysis from Westman

et al, including both randomised controlled trials and other non-randomised studies, failed to demonstrate any significant benefit of prasugrel when compared to clopidogrel (Westman et al., 2017), a finding in agreement with a meta-analysis by Bavishi et al (Bavishi et al., 2015). In addition, health economic comparative effectiveness evaluation of prasugrel compared to clopidogrel based on a created retrospective matched cohort of prasugrel and clopidogrel treated patients using a US health insurance database demonstrated that clopidogrel and prasugrel were equivalent for time to hospital admission following initial discharge. Furthermore, clopidogrel appeared to be superior to prasugrel for early hospitalisation (within the first month), but not at 1 year (Olson et al., 2014, Olson et al., 2015). Finally, real world data following acute myocardial infarction using a different US hospital group database suggest that prasugrel treated patients have a lower cardiovascular related hospitalisation rate in comparison to clopidogrel patients at 30 days and 90 days from the index hospital admission, with no significant increase in bleeding related re-admissions (Bae et al., 2014).

From a safety perspective, prasugrel has been associated with a higher bleeding risk when compared to clopidogrel, in keeping with prasugrel being a more potent anti-platelet agent. In TRITON-TIMI 38, 2.4% of patients in the prasugrel arm suffered a TIMI major haemorrhage in comparison to 1.8% in the clopidogrel arm (HR 1.32; 95% CI 1.03 – 1.68, P=0.03). In addition, the risk of life-threatening bleeding was higher in the prasugrel arm compared to clopidogrel (HR 1.52; 95%CI 1.08-2.13) (Wiviott et al., 2007). However, in TRILOGY –ACS, no significant difference in GUSTO Severe or Life-Threatening bleeding or TIMI Major bleeding was observed between the prasugrel and clopidogrel groups (GUSTO Severe / Life Threatening 0.4% vs 0.4% respectively; TIMI Major 1.1 vs 0.8%) (Roe et al., 2012). An excess of major bleeding events from prasugrel in comparison to clopidogrel was also reported by Shah et al's recent network meta-analysis (Shah et al., 2017) (OR 1.26; 95% CI 1.03-1.56) and Bavishi et al's meta-analysis (Bavishi et al., 2015) (RR 1.32; 95% CI 1.05-1.67) but not Westman et al's meta-analysis (Westman et al., 2017).

Despite the overall view that prasugrel has superior anti-platelet activity to clopidogrel, concerns about high on-treatment platelet reactivity on prasugrel have recently emerged. HTPR has been reported in patients taking prasugrel, including in patients with verified compliance. In a cohort of AMI patients, Sato et al (Sato et al., 2017) demonstrated a strong association between MACE and presence of prasugrel related HTPR, which was observed in 19 out of 78 patients. Similarly, in the context of PCI in ACS, 25.2% of patients receiving a loading dose of prasugrel were found to have HTPR, and in those with HTPR, 30 day incidence

of MACE was significantly higher compared to those without HTPR (Bonello et al., 2011). The incidence of HTPR in patients on prasugrel appears also to be a function of dose, similar to HTPR observed in clopidogrel treated patients, with higher doses having lower incidence of HTPR compared to lower doses (Ferreiro et al., 2013). Importantly, the assay used to determine platelet reactivity has a significant impact on the proportion of patients determined to have HTPR, with poor agreement across different assays (Ferreiro et al., 2013). Further discussion on PD assays and impact on platelet reactivity is covered later in this chapter.

Like clopidogrel, prasugrel is a pro-drug that requires activation via a two-step process. On oral administration, prasugrel is converted rapidly to an inactive thiolactone metabolite (R-95913) by intestinal esterases. This thiolactone metabolite is subsequently metabolised to an active metabolite (R-138727) by a number of CYP450 enzymes (3A4, 3A5, 2B6, 2C19, 2C9) which, unlike clopidogrel, does not depend on a specific CYP to undertake the majority of its metabolism. Consequently, there is less variability in prasugrel active metabolite exposure with fewer interacting drugs or genetic polymorphisms as compared to clopidogrel (Siller-Matula et al., 2013).

1.2.4: Ticagrelor

Ticagrelor, is a novel, first in-class, P2Y12 receptor antagonist. Structurally, ticagrelor is a cyclopentyl-tiazolo-pyrimidine which, unlike the thioenopyridines, binds to the P2Y12 receptor, reversibly, via an allosteric modulation site which prevents ADP binding to the receptor.

In the pivotal PLATO trial, 18,624 patients with either STEMI or NSTEACS were randomised to receive ticagrelor (180mg loading dose followed by 90mg twice daily) or clopidogrel (300 to 600mg loading dose followed by 75mg once daily) for 12 months. The PLATO study demonstrated that ticagrelor was superior to clopidogrel in reducing the primary composite outcome measure of MACE (defined as cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction or stroke). In patients administered ticagrelor, the endpoint occurred in 9.8% compared to 11.7% in those being treated with clopidogrel (Hazard ratio (HR) 0.84; 95% CI 0.77-0.92, P<0.001) (Wallentin et al., 2009). The benefit of ticagrelor over clopidogrel was observed for individual endpoints in addition; including cardiovascular death (4.0% vs 5.1% respectively, P=0.001), myocardial infarction (5.8% vs 6.9%, P=0.005) and all-cause mortality (4.5% vs 5.9%, P<0.001) although the rate of stroke did not differ significantly between ticagrelor and clopidogrel treated patients. Interestingly, the benefit of ticagrelor over clopidogrel

appeared to be greater beyond 30 days from randomisation as compared to before 30 days (composite endpoint event rate, days 1 to 30: 4.8% in the ticagrelor arm versus 5.4% in the clopidogrel arm; HR 0.88; 95% CI 0.77-1.00, P=0.045, days 31-360: 5.3% vs 6.6%; HR 0.80; 95% CI 0.70-0.91, P <0.001). Importantly, the benefit of ticagrelor over clopidogrel was observed in both NSTEACS and STEMI patients, irrespective of whether invasive treatment was used or not. In contrast, prasugrel showed clear superiority over clopidogrel only in the context of an invasive strategy in both STEMI and NSTEACS (as demonstrated in TRITON-TIMI 38) and did not demonstrate superiority over clopidogrel in medically managed NSTEACS patients in the TRILOGY-ACS study.

In the earlier DISPERSE-2 study, ticagrelor (90mg and 180mg doses) was compared with clopidogrel (75mg) in a randomised control trial for 12 weeks. A total of 990 patients were randomised equally to receive the three treatment regimens, with a trend observed of lower MI rate in the ticagrelor arms which did not meet statistical significance (Cannon et al., 2007).

However, in the PHILO study, comparing ticagrelor and clopidogrel in Japan and East Asian countries in patients with either STEMI or NSTEACS, ticagrelor failed to show a clear benefit over clopidogrel (Goto et al., 2015). In this study of 801 Japanese and East Asian patients randomised to receive either ticagrelor (180mg loading dose, 90mg BD thereafter) or clopidogrel (300mg loading dose, 75mg od thereafter), the occurrence of the primary composite endpoint (cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction or stroke) was 9.0% in the ticagrelor arm and 6.3% in the clopidogrel arm (HR 1.47; 95% CI 0.88-2.44). Notably, the sample size for this study was small in comparison to conventional phase III studies, with a high rate of PCI performance which may have contributed to the lack of clear data from this study. Similarly, in the EUCLID study, 13855 patients with peripheral arterial disease (PAD), ticagrelor was not demonstrated to be better than clopidogrel for the prevention of a composite endpoint of cardiovascular death, MI or stroke (13.0% for ticagrelor treated patients versus 13.3% in clopidogrel treated patients (HR 1.01; 95% CI 0.88-1.15, P=0.90)). In addition, there was no evidence that ticagrelor was superior to clopidogrel in reducing acute limb threatening events (Jones et al., 2017).

Whilst existing data suggest that ticagrelor is superior to clopidogrel, no large randomised studies have addressed the relative clinical efficacy of ticagrelor compared to prasugrel. The PRAGUE-18 study (Motovska et al., 2016) randomised 1230 STEMI patients being treated with PPCI. No difference between prasugrel and ticagrelor was observed for the composite primary endpoint of death, re-infarction, urgent target vessel revascularisation (TVR), stroke

or serious bleeding at 7 days (4.0% in the prasugrel group versus 4.1% in the ticagrelor group (OR 0.98; 95% CI 0.55-1.73, P=0.939)) or the composite secondary outcome of cardiovascular death, myocardial infarction or stroke (2.7% vs 2.5% (OR 1.06; 95% CI 0.53-2.15; P=0.864)). Similarly, at 12 months, no significant differences between prasugrel and ticagrelor was demonstrated (Motovska et al., 2018). These data are in keeping with the Bayesian network meta-analysis conducted by Shah et al which failed to demonstrate any significant differences between ticagrelor and prasugrel (Shah et al., 2017).

Like prasugrel, ticagrelor appears to be associated with an increased bleeding risk compared to clopidogrel. In the PLATO trial, whilst the overall rate of major bleeding was similar between ticagrelor and clopidogrel, there appeared to be a significant increase on noncoronary artery bypass graft (CABG) related bleeding in the ticagrelor arm compared to the clopidogrel arm (4.5% vs 3.8%, P=0.03) (Wallentin et al., 2009). However, there was no evidence of a significant increase in bleeding risk from ticagrelor in the PHILO study, although the rate of major bleeding was numerically higher in the ticagrelor arm (10.3% vs 6.8%, HR 1.54; 95% CI 0.94-2.53) (Goto et al., 2015) which is also in keeping with bleeding data from the DISPERSE-2 trial (Cannon et al., 2007). Ticagrelor is also associated with adverse events which appear unrelated to its anti-platelet action and may be related to an increased level of adenosine. In the PLATO trial, dyspnoea was reported significantly more often in the ticagrelor arm compared to the clopidogrel arm (13.8% vs 7.8%, P<0.001) although the rate of discontinuation from this adverse effect was very low (0.9% vs 0.1%, P<0.001). In addition, Holter monitor data demonstrated an increased number of ventricular pauses of greater than 3 seconds in patients administered ticagrelor (5.8% vs 3.6%, P=0.01) although these appeared to be asymptomatic with no significant differences in syncope or PPM insertion between the ticagrelor and clopidogrel groups (Wallentin et al., 2009). A significant increase in dyspnoea in ticagrelor treated patients was also observed in the DISPERSE-2 study (statistically significant) and PHILO study (not statistically significant) (Cannon et al., 2007, Goto et al., 2015).

Dyspnoea secondary to ticagrelor appears to be an adenosine mediated effect via stimulation of A1 and A2A receptors in the airways' vagal C-fibres (Unverdorben et al., 2016). Ticagrelor has been demonstrated to increase adenosine concentrations by reducing adenosine uptake via inhibition of the sodium-independent equilibrative nucleoside transporter (ENT) – 1 (Wittfeldt et al., 2013). Ticagrelor's effect on adenosine metabolism may also explain its superiority over clopidogrel in the PLATO study. Whilst previous antiplatelet studies have demonstrated improvements in outcome measures such as non-fatal

MI, the PLATO study is unusual in that there is an almost universal superiority of ticagrelor over clopidogrel across clinical outcome measures and, most notably, cardiovascular death. In addition, the survival curves for ticagrelor and clopidogrel continue to diverge in the longer term, suggesting that ticagrelor has unexpected effects beyond platelet inhibition. Central to explaining these findings has been the hypothesis that increased adenosine concentrations are fundamental to ticagrelor's off-target beneficial effects (Gurbel et al., 2016). In a healthy volunteer, randomised, double blind, placebo-controlled study, Wittfeldt et al (Wittfeldt et al., 2013) demonstrated that a single 180mg ticagrelor dose significantly increased adenosine induced coronary blood flow velocity and the sensation of dyspnoea in the study subjects. In patients with ACS, ticagrelor increases the plasma concentration of both adenosine and cAMP, an increase which is significantly higher than observed with clopidogrel (Li et al., 2017c). The concentrations of adenosine and cAMP showed only weak correlation with platelet inhibition however, suggesting that the increase in adenosine concentrations has only a limited effect on ticagrelor's anti-platelet action. In addition, ticagrelor also increases adenosine mediated myocardial blood flow in ACS patients as compared to clopidogrel (Pelletier-Galarneau et al., 2017), a finding in keeping with the apparent improvement in endothelial dysfunction (as measured by flow mediated and nitro-glycerin mediated dilation) with ticagrelor compared to clopidogrel (Mangiacapra et al., 2016). Taken together, these data suggests that the 'cryptic' effect of ticagrelor is mediated by inhibition of adenosine reuptake with consequent improvement in blood flow, endothelial dysfunction and, consequently, vascular inflammation (Wittfeldt et al., 2013, Gurbel et al., 2016).

Unlike prasugrel and clopidogrel, ticagrelor is a directly acting anti-platelet drug with no requirement for hepatic conversion into an active metabolite (Holmberg et al., 2013). However, ticagrelor is extensively metabolised to two major metabolites, AR-C124910XX and AR-C133913XX via CYP3A4 and CYP3A5. AR-C124910XX also has anti-platelet properties in addition to the parent drug although its effects on clinical outcomes are relatively small (Holmberg et al., 2015). In addition, ticagrelor is a substrate for P-glycoprotein.

Despite ticagrelor's superiority over clopidogrel in clinical trials and its more potent antiplatelet action, HTPR during ticagrelor treatment has been observed. In a meta-analysis from Lemesle et al (Lemesle et al., 2015) of 14 studies in 1822 patients, the overall HTPR rate was 6.1% with a significantly lower rate in patients taking ticagrelor in comparison to prasugrel (1.5% vs 9.8%, RR 0.27; 95% CI 0.14-0.50, P<0.0001). In addition, HTPR rate varied dependent on the timing and type of dose, with studies investigating loading doses reporting higher HTPR rates than studies investigating maintenance doses. In keeping with other studies, the rate of HTPR is dependent on the type of platelet function assay being used, with VASP reporting higher rates of HTPR than VerifyNow for example. However, these data suggest that HTPR on ticagrelor is less common than with the thienopyridine drugs, such as clopidogrel and prasugrel. Further detail about platelet function testing and the impact of various factors on HTPR are covered later in this introductory chapter.

1.2.5: Cangrelor

Cangrelor is a novel intravenous anti-platelet drug which, similar to ticagrelor, binds reversibly and directly to the P2Y12 receptor (Qamar and Bhatt, 2016). As it is administered intravenously, cangrelor's anti-platelet effect is exerted almost immediately, with maximum plasma concentrations occurring around 2 minutes after administration (Sible and Nawarskas, 2017).

Three large phase III studies have demonstrated the efficacy of cangrelor compared to clopidogrel as part of the CHAMPION programme. CHAMPION PLATFORM (Bhatt et al., 2009) randomised P2Y12 naïve patients to either cangrelor or placebo followed by a 600mg dose of clopidogrel, in the context of PCI and unstable cardiac disease. No significant differences in the primary outcome (composite of death, myocardial infarction or ischaemia-driven revascularisation) was observed in the cangrelor group compared to clopidogrel (7.0% vs 8.0%, OR 0.87; 95%CI 0.71-1.07, P=0.17) although a significant reduction in stent thrombosis and a composite of death and Q wave myocardial infarction was observed for cangrelor treated patients. Similarly, CHAMPION PCI (Harrington et al., 2009) did not detect a significant benefit of cangrelor over clopidogrel in a cohort of patients with unstable cardiac disease. Both trials were stopped early given the low likelihood of reaching significance for the primary outcome measure. However, it is likely that the negative results from both the CHAMPION PLATFORM and PCI studies were, at least partly, caused by the definition of periprocedural MI (creatine kinase MB (CK-MB) of 3x the upper limit of normal (ULN)) used in both studies which resulted in some patients being classified as having a peri-procedural MI when it was more likely that the CK-MB was continuing to rise from the initial ACS (Faxon, 2010). Subsequent re-analysis of the CHAMPION PLATFORM and PCI trial datasets using the universal definition of MI suggest that, even with premature termination, both trials did demonstrate that cangrelor was superior to the comparator in each of the trials (Sible and Nawarskas, 2017). Moreover, a further RCT, CHAMPION PHOENIX (Bhatt et al., 2013) demonstrated that cangrelor is superior to clopidogrel in a cohort of patients with both stable and unstable cardiac disease undergoing PCI. The primary endpoint of death from any

cause, myocardial infarction, ischaemia driven revascularisation and stent thrombosis occurred in 4.7% of the cangrelor group in comparison to 5.9% in the clopidogrel group (OR 0.78; 95% CI 0.66-0.93, P=0.005). In CHAMPION PHOENIX there was no evidence that cangrelor was associated with an increased risk of either GUSTO defined or TIMI defined bleeding; in both CHAMPION PLATFORM and PCI there was a significant association between GUSTO defined mild bleeding and cangrelor use, however, no association was observed for GUSTO defined major or life threatening bleeding nor any TIMI defined bleeding. A significant increase in dyspnoea events in the cangrelor group was observed across all three CHAMPION studies, in keeping with the existing data on ticagrelor.

Because of the nature of the conformational change in the P2Y12 receptor when cangrelor binds to it, neither prasugrel's nor clopidogrel's active metabolite can bind to the P2Y12 receptor whilst cangrelor is bound to it. Consequently, clopiodgrel and prasugrel must be administered at the end of the cangrelor infusion and not before it, given the short half-life of both of those drugs' active metabolite. Conversely, ticagrelor binds to an alternative site on the P2Y12 receptor and can therefore be administered during the infusion which will ensure sufficiently deep platelet inhibition to prevent ischaemic outcomes post PCI (Sible and Nawarskas, 2017).

1.2.6: Direct Oral Anti-Coagulants (DOACs)

Of recent, DOACs have been investigated in the context of ACS and stable coronary artery disease, with a particular focus on apixaban and rivaroxaban whose mechanism of action is inhibition of factor Xa and consequent reduction in thrombin generation (Khan et al., 2018). However, despite a similar mechanism of action, the effect on cardiovascular outcomes is markedly different between apixaban and rivaroxaban.

In the APPRAISE study (Committee et al., 2009) of 1715 patients with recent ACS, apixaban in combination with aspirin and/or clopidogrel failed to significantly reduce further cardiovascular events but did increase the risk of bleeding in a dose-dependent manner. Similarly, the larger APPRAISE-2 study (Alexander et al., 2011) was terminated prematurely following recruitment of 7392 patients with ACS due to significant increase in bleeding risk in apixaban treated patients without demonstrated benefit in reduction of recurrent cardiovascular events. In further analyses of the APPRAISE-2 trial data the risk of bleeding was not dependent on the use of single or dual antiplatelet therapy (Hess et al., 2015) given that over two thirds of patients enrolled into APPRAISE-2 were receiving both aspirin and

clopidogrel. Given these data, apixaban is not recommended for secondary prevention of ischaemic events following an acute coronary syndrome.

Conversely, rivaroxaban is licensed for use in secondary prevention, in addition to aspirin, in patients with unstable and stable cardiovascular disease. In the ATLAS ACS 2-TIMI 51 study (Mega et al., 2012), rivaroxaban significantly reduced the risk of MACE compared to placebo in 15,526 patients with recent ACS (HR 0.84; 95% CI 0.74 – 0.96, P=0.008) although the risk of major bleeding was significantly increased in the rivaroxaban treated patients (HR 3.96; 95%CI 2.96 – 6.38, P < 0.001). In a further sub-analysis of the ATLAS ACS 2-TIMI 51 data (Mega et al., 2013), no significant difference in the MACE outcome was noted for the two rivaroxaban dose schedules used in the study (2.5mg twice daily or 5mg once daily); however, bleeding events were fewer in the 2.5mg twice daily group compared to the 5mg once daily group. Notably, the addition of rivaroxaban to aspirin therapy in patients with stable cardiovascular disease also reduces the risk of further cardiovascular events. In the COMPASS trial (Eikelboom et al., 2017), 27, 395 patients with stable cardiovascular disease were randomised to receive placebo, rivaroxaban 2.5mg twice daily or rivaroxaban 5mg twice daily with or without aspirin. A significant reduction in MACE was observed in the rivaroxaban and aspirin group compared to the aspirin only group (HR 0.76; 95%CI 0.66 – 0.86, P<0.001) with a corresponding increase in bleeding events (HR 1.70; 95%Cl 1.40 – 2.05; P<0.001). Interestingly, rivaroxaban did not appear to reduce MACE when administered without aspirin but was associated with a similar bleeding risk whether administered with or without aspirin (Anand et al., 2018). Given the data from ATLAS ACS 2-TIMI51 and COMPASS, rivaroxaban is now licensed for use in both unstable and stable cardiovascular disease in combination with aspirin or, in the context unstable cardiovascular disease, clopidogrel.

1.2.7: Duration of Anti-platelet Therapy

The ESC guidelines on STEMI (Ibanez et al., 2018) suggest that DAPT should be continued for a period of at least 12 months which is also reflected in the ESC guidelines on NSTEACS (Roffi et al., 2016). However, both guidelines recognise that longer and shorter courses may be suitable for some patient groups (e.g. high vascular or high bleeding risks).

Of recent, specific focus has been given to shortening the duration of DAPT. In the SMART-DATE trial (Hahn et al., 2018), 2712 patients with an ACS were randomised to receive either 6 months or at least twelve months of DAPT and were followed up for a total of 18 months following the initial cardiac event. No significant differences were noted between the occurrence of the primary outcome, MACE, and duration of DAPT (4.7% in the 6 month DAPT group and 4.2% in the at least 12 month group (HR 1.13; 95% CI 0.79 – 1.62, p=0.51)) although a significant increase in myocardial infarctions were observed in the 6 month DAPT group (1.8% vs 0.8% (HR 2.41; 95% Cl 1.15 – 5.05, p=0.02)). Interestingly, no significant reduction in bleeding events were noted in the 6-month group as compared to the at least 12 months of DAPT group although it should be noted that randomisation was performed without regard to bleeding risk. In the STOPDAPT-2 trial (Watanabe et al., 2019), 3045 patients undergoing PCI for a both stable and unstable cardiac disease were randomised to receive one month of DAPT followed by either continuation of DAPT for 11 months or clopidogrel monotherapy for up to five years. At 12 months, subjects who had received one month of DAPT followed by clopidogrel monotherapy had a lower occurrence of the primary end point (MACE) compared to subjects receiving 12 months of DAPT (2.4% vs 3.7% (HR 0.64; 95% CI 0.42-0.98, P=0.04 for superiority)) with a significantly lower rate of bleeding (0.4% vs 1.5% (HR 0.26; 95% CI 0.11-0.64, P=0.004 for superiority)). Similarly, in the SMART-CHOICE trial (Hahn et al., 2019), a three-month DAPT treatment period was non-inferior to the conventional 12 months of DAPT for prevention of MACE in 2993 patients receiving PCI. In keeping with these data, a network meta-analysis by Yin and colleagues (Yin et al., 2019) of 17 studies and 46, 864 patients undergoing PCI demonstrated similar rates of efficacy in preventing further cardiac events between short term DAPT and standard term DAPT. Importantly, standard duration DAPT was associated with a significantly higher risk of bleeding (OR 1.39; 95% CI 1.01 – 1.92). Extension of DAPT beyond 12 months was also associated with a higher risk of non-cardiac death and bleeding than short- or standard tern DAPT, demonstrating that optimal length of DAPT is likely to be no more than 12 months and, in most patients, less than 12 months. Several other studies have also investigated the use of risk scores, taking into account bleeding risk and platelet reactivity, as a tool for stratification of anti-platelet duration with positive results (Brener et al., 2018, Sibbing et al., 2017).

1.3: Detecting and Measuring Response to Anti-platelets

Response to anti-platelet drugs can be measured by a range of platelet function tests (PFTs). Platelet function is best assessed by measuring platelet response and subsequent aggregation to various agonists such as arachidonic acid (AA) for ASA response and ADP for thienopyridine, ticagrelor and cangrelor response. Other tests, such as serum or urinary (Ur) 11-dehydrothromboxane B2 (11dhTXB2) assess the downstream effects of anti-platelet drug administration (in this case aspirin). In addition, there are a number of tests that can be performed near-patient (such as VerifyNow (VN) and Multiplate (MP)) whereas others, such as light transmittance aggregometry (LTA), flow cytometry and VASP, require specialised laboratory infrastructure and staff in order to standardise and calibrate those assays. However, each assay tests platelet function in slightly different ways, and consequently there is a high degree of variability and correlation between the assays is often poor.

1.3.1: Light Transmittance Aggregometry (LTA)

LTA measures platelet aggregation by assessing the increase in light transmission through platelet rich plasma following exposure to various agonists such as ADP, epinephrine and AA. It has long been considered the 'gold standard' platelet function test and can be used to assess platelet inhibition to aspirin (using AA as an agonist) or P2Y12 receptor inhibitors (using ADP as an agonist). Several studies highlight that LTA is associated with clinical outcome. In a large study (N=1789), in patients with ACS administered clopidogrel, Parodi et al (Parodi et al., 2011) demonstrated an absolute risk increase of 5.9% of adverse cardiovascular events in patients determined as having HTPR compared to those with low residual platelet reactivity as defined by LTA using ADP as an agonist, a finding in keeping with other clinical studies (Migliorini et al., 2013, Tang et al., 2015) and a meta-analysis (Aradi et al., 2010). Similarly, response to aspirin, as measured using LTA with AA as an agonist, is also associated with clinical outcome (Spectre et al., 2011). However, LTA may not be as predictive for outcome as other platelet function tests (Breet et al., 2011) and results from LTA may not agree with results from other platelet function tests (Breet et al., 2010), with varying rates of HTPR reported across a single cohort dependent on the PFT used. LTA is also performed without the other cellular components of blood, whereas other PFTs are whole blood assays which may decrease the sensitivity of LTA to other, non-platelet dependent, factors that may affect platelet reactivity. Similarly, LTA is performed, generally, with a single agonist which is not truly representative of platelet activation in vivo, where interactions between platelets, other cellular blood components and collagen are present and may contribute to overall platelet reactivity (Ohmori et al., 2006). In addition, reproducibility of LTA is often poor given the high operator and interpreter dependence (Michelson, 2004) and different studies utilise different measures of platelet reactivity or different concentration of agonists which makes comparison across studies difficult. Furthermore, whilst published guidelines for LTA exist, there are important methodological differences between each guideline which limit their usefulness (Koltai et al., 2017). However, Choi et al (Choi and Kim, 2018), in a study of 904 patients post PCI, determined that LTA is relatively unaffected by

clinical and laboratory variables that have significant influence on other PFTs. Consequently, whilst LTA remains an important reference standard, its utility in routine clinical practice may be limited.

1.3.2: VerifyNow

VerifyNow (VN) (Accriva Diagnostics, USA) is a point of care platelet function test which utilises turbidometric optical detection to measure platelet aggregation in response to AA or ADP (for aspirin and P2Y12 inhibitors respectively). Importantly, the measured aggregation is converted into either Aspirin Reaction Units (ARU) or P2Y12 Reaction Units (PRU) which are consistent across different operators and settings, allowing the development of reference ranges and cut-off values for HTPR.

Platelet reactivity measured by VN is strongly associated with clinical outcomes in both aspirin and clopidogrel patients. In aspirin treated patients, high ARU values (>550) are associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes, with a threefold increase in the risk of death or further cardiovascular events reported in a large, 468 patient study with stable coronary artery disease (Chen et al., 2004). However, other, larger studies have not shown clear associations between HTPR with aspirin and adverse cardiovascular outcomes (Stone et al., 2013), although a large meta-analysis of 15 studies and 11542 patients demonstrate a two fold increase in risk of cardiovascular events in patients on aspirin with HTPR detected using VerifyNow (RR 2.23; 95%Cl 1.55-3.21) (Wisman et al., 2014).

Similarly, HTPR identified by the VN P2Y12 assay is associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes (Breet et al., 2010). In the large, 8665 patient, ADAPT-DES study (Stone et al., 2013), HTPR, defined as PRU > 208, in patients on DAPT post PCI for either stable or unstable cardiac disease, was associated with a significant increase in both myocardial infarction and stent thrombosis but not all-cause mortality. However, in another large, observational study, Park et al (Park et al., 2013a) demonstrated a greater than threefold increase in mortality in patients with ACS who were determined to have HTPR on the basis of the VN P2Y12 assay (HR 3.46, 95% CI 1.18-10.18, P=0.02), a finding in keeping with other studies in ACS (Saia et al., 2013). However, no association between mortality and HTPR was observed in patients with stable coronary artery disease, suggesting that HTPR may not be an important prognostic factor in otherwise stable patients. Similar results have been found in other studies in stable coronary artery disease (Viviani Anselmi et al., 2013). In addition, a meta-analysis of 25 studies including 21667 patients, demonstrates a nearly threefold

increase in risk of composite ischaemic events in patients with HTPR on clopidogrel as defined by VN (Relative Risk (RR) 2.52; 95%Cl 2.05-3.10) (Aradi et al., 2010).

However, VerifyNow may be sensitive to haematocrit (Hct), haemoglobin (Hb) and platelet count (Choi and Kim, 2018). A patient level meta-analysis, including 10 studies and 4793 patients, (Kim et al., 2017b) observed a significant inverse relationship between PRU reported by VerifyNow and haematocrit or haemoglobin, which was not seen with other platelet function tests such as LTA and Multiplate. It is not clear why there is an association between Hct or Hb and PRU values, although it is hypothesised that the optical nature of the assay may be influenced by Hb concentration. However, there is no association between Hct and LTA values, another optical based assay; therefore, other mechanisms, such as interactions between erythrocytes and platelets, may be important.

1.3.3: Multiplate

Multiplate (Roche Diagnostics) is an impedance based aggregometry platelet assay. Like VerifyNow, it is a point of care device that tests both Aspirin and P2Y12 inhibitor response and reports in standard units (aggregation units (AU)) which supports standardisation and development of cut-off values for HTPR. Whilst this assay can be used in a point of care setting, it does require some sample preparation with sample dilution followed by addition of agonists (AA for determination of aspirin response and ADP for the determination of P2Y12 inhibitor response) required before performing the test. Multiplate measures the changes in whole blood impedance, with greater aggregation leading to more adhesion to the test electrodes and a consequent increase in electrical impedance (Gremmel et al., 2015).

Multiplate has been used to determine the presence of HTPR to both aspirin and clopidogrel in several studies. Like other methods for assessing AA induced platelet aggregation, Multiplate does not correlate well with other assays such as VerifyNow and LTA using AA as an agonist (Gremmel et al., 2015), although some studies do report good correlation (Paniccia et al., 2009). However, in a meta-analysis of three studies, including 700 patients, Multiplate determined AA induced platelet aggregation was not clearly associated with cardiovascular events (RR 1.93; 95% CI 0.81-4.62) (Wisman et al., 2014). In addition, a recent, study by Larsen (Larsen et al., 2017) demonstrated no association between HTPR with Aspirin, as determined by Multiplate, and adverse clinical outcomes, in a cohort of 900 stable coronary artery disease patients. Similarly, in a cohort of STEMI patients, undergoing PCI, HTPR with aspirin, determined by Multiplate, was also not associated with adverse clinical outcome (Mrdovic et al., 2016). It is not clear why the Multiplate AA test does not clearly
associate with clinical outcome, but it is likely to represent additional actions of aspirin beyond the COX-1 pathway, a finding in keeping with the known dose-dependent effects of aspirin (Mrdovic et al., 2016). In addition, aspirin dose timing and the presence of additional anti-platelet agents (e.g. thienopyridines or ticagrelor) are likely confounders which may either over-report the prevalence of aspirin resistance (pseudoresistance) or improve ADPmediated platelet inhibition which are not accounted for by an AA specific assay (Larsen et al., 2017).

The Multiplate ADP assay has also been extensively studied in the context of the P2Y12 inhibitors. Multiplate correlates with LTA using ADP as an agonist and the VN ADP test (Kozinski et al., 2016) and correlated well with cell markers of platelet activation (Gremmel et al., 2015). However, Multiplate does not correlate well with clopidogrel pharmacokinetics (Danese et al., 2016), but appears to show very good correlation with Ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX concentrations (Kozinski et al., 2016). The Multiplate ADP assay is associated with adverse clinical outcomes, with a MA of six studies and 2716 participants demonstrating a six-fold increase in the risk of cardiovascular events in patients determined to have HTPR using the Multiplate ADP test (RR 6.08; 95% CI 1.85-20.00) (Wisman et al., 2014).

However, it should be noted that Multiplate can be affected by a number of clinical and laboratory variables. In a study of 904 patients post PCI patients receiving DAPT, Choi et al identified a strong positive correlation between the Multiplate ADP assay and platelet count. In addition, smoking was associated with HTPR identified by Multiplate but Hct and Hb were not associated with Multiplate results as compared to VerifyNow (Choi and Kim, 2018).

1.3.4: Platelet Function Analyser-100/200

The Platelet function Analyser (PFA)-100/200 tests platelet function in conditions of high shear using whole blood. This mechanism is sensitive to the binding of von Willebrand Factor (vWF) to glycoprotein 1b and is consistent with the mechanism of thrombosis formation in small vessels. Whole blood is forced through a small aperture which is coated with either collagen and epinephrine (CEPI), used to assess response to aspirin, or ADP, used to assess the response to P2Y12 inhibitors. Whilst the CEPI test for aspirin response does not use AA as an agonist, it is regarded to be relatively COX-dependent and may also be sensitive to non-COX dependent actions of aspirin. Values are reported as Closure Time (CT) and measured in seconds, with a variable cut-off used to define HTPR to either aspirin or P2Y12 inhibitors. PFA-100 has been extensively studied in relation to clinical outcomes and aspirin response. In a meta-analysis of 21 studies and 5222 patients, aspirin related HTPR was associated with a twofold higher risk of adverse cardiovascular events (RR 1.88; 95%CI 1.44-2.47) (Wisman et al., 2014). In addition, the ADP test for P2Y12 inhibitors is also associated with clinical response, with a meta-analysis of 4 studies and 1158 patients demonstrating a nearly threefold risk of adverse cardiovascular events in P2Y12 resistant patients (RR 2.74, 95%CI 1.17-6.41) (Wisman et al., 2014). However, the original PFA-100 ADP test was often criticised as being poorly sensitive to the effects of clopidogrel (Li et al., 2016b) which resulted in the development of a new PFA-200 P2Y test to improve the sensitivity to ADP inhibitors. In a study by Li et al (Li et al., 2016b), the PFA-200 P2Y test demonstrated good correlation with LTA and VerifyNow in a cohort of 93 post-PCI patients taking clopidogrel. In addition, the PFA-200 demonstrated significant association between loss-of-function genotypes and clopidogrel related HTPR, a finding replicated by other studies (Kim et al., 2015). Whilst these data are encouraging, there are insufficient data to determine whether the new PFA-200 P2Y assay will have utility in clinical practice.

Whilst sensitivity to non-COX dependent modifiers of platelet function may be useful in the detection of certain types of aspirin resistance, it may reduce the ability of the PFA-100 to fully discriminate aspirin sensitive patients from aspirin resistant patients. In a healthy volunteer study, platelet function was measured before and after the administration of aspirin using six different laboratory methods. The PFA-100 results showed significant correlation between pre-treatment and post-treatment values whilst other, more COX specific, assays demonstrated very poor correlation between the two (Kovacs et al., 2014). Importantly, the PFA-100 assay is sensitive to other variables such as vWF, haematocrit and platelet count (Fitzgerald and Pirmohamed, 2011, Kovacs et al., 2014) in keeping with its development as a platelet function test for haematological disease rather than for antiplatelet therapy. In addition, there is little consensus in the published literature on the PFA-100 closure time cut-offs that should be used to determine HTPR with aspirin, with multiple different values being used. Evidence synthesis for the PFA-100 is therefore challenging and it cannot be clearly stated that the PFA-100 is truly specific for aspirin resistance or not; a fact highlighted by the recent Health Technology Assessment on the prognostic utility of tests for aspirin resistance (Dretzke et al., 2015).

1.3.5: Thromboxane Metabolites

The primary thromboxane metabolite used for determining aspirin response is urinary 11dehydrothromboxane B2 (Ur 11dhTXB2). It is a stable metabolite of TXA2 and therefore is a direct measure of COX-1 inhibition. TXB2 levels have been associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes in a number of studies (Dharmasaroja and Sae-Lim, 2014, Temperilli et al., 2015) with a large, multicentre study demonstrating a threefold higher risk of cardiovascular death and twofold higher risk of myocardial infarction in cardiovascular disease patients with an elevated Ur 11dhTXB2 (Eikelboom et al., 2002). However, metaanalysis of the relationship between TXA2 metabolites and cardiovascular outcome does not demonstrate a clear and consistent association (Wisman et al., 2014). It is notable that TXB2 is positively influenced by the severity of cardiovascular disease (Faraday et al., 2006) as a consequence of COX-2 expression in atherosclerotic plaques (Patrignani, 2003). In addition, aspirin has a dose-dependent effect on TXB2 levels in healthy volunteers and cardiovascular disease patients (Harrison et al., 2018) which is likely to be explained by the inhibition of COX-2 at higher doses rather than platelet COX-1, in keeping with the finding that low dose aspirin is as effective as high dose aspirin in preventing cardiovascular events, irrespective of TXB2 levels (Antithrombotic Trialists, 2002). Consequently, TXB2 levels may not correlate with aspirin response and may better represent overall COX-1 and COX-2 function in the context of cardiovascular disease. In addition, TXB2 levels may be significantly decreased by other drugs, such as P2Y12 inhibitors (Bagoly et al., 2016), in keeping with the known effects of P2Y12 receptor activation on AA metabolism. Furthermore, Ur 11dhTXB2 may not always be correlated with serum TXB2 (Harrison et al., 2018) in keeping with the generation of TXB2 from other tissues aside from platelets (Koltai et al., 2017).

1.3.6: Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein phosphorylation

Vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein (VASP) phosphorylation is a flow cytometry technique, using whole blood incubated with Prostaglandin E1 (PGE1) alone or PGE1 and ADP, to determine P2Y12 inhibitor related platelet reactivity as measured by immunofluorescence to phosphorylated VASP. VASP is a laboratory-based technique that, despite CE marked diagnostic kits being available, still requires skilled operators in order to ensure consistency and reliability of assay results. Consequently, whilst VASP has been used in P2Y12 inhibitor studies extensively, there are relatively limited clinical outcome data for the technique. However, in a meta-analysis of six studies including 1813 patients, HTPR to a P2Y12 inhibitor reported by VASP conferred a nearly fivefold increase in risk of adverse

cardiovascular events (RR 4.82; 95%CI 1.27-18.24) (Wisman et al., 2014). VASP also correlates well with the pharmacokinetics of ticagrelor and its metabolite, AR-C124910XX, in a study of MI patients (Kozinski et al., 2016) as well as demonstrating good correlation with clopidogrel's active metabolite (Danese et al., 2016). VASP appears to correlate well with other platelet function tests (Kozinski et al., 2014), and in particular, the gold-standard LTA using ADP as an agonist.

However, given the technical nature of the assay, VASP remains mostly a laboratory reference assay as opposed to a point-of-care test with the potential for use in patient stratification.

1.3.7: Other Platelet Function Assays

Thromboelastography – Thromboelastography (TEG) is a group of assays that assess viscoelastic changes during the process of blood clotting (Koltai et al., 2017), with the TEG Platelet Mapping System (Haemonetics, Braintree, MA, USA) being the most appropriate technique for assessing platelet function in the context of anti-platelet drugs. Platelet function is reported as Inhibition of Platelet Aggregation (IPA), a standardised unit, which allows determination of appropriate cut-offs of HTPR and is performed as a point-of-care assay. In the context of P2Y12 inhibitors, HTPR defined by TEG is associated with a significant increase in risk of cardiovascular events in a meta-analysis of two studies and 547 patients (RR 7.11; 95%CI 2.32-21.83) (Wisman et al., 2014). Newer clinical studies are also in keeping with these data, with a 178 post-PCI patient study demonstrating a clear association between TEG identified HTPR to clopidogrel and adverse clinical outcomes (Tang et al., 2015). In addition, this study also demonstrated a clear association between carriage of the CYP2C19 loss-of-function alleles and TEG defined HTPR (Tang et al., 2015). TEG shows variable correlation with other platelet function tests including VerifyNow, with some studies demonstrating correlation (Yao et al., 2016) and others not (Lv et al., 2016), in keeping with a comparative study of five platelet assays (VASP, VerifyNow, Multiplate, LTA and TEG) where TEG displayed high inter-assay variability (Karon et al., 2014). In addition, a specific phenomenon described as 'thrombin breakthrough' occurs with TEG which affects the fibrin readout from the assay. This was noted in four tracings of 91 pairs in this study and is associated with the high variability observed with this test (Karon et al., 2014). TEG can also be used to measure aspirin response, although clinical data are more limited than with P2Y12 inhibitors. However, one study has been included in a meta-analysis of aspirin resistance that failed to demonstrate a clear association between aspirin related HTPR and adverse clinical

outcomes (Wisman et al., 2014) and it remains unclear the clinical utility of TEG in the context of aspirin response given the paucity of trial data (Dretzke et al., 2015).

PlateletWorks: PlateletWorks (Helena Laboratories) is a point of care device using specific PlateletWorks tubes, one with EDTA as an anticoagulant (baseline) and one with citrate and 20 mmol of ADP or AA. A cell counter is then used to differentiate between aggregated and non-aggregated platelets, and the difference between the two is used as the measurement of platelet reactivity. PlateletWorks is a simple test to perform but requires fresh whole blood and must be completed within minutes for reliable results. The necessity for rapid analysis has limited the usage of the test in the context of clinical outcome trials (Koltai et al., 2017). In a large cohort of 1069 stable coronary artery disease patients undergoing PCI, HTPR to clopidogrel identified by the PlateletWorks assay was associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes of all-cause mortality, MI, stent thrombosis and stroke (OR 2.22; 95%CI 1.25-3.93, P=0.005) (Breet et al., 2010). In addition, low on treatment platelet reactivity to clopidogrel, as identified by PlateletWorks, is associated with a higher risk of bleeding (defined according to BARC or ARMYDA-BLEEDS criteria) (Holm et al., 2014). PlateletWorks can also be used to determine aspirin response, however, data from two studies suggest that PlateletWorks may be less sensitive for aspirin response in comparison to other platelet function tests such as LTA and VerifyNow (Lennon et al., 2004, Dichiara et al., 2007).

Impact-R: Impact-R (DiaMed) determines platelet aggregation under shear and, like PFA, is representative of thrombosis formation in small calibre arteries (Koltai et al., 2017). However, some sample handling and pipetting has to be performed during the use of the assay, which may limit its role as a point of care device. It measures platelet aggregation by subjecting whole blood (incubated with ADP for P2Y12 inhibitor response or AA for aspirin response) to shear stress in a rotating polystyrene cone which rapidly becomes coated in fibrinogen and vWF, acting as the matrix for platelet adhesion. The well is then stained and image analysis is undertaken by the Impact-R system which calculates the percentage of aggregated platelets as the measure of platelet reactivity. In a study by Spectre et al (Spectre et al., 2011) in patients with ACS undergoing PCI, Impact-R was found to correlate well with LTA AA induced platelet aggregation for aspirin response and clinical outcome for six months. However, in a larger study, assessing P2Y12 inhibitor response, IMPACT-R was not associated with clinical outcome in a cohort of patients with stable coronary artery disease undergoing PCI, despite other platelet function tests such as LTA using ADP as an agonist, VerifyNow and

Plateletworks demonstrating a clear association with adverse outcome in the same cohort (Breet et al., 2010).

1.3.8: Correlation between platelet function tests

As detailed above, the overall correlation and agreement amongst individual platelet function tests are generally poor. In a study of five platelet function tests (LTA, VASP, VerifyNow, Multiplate and TEG) in both healthy volunteers and patients taking aspirin and clopidogrel regularly, the agreement between tests was only moderate at best and whilst four assays (LTA, VASP, Multiplate and VerifyNow) were found to have good reliability in measuring clopidogrel, only Multiplate was determined to have moderate reliability for aspirin response (Karon et al., 2014). Similarly, Gremmel et al (Gremmel et al., 2015) compared LTA, VerifyNow, Multiplate and flow cytometry in a study of 316 PCI patients. Measures of P2Y12 inhibitor response using ADP based assays correlated significantly with platelet P-selectin expression and activated GPIIb/IIIa with good inter-assay correlation. However, AA induced platelet activation correlated poorly with P-selectin expression and only LTA correlated with activated GPIIb/IIIa.

It is important to note that individual platelet function tests may be confounded by particular patient or biochemical factors that affect one assay but not another. Examples include the sensitivity to haematocrit with VerifyNow (Kim et al., 2014, Kim et al., 2017b) and platelet count with Multiplate (Choi and Kim, 2018). In addition, race, gender and diet my also significantly affect platelet function as identified by a 64 subject healthy volunteer study by Miller et al (Miller et al., 2014), with assays involving whole blood being affected more than those utilising platelet rich plasma, in keeping with the influence of other cellular and humoral factors on platelet reactivity.

1.3.9: Reproducibility over time

Despite previous data that suggest that some assays, for example LTA, are reproducible over time, Miller et al's data demonstrate that platelet reactivity in normal healthy volunteers exhibits significant intra-individual variation over time (Miller et al., 2014). Similarly, in aspirin treated patients with stable coronary artery disease, Muir et al (Muir et al., 2009) demonstrated poor reproducibility over a 21 day period with LTA, PFA-100 and serum/urine TXB2.

1.4: Potential modifiers of anti-platelet response

As identified in the previous section, several clinical and biological factors may impact the response to anti-platelet therapy. These include a patient's age, gender, medical history (e.g. diabetes, previous cardiovascular disease) and drug adherence. In addition, given the known metabolic fates of the anti-platelet agents, particularly P2Y12 inhibitors, genetic factors and drug interactions may significantly affect the response to anti-platelets.

1.4.1: Compliance

Poor compliance and early discontinuation of medications following an ACS is relatively common and has a significant effect on cardiovascular outcomes. In a recent meta-analysis of 10 studies and 106,002 patients with stable coronary artery disease, good adherence to prognostic medications reduced the risk of all-cause mortality (RR 0.56; 95% CI 0.45-0.69), cardiovascular mortality (RR 0.66; 95% Cl 0.51-0.87) and cardiovascular hospitalisation and myocardial infarction (RR 0.61; 95% CI 0.45-0.82) (Du et al., 2017). Similarly, in a high risk cohort of diabetic patients following a high limb amputation, poor adherence to drugs used for secondary prevention was common (57% patients, defined as drug intake </= 80%) and associated with a tenfold higher risk of adverse cardiovascular events (Shalaeva et al., 2017). In the prospective TRANSLATE-ACS study, self-reported adherence to anti-platelets was relatively low, with around 30% of the 7425 patients reporting moderate to low adherence. In the identified non-adherent patients, a non-significant association was observed with adverse outcome (HR 1.35; 95% 0.98-1.87) which is likely to be an under-representation of the true effect given that this was a study with self-reported compliance (Mathews et al., 2015). Importantly, this study also demonstrates that poor adherence occurs early post-MI and it is likely that adherence continues to decrease in the longer term. In addition, in a 10 year follow up study in the Netherlands (Yasmina et al., 2017), distinct groups of patients can be defined who were either fully persistent, restarters or largely non-persistent. The proportion of patients on aspirin or clopidogrel who maintained full persistence reduced substantially over the ten-year period, with the numbers either fully non-persistent or intermittent users (restarts) increasing significantly. Interestingly, the presence of clinical risk factors such as diabetes, hypertension and hypercholesterolaemia significantly decreased the risk of anti-platelet drug non-compliance. Cessation of DAPT for reasons other than noncompliance is also relatively common, with a higher risk in women than in men. Both medically advised cessation (for example for bleeding) and non-compliance is more common

in women than men with an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes (Yu et al., 2016).

One other important component of anti-platelet efficacy is physician prescribing. Several studies have highlighted that adherence to guidelines in treatment of ACS can be poor, with consequent failure to prescribe appropriate medications (for example appropriate DAPT) and worse clinical outcomes on a population level. A recent study, utilising the Danish national registries and including 28449 patients with a first presentation of MI, identified that only between 68-73% of patients were prescribed DAPT which rose to 88-91% when only patients treated with PCI were included (Green et al., 2016). Furthermore, in this study, ticagrelor but not prasugrel was associated with an increased risk of treatment breaks compared to clopidogrel which may be explained by the known adverse effects of dyspnoea, and in keeping with data from the PLATO study (Wallentin et al., 2009). Whilst ticagrelor's adverse effect profile may increase the risk of poor adherence, a modelling simulation of platelet reactivity using drug dosing histories of 5014 patients receiving cardiovascular medicines, demonstrated that missing one of the two daily ticagrelor doses would still maintain a higher platelet inhibition than clopidogrel (Vrijens et al., 2014). Similarly, analysis of large US based healthcare registries suggests that adherence to prasugrel is reasonably high, although duration of therapy is shorter than advised in many patients. Risk factors for early cessation of prasugrel include heart failure and previous ischaemic heart disease, whereas previous use of cardiovascular drugs, such as statins, are protective (Nordstrom et al., 2013).

However, whilst non-compliance is a likely cause for some patients with HTPR, even with verified compliance, response to anti-platelets remains highly variable. However, adjusting the design of long term clinical outcome studies for the risk of poor compliance is challenging; whilst many techniques exist to assess compliance in studies, quantative and semi-quantative techniques are difficult and costly to implement. Whilst qualitative measures, such as questionnaires, are validated they are essentially self-reported tools that may over-estimate the degree of compliance (Navaratnam et al., 2017).

1.4.2: Genetic Factors

Clopidogrel: Clopidogrel, as previously mentioned, is a prodrug which requires a two-step activation process to its active metabolite, R-130694, largely dependent on hepatic CYP 450 enzymes. Importantly most CYP isoenzymes display a large number of genetic single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), some of which have been associated with both

pharmacodynamics non-response to clopidogrel as well as an increased cardiovascular risk in patients taking clopidogrel for secondary prevention.

In particular, clopidogrel's major activating enzyme, CYP2C19, is highly polymorphic with up to 25 variant alleles / SNPs (Suh et al., 2006). Most important are the loss-of-function (LOF) alleles (*2, *3, *4, *5) and gain-of-function (GOF) allele (*17) in CYP2C19. In a study of 162 healthy volunteers, Mega et al demonstrated a relative reduction of 25% in absolute change in maximal platelet aggregation (MPA) following clopidogrel dosing in subjects with at least one LOF allele, which is consistent with a number of other studies investigating the relationship between CYP2C19 SNPs and platelet aggregation (Hulot et al., 2006, Kim et al., 2008, Mega et al., 2009). In the context of ACS, Mega demonstrated a strong association between carriage of the LOF allele and cardiovascular outcome. In a cohort of 1477 subjects from the TRITON-TIMI 38 study treated with clopidogrel, subjects with at least one LOF CYP2C19 allele had a 53% relative increase in the composite outcome of death from cardiovascular causes, non-fatal MI and non-fatal stroke (HR 1.53; 95% CI 1.07-2.19, P= 0.01) (Mega et al., 2009). This finding was replicated by Simon et al in their cohort of 2208 prospectively recruited patients with an acute MI who were taking clopidogrel, with carriers of any two LOF alleles having a higher rate of adverse cardiovascular events (HR 1.98; 95% CI 1.10-3.58) (Simon et al., 2009). Furthermore, a meta-analysis of nine studies, involving 9685 patients, demonstrated a 57% increase in risk of cardiovascular death, MI or stroke in patients with one or two LOF CYP2C19 alleles (HR 1.57; 95% CI 1.13-2.16, P=0.006) with the greatest effect seen in those carrying two LOF alleles (HR 1.76; 95%CI 1.24-2.50, P=0.002) (Mega et al., 2010b). Moreover, a genome wide association study (GWAS) by Shuldiner et al clearly demonstrated that CYP2C19*2 was the primary SNP associated with the pharmacodynamic response to clopidogrel in a population of health Amish (Shuldiner et al., 2009).

Despite the clear evidence that *CYP2C19*2* is the primary SNP responsible for clopidogrel non-response, the low rate of variability explained by *CYP2C19*2* allele in Shuldiner's GWAS could be a consequence of other genetic variants or clinical factors. Certainly, it is conceivable that SNPs in other CYP450 enzymes involved in clopidogrel activation could have a role in modulating response given the known SNPs in the CYP3A4, 3A5 or 2B6 enzymes. However, to date, the evidence has been conflicting. Most studies do not demonstrate a clear association between SNPs in CYP3A4, 3A5 or 2B6 despite their postulated role in clopidogrel activation (Mega et al., 2009, Simon et al., 2009). However, a study in Korean patients by Suh et al (Suh et al., 2006) showed a significant association between the presence

of the *CYP3A5*3* polymorphism and both pharmacodynamic and clinical response to clopidogrel. However, this finding is not replicated by larger clinical studies, such as Simon et al, or other pharmacodynamic studies (Simon et al., 2009, Lee et al., 2009). It should be noted that CYP3A4 is the primary isoenzyme in Caucasians, which may explain why no association is seen in studies conducted in primarily Caucasian populations. Furthermore, whilst the *CYP3A5*3* polymorphism does reduce CYP3A5 protein expression, it does not abolish it entirely and therefore any effect on pharmacodynamic and clinical outcomes is likely to be small (Taubert et al., 2006, Frere et al., 2008).

Clopidogrel is also a substrate for the drug efflux transporter, P-glycoprotein (P-gp) and consequently alterations in the activity of P-gp may alter the intestinal absorption of clopidogrel. Taubert et al (Taubert et al., 2006) demonstrated a marked increase in clopidogrel accumulation in the presence of P-gp inhibitors. Furthermore, SNPs in P-gp's gene, *ABCB1*, may also alter clopidogrel response. Several groups have investigated the relationship between the C3435T SNP and clopidogrel response with some studies demonstrating a correlation whilst others do not (Simon et al., 2009, Spiewak et al., 2009). The underlying cause of this finding remains unclear, although the C3435T SNP is part of a three SNP haplotype which probably more accurately represents the effect of genotype on outcome (Leschziner et al., 2007). In addition, it is likely that patients may also be receiving other drugs that are P-gp inhibitors which could, conceivably, alter clopidogrel's pharmacokinetics irrespective of genotype with consequent effects on clinical or pharmacodynamic outcome. Interestingly, the effect of the *ABCB1* C3435T polymorphism may be additive in the presence of the *CYP2C19*2* allele as identified in the pharmacogenetic sub-study of the TRITON-TIMI 38 trial (Mega et al., 2010a).

Clopidogrel's pharmacodynamic target, P2Y12, is also polymorphic with a number of SNPs described. Early studies in clopidogrel pharmacogenetics focussed largely on these *P2Y12* SNPs. The majority of pharmacodynamic studies investigating the three major *P2Y12* SNPs (C34T, T744C, H1/H2) did not detect an association between clopidogrel response and genotype (Angiolillo et al., 2005, Cuisset et al., 2007, Motovska et al., 2009, Bonello et al., 2010b), which is also consistent with the data from large clinical outcome studies. For example, Simon et al failed to demonstrate an association between either the C32T or H1/H2 polymorphism and a composite outcome of cardiovascular death, non-fatal MI and non-fatal stroke (Simon et al., 2009). However, a smaller study by Ziegler et al in a cohort of patients with peripheral arterial disease showed a strong association between those carrying the 34T

allele and neurological events (HR 3.96; 95%Cl 1.02-17.48, P=0.048), although no association was detected between genotype and all-cause mortality (Ziegler et al., 2005).

More recently, attention has been placed on the Paraoxonase 1 (PON1) enzyme gene and its Q192R polymorphism. Bouman et al (Bouman et al., 2011) demonstrated a significant effect of the PON1 QQ192 genotype on both clopidogrel's bioactivation and clinical outcomes. In a case-control study of patients with stent thrombosis, stent thrombosis occurred more frequently in patients with the QQ192 genotype compared to those with the QR or RR192 genotype (OR 3.6; 95%Cl 1.6-7.9. P=0.003) with no significant effect observed from CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 polymorphisms as previously observed in other studies. Similarly, a large replication study of ACS patients (N=1,982) with a 12 month follow up period confirmed the findings from the initial case-control study and identified a 10 fold higher risk of stent thrombosis in patients with the RR 192 genotype compared to QR and QQ192 genotypes (HR 10.2; 95%Cl 4.39-71.43). These outcome data are also supported by quantative metabolomics profile of clopidogrel metabolism, patient level clopidogrel pharmacokinetic data and platelet function data all demonstrating a strong association with PON1 Q192R genotype. However, despite these data from the Bouman studies, the association with PON1 Q192R has not been consistently replicated in other studies. In a study by Trenk et al (Trenk et al., 2011), 760 patients receiving clopidogrel post PCI demonstrated no significant association between PON1 Q192R genotype and platelet reactivity or clinical outcome. Similarly, in a study of 1524 patients undergoing PCI, Sibbing et al (Sibbing et al., 2011) did not detect any significant association between the PON1 Q192R polymorphism and clinical outcome whereas a significant association was observed between CYP2C19*2, a finding in keeping with a smaller study by Hulot et al (Hulot et al., 2011). In addition, further studies have not identified any significant effects from the PON1 Q192R polymorphism and clopidogrel pharmacokinetics, platelet reactivity or clinical outcome (Frelinger et al., 2013, Palmerini et al., 2014).

The mechanism underlying these divergent data is unclear, although it is important to note the differences in sample sizes and study designs between these studies. Nonetheless, it is clear that the original association in Bouman's paper has not been replicated in similar sized or larger cohorts. Furthermore, no significant association with *PON1* genotype was detected in Shuldiner et al's GWAS. However, PON1 activity and its associated polymorphisms have previously been associated with cardiovascular risk and predisposition to diabetes. It is possible, therefore, that the effect of the *PON1* Q192R polymorphism on clinical outcomes in Bouman's paper may, at least in part, be due to a higher vascular risk rather than being

directly related to clopidogrel. Finally, a meta-analysis of 13 studies by Mega et al (Mega et al., 2016), no association between the *PON1* Q192R polymorphism and clinical outcomes was detected.

Prasugrel: Prasugrel, like clopidogrel, is a prodrug that requires metabolism to an active metabolite via a two stage process, although only one step is catalysed by CYP450 enzymes for prasugrel activation. In addition, prasugrel's hepatic metabolism is not conducted with one primary CYP450 enzyme as is the case for clopidogrel, instead prasugrel can be metabolised by a range of CYP450 enzymes (3A4, 3A5, 2B6, 2C19, 2C9), although the CYP3A enzymes are identified as the primary group of metabolising enzymes for prasugrel (Kelly et al., 2012).

In the pharmacogenetic sub-study of the TRITON-TIMI 38 study (Mega et al., 2010a), a clear association between adverse clinical outcomes was observed in clopidogrel treated patients carrying the TT genotype of the *ABCB1* C3435T polymorphism or the *CYP2C19*2* allele. As expected, no clear association was observed between either the *ABCB1* C3435T polymorphism or carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele in the prasugrel treated patients, a finding in keeping with other studies (Brandt et al., 2007). However, in a study of 213 patients with acute coronary syndromes administered prasugrel, Cuisset et al (Cuisset et al., 2012) demonstrated a significant increase in platelet reactivity in prasugrel treated patients carrying the *CYP2C19*2* allele which was mirrored by a higher HTPR rate in those carriers. Importantly, carriage of the GOF **17* allele significantly increased platelet inhibition by prasugrel with a consequent increase in bleeding events.

Despite the result of Cuisset et al's study, several other studies do not report any association between the *CYP2C19*2* allele and prasugrel response. In a comprehensive PK-PD study of 90 healthy volunteers (Kelly et al., 2012), *CYP2C19* genotype did not affect the pharmacokinetic profile of prasugrel's active metabolite or the degree of platelet inhibition. However, when volunteers were administered clopidogrel, a significant reduction in the exposure to clopidogrel's active metabolite was detected, with lower levels of platelet inhibition, in carriers of *CYP2C19* LOF alleles. In addition, the PRASFIT-ACS genetic sub-study (Ogawa et al., 2015), which included a total of 773 patients with ACS being treated with prasugrel (N=390) or clopidogrel (N=383), did not detect any significant association between clinical outcome or platelet inhibition and *CYP2C19* genotype in prasugrel treated patients.

Given that prasugrel may be primarily metabolised by CYP3A enzymes, it is conceivable that genetic polymorphisms in those enzymes could affect prasugrel clinical and

pharmacodynamic response. Importantly, prasugrel pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics have been demonstrated to be affected by drugs or foods that inhibit CYP3A4 function but, to date, very limited data are available on *CYP3A4* or *3A5* polymorphisms and their relationship to prasugrel response.

Other SNPs have also been investigated in relation to prasugrel response. Given the recent interest in the *PON1* Q192R polymorphism and clopidogrel response, Mega et al (Mega et al., 2016) genotyped 275 healthy subjects and 2922 patients treated with prasugrel in the TRITON-TIMI 38 trial for the *PON1* Q192R polymorphism. No significant association between the *PON1* Q192R polymorphism and clinical, pharmacodynamic or pharmacokinetic outcomes in patients treated with prasugrel was demonstrated, in keeping with the existing data with clopidogrel.

PEAR1, a platelet transmembrane receptor, may have a role as platelet-platelet contact receptor and, consequently, be involved in platelet reactivity. Recently, a number of *PEAR1* SNPs have been identified that may increase platelet reactivity (Xiang et al., 2013) and therefore may reduce anti-platelet response. In healthy volunteers administered a loading dose of prasugrel followed by maintenance dosing for 10 days, *PEAR1* SNPs rs12407843, rs77235035, rs3737224, rs41273215, rs822441 and rs822442 were associated with significantly lower levels of platelet inhibition. However, no data are available in patients or on clinical outcomes and therefore it is unclear whether these SNPs have clinically meaningful effects in patients.

Ticagrelor: Unlike clopidogrel and prasugrel, ticagrelor does not require biotransformation into an active metabolite. However, as previously discussed, ticagrelor is metabolised by CY3A4 and 3A5 enzymes into two metabolites, one of which (AR-C124910XX) is active although with less potent anti-platelet effects compared to the parent drug. Conceivably, therefore, polymorphisms in either the *CYP3A4* or *3A5* gene could impact clinical and pharmacodynamic responses to ticagrelor. In addition, several studies have demonstrated that CYP3A4 inhibitors and inducers have significant effects on both ticagrelor pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics (Holmberg et al., 2013), which has resulted in the ticagrelor label contra-indicating the use of strong CYP3A4 inhibitors whilst on ticagrelor.

Ticagrelor pharmacokinetics may be affected by variants in the *CYP3A4* and *SLCOB1* genes. In a genetic sub-study of the PLATO trial (Varenhorst et al., 2015), 1,812 ticagrelor treated patients with pharmacokinetic data were entered into a GWAS with replication from a further 1,941 ticagrelor treated patients with PK data from the PLATO study. The GWAS

clearly demonstrated potential loci in the *CYP3A4* (rs62471956, rs56324128), *SLCO1B1* (rs4149056) and *UGT2B7* (rs61361928) genes that alter exposure to AR-C124910XX or ticagrelor. Whilst the potential biological mechanism for *CYP3A4*'s effect on ticagrelor metabolism is well known, the *SLCO1B1* and *UGT2B7* variants could also potentially affect ticagrelor pharmacokinetics. The identified variant in *SLCO1B1* (rs4149056), for example, codes for the organic anion transporter polypeptide (OATP1B1) which is known to increase statin concentrations and could conceivably have a role in ticagrelor metabolism. However, the detected association between ticagrelor given that CYP3A4 is responsible for the metabolism of both drugs. The identified *UGT2B7* polymorphism affected AR-C124910XX concentrations but not ticagrelor concentrations, suggesting that the impact of the polymorphism is down stream of the active metabolism and pharmacokinetics were relatively modest and no association between clinical outcome and the SNPs could be detected.

In a study of fourteen healthy Chinese subjects, Liu et al (Liu et al., 2017) demonstrated a significant increase in AR-C124910XX exposure in *CYP3A4*1G* carriers and homozygotes, with a significantly longer half-life of the active metabolite. However, despite the observed increase in active metabolite exposure and half-life, no effects were observed in ticagrelor pharmacokinetics or overall platelet function as measured by LTA. In addition, because of the known linkage between the *CYP3A4*1G* and *CYP3A5*3* polymorphisms, subjects were also genotyped for the *CYP3A5*3* variant with no observed association between carriage of the variant allele and ticagrelor pharmacokinetics or platelet inhibition. Similarly, another study of eighteen healthy subjects did not detect any association between the *CYP3A4*1G*, *CYP3A5*3* or *SLCO1B1*5* polymorphisms and ticagrelor pharmacokinetics and pharmacokinetics and

Given the potential, beneficial, off-target effects of ticagrelor on adenosine metabolism, Nardin et al (Nardin et al., 2018) investigated the effect of a SNP (rs5751876) in the adenosine receptor 2a (ADORA2a) gene in ticagrelor treated patients (N=244) following an acute coronary syndrome. Carriers of the C allele were demonstrated to have a higher risk of HTPR as identified by the Multiplate ADP assay. Whilst the *ADORA2a* SNP was not identified in the PLATO GWAS, it is important to note that PLATO genetic sub-study only included ticagrelor pharmacokinetic data and did not include platelet function.

Additional studies have been conducted investigating variants in platelet receptors and ticagrelor response. In a study of 196 healthy subjects, Li et al (Li et al., 2014) investigated the effect of variants in the GPIIb/IIIa complex and ex-vivo ticagrelor response, genotyping for the *ITGA2B* rs5911 and *ITGB3* rs4642 and rs4634 variants. In this study, platelet inhibition following ex-vivo addition of ticagrelor to platelet rich plasma prior to LTA was significantly reduced by the *ITGA2B* rs5911 variant with no significant effect from the *ITGB3* polymorphisms. Given that GPIIb/IIIa complex is of critical importance in platelet function, it is conceivable that variants in its genes may alter response to anti-platelets as has been previously observed for aspirin. Interestingly, no effect on platelet inhibition with LTA following ex-vivo addition of ticagrelor was seen from common *P2Y12* receptor SNPs in the same cohort of healthy subjects (Li et al., 2015a) which is in keeping with data from clopidogrel pharmacogenetic studies.

Aspirin: Like other anti-platelet drugs, the response to aspirin may be heritable. Faraday et al (Faraday et al., 2007) observed clear heritability of aspirin response in a study of 500, ethnically diverse, US families, suggesting that genetic factors may be important determinants of aspirin related HTPR. Aspirin's pharmacodynamic target, COX-1, displays several polymorphisms with reasonably common minor allelic frequencies (MAF) that could be related to variability in aspirin response. Several studies have demonstrated that the COX-1 C50T polymorphism is associated with reduced pharmacodynamic aspirin response (Lepantalo et al., 2006, Clappers et al., 2008) but data on clinical outcomes are lacking. Equally, there are conflicting data demonstrating that the C50T polymorphism has no effect on pharmacodynamic response to aspirin (Li et al., 2013b, Yi et al., 2013). Similarly, several other COX-1 polymorphisms have been investigated for association with aspirin response with mixed results. However, these data are confounded by the different patient populations studied and different assays used to assess for aspirin resistance which makes comparison across different studies difficult. In addition, it is likely that COX-1 haplotypes are more sensitive and specific to aspirin response given the high heritability observed in Faraday et al's study, a finding confirmed by a study Maree et al (Maree et al., 2005) that observed a strong association between COX-1 haplotypes involving the A -842G, C22T, G128A, C644A and C714A SNPs.

Similarly, conflicting data have been observed for other potential modifiers of aspirin's pharmacodynamic response, such as thromboxane synthesis and the thromboxane A2 receptor. In a study of 192 patients with stable coronary artery disease, Lordkipanidze and colleagues (Lordkipanidze et al., 2011) could not detect any association between the

*CYP5A1*9* (thromboxane synthase) polymorphism and AA induced platelet aggregation or major adverse clinical events. However, the minor allelic frequency in this population was very low with only one heterozygote in the cohort. However, two studies assessing SNPs in the TXA2 receptors (*TBXA2R*) demonstrated an association between genotype and platelet reactivity in response to aspirin. In a cohort of 420 post CABG patients, Wang et al (Wang et al., 2013) demonstrated a strong association between carriage of the TT genotype of the T924C SNP and HTPR whilst being treated with aspirin 100mg. Similarly, Postula (Postula et al., 2011) and colleagues observed a significant association between a *TBXA2R* polymorphism and platelet reactivity in a cohort of 295 diabetic patients. Interestingly, no clear association was detected for the T924C SNP in this study, whilst a significant association was observed for the C795T polymorphism instead. It is unclear whether the two different SNPs may be part of a larger haplotype which may explain this discordance.

Importantly, as aspirin inhibits COX-1, platelet generated arachidonic acid is metabolised predominantly via the lipoxygenase (LOX) pathway in aspirin treated patients (Sharma et al., 2013) to leukotrienes, which may have a pro-inflammatory effects. Several studies have investigated whether polymorphisms in LOX or leukotriene receptors are associated with aspirin response. In a 610 patients with stroke and matched controls, Sharma et al (Sharma et al., 2013) demonstrated a clear association between the A allele carriers of the 5lipoxygenase activating gene (ALOX5AP) SG13S114T/A polymorphism and aspirin resistance as well as poor clinical outcome. This SNP, although it is found in an intronic region of the ALOX5AP gene, appears to modulate transcription of LOX with lower levels of mRNA observed in T allele carriers. It is therefore conceivable that poor outcome and aspirin resistance associated with carriage of the A allele is a consequence of increased LOX expression, leukotriene production and inflammation. However, a further comprehensive study of SNPs in the leukotriene pathway in 287 patients with type 2 diabetes failed to demonstrate any association between polymorphisms in ALOX5, ALOX5AP, LTA4 hydrolase and LTC4 hydrolase and aspirin response (as defined by the PFA-100 and VerifyNow platelet function tests or leukotriene B4/E4) (Rosiak et al., 2013).

Very few studies have been conducted in relation to genes that may impact aspirin's pharmacokinetics. In a study of 287 diabetic patients on aspirin, Postula and colleagues (Postula et al., 2013) investigated 17 SNPs in six genes important in aspirin's metabolic pathway (*ACSM2*, *ACSM3*, *ACSM5*, *UGT1A6*, *CYP2C9* and *CES2*) for their effect on platelet reactivity, thromboxane B2 level (serum and urine) and salicylic acid. No association was detected between any of the SNPs and platelet reactivity or aspirin metabolites. However, a

study of 20 healthy volunteers administered a single 650mg dose of aspirin, demonstrated a significant effect of the *UGT1A6*2* polymorphism on aspirin metabolite generation, with *1*1 individuals displaying a slower generation of metabolites than *2*2 individuals (Chen et al., 2007), in keeping with a further study in female healthy volunteers (van Oijen et al., 2009).

Like clopidogrel, particular focus has been placed on the relationship between aspirin response and platelet receptors and other platelet surface proteins. Several studies have been conducted assessing putative associations between aspirin response and *P2Y12* receptor polymorphisms with predominantly negative results (Lev et al., 2007b, Isordia-Salas et al., 2012, Ulehlova et al., 2014). Similarly, no consistent association between *P2Y1* polymorphisms and aspirin response have been demonstrated with some studies demonstrating positive associations (Li et al., 2007) and others not (Lev et al., 2007b, Lordkipanidze et al., 2011).

However, the GPIIIa PIA1/A2 polymorphism appears to demonstrate some degree of association with aspirin response. Several studies, including those with clinical endpoints, demonstrate an association between GPIIIa genotype and aspirin response, although the direction of association can differ between different studies (McCaslin et al., 2008, Wang and Tan, 2014). These data are in keeping with a large meta-analysis of 31 studies investigating 50 polymorphisms in 11 genes that showed that aspirin resistance was only associated with the PIA1/A2 polymorphism (Goodman et al., 2008). However, the association was only detected in healthy subjects and when those data were combined with data from patients, no clear association was observed. Polymorphisms in the COX-1, GPIa, P2Y1 and P2Y12 did not appear to be associated with aspirin response, again, in keeping with the data above. Interestingly, a further meta-analysis (Floyd and Ferro, 2014), looking specifically at the GPIIIa PIA1/A2 polymorphism, which included a total of 16 studies and 1650 PIA1 homozygotes and 688 PIA2 carriers, demonstrated an association between the PIA2 variant and aspirin sensitivity but only when platelet reactivity was assessed by the PFA-100 device. These two meta-analyses suggest that there is little evidence to suggest a significant interaction between the GPIIIa PIA1/A2 polymorphism and aspirin related platelet reactivity, and that any interaction observed is dependent on the method for assessing platelet function which, in this case, is not a COX-1 specific assay.

An additional recent meta-analysis (Weng et al., 2013), however, demonstrated a clear association between variants in the *COX-2* and *GPIa* genes that are associated with aspirin

related HTPR. In a meta-analysis of 6 studies, Weng et al demonstrated a nearly two fold higher risk of aspirin resistance in C allele carriers of the *COX-2* G765C polymorphism (OR 1.86; 95%CI 1.44-2.41, P<0.0005) and an over twofold increase in risk for carriers of the T allele in the *GPIa* C807T allele (OR 2.37; 95%CI 1.44-3.89, P<0.0005). Whilst *COX-2* and *GPIa* are not primary pharmacodynamic targets for aspirin, aspirin-insensitive thromboxane synthesis via *COX-2* expression in vascular cells (Pamukcu, 2007) is a recognised cause of aspirin resistance. Similarly, *GPIa* interacts with collagen, enhancing platelet reactivity and aggregation and it is therefore conceivable that polymorphisms in *GPIa* could increase platelet reactivity despite COX-1 inhibition by aspirin (Weng et al., 2013).

Finally, the GeneSTAR study (Mathias et al., 2010) aimed to identify genetic determinants of aspirin response by performing a genome wide association study in 2077 healthy subjects following 14 days of aspirin treatment. At 14 days, all subjects underwent comprehensive platelet function testing including LTA to a variety of agonists, urine 11dhTXB2 and PFA-100. Following the GWAS, a number of SNPs met genome wide significance testing, however, as yet, it is unclear how these SNPs relate to aspirin responsiveness. In addition, some SNPs were only identified in association with a particular platelet function test which, again, emphasises the difficulties in using platelet function testing to assess anti-platelet response. Furthermore, the GWAS did not identify any genes that had previously been associated with aspirin response in meta-analyses (such as COX-2, GPIa, GPIIIa). Whilst it is recognised that there is significant disagreements between individual studies investigating these previously identified genes, it should be noted that this GWAS was performed in subjects who were otherwise healthy and therefore the additional interplay between aspirin's pharmacodynamics and other COX-1 independent factors could not be explored. Given that the phenomenon of aspirin resistance may not be directly related to aspirin's pharmacodynamic effect, and more likely represents the complex interplay between platelets and vascular disease, the results of this GWAS may not be directly applicable to aspirin non-response in patients with cardiovascular disease.

1.4.3: Inflammation

Inflammation and cardiovascular disease: Atherosclerosis, and the process of its formation, is likely to be, at least partly, driven by inflammation. The effect of inflammation on atherosclerosis is likely to represent several different processes including low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol oxidation, endothelial cell dysfunction and infiltration of inflammatory cells into plaques (Kragholm et al., 2015). Inflammatory markers and pro-

inflammatory cytokines are elevated in the context of atherosclerosis with higher levels observed in acute coronary syndromes compared to stable disease (Eren et al., 2015). In a study of 81 patients (41 with ACS and 40 with stable angina), Tang et al compared the levels of high-sensitivity CRP (hsCRP) and interleukin (IL)-6, a pro inflammatory cytokine responsible for macrophage stimulation and enhancing expression of IL-1 β , in patients with stable and unstable cardiac disease as well as investigating the relationship between IL-6 and the severity of cardiovascular disease on coronary angiography. IL-6 levels were significantly higher in patients who had two or three vessel disease compared to single vessel disease on angiography. In addition, hsCRP and IL-6 levels were both significantly higher in patients with ACS in comparison to stable angina patients. Furthermore, both hsCRP and IL-6 were inversely correlated with high density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, in keeping with the known relationship between atherosclerosis and LDL cholesterol and emphasising the importance of LDL and oxidised LDL in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. Similarly, Ertem et al (Ertem et al., 2017) demonstrated significant associations between procalcitonin levels, hsCRP and the Syntax score, used as a measure of severity and complexity of atherosclerotic lesions on coronary angiography, in a cohort of 545 ACS patients. In addition, higher procalcitonin levels, as a marker of inflammation, were significantly correlated with mortality in this study.

A further study of 908 patients from the CHAPS cohort (Odeberg et al., 2016) identified preexisting inflammation as an important risk factor for further ACS whilst specific inflammatory marker and inflammatory cell profiles differentiated MI from unstable angina patients. Patients with MI had elevated hsCRP and fibrinogen compared to unstable angina with significantly higher neutrophil and monocyte counts and lower eosinophil counts compared to patients with unstable angina. These data further support the known increase in inflammatory cell infiltration in acute coronary syndromes which leads to the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines. Production of pro-inflammatory cytokines also appears to be a local effect within the region of an unstable plaque and acting as a local inflammasome. Martinez et al (Martinez et al., 2015) demonstrated significant trans-coronary gradients of IL-1 β levels between the coronary sinus and coronary artery in patients with acute coronary syndromes but not with stable angina patients. This finding highlights the importance of localised inflammation in unstable plaques which does not occur in chronic, stable, disease. IL-6 levels in this study were similar in both venous samples and coronary sinus samples and were correlated with the IL-1 β levels, suggesting that the localised inflammation at the unstable plaque induced a more 'global' pro-inflammatory state by increasing expression of

IL-6. Furthermore, allergic type inflammation, mediated by eosinophil and basophil activation and degranulation, may also have an important role in acute coronary syndromes. In a study of 181 patients presenting with STEMI (Niccoli et al., 2015), eosinophilic degranulation and basophil activation were significantly higher than in stable angina patients, with higher eosinophilic cationic protein (ECP) concentrations being significantly associated with major adverse cardiac events.

Inflammation, and its related biomarkers, is associated with outcome following an AMI. Data from the CLARITY-TIMI 28 trial (O'Donoghue et al., 2016), in 1258 patients with STEMI, clearly demonstrate a correlation between inflammatory markers and risk of further cardiovascular events. Following multivariable adjustment, raised hsCRP increased the risk of a further cardiovascular event twofold (OR 1.96; 95%CI 1.17-3.30, P=0.01) and increases in myeloperoxidase (MPO) and pregnancy-associated plasma protein A (PAPP-A, a matrix metalloproteinase expressed in atherosclerotic plaques) increased the risk threefold. Similarly, data from the CREDO trial (Dosh et al., 2009) of 1468 patients undergoing PCI also demonstrated a clear association between raised inflammatory markers (hsCRP and PAPP-A) and adverse cardiovascular outcomes. Interestingly, for both markers, there appeared to be no benefit of clopidogrel over placebo in those patients with the lowest tertile values, whereas for the second and third tertiles, clopidogrel-treated patients had a lower risk of cardiovascular events compared to placebo treatments. Whilst the event rate in the lowest tertile of inflammatory markers was low, the interaction between clopidogrel's effect and the level of inflammatory markers suggest that there may be an important relationship between anti-platelet response and inflammation. Stent thrombosis, an exquisitely platelet sensitive outcome, is also associated with higher levels of IL-6, further strengthening a link between platelets, anti-platelet treatment and inflammation (Hwang et al., 2011b). In addition, in the LIPID study of 6434 patients following discharge with MI or unstable angina and treated with pravastatin or placebo, high levels of CRP (>4.78 mg/L) were associated with an increased risk of cardiovascular events (HR 1.28; 95%Cl 1.07-1.54), despite the stable nature of the patient population and the use of a conventional, rather than high sensitivity, assay for the measurement of CRP levels (Tonkin et al., 2015). Finally, in a cohort of ACS patients using DNA microarray (Takashima et al., 2016), a clear gene expression signature of ACS can be developed which predicts 5-year outcomes. In particular, several potentially important inflammatory pathways were identified, predominantly related to T-cell signalling, including the NF-κB signalling pathway, TLR signalling pathway, TNFR2 signalling pathway, CD40L signalling pathway and the oxidative stress-induced gene expression. These data,

together with the other clinical studies, suggest that inflammation is an important predictor of clinical outcome that may inter-relate with anti-platelet therapy.

Anti-platelet drugs and vascular inflammation: Studies suggest that anti-platelet drugs may reduce inflammation and inflammatory markers. In a study of 650 patients undergoing PCI (elective or urgent), samples for hsCRP were obtained prior to and following the loading doses of both aspirin and clopidogrel. Clopidogrel reduced hsCRP levels independent of diagnosis (ACS versus stable disease), other treatments, procedures or risk factors (Hajsadeghi et al., 2016b).

Higher doses of clopidogrel may also reduce inflammatory markers to a greater extent than standard doses. In the ARMYDA-150mg study (Patti et al., 2011), a double dose of clopidogrel (150mg) was associated with a greater reduction in hsCRP compared to standard dose (75mg) and was accompanied by a reduction in platelet reactivity and an improvement in endothelial function. The findings from ARMYDA-150mg are consistent with the DOUBLE study where 54 patients were randomised to receive either 75mg or 150mg of clopidogrel. In the high dose group, hsCRP was reduced by nearly 50% and platelet aggregation was also significantly reduced in comparison to the standard dose (Palmerini et al., 2010).

Similarly, more potent anti-platelet dugs may reduce inflammation more effectively than standard doses of clopidogrel. Whilst both clopidogrel and prasugrel reduced hsCRP in a study of 120 patients attending for PCI (routine or urgent), prasugrel reduced hsCRP to a greater extent than clopidogrel which was independent of the pre-dose hsCRP levels (Hajsadeghi et al., 2016a). In addition, a study of 107 STEMI patients demonstrated that ticagrelor lowered hsCRP more effectively than clopidogrel (Wei et al., 2017b), although there appeared to be no significant differences between ischaemic or bleeding events at 30 days. However, Oh et al (Oh et al., 2016) did not detect any significant differences between CRP levels at 6 months between ticagrelor and clopidogrel in a cohort of 50 patients with carotid atherosclerotic disease. In addition, this study also measured inflammation using Positron Emission Tomography (PET) scanning of the carotid atherosclerotic plaques. In keeping with the CRP results, whilst both ticagrelor and clopidogrel significantly reduced the target-to-background ratio (TBR) post treatment, there was no significant differences between the two anti-platelet agents. Similarly, in an experimental model of inflammation using healthy volunteers treated with intravenous E. Coli endotoxin (LPS) after 7 days treatment with either ticagrelor and clopidogrel, ticagrelor and clopidogrel both reduced platelet-monocyte aggregates, TNF- α and IL-6 to similar extents. However, ticagrelor

appeared to have additional effects with significant reductions observed in IL-8, G-CSF and increases in the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 (Thomas et al., 2015). Interestingly, platelet reactivity measured prior to LPS administration but post ticagrelor or clopidogrel dosing strongly correlated with subsequent post-LPS inflammatory response, strengthening the putative link between platelet reactivity and inflammation.

However, the association between anti-platelets and reduction in inflammation has not been universally reported. In the DISPERSE-2 study investigating the effectiveness of ticagrelor and clopidogrel in NSTEACS, no significant changes in CRP, MPO, IL-6 and sCD40L level was observed in 984 patients randomised to ticagrelor or clopidogrel after 4 weeks (Husted et al., 2010). Similarly, in a study of 41 patients with stable coronary artery disease randomised to either clopidogrel or placebo, only sCD40L was significantly reduced after 6 weeks of treatment, with no clear effect on endothelial function, oxidative stress or hsCRP observed (Ramadan et al., 2014). Furthermore, in a cross-over study of 17 type 2 diabetes patients, aspirin administration at either 75mg/day, 300mg/day or 3600mg/day did not significantly reduce hsCRP, endothelial function or oxidative stress (Raghavan et al., 2014).

The mechanism by which clopidogrel and other anti-platelet drugs reduce inflammation is unclear with reductions in platelet-leucocyte interactions being cited as a potential mechanism as well as direct reduction of inflammatory markers by platelets also being suggested (Hajsadeghi et al., 2016b). Additional studies have focussed on the endothelial effects of clopidogrel. Cerda and colleagues (Cerda et al., 2017) demonstrated a reduction in the gene expression of IL-8 and MCP1 following clopidogrel treatment of TNF- α induced human umbilical vein endothelial cells with a corresponding reduction in both ICAM-1 gene and protein expression also noted. Layne et al (Layne et al., 2016) conducted a vaccine challenge study in 60 healthy volunteers following pre-treatment with aspirin and clopidogrel. Whilst neither aspirin nor clopidogrel significantly reduced the rise in inflammatory markers (hs-CRP, IL-6, TNF- α , IL-1 β) post vaccination compared to placebo, the rise in P-Selectin post vaccination was absent in aspirin and clopidogrel treated patients as was the expansion of CD14 high CD16+ monocytes. The increase in CD16+ monocytes also occurs during the pathogenesis of atherosclerotic plaques and its attenuation by antiplatelet drugs may explain their putative anti-inflammatory action. In addition, in a crossover study of 12 healthy volunteers administered either prasugrel or placebo in a for 7 days, prasugrel was demonstrated to abolish the pro-inflammatory effect of platelets on CD4+ Tcells as measured by IFN-y release and Th1 and Th17 phenotypic markers (Johnston et al., 2015). Furthermore, in a porcine coronary stent restenosis model, ticagrelor was

demonstrated to be better than either prasugrel or clopidogrel in preventing restenosis and inflammatory cell infiltrates (Kim et al., 2017a). Taken together, these data suggest that clopidogrel and other anti-platelet drugs are likely to have a pleiotropic effect on platelets, white blood cells and vascular endothelium which contribute to the reduction in vascular inflammation.

HTPR and vascular inflammation: Given the putative beneficial effects of anti-platelets on inflammation, it is conceivable that HTPR and inflammation may also be related. In a study of 352 patients undergoing PCI, higher levels of sCD40L (but not CRP, IL-6 and P-selectin) was associated with clopidogrel related HTPR as assessed by LTA (Ge et al., 2012). However, in another study of 157 patients with symptomatic coronary artery disease, undergoing PCI, (Muller et al., 2010) and treated with aspirin and clopidogrel, aspirin and clopidogrel response as measured by Multiplate was correlated with levels of CRP, IL-6 and RANTES, a platelet derived chemokine which is instrumental in macrophage and monocyte recruitment (Muller et al., 2010). Furthermore, in a replication cohort of 903 patients with stable coronary artery disease, higher levels of CRP were associated with clopidogrel related HPR as assessed by LTA. In a multivariable analysis, higher CRP was associated with the composite outcome of death and non-fatal MI (HR 1.05; 95%CI 1.00-1.09, P=0.01). Further studies in PCI also demonstrate that other inflammatory markers or pro-inflammatory cytokines may be associated with anti-platelet drug response, but with inconsistent results. Despite the association between sCD40L and platelet reactivity observed in Ge et al's study, a further study in 387 patients undergoing PCI (Osmancik et al., 2012) failed to demonstrate an association between sCD40L level and platelet reactivity as measured by VerifyNow, in keeping with the results of a further study in stable coronary artery disease (Kaufmann et al., 2013). However, Osmancik's study did observe a significant association between IL-10 and clopidogrel related HTPR (OR 1.32; 95%Cl 1.07-1.72, P<0.05), in keeping with previous data demonstrating associations between IL-10 and myocardial infarction as well as poor outcome following an ACS (Osmancik et al., 2012).

Aspirin non-response is also associated with pro-inflammatory markers. In a study of 194 patients with acute coronary syndromes, aspirin related HTPR (as assessed by Multiplate) was associated with higher levels of hsCRP (Stolarek et al., 2015). P-selectin levels have also been associated with aspirin response, as assessed by LTA, in a study of 148 patients with stable coronary artery disease (Kaufmann et al., 2013) but sCD40L was not associated with aspirin response. A network reconstruction using a systems biology approach of platelet metabolism by Thomas and colleagues (Thomas et al., 2014) identified a unique signature

for aspirin resistance. The signature generated by their model identifies novel pathways primarily driven by the diversion of metabolites into prostaglandin synthesis which may explain the relationship observed between poor aspirin response, oxidative stress and lipid metabolism.

In a comprehensive, proteomic analysis of platelet function, Caruso and colleagues (Caruso et al., 2015) demonstrated clear differences between clopidogrel responders and nonresponders in thirty ACS patients. Non-responders to clopidogrel (as identified by LTA) had higher levels of IL-4, IFN-y and MCP-1 compared to responders, with upregulated CD226 (a platelet adhesion molecule) and down regulation of peroxiredoxin-4 (an anti-oxidant). Whilst this study demonstrates, like others, that clopidogrel related HTPR is associated with a proinflammatory milieu, it does not establish a cause and effect relationship between the two. In concordance with most other studies, this study assesses platelet reactivity and inflammatory phenotype only after the administration of the anti-platelet drug and not before. It is therefore not possible to establish whether any change from baseline inflammation or platelet reactivity has occurred following exposure to the anti-platelet agent, and whether this change relates to post-exposure levels of inflammation and platelet function. However, a recent study by Meyer et al (Meyer et al., 2016), in 40 patients with peripheral arterial disease, suggests that both platelet reactivity and inflammation (as measured by RANTES and CRP) are reduced by clopidogrel treatment. However, whilst both platelet reactivity and inflammatory markers decreased in this study, no formal correlation between the two was performed. It is therefore not possible to determine with certainty from these data that there is a causal relationship between platelet reactivity and the degree of inflammation. Furthermore, a study of 51 patients presenting with acute stroke (Sternberg et al., 2016) demonstrates a clear association between inflammatory mediators and antiplatelet response to both aspirin and clopidogrel. In addition, this study also demonstrates that association between platelet reactivity and inflammatory markers is specific to the method being used to assess platelet reactivity. A total of 5 inflammatory markers were assessed in this study (P-selectin, sCD40L, MMP-9, ICAM-1 and IL-6) and platelet function was assessed using TEG, VerifyNow and impedance aggregometry. Clopidogrel administration significantly reduced the levels of P-selectin, sCD40L and MMP-9, which was comparable to reductions seen in response to aspirin. In patients already on aspirin, clopidogrel also significantly reduced the levels of P-selectin, sCD40L and MMP-9 independently of the effect observed with aspirin. VerifyNow and Impedance Aggregometry

correlated well with the anti-inflammatory effect observed with clopidogrel administration but TEG did not. However, TEG and aspirin induced reductions in P-selectin were correlated.

Whilst anti-platelet drug response appears to be at least partially associated with inflammation, with higher levels of inflammation being associated with HPR, it remains unclear which inflammatory marker best correlates with anti-platelet response and in what setting. It appears that some markers, such as sCD40L, are related to anti-platelet response only in specific contexts, such as unstable coronary artery disease. In addition, the method of assessing platelet reactivity appears to be important with some platelet function tests being correlated with inflammatory mediators and others not. Fundamentally, it also remains unclear whether the association between inflammation and HPR reflects a direct effect of inflammation on the pharmacokinetics or pharmacodynamics of the anti-platelet drug or whether it better represents an increased platelet reactivity caused by inflammation that is insufficiently reduced by the anti-platelet drug.

Overall conclusions: Inflammation is closely related to the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and development of unstable plaques that lead to acute coronary syndromes. Prognosis following an ACS is also closely linked to inflammation, with higher levels of inflammatory mediators or markers conferring a poorer long term prognosis. Anti-platelet drugs may modulate the inflammatory response through a variety of putative mechanisms and are likely to represent a pleiotropic response across platelets, white blood cells and vascular endothelium. Importantly, these mechanisms may relate to the variability in response to anti-platelet drugs and may also interact with other cardiovascular risk factors such as diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and lipid peroxidation. It is therefore possible that the inflammatory milieu and its relationship with other cardiovascular risk factors is one of the major determinants of anti-platelet drug response.

1.4.4: Diabetes Mellitus

Diabetes is a major risk factor for the development of cardiovascular disease. It is associated with a significant risk of further cardiovascular risk in the context of DAPT and PCI, with a greater than two fold increase in risk of major adverse cardiovascular events following drugeluting stent (DES) implantation (HR 2.30; 95%CI 1.01-5.27, P=0.048) (Gargiulo et al., 2016). In addition, diabetes may also reduce the effectiveness of anti-platelet agents in reducing the risk of cardiovascular events. In a comparative study of 32 patients with Type 2 diabetes (T2DM) and 32 patients without diabetes, patients with diabetes had a significantly higher degree of platelet reactivity following administration of clopidogrel compared to non-

diabetics, as assessed using the Multiplate analyser (Schuette et al., 2015). Furthermore, the degree of platelet inhibition was inversely correlated with fasting glucose and glycated haemoglobin levels, suggesting that glycaemic control may be an important factor in determining the degree of platelet inhibition observed in patients. Finally, administration of a loading dose of clopidogrel (300mg) did not appear to overcome HTPR to clopidogrel, raising the possibility that the HTPR observed in T2DM is independent of P2Y12 inhibition. These data have been replicated in other, stable, vascular conditions (Nakagawa et al., 2016). In a larger, two part study, Geisler et al investigated the effect of diabetes on platelet reactivity in clopidogrel treated patients (617 patients with T2DM and 1314 non-diabetics) undergoing PCI, using Multiplate to assess platelet reactivity. Diabetes status strongly predicted HTPR to clopidogrel, with a fourfold increase in the risk of having HTPR after adjustment for other co-variates (OR 4.39; 95%CI 1.95-6.83, P<0.001) (Geisler et al., 2010). In addition, Geisler demonstrated that levels of inflammatory markers such as IL-6 and CRP were significantly elevated in diabetics with poor glycaemic control, and the levels of inflammatory markers were inversely correlated with the degree of clopidogrel induced platelet inhibition. These data suggest that the mechanism by which diabetes leads to HTPR to clopidogrel may be mediated via an inflammatory milieu related to diabetes itself. In addition, diabetes may increase plasma esterase activity, leading to a higher transformation of clopidogrel into inactive metabolites and reducing its effect (Geisler et al., 2010). Finally, other, platelet specific mechanisms, may increase the likelihood of HTPR to clopidogrel, which is discussed further below.

Similar to clopidogrel, aspirin response may also be modified by T2DM. In a study of 21 well controlled T2DM patients and 21 non-diabetic controls (Vernstrom et al., 2018), the response to aspirin was lower in diabetes patients compared to the controls. Interestingly, T2DM patients also had higher numbers of immature platelets secondary to higher platelet turnover, which consequently may also reduce the effect of aspirin. In addition, platelet aggregation to AA prior to administering aspirin was also significantly higher in patients with T2DM compared to controls, suggesting that baseline platelet reactivity in diabetics is higher and, therefore, poorer response to aspirin is a consequence of higher platelet reactivity as opposed to a direct pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic effect from diabetes. These data are replicated by a larger study of 2113 subjects (175 diabetes, 1938 without diabetes) where diabetics were noted to have higher baseline platelet reactivity compared to subjects without diabetes (Al-Sofiani et al., 2018). Similarly, the post-aspirin treatment platelet reactivity was significantly higher in diabetics compared to non-diabetics but the overall

response to aspirin (i.e. the comparison between the pre-treatment platelet aggregation value and the post-treatment aggregation value) was similar between diabetics and nondiabetics. These data suggest that it is the increased platelet reactivity, rather than a specific aspirin related phenomenon, that drives the higher platelet reactivity seen in aspirin treated diabetic patients. HTPR to aspirin may also be associated with metabolic syndrome, with one study reporting a nearly fivefold risk of aspirin non-response in patients with metabolic syndrome (OR 4.95; 95%CI 1.44-17.02, P=0.011) (Liu et al., 2016), which did not appear to be associated with the levels of hsCRP. Furthermore, unlike clopidogrel, aspirin response in diabetic patients does not appear to be associated with glycaemic control but appears to be closely associated with hyperlipidaemia and smoking (Labuz-Roszak et al., 2014). Taken together, these data suggest that aspirin non-response in diabetes is likely to be determined by a higher baseline platelet reactivity which does not appear to be associated with hyperlipidaemia. Hyperlipidaemia may also be linked, independently, with platelet response and will be discussed later in this chapter.

Newer anti-platelet agents, such as ticagrelor and prasugrel, may also be affected by the presence of diabetes. A large meta-analysis of 22 studies and 35004 patients determined that there was no significant difference between the clinical effectiveness of ticagrelor in diabetic and non-diabetic patients, the recovery of platelet function was faster in diabetic compared to non-diabetic patients (Tan et al., 2017). A patient level data meta-analysis of 8 studies and 445 patients also demonstrates that diabetes adversely affects ticagrelor's pharmacodynamic response, with higher platelet reactivity in diabetic patients compared to non-diabetic patients (Alexopoulos et al., 2014b). It remains unclear whether the mechanisms underlying the interaction between ticagrelor and diabetes may adversely affect ticagrelor into its active metabolism, with significant reductions in the transformation of ticagrelor into its active metabolite, AR-C124910XX (Adamski et al., 2018). These data are limited, and further studies investigating the relationship between ticagrelor metabolism, diabetes and platelet reactivity are necessary.

Several studies have investigated which anti-platelet is the most effective in the context of diabetes. Despite evidence that ticagrelor may be less effective in diabetic patients, it remains more effective than placebo for secondary prevention of cardiovascular events in patients with diabetes who are also taking aspirin in the PEGASUS-TIMI 54 study (Bhatt et al., 2016). In a 1324 patient sub-study from the RENAMI registry, ticagrelor was associated

with a lower risk of death compared to prasugrel in diabetic patients (Conrotto et al., 2018). These findings are mirrored by pharmacodynamic data that suggest that early platelet reactivity is similar between prasugrel and ticagrelor in diabetic patients, but ticagrelor exerts a greater anti-platelet effect at 30 days and possibly beyond (Shang et al., 2018), in keeping with the OPTIMUS-4 study (Franchi et al., 2016). However, the OPTIMUS-4 study also demonstrates that the enhanced effect of ticagrelor over prasugrel may be platelet function test specific, and only observed in ADP specific tests but not in non-ADP specific tests. Prasugrel appears to give better and more consistent platelet inhibition than clopidogrel in diabetic patients. The VERDI study randomised 50 diabetic subjects with HTPR to clopidogrel to either receive standard clopidogrel loading doses or a prasugrel loading dose. Patients randomised to prasugrel all achieved optimal platelet aggregation, whereas only 16% in the clopidogrel group did (Cubero Gomez et al., 2015). However, diabetes may impact prasugrel's metabolism and conversion to its active metabolite (R-138727). In a PK-PD study comparing clopidogrel and prasugrel in patients undergoing PCI for stable angina, a specific interaction between diabetes and reduced conversion of prasugrel to R-138727 was demonstrated, which mirrored the PD effect of prasugrel in those patients. No interaction was detected between clopidogrel metabolism, PD effect and diabetes, although clopidogrel was generally less effective than prasugrel in reducing platelet aggregation (Niijima et al., 2018).

Taken together, these data suggest that diabetes does reduce the effectiveness of antiplatelet drugs. However, the mechanism underlying this observation remains unclear. For prasugrel and ticagrelor, there appears to be a significant interaction between diabetes and metabolism of the two drugs. As previously discussed, both these drugs are sensitive to intestinal CYP3A4 activity, as demonstrated by their interactions with grapefruit juice and other CYP3A4 inhibitors or inducers. Diabetes reduces gastric emptying and increases overall gut transfer time (Niijima et al., 2018), and it is therefore conceivable that this is responsible for the reduction in active metabolite production, similar to the observed interaction between morphine and anti-platelet agents.

In addition to this, diabetes increases platelet aggregation and reactivity via a number of different mechanisms. Firstly, it is likely that P2Y12 signalling is increased significantly in diabetes. In a study of 40 diabetes patients and 29 healthy volunteers, Hu et al (Hu et al., 2017) demonstrated a fourfold increase in P2Y12 expression in diabetic patients compared to healthy controls. The increased P2Y12 expression also correlated to overall levels of platelet aggregation to ADP. Interestingly, the increased P2Y12 expression appears to be

mediated via an increased NF-κB activation, suggesting that the observed increased inflammation in diabetes has a direct link with higher platelet reactivity. Furthermore, higher glucose concentrations increase P2Y12 expression, again mediated via increased NF-κB activation, in keeping with the observed findings on patients where poor glycaemic control tends to worsen platelet reactivity and increase the risk of HTPR. Similarly, hyperglycaemia appears to increase the risk of HTPR to aspirin with an increase observed in the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Kobzar et al., 2017), which in turn increases cytosolic PLA2 with consequent increases in AA generation. As discussed previously, COX-inhibition by aspirin may increase the production of pro-inflammatory leukotrienes which may further increase platelet reactivity via an increase in inflammatory mediators. In this study, administration of a TXA2 inhibitor did not reduce the effect of glucose on aspirin effectiveness, suggesting that excess TXA2 generation from increased AA is not responsible for the observed increased platelet reactivity.

Emerging data also suggest that increased megakaryocyte proliferation and consequent platelet production may be partly responsible for the increased platelet reactivity observed in diabetic patients. In a recent study Kraakman (Lee and Bergmeier, 2017) demonstrated the role of inflammation and neutrophils in increasing levels of the pro-inflammatory calcium-binding protein, S100A8/A9 which, in turn, bind to the receptor for advance glycation end products (RAGE) on Kupffer cells leading to increased IL-6 production and release of thrombopoetin (TPO) from hepatocytes. Increased TPO release increases platelet production, predominantly reticulated platelets, which are associated with higher levels of platelet reactivity.

1.4.5: Hyperlipidaemia

In common with diabetes, hyperlipidaemia may be associated with a pro-inflammatory state which, in turn, may reduce the effectiveness of anti-platelet drugs.

High low density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) and lower levels of high density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) are associated with higher levels of platelet reactivity (Chan et al., 2015). In aspirin-treated patients, administration of a lipid challenge significantly increases urinary thromboxane production with a consequent increase in platelet reactivity (Yassine et al., 2010). Similarly, in a cohort of T2DM patients, hyperlipidaemia was significantly associated with HTPR to aspirin, independent of glycaemic control (Labuz-Roszak et al., 2014).

High density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) levels are important modifiers of cardiovascular risk, with higher levels reducing the risk of further cardiovascular events (Annema et al., 2016). However, lower levels of HDL-C are associated with increased levels of inflammatory markers and higher risk of further cardiovascular events. In a study of 6134 ACS patients, hsCRP levels were inversely correlated with HDL-C levels, and patients with low HDL-C had a higher mortality compared with normal or high levels (Gonzalez-Pacheco et al., 2015). Importantly, the functionality of HDL-C, primarily cholesterol efflux and anti-inflammatory activity, is critical and may be reduced in ACS patients, irrespective of the overall level of HDL-C, leading to higher low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) oxidation and inflammation (Annema et al., 2016). Oxidised LDL-C (OxLDL) is strongly pro-inflammatory, interacting with multiple immune cell targets such as toll-like receptors (TLRs), CD36 and lectin-like OxLDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) (Zidar et al., 2016). Similarly, higher levels of LDL-C carry a higher risk of cardiovascular risk and are modified substantially by Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin Kexin 9 (PCSK9), which increases degradation of the LDL-C receptor, reducing LDL-C uptake with consequent increases in LDL-C (Gencer et al., 2016). PCSK-9 levels are also associated with higher hsCRP levels in ACS patients as well as higher LDL-C levels but may not be associated with higher risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes following an ACS (Gencer et al., 2016). In addition, higher PCSK9 levels are associated with greater atherosclerotic plaque necrosis, in keeping with its pro-inflammatory effects (Cheng et al., 2016). Furthermore, adipokines may also have a significant effect on inflammation in cardiovascular disease with several studies demonstrating a link between higher levels of pro-atherogenic adipokines (resistin, leptin) and higher cardiovascular risk, as well as higher levels of anti-atherogenic adipokines (adiponectin) conferring a lower risk (Li et al., 2016a). In a nested case-control study of the PROVE-IT TIMI 22 cohort, on-statin resistin levels were associated with higher hsCRP levels and the risk of adverse cardiovascular effects (Khera et al., 2015), whilst leptin levels, although associated with hsCRP levels, was not associated with the risk of recurrent cardiac events. Notably, a strong correlation was seen between HbA1c levels and both resistin and leptin levels, in keeping with the known adipokine imbalance in diabetes patients and relationship between glycaemic control and risk of future cardiovascular events. Moreover, OxLDL may increase the expression of resistin, emphasising the relationship between dyslipidaemia, inflammation and adipokine imbalance.

Given the relationship between hyperlipidaemia, inflammation, adipokine imbalance and consequent HTPR, it is conceivable that modification of hyperlipidaemia with statins may

improve platelet reactivity and reduce HTPR. In the STATIPLAT study, 145 patients with stable angina, on clopidogrel, were randomised to receive atorvastatin, rosuvastatin or no statin. Chronic treatment with statins significantly reduced platelet reactivity compared with clopidogrel alone, although no acute benefit (within 12 hours of the loading dose of statin) was noted (Godino et al., 2017). Similarly, Pesaro and colleagues (Pesaro et al., 2012) demonstrated a significant improvement in platelet reactivity in stable angina patients on aspirin administered either simvastatin 20mg, ezetimibe 10mg/simvastatin 20mg or simvastatin 80mg, which was mirrored by significant reductions in both LDL-C and OxLDL levels. Interestingly, whilst platelet reactivity improved on statin treatment, no significant change in contemporaneously measured inflammatory markers was noted, in conflict with the hypothesis that inflammation is important in platelet reactivity linked to hyperlipidaemia. Furthermore, ezetimibe 10mg/simvastatin 20mg, and not simvastatin 80mg was demonstrated to be the most efficacious treatment for reducing platelet reactivity, which, again, is not in keeping with the known effect of high dose statins in acute coronary syndromes. However, the lack of significant change in inflammatory markers and the seemingly poorer response to simvastatin 80mg compared to low dose simvastatin may be explained the stable nature of the patients (lower levels of inflammation) and the platelet function test used in this study (PFA-100) which is not considered to represent a COX-specific effect of aspirin on platelets.

The effect of statins on platelets may be explained via several mechanisms. In a study of 182 patients with cardiovascular disease or established risk factors for cardiovascular disease, treated with aspirin, Tacconelli and colleagues (Tacconelli et al., 2018) demonstrated lower serum TXB2 in patients treated with statins compared to those who were not on statins. In vitro studies demonstrated that atorvastatin significantly increases the acetylation of COX-1 at serine529 by aspirin, thereby increases its effect. In acute coronary syndromes, atorvastatin may also exert anti-inflammatory actions via inhibition of the immediate-early response gene (EGR1), reducing pro-inflammatory CD4+ T-lymphocytes and increase anti-inflammatory CD4+lymphocytes (Severino et al., 2017).

In summary, hyperlipidaemia may significantly reduce the effectiveness of anti-platelet therapy. The mechanisms behind this interaction remain unclear, although it seems likely that inflammation and adipokine balance are underlying causes. Treatment with statins appear to improve platelet inhibition in response to anti-platelet treatments, potentially via direct platelet-specific or anti-inflammatory effects.

1.4.6: Smoking

Whilst smoking is a well-known cardiovascular risk factor, it may also have a significant impact on response to anti-platelet drugs. Several studies have demonstrated the so-called 'smokers paradox' with clopidogrel, where current smokers appear to have a significantly better response to clopidogrel than non-smokers. In a study of 71 patients undergoing neuro-interventional procedures administered clopidogrel, smokers had a fivefold increase in clopidogrel hyper-responsiveness (Nakagawa et al., 2016). Similarly, in the PARADOX study, smokers had significantly better platelet inhibition and higher levels of clopidogrel's active metabolite compared to non-smokers (Gurbel et al., 2013). The putative mechanism for this observation is induction of CYP1A2 and 2B6 in response to cigarette smoking which consequently increases metabolism of clopidogrel to its active metabolite thereby increasing clopidogrel's pharmacodynamic effect (Gurbel et al., 2013). Interestingly, data from the 17,263 patient CURRENT-OASIS 7 trial indicates that the benefit of double dose clopidogrel over standard dose clopidogrel in reducing the primary outcome was only observed in smokers and not non-smokers (Bossard et al., 2017). However, some studies suggest the apparent synergy between smoking and better outcomes with clopidogrel is a product of smokers generally being younger with fewer co-morbidities and consequently having lower risk of suffering cardiovascular events (Kodaira et al., 2016). Interestingly, in the large TRILOGY-ACS study, prasugrel was superior to clopidogrel in reducing major adverse cardiovascular events in smokers only, with non-smokers demonstrating no significant difference between the two treatments (Cornel et al., 2014) which is at odds with the previously observed 'smokers paradox'. Similarly, the COPTER study (Patti et al., 2016) demonstrated only a weak effect of cigarette smoking on platelet reactivity to ticagrelor, prasugrel and clopidogrel, with a modest improvement in platelet reactivity on smoking cessation which was reversed on resumption of smoking after 2 weeks.

However, a meta-analysis of nine trials and 74,489 patients (Gagne et al., 2013), demonstrated that the benefit of clopidogrel in reducing ischaemic events was mostly observed only in smokers, with non-smokers demonstrating little benefit from clopidogrel. This is in keeping with another, large meta-analysis of 19 studies and 117,790 patients, which also clearly demonstrated a significant improvement in clinical outcome and platelet reactivity in smokers administered clopidogrel compared to non-smokers (Zhao et al., 2014).

Interestingly, the benefits of ticagrelor and prasugrel also appeared to be larger in smokers than non-smokers in the Gagne et al meta-analysis (Gagne et al., 2013). Given that CYP1A2

has a lesser role in prasugrel metabolism compared to clopidogrel metabolism, and no known role in ticagrelor metabolism, it has been suggested that smoking may induce CYP3A4, an enzyme common to the metabolism of all three drugs. In support, recent data suggest that ticagrelor's metabolism may be affected by smoking, with increased production of AR-C124910XX, ticagrelor's active metabolite, in smokers compared to non-smokers (Adamski et al., 2018). However, the interaction between smoking and CYP3A4 is not clear, with some studies suggesting that smoking may increase induction of CYP3A4 in the presence of an existing inducer (Gagne et al., 2013). However, both the PARADOX and TRILOGY-ACS studies failed to detect any significant association between outcome, pharmacodynamic effect and smoking in prasugrel treated patients, whilst the COPTER study demonstrated only a weak effect of smoking on all three anti-platelet agents (Gurbel et al., 2013, Cornel et al., 2014, Patti et al., 2016).

Aspirin response may also be modified by smoking. In a study of 96 patients with T2DM, smoking was found to be strongly associated with HTPR to aspirin (Labuz-Roszak et al., 2014). These data are in keeping with other studies that have demonstrated higher levels of TXB2 (Ikonomidis et al., 2005) in aspirin treated patients who are current smokers, and is consistent with the observed higher levels of macrophage colony stimulating factor (M-CSF) in smokers (Smith et al., 2001, McAdam et al., 2005). Higher levels of M-CSF facilitate greater platelet-monocyte adhesion with consequent increases on TXA2 release from platelets. However whilst studies using TXB2 as a measure of aspirin response have generally demonstrated a clear response between aspirin response and smoking, other studies using different platelet function tests have not (Valles et al., 2007).

1.4.7: Gender

Several large observational studies have demonstrated significant gender effects in relation to aspirin treatment. In the Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) study (Hansson et al., 1998), no significant reduction in the risk of MI was observed in women whereas aspirin therapy in men reduced risk by over 40%. Similarly, the Women's Health Study (WHS) of 39,876 women did not demonstrate any significant reduction in risk of MI or total cardiovascular events from aspirin administration (Ridker et al., 2005). These data are in keeping with the observation that baseline platelet reactivity is higher in women, as demonstrated by Tang and Yin's study of over 14000 healthy individuals who had LTA with ADP as agonist which demonstrated a mean platelet reactivity of 72.4% in men and 80.0% in women (P<0.001) (Tang and Yin, 2016). Furthermore, Becker et al conducted an intensive

pharmacodynamic study (Becker et al., 2006), which demonstrated that women had a poorer response to aspirin as assessed by multiple platelet assays. In particular, women had nonsuppressed response to collagen, epinephrine and ADP despite aspirin therapy, whilst in men there was almost complete suppression in response to these agonists. In addition, women had significantly higher cholesterol and fibrinogen levels in comparison to men, which is also likely to increase platelet reactivity. However, age may also be a variable, with premenopausal women displaying reduced platelet reactivity, most likely related to platelet oestrogen receptors (Di Giosia et al., 2017). In addition, gender effect may also be platelet function test specific, with VerifyNow demonstrating higher platelet reactivity in women whereas the converse is true with the Multiplate platform (Danielak et al., 2017).

However, several studies with thienopyridine have failed to detect a consistent gender effect. In a post-hoc analysis of the PLATO study (Husted et al., 2014), ticagrelor appeared to be equally beneficial over clopidogrel in both men and women, with no gender specific effects observed in rates of bleeding. In the TRILOGY-ACS study (Clemmensen et al., 2015), no difference was observed between men and women in ischaemic or bleeding endpoints, although it should be noted that women enrolled in the study tended to have higher numbers of risk factors for adverse outcomes, such as increased age, lower weight and higher rates of previous cardiovascular events. However, in the TRANSLATE-ACS study (Hess et al., 2014), poorer ischaemic outcomes were reported in women although, following adjustment for cardiovascular risk factors and age, this association became non-significant. Nonetheless, the TRANSLATE-ACS study was in agreement with TRILOGY-ACS, in that women had a more adverse risk profile than men. Finally, in TRANSLATE-ACS women had a higher rate of bleeding which persisted after adjustment for risk factors. Increased bleeding rates in women has also been reported by other studies (Xanthopoulou et al., 2017). However, a large, collaborative, meta-analysis of seven trials including 24,494 women and 63,346 men (Lau et al., 2017) administered potent P2Y12 inhibitors demonstrated that MACE is significantly reduced in both genders, with a similar effect size in both men and women. Similarly, bleeding rates are increased by potent P2Y12 inhibitors to similar degrees in both men and women with no gender effect observed.

Whilst the meta-analysis demonstrates that potent P2Y12 inhibitors are equally effective in men and women, both the TRANSLATE-ACS and TRILOGY-ACS studies report that women have a higher risk score than men which is in keeping with data from the ATLANTIC study (Venetsanos et al., 2017) comparing pre-hospital administration of ticagrelor to cath-lab administration. In this study, women had significantly higher TIMI risk scores and a threefold

higher risk of all-cause mortality compared to men and twofold higher risk of bleeding. Reallife data from these three studies demonstrate that women are at higher risk from cardiovascular events, despite the equal effectiveness of potent P2Y12 inhibitors in men and women. This risk may be explained by the gender based differences in platelet reactivity, but it is also clear that the risk profile of women (older, lower weight etc.) may impact choice of anti-platelet agent and therefore opportunity to benefit from more potent P2Y12 inhibition. Institution of standardised protocols may reduce this inequality, as demonstrated by Wei et al's (Wei et al., 2017a) recent study demonstrating that introduction of a STEMI standardised protocol significantly reduces the treatment disparity between women and men.

1.4.8: Anti-platelet dose

Given the HTPR observed with all anti-platelet agents, it is conceivable that increasing the dose with the aim of increasing pharmacodynamic effect would reduce platelet reactivity and reduce the incidence of HTPR.

The CURRENT-OASIS 7 study (Mehta et al., 2010) compared double dose clopidogrel to standard dose clopidogrel in 17,263 ACS patients undergoing PCI. Patients received either 150mg or 75mg clopidogrel for seven days with follow-up for clinical outcomes at thirty days. Double dose clopidogrel was superior to standard dose clopidogrel with the occurrence of the composite outcome being reduced from 4.5% to 3.9% in the double-dose arm (HR 0.86; 95%CI 0.74-0.99, P=0.039). This finding is in keeping with pharmacodynamic studies that demonstrate a significant reduction in platelet reactivity in patients taking clopidogrel 150mg as compared to clopidogrel 75mg (Angiolillo et al., 2007, von Beckerath et al., 2007). Importantly, however, increasing the clopidogrel maintenance dose to 150mg may only be effective in patients who do not carry the loss-of-function *CYP2C19*2* allele, as demonstrated by Alexopoulos and colleagues 71 post-PCI patient study (Alexopoulos et al., 2011a).

In addition, increasing the dose of prasugrel may also overcome prasugrel related HTPR. In the context of STEMI, increasing the loading dose of prasugrel from 60mg to 100mg significantly reduces the HTPR rate from 31.4% to 10.6% in one study of 82 patients (Alexopoulos et al., 2014a). Similarly, other studies have demonstrated a clear dose-response relationship between prasugrel dose and platelet reactivity with higher doses being associated with lower platelet reactivity and fewer patients with HTPR (Ferreiro et al., 2013).

A recent meta-analysis of 10 clinical trials and 4,213 patients (Aradi et al., 2013) also demonstrates that intensified anti-platelet therapy with higher doses of clopidogrel and prasugrel significantly reduces the risk of cardiovascular death, MI or stent thrombosis. In addition, intensified anti-platelet therapy does not appear to be associated with an increased risk of either major or minor bleeding events. Taken together, these data suggest that higher doses of thienopyridines are more efficacious without obvious increases in the risk of bleeding.

Several studies have addressed whether increasing the dose of aspirin increases anti-platelet effectiveness and reduces HTPR. In a study of 40 patients with stable coronary artery disease (Dominiak et al., 2013), increasing the dose of aspirin from 75mg to 150mg successfully reduced HTPR in 62% of aspirin resistant patients, in keeping with data from other studies (Gengo et al., 2016). Interestingly, response to the increased dose of aspirin was predicted by male gender and lower baseline platelet reactivity. In another study, two intensified dose regimens were investigated (81mg QDS compared to 325mg OD), demonstrating that whilst both regimens were more effective at reducing platelet reactivity compared to a single 81mg dose daily, the 81mg QDS was more effective than the 325mg OD dose. However, some studies do not clearly demonstrate any significant change in the HTPR rate or platelet reactivity at higher doses of aspirin. In a study of 961 STEMI patients (Mrdovic et al., 2016), an increased dose of 300mg aspirin for 30 days in the 190 patients defined as poor responders did not significantly reduce the occurrence of major adverse cardiovascular events compared to aspirin sensitive patients. Similarly, the large TRANSLATE-ACS study did not detect any significant benefit of high dose aspirin compared to low dose aspirin in 10,213 patients with ACS (Xian et al., 2015). This was independent of the P2Y12 inhibitor used in combination with aspirin. However, a marginally increased risk of minor bleeding (but not major bleeding) was observed in patients taking high dose aspirin.

1.4.9: Drug Interactions

As discussed previously, significant drug interactions exist for all P2Y12 inhibitors. Both the thienopyridine drugs, clopidogrel and prasugrel, have a two-step activation process, catalysed by the CYP450 enzymes. Ticagrelor, on the other hand, is a directly acting agent with no necessity for activation. It, however, is metabolised to an active metabolite by CYP3A4. In addition, all three drugs are administered orally and are therefore subject to variability induced by gastric emptying, intestinal CYP3A4 and intestinal P-gp expression.
Clopidogrel: Clopidogrel has a number of well-studied interactions, which are a consequence of clopidogrel's activation pathway. Primary amongst them is the potential interaction between proton pump inhibitors (PPIs) and clopidogrel at CYP2C19, clopidogrel's primary metabolising CYP450 isoenzyme. Importantly, PPIs are frequently prescribed in patients with cardiovascular disease, often as prophylaxis of GI bleeding from aspirin administration (Pelliccia et al., 2015). In a double blind RCT of 124 patients comparing the effects of omeprazole on platelet response to clopidogrel, Gilard et al demonstrated that coprescription of omeprazole with clopidogrel resulted in a fourfold increase in clopidogrel non-response as defined by VASP (Gilard et al., 2008). However, recent studies have not clearly replicated the interaction between clopidogrel and PPIs. In a recent cross-over study enrolling 28 healthy volunteers, Przespolewski and colleagues did not demonstrate any effect of six PPIs on clopidogrel response, as measured by impedance aggregometry (Przespolewski et al., 2018). In the TRANSLATE-ACS study, there was no significant effect of PPI use on the rate of MACE occurrence in either prasugrel or clopidogrel treated patients, although the cumulative incidence was higher in the clopidogrel-PPI group (20.2%) than the clopidogrel-no PPI group (14.0%) (Jackson et al., 2016). Similarly, the TRILOGY-ACS study did not detect any significant difference between platelet reactivity dependent on PPI status, although clinical events were generally higher in the clopidogrel-PPI treated patients compared to clopidogrel-no PPI patients (Nicolau et al., 2015).

Previous meta-analyses have demonstrated a clear association between co-administration of clopidogrel and PPIs and the risk of major adverse cardiac events. In Siller-Matula and colleagues' 2010 meta-analysis of 20 studies, a 29% increase in risk of MACE was observed in patients taking clopidogrel and a PPI compared to clopidogrel alone (Siller-Matula et al., 2010). A more recent meta-analysis by Bundhun and colleagues (Bundhun et al., 2017) of 11 studies and 84,729 patients, published between 2012 and 2016, demonstrated a 37% increase in risk of MACE in patients administered both clopidogrel and a PPI compared to those on clopidogrel only. Given these data, the FDA and other regulatory agencies worldwide issued several warning about the interactions between PPIs and clopidogrel, with a consequent drop in clopidogrel and PPI co-prescription in patients with ACS. In one registry study of over 200,000 inpatient admissions with ACS, PPI-clopidogrel co-prescription prevalence as 34.9% in 2008, dropping by half to 16.4% in two years (Farhat et al., 2019).

Of recent, concern has emerged over the potential interaction between clopidogrel and statins given that the primary metabolising enzyme for atorvastatin and simvastatin is CYP3A4 which is also responsible for clopidogrel activation. However, in a study of 374 post-

PCI or ACS patients, rosuvastatin, but not atorvastatin, was observed to significantly increase platelet reactivity and HTPR rate in patients administered clopidogrel (Verdoia et al., 2015), which is not in keeping with the CYP3A4 interaction hypothesis. Similarly, other studies have not identified any significant interactions between statins and clopidogrel, although some studies have demonstrated a benefit from using non CYP3A4 metabolised statins such as pitavastatin as opposed to atorvastatin in terms of clopidogrel's pharmacodynamic response (Pelliccia et al., 2015, Zhang et al., 2015). Importantly, in a sub-group analysis of the TRITON-TIMI 38 study, no increased risk of cardiovascular death, MI or stroke was observed in 4,794 clopidogrel treated patients who were co-prescribed a CYP3A4 metabolised statin (HR 1.02; 95%CI 0.85-1.22). In addition, given recent concern about the potential interaction between CYP3A4 metabolised calcium channel blockers (CCBs) and clopidogrel, a further sub-group analysis of the TRITON-TIMI 38 cohort was conducted, again demonstrating no significant increase in risk of MACE in patients being treated with both a CCB and clopidogrel (Ojeifo et al., 2013).

Finally, several other drugs, such as erythromycin, ketoconazole and St John's Wort have all been reported to adversely affect clopidogrel activation, predominantly through an interaction with the CYP3A group of isoenzymes (Farid et al., 2007, Gurbel et al., 2009).

Prasugrel: Whilst still requiring a two-step activation process, prasugrel's metabolic pathway does not primarily rely on one or two specific CYP450 enzymes for its bioactivation and consequently it displays fewer interactions than clopidogrel. However, in healthy volunteers administered a 10mg oral prasugrel dose with grapefruit juice, a strong inhibitor of intestinal and hepatic CYP3A4, the exposure to the inactive prasugrel metabolite (R-95913) was significantly increased whilst the plasma concentration of and the exposure to the active prasugrel metabolite (R-138727) was significantly reduced. However, the difference in platelet reactivity was not significantly different between subjects receiving grapefruit juice or not receiving grapefruit juice, a finding in keeping with known pluripotent metabolic activation pathway for prasugrel (Holmberg et al., 2015). Similar findings have been observed with prasugrel co-administration with ritonavir, another strong CYP3A4 inhibitor (Holmberg et al., 2015). Furthermore, co-administration of clopidogrel with grapefruit juice demonstrated a much larger and significant decrease in platelet inhibition as compared to prasugrel, which evidences the difference in prasugrel and clopidogrel bioactivation despite both being pro-drugs requiring a two-step activation process (Holmberg et al., 2015).

Ticagrelor: Unlike either prasugrel or clopidogrel, ticagrelor does not require metabolic activation. However, ticagrelor is a substrate for P-glycoprotein and is metabolised by CYP3A4 to an active metabolite. In a healthy volunteer study, Holmberg et al (Holmberg et al., 2013) assessed the effect of grapefruit juice on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of a single oral 90mg dose of ticagrelor in a cross-over design. Coadministration of ticagrelor and grapefruit juice increased ticagrelor peak concentrations and exposure significantly compared to ticagrelor alone. Importantly, the pharmacodynamic effect of ticagrelor was also substantially increased, with greater platelet inhibition and lower platelet recovery. In keeping with the known metabolic pathway of ticagrelor, the plasma concentration of the active metabolite, AR-C124910XX, was also significantly lower when ticagrelor was administered with grapefruit, indicating that the active metabolite has little impact on ticagrelor's pharmacodynamics effect despite its known anti-platelet effect. Similar data have been generated from ticagrelor interaction studies with potent CYP3A4 inhibitors and inducers (Holmberg et al., 2013) and ticagrelor is contra-indicated in combination with strong CYP3A4 inhibitors as described in the UK Summary of Product Characteristics.

Recent concerns have been raised about an interaction between ticagrelor and morphine, a drug widely used in the context of acute myocardial infarction. In a healthy volunteer study, Hobl et al (Hobl et al., 2016a), co-administration of 5mg intravenous morphine with a 180mg oral ticagrelor dose resulted in a significant reduction in ticagrelor absorption and reduced plasma concentrations and exposures of both ticagrelor and its active metabolite. However, no significant effect was observed in platelet reactivity, despite the alterations in ticagrelor pharmacokinetics. In a clinical cohort of 70 ACS patients (both STEMI and NSTEACS), the IMPRESSION study (Kubica et al., 2016) demonstrated a significant reduction in ticagrelor and AR-C124910XX exposure when ticagrelor was co-administered with morphine compared with a placebo injection which was also associated with an increased rate of HTPR despite ticagrelor. These findings are in keeping with Parodi et al's study (Parodi et al., 2015) of 300 STEMI patients receiving PPCI, where the anti-platelet effect of ticagrelor was significantly delayed in patients administered morphine. Importantly, this effect is also demonstrated in patients administered prasugrel (Parodi et al., 2015), although a healthy volunteer study investigating the prasugrel – morphine co-administration failed to detect any significant differences in platelet inhibition (Hobl et al., 2016b). Clopidogrel's pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamics effects have also been demonstrated to be negatively impacted on by co-administration of morphine (Hobl et al., 2016b).

Aspirin: Aspirin's pharmacodynamic target, COX-1, may be reversibly inhibited by other drugs with a consequent reduction aspirin's effect. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, such as ibuprofen, inhibit COX-1 in a reversible manner and when administered at the same time or prior to aspirin may significantly attenuate its effect. Catella-Lawson and colleagues administered ibuprofen either two hours before or two hours after administration of aspirin. Inhibition of TXB2 response was two-fold higher in subjects who received aspirin two hours prior to the ibuprofen administration compared to those who received aspirin two hours after aspirin administration (Catella-Lawson et al., 2001).

Importantly, enteric coating of aspirin may also substantially reduce its effectiveness. In a triple crossover study, Bhatt and colleagues (Bhatt et al., 2017) demonstrated a threefold higher incidence of aspirin non-response in patients treated with enteric coated aspirin compared to plain aspirin (52.8% vs 15.8%, P<0.0001) as defined by a raised serum TXB2. The serum TXB2 mirrored the pharmacokinetic profiles of both plain aspirin and enteric coated aspirin, with enteric coated aspirin having a significantly lower C_{max} and AUC compared to plain aspirin.

Other commonly prescribed treatments for cardiovascular disease may also influence aspirin response. Several studies have demonstrated inhibition of both COX and ADP mediated platelet aggregation by two angiotensin-2 receptor blockers (ARB), valsartan and losartan (Serebruany et al., 2006, Yamada et al., 2007). This positive impact on platelet aggregation may also be associated with an improved response to aspirin. In a recent large study of 831 aspirin treated patients, concomitant ARB therapy was associated with a better aspirin response than those without ARB therapy (Chen and Chou, 2018a). However, to date, there are no data to suggest that this positive interaction improves clinical outcome and consequently its clinical significance is unknown.

1.5: Can we optimise anti-platelet therapy?

Variability to anti-platelet agents is a well characterised phenomenon with a number of identified causes and risk-factors. Modification of these risk factors and potential causes of anti-platelet resistance is possible but relies on identifying and validating a specific biomarker that can be used routinely in clinical practice.

The observed variability in anti-platelet response is, of course, likely to be a multifactorial with some causes easily identified and treated and others not. For example, drug interactions

are easily identified by reviewing patient medication histories and, by stopping interacting drugs, anti-platelet response should improve.

Genetic markers, such as the *CYP2C19* LOF polymorphisms, are also easily identifiable and, if identified, could be used as a biomarker for stratification. For example, genotype guided dosing of ADP receptor antagonists could be instituted, with clopidogrel being used for patients with no *CYP2C19* LOF polymorphisms and ticagrelor or prasugrel used for all other patients. However, universal use of ticagrelor is now commonplace and supported by international guidelines and therefore a strong case would have to be made for a change in practice.

Most other causes such as diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and inflammation are easy to detect, but their presence may not always be associated with poor response to anti-platelets. Furthermore, the mechanism by which they cause HTPR is poorly understood, which makes it difficult to define how best to treat them, other than by focussing on conventional treatments such as statins and anti-diabetic drugs.

Finally, an alternate strategy would be to utilise platelet function testing routinely. This would have the advantage of detecting HTPR irrespective of its cause. However, as previously discussed, there are multiple assays available to test platelet reactivity which often poorly correlate with other assays or clinical outcome, and it is not clear which assay best represents platelet function for all patients. In addition, the use of highly potent anti-platelet drugs may largely negate the need for platelet function testing unless a personalised medicine approach could be used for anti-platelet drugs.

Importantly, stratification for anti-platelets would primarily be used only for ADP receptor antagonists and not aspirin. Whilst response to aspirin can be tested using a variety of assays, it is not clear how aspirin non-response should be treated. Unlike the ADP receptor antagonists, there is no obvious alternative agent for aspirin and its response is not associated with a common, easily testable, genetic polymorphism as is the case with clopidogrel. Consequently, the discussion on stratification will focus only on the ADP receptor antagonists.

1.5.1: The Potential for Stratification

Given that the key aim of anti-platelet therapy, particularly in the context of ACS, is to generate rapid and profound platelet inhibition, one treatment option is to simply use more potent anti-platelet agents such as prasugrel and ticagrelor. Whilst this has largely been incorporated into national and international guidelines for the treatment of acute coronary syndromes, there are a number of important points that merit consideration in relation to the universal use of high potency anti-platelets.

Firstly, the superiority of both prasugrel and ticagrelor over clopidogrel for ischaemic endpoints has not always been consistent in major randomised clinical trials. Whilst the TRITON-TIMI 38 (Wiviott et al., 2007) trial showed a significant benefit of prasugrel over clopidogrel, it should be noted that the clopidogrel loading dose used in the trial (300mg) is lower than the loading dose often used in clinical practice (600mg) which may favour patients in the prasugrel arm. In addition, prasugrel's benefit was mostly driven by the reduction in non-fatal MIs in the prasugrel group with no significant differences between other endpoints in the clopidogrel and prasugrel groups. Furthermore, prasugrel was not demonstrated to be superior to clopidogrel in the TRILOGY-ACS study (Roe et al., 2012) which included patients with medically treated NSTEACS. These variable results are mirrored by meta-analyses, with some reporting a clear superiority of prasugrel over clopidogrel whereas others do not. Similarly for ticagrelor, the PLATO trial reported a clear superiority for ticagrelor over clopidogrel, but the PHILO study in East Asian patients did not. In more stable conditions, such as PAD, ticagrelor was also not demonstrated to be superior to clopidogrel in large randomised studies (Wallentin et al., 2009, Goto et al., 2015, Jones et al., 2017). Altogether, these data suggest that the observed benefit of the more potent anti-platelets is not universal and that some patient groups gain more benefit from them than other groups. Secondly, both prasugrel and ticagrelor are associated with a higher risk of non-CABG related major bleeding than clopidogrel (Wallentin et al., 2009, Wiviott et al., 2007), which is associated with significant morbidity and mortality following ACS, particularly in female and elderly patients. Thirdly, ticagrelor has been associated with dyspnoea, a likely adenosine mediated adverse effect, which in the PLATO trial required discontinuation of the drug in 1% of patients. Whilst this is a small proportion of the overall trial population, it is likely to have a greater impact in general usage where adherence to medication is often lower than in clinical trial. This is likely to a greater problem for ticagrelor, given that it requires administration twice daily which may lower long-term adherence even further. Finally, ticagrelor and prasugrel are significantly more expensive than treating with clopidogrel.

1.5.2: Genetic Stratification

As previously discussed, one of the major modifiers of clopidogrel response is genotype and specifically carriage of *CYP2C19* LOF polymorphisms. Given that these polymorphisms are

relatively common in all populations (with higher prevalence in Asian populations), it is possible that the benefit of the more potent anti-platelets is only observed in carries of the LOF polymorphisms. This is supported by data from several studies. Data from the genetic sub-study of the TRITON-TIMI 38 trial demonstrated that the composite endpoint event rate in clopidogrel treated patients with a normal *CYP2C19* and *ABCB1* C3435T genotype was 6.3% which compares favourably with the reported composite event rate of 9.0% in prasugrel treated patients with the same genotypes (Mega et al., 2010a). Similarly, in the genetic sub-study of the PLATO trial, ticagrelor was not conclusively superior to clopidogrel in reducing the occurrence of the composite ischaemic endpoint in non-carriers of the *CYP2C19* LOF allele (Wallentin et al., 2010). These findings suggest that the primary driver of the observed benefit of prasugrel and ticagrelor, when compared to clopidogrel, is due to genetics and, in particular, carriage of the *CYP2C19* LOF alleles. Consequently, genotyping for *CYP2C19* could be used as a marker for personalisation or stratification of anti-platelet therapy, either by determining the dose or type of anti-platelet that should be used in an individual patient.

Several studies have addressed the use of personalised, genotype guided, therapy. In a retrospective study of 199 patients, subjects either received personalised anti-platelet therapy on the basis of CYP2C19*2 genotype (non-carriers received clopidogrel, carriers received prasugrel) or standard treatment with ticagrelor, with a primary outcome of platelet inhibition within a therapeutic window as defined by VerifyNow. Significantly higher numbers of patients in the personalised anti-platelet therapy (PAT) group achieved platelet inhibition within the therapeutic range compared to ticagrelor treated patients (Malhotra et al., 2015), with a twenty fold higher chance of achieving the therapeutic window in PAT treated patients (OR 20.27; 95%CI 4.33-94.82, P=0.0001). Similarly, a group of 50 AMI patients, discharged post-PCI on prasugrel, were genotyped for the CYP2C19*2 or *3 allele with those carrying the LOF alleles (*2 and *3) remaining on prasugrel and those with the wild-type alleles switching to clopidogrel. VerifyNow PRU values were assessed after 5 weeks of genotype guided treatment with no significant differences observed between the genotype-guided clopidogrel and prasugrel groups (Lee et al., 2016). These data are also in keeping with a further, prospective, study of NSTEACS patients using ticagrelor for CYP2C19 LOF carriers instead of prasugrel (Ahn et al., 2013), which also demonstrated no significant differences in PRU values between genotype guided ticagrelor and clopidogrel treated patients. Finally, a large, 628 patient study randomised post-PCI patients to either a 'routine group' receiving clopidogrel 75mg/day or an 'individual group' where anti-platelet therapy was guided by CYP2C19 genotype (Shen et al., 2016). Patients with no CYP2C19 LOF allele

(extensive metaboliser, EM) were continued on clopidogrel 75mg/day whereas as those who carried either one LOF allele (intermediate metaboliser, IM) or two LOF alleles (poor metaboliser, PM) received clopidogrel 150mg/day or ticagrelor 90mg twice daily respectively. Clinical outcomes, based on a composite endpoint of death, myocardial infarction or target vessel revascularisation, were assessed at 1, 6 and 12 months, with a significant reduction in the composite endpoint observed in the 'individual' group compared to the 'routine group'. Within the 'individual group', no significant differences were demonstrated between the EM, IM or PM groups, suggesting that genotype guided choice of anti-platelet agent abolished the risk conferred by carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele.

The cost-effectiveness of utilising *CYP2C19* based genotype guided dosing of anti-platelets has also been assessed. In a Hong Kong population, use of ticagrelor in *CYP2C19* LOF carriers and clopidogrel in all other post PCI ACS patients was cost-effective, including in comparison to universal ticagrelor or universal clopidogrel usage (Wang et al., 2018e). However, in an Australian model, whilst such a strategy was again demonstrated to be cost-effective, universal ticagrelor was found to be more effective than genotyped guided dosing with an incremental cost-effectiveness that was higher but within acceptable limits for funding (Sorich et al., 2013). However, Sorich's analysis was predicated on an only threefold difference in cost between ticagrelor and clopidogrel, compared to Wang's differential cost of 23-fold; a value more in keeping with the difference between the cost of clopidogrel and ticagrelor in the UK. Indeed, a further cost-effectiveness analysis by Jiang (Jiang and You, 2017) demonstrated that genotype guided dosing of anti-platelet is cost-effective compared to universal high-potency anti-platelet or universal clopidogrel.

1.5.3: Pharmacodynamic Stratification

An alternative strategy would be to utilise platelet function tests for stratification instead of the *CYP2C19*2* polymorphism. In the GRAVITAS study (Price et al., 2011), a total of 2214 patients were enrolled and had platelet function assessed using the VerifyNow instrument after PCI, with those determined as having HTPR receiving high dose clopidogrel (600mg loading dose, followed by 150mg once daily) whilst those with satisfactory platelet inhibition remained on a standard dose of clopidogrel. After 6 months of treatment, there was no significant difference in the occurrence of the primary ischaemic endpoint between the high and low dose clopidogrel groups (HR 1.01; 95%CI 0.58-1.76, P=0.97). In the TRIGGER-PCI study, (Trenk et al., 2012), patients with stable coronary artery disease and HTPR whilst on clopidogrel were randomised to receive either clopidogrel 75mg or prasugrel 10mg once

daily. Whilst a significant improvement in platelet inhibition was observed in patients receiving prasugrel compared to clopidogrel, the trial failed to demonstrate any significant difference in the occurrence of the composite ischaemic outcomes between the two groups and was stopped early because of futility. Finally, in the ARCTIC study (Collet et al., 2012), over 2000 patients undergoing PCI were randomised to either standard anti-platelet therapy or tailored anti-platelet therapy using the VerifyNow platform. No significant difference was observed for the primary ischaemic outcome between the two groups. However, the GRAVITAS, TRIGGER-PCI and ARCTIC studies largely included patients with stable coronary artery disease and it is therefore unsurprising that the trials failed to demonstrate any significant benefit from personalised anti-platelet therapy in a group of patients with traditionally low ischaemic event rates. More recently, studies have been conducted largely in patients with ACS. Dridi et al (Dridi et al., 2014) included 237 ACS patients with HTPR whilst on clopidogrel 75mg, as defined by the Multiplate analyser, with 114 remaining on clopidogrel standard doses whilst the remaining 123 received intensified anti-platelet therapy (either high-dose clopidogrel, prasugrel or ticagrelor). Intensified anti-platelet therapy significantly reduced the occurrence of the primary composite ischaemic outcome compared to patients remaining on standard dose of clopidogrel, with event rates comparable to patients with normal platelet reactivity on clopidogrel. Similarly, in the RECLOSE-3 study (Valenti et al., 2015), subjects with HTPR on clopidogrel 75mg (as identified by LTA) were switched to prasugrel 10mg with a significant improvement in platelet inhibition and reduction in occurrence of the primary ischaemic endpoint. In addition, Aradi et al (Aradi et al., 2014) demonstrated a significant improvement in both pharmacodynamic and clinical outcomes following intensification of anti-platelet therapy in patients with clopidogrel related HTPR. In a recent cost-effectiveness analysis (Coleman and Limone, 2013), platelet reactivity driven dosing of anti-platelets was found to be cost-effective compared to universal ticagrelor, prasugrel or generic clopidogrel, although the ICER for platelet reactivity guided dosing in this study was substantially higher than the ICER for genotype guided dosing in Wang's cost-effectiveness analysis (Wang et al., 2018e).

1.5.4: Treatment of non-responders

It is generally assumed that in poor responders to clopidogrel, or those that have any CYP2C19 LOF polymorphisms, high potency anti-platelets such as prasugrel or ticagrelor should be used instead of clopidogrel. However, given the dose-response relationship observed with clopidogrel, several studies have investigated whether giving higher maintenance doses of clopidogrel increases platelet inhibition and reduces cardiovascular

events. As discussed previously, higher loading doses of clopidogrel are associated with better clinical outcomes post PCI and therefore it is conceivable that a higher maintenance dose would have a similar effect in longer use (Patti et al., 2005). In a randomised, double blind trial, Von Beckerath (von Beckerath et al., 2007) demonstrated a significant reduction in platelet aggregation in subjects randomised to clopidogrel 150mg once daily compared to those taking the usual maintenance dose of 75mg/day. This is mirrored by other studies which demonstrate similar reductions in platelet aggregation with higher (150mg) doses of clopidogrel (Angiolillo et al., 2007). Furthermore, increasing the clopidogrel maintenance dose also improves clinical outcomes. Abuzhara et al (Abuzahra et al., 2008) randomised 119 patients attending for PCI to either a high dose (600mg loading, 150mg maintenance) or low dose (300mg loading, 75mg maintenance) clopidogrel regimen for 30 days. There was a significant improvement in clinical outcomes with 23.8% of the low dose group suffering the composite ischaemic outcome compared to 10.3% in the high dose group (P=0.04). Importantly, given the increased platelet inhibition at higher clopidogrel doses, there was no significant increase in bleeding complications in the high dose group. In addition, the CURRENT-OASIS 7 (Mehta et al., 2010) trial recruited 25806 patients with ACS, scheduled for PCI and randomised participants to either high or low dose aspirin or high or low dose clopidogrel therapy. In the clopidogrel group, there was a 14% reduction in the occurrence of the primary ischaemic outcome in the high dose group compared to the low dose group (HR 0.86; 95%CI 0.74-0.99, P=0.039) and a 46% reduction in the occurrence of stent thrombosis (HR 0.54; 95%CI 0.39-0.74, P=0.0001). However, this was at the expense of a 39% increase in the risk of major bleeding episodes in the high dose clopidogrel group (HR 1.39; 95%CI 1.07-1.81, P=0.01) which is in keeping with the increased bleeding risk observed with the newer, more potent, anti-platelet agents. Furthermore, in Lemesle et al's study of 2954 patients with unstable or stable coronary artery disease(Lemesle et al., 2009), there was no significant increase in the risk of bleeding in high versus low dose groups.

However, it is unclear whether increasing the clopidogrel maintenance dose in patients defined as having clopidogrel related HTPR is effective. As discussed previously, the GRAVITAS study (Price et al., 2011) failed to demonstrate any benefit of high dose clopidogrel in patients with clopidogrel related HTPR although this may have been confounded by the inclusion of only stable coronary artery disease patients with consequently lower event rates. In the RESET-GENE study (Sardella et al., 2012), 180 ACS patients had platelet inhibition assessed post PCI using the Multiplate analyser, with those identified as normal responders continuing on a clopidogrel maintenance dose of 75mg once daily. Patients identified as poor

responders were randomised to receive either clopidogrel 150mg/day or prasugrel 10mg/day with a cross-over to the alternate treatment at day 15. After 15 days on the alternate treatment, a further assessment of platelet reactivity was performed, with subjects then receiving the treatment (prasugrel or high-dose clopidogrel) that resulted in the highest level of platelet inhibition until 12 months post randomisation. High dose clopidogrel was less effective at reducing HTPR than prasugrel, with no patients randomised to prasugrel exhibiting HTPR compared to 28% of patients randomised to high dose clopidogrel (P=0.001). However, prasugrel and high dose clopidogrel HTPR rates were comparable in patients with no CYP2C19 LOF (*2) alleles whereas HTPR was significantly more common in the high dose clopidogrel arm compared to the prasugrel arm in CYP2C19 LOF allele carriers, demonstrating that CYP2C19 genotype is critically important in determining response to high dose clopidogrel as well as low dose clopidogrel. In the RAPID STEMI study (So et al., 2016), STEMI patients undergoing PCI were genotyped for the CYP2C19*2 and *17 polymorphisms in addition to the ABCB1 C3435T polymorphism. Patients with any CYP2C19*2 allele or the ABCB1 TT genotype were randomised to receive either prasugrel 10mg or 'augmented' clopidogrel (150mg/day for 6 days, followed by 75mg/day) and HTPR was assessed using the VerifyNow platform at one month. HTPR rates were significantly lower in the prasugrel arm compared to the clopidogrel arm (0% vs 24.1%, P=0.0046). No significant difference in HTPR rate was observed between non-carriers treated with clopidogrel 75mg/day compared to carriers treated with prasugrel 10mg/day, in keeping with the importance of the CYP2C19 genotype in clopidogrel response. In addition, ticagrelor also appears to be more efficacious than high dose clopidogrel. In a study of 224 patients with acute coronary syndrome, CYP2C19*2 homozygotes were randomised to receive either ticagrelor (180mg loading dose, 90mg twice daily thereafter) or high dose clopidogrel (600mg loading dose, 150mg daily thereafter). Platelet reactivity was assessed after 30 days using the VerifyNow platform, with significantly higher HTPR rates in the clopidogrel treated patients as compared to ticagrelor treated patients (Xiong et al., 2015).

These data suggest that high-dose clopidogrel is likely to reduce HTPR effectively only in patients without the *CYP2C19*2* allele, although some studies have suggested that it may be effective in *CYP2C19*2* heterozygotes (Shen et al., 2016). However, in practical terms, a high potency anti-platelet, such as prasugrel or ticagrelor, is likely to be a better choice for stratification. It remains unclear whether ticagrelor or prasugrel is the better drug to overcome clopidogrel related HTPR. In the ISAR-ADAPT-PF study, Bernlochner et al compared prasugrel and ticagrelor in a cohort of 70 patients with clopidogrel related HTPR

(Bernlochner et al., 2016). Both prasugrel and ticagrelor significantly improved the degree of platelet inhibition compared to clopidogrel, with no significant difference detectable between the ticagrelor and prasugrel groups. These data are consistent with previous studies which have failed to demonstrate any significant differences between prasugrel and ticagrelor in clinical use (Shah et al., 2017, Motovska et al., 2018).

1.6: Aims of the thesis

Anti-platelets form a cornerstone of treatment of acute coronary syndromes. Whilst large, clinical outcome studies clearly demonstrate the benefit of anti-platelets, their benefit is not uniform across all patients. Assessing response to anti-platelet is challenging, with several different assays available which test platelet aggregation in different ways. In addition, correlation between individual assays is often poor with different clinical and biochemical factors affecting their results.

Anti-platelet response is a complex phenotype, with numerous different factors affecting the response to anti-platelet drugs. Some factors may be related to the drug itself, such as dose and compliance, whilst others may be related to the underlying cardiovascular disease and its risk factors. Furthermore, genetic factors are critical to the response to some drugs such as clopidogrel.

Response to clopidogrel is largely determined by genetic polymorphisms in its pharmacokinetic pathway. Post-hoc analyses of trials comparing prasugrel or ticagrelor to clopidogrel demonstrate that these polymorphisms, and in particular *CYP2C19*2* and *ABCB1* C3435T, may be responsible for the observed superiority of the newer drugs over clopidogrel. Consequently, stratification on the basis of genotype may be possible and has been assessed as potentially cost-effective in comparison to universal use of a more potent anti-platelet agent.

Furthermore, other factors may be important in determining response to anti-platelet drugs. In particular, inflammation and the presence of clinical factors such as hyperlipidaemia and diabetes may substantially reduce the effectiveness of anti-platelet drugs. Incorporating these factors into any type of stratification may be important to best define anti-platelet response and the choice of anti-platelet agent.

Aspirin non-response is also a significant concern with no alternative agent available should non-response be detected. Whilst the phenomenon of aspirin non-response has been well studied, it underlying mechanisms remain unclear. However, comprehensive genetic studies, addressing both pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic pathways have not been undertaken, and its relationship with inflammation is also poorly understood.

In conclusion, poor response to anti-platelets is a well-recognised phenomenon with a number of identified clinical, biochemical and genetic factors. However, data are often inconsistent and underlying mechanisms are poorly understood.

Adopting a personalised approach is challenging with either genetic or pharmacodynamic testing being used in previous studies. Data from these studies are often inconsistent which has limited the clinical application of both genetic testing and platelet function testing. Furthermore, the relationship between genetics, pharmacodynamics and clinical outcome remains unclear.

To this end, this thesis will focus on better defining some of the potential modifiers of clopidogrel and aspirin response. In chapter 2, the relationship between clopidogrel response, platelet function testing and genetic polymorphisms will be comprehensively explored. Chapter 3 will focus on the inconsistent associations observed between clinical outcome and genetic polymorphisms in patients taking clopidogrel. Given the importance of aspirin non-response, chapter 4 will assess relationship between aspirin response and comprehensive assessment of polymorphisms in aspirin's pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic pathway in ACS patients from the Pharmacogenetics of Acute Coronary Syndromes (PhACS) study. Chapter 5 investigates the relationship between lipid oxidation, hyperlipidaemia, clinical outcome and anti-platelet response in patients from the PhACS study. Finally chapter 6 will assess the relationship between PPI use, *H. Pylori* antibodies and clinical outcome.

Chapter 2 – Influence of genetic polymorphisms on pharmacodynamic response to clopidogrel: a systematic review and meta-analysis

2.1: Introduction

Clopidogrel is a thienopyridine anti-platelet drug that blocks the platelet P2Y12 receptor. Several large randomised controlled trials have demonstrated that clopidogrel significantly reduces adverse cardiovascular events compared to placebo, a finding demonstrated in a meta-analysis of 5 trials and 79,613 patients by Berger et al (Berger et al., 2009).

However, newer anti-platelet agents, such as ticagrelor and prasugrel have largely replaced clopidogrel in clinical practice (Ibanez et al., 2018). Prasugrel and ticagrelor have both been demonstrated to be superior to clopidogrel in clinical trials (Wiviott et al., 2007, Wallentin et al., 2009) and have accordingly become first line therapy for the treatment of acute coronary syndromes.

Non-response to clopidogrel has been identified as an important contributing factor to the superiority of the newer drugs, particularly in the context of acute coronary syndromes and PCI. In a large meta-analysis of 25 clinical trials, Snoep et al described a 21% prevalence of clopidogrel non-response with a corresponding eightfold increase in the risk of further cardiovascular events (Snoep et al., 2007b).

Clopidogrel response is a complex phenotype with clopidogrel bioactivation being one of the most important factors in determining the overall effect of clopidogrel. Clopidogrel is a prodrug that requires a two-step activation via CYP450 enzymes and, in particular, CYP2C19. The *CYP2C19* gene is polymorphic with a number of loss-of function (LOF) polymorphisms described (*2, *3, *4), with some meta-analyses demonstrating an increase in the risk of further cardiovascular events in those that carry those polymorphisms (Mega et al., 2010b). However, the association between *CYP2C19* LOF polymorphisms and poor clinical outcomes are sometimes not consistent between studies (Bauer et al., 2011). In addition, there are a number of other genes that have been identified as potential modifiers of clopidogrel response, including genes involved in clopidogrel's absorption (*ABCB1*), metabolism (paraoxonase-1), binding (*P2Y12*) as well as other platelet receptors. However, the association between those variants and outcomes are frequently conflicting (Trenk et al., 2011, Wallentin et al., 2010).

Whilst CYP2C19 variants have the potential to be used as markers of clopidogrel nonresponse, there are potential limitations to their usage. Clopidogrel response is likely to be affected by a number of clinical variables such as diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and inflammation, which genotype is not sensitive too. Therefore, an alternative strategy to identify clopidogrel non-response is to measure the effect of clopidogrel on platelet reactivity directly. Several platelet function tests are available to measure platelet reactivity, with clear associations with high on treatment platelet reactivity on clopidogrel and adverse cardiovascular outcomes demonstrated in recent meta-analyses. In addition, several studies have demonstrated an association with CYP2C19 LOF polymorphisms and higher platelet reactivity (Tsantes et al., 2013, Liang et al., 2013). However, these associations are not always demonstrated consistently across different clinical situations or platelet function tests. Moreover, different platelet function tests assess platelet function in different ways, with variable test conditions and agonists. Furthermore, some tests can be described as bedside, requiring little or no sample preparation, whereas others require specially trained staff and highly specialist equipment. Consequently, agreement between assays is often poor and it is difficult to identify which platelet function test best represents in vivo platelet function. It is therefore difficult to determine which test should be used to identify poor responders to clopidogrel (Lemesle et al., 2014).

Whilst prasugrel and ticagrelor have been adopted as first line therapy for treatment of acute coronary syndromes, some studies have demonstrated that prasugrel and ticagrelor may not necessarily be superior to clopidogrel in all circumstances. For example, in medically managed patients with acute coronary syndromes, the TRILOGY-ACS study (Roe et al., 2012) failed to demonstrate a clear benefit of prasugrel over clopidogrel, although sub-group analysis did demonstrate a significant reduction in the occurrence of primary ischaemic outcome in patients under 75 years of age who were treated beyond twelve months post randomisation. Similarly, for ticagrelor, the PHILO study demonstrated similar outcomes in both clopidogrel and ticagrelor treated patients (Goto et al., 2015) with STEMI and NSTEACS in East Asia. These data are in keeping with the inconsistent observations from meta-analyses, with some meta-analyses demonstrating that newer anti-platelets are superior to clopidogrel (Shah et al., 2017) whilst others do not (Bavishi et al., 2015, Westman et al., 2017).

Given the effects of *CYP2C19* genetic variants on clopidogrel response, it is conceivable that LOF variants may be responsible, at least in part, for the superiority sometimes observed with ticagrelor and prasugrel treatment. Indeed, in a genetic sub-study of the TRITON-TIMI 38 study (Mega et al., 2010a), patients with a normal *CYP2C19* and *ABCB1* C3435T genotype treated with clopidogrel compared favourably with prasugrel treated patients. This also appears to be the case in the PLATO study (Wallentin et al., 2010): patients with a wild-type *CYP2C19* genotype treated with clopidogrel also had similar outcomes to ticagrelor treated patients.

Taken together, these data suggest that anti-platelet therapy could be personalised on the basis of either genotype or platelet function. This strategy has the advantage of lowering usage of the newer anti-platelet agents and therefore reducing the risk of adverse effects such as major bleeding and dyspnoea. In addition, personalisation of therapy is likely to be less expensive than using universal ticagrelor or prasugrel given the price differential between the newer anti-platelet agents and generic clopidogrel currently.

Recent studies have focussed on methods to stratify anti-platelet therapy and improve clopidogrel response, either by using higher loading or higher maintenance doses of clopidogrel or by using the newer anti-platelet agents such as prasugrel or ticagrelor in patients identified as being poor responders to clopidogrel (Piccolo et al., 2014). However, identification of these poor responders to clopidogrel is challenging. Whilst genetics, and specifically the *CYP2C19* variants, appear to be an ideal candidate for stratification, genetics alone will not identify patients who have HTPR due to other clinical or biochemical factors such as higher body mass index, diabetes, impaired renal function or compliance (Sweeny et al., 2009). Platelet function tests have the advantage that they are sensitive to these factors (Bonello-Palot et al., 2009, Mangiacapra et al., 2014), but the variability between individual tests and the inter-operator variability that affects some tests may offset its clinical utility.

Therefore, whilst there remains a good argument for personalisation or stratification of antiplatelet agents, there remain a number of critical issues surrounding the relationship between genetic variants and platelet function tests. Firstly, is there a consistent association between *CYP2C19* variants and platelet reactivity as tested by different platelet function tests? Secondly, are there any platelet function tests that are better associated with genetic variants that have been demonstrated to affect clinical outcome? Finally, despite the wellrecognised association between *CYP2C19* loss-of-function variants and outcomes, are there any other genetic variants that are consistently associated with platelet reactivity?

In order to address those questions, a comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis of all published studies, in patients taking clopidogrel, investigating the relationship between genetics and platelet function tests was conducted.

2.2: Methods

2.2.1: Search Strategy

Relevant citations were identified using a comprehensive search using PubMed (1966 to November 2015) and Scopus Web of Science. In order to find all relevant citations, a broad search term was used with the following terms in combination or as text words with no language restriction: clopidogrel, thienopyridines, *P2Y12, CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP2B6, CYP3A4, P2Y1*, cytochrome P450, gene, genotype, SNP, allele, polymorphism, variant and haplotype. In addition, manual searching of reference lists was undertaken for each of the extracted papers. Conference abstracts were also identified by searching for supplemental issues of major cardiovascular or clinical pharmacology journals.

2.2.2: Data Extraction

Data were extracted by two independent reviewers. Initially, all citations were reviewed by title and subsequently by abstract. Inclusion criteria were (a) studies that included patients about to commence or already established on clopidogrel and (b) studies which investigated the effect of genetic variants on the response to clopidogrel. Included data were extracted onto standardised data extraction forms and entered on to a computer spreadsheet. For each study, data were collected on a number of different variables including number of participants, age, setting, risk factors for cardiovascular disease, clopidogrel dose (maintenance and loading), genotype distribution and pharmacodynamic outcomes. Methodological quality was also assessed (Hardy-Weinberg assessment, genotyping methodology).

2.2.3: Outcomes

The primary objective of the meta-analysis was to investigate the relationship between genetic variants and platelet reactivity in patients on clopidogrel. The outcome measures investigated were determined by the platelet function tests in each paper. Only comparable measures were combined in the meta-analysis, and therefore the meta-analyses for each test were broken down by method and measure.

2.2.4: Statistical Analysis

As the studies often reported measurements for the wild type gene along with measurements for both one and two variant types and /or a combined variant type, we decided to combine the variant types when given separately in a dominant inheritance model. Combining of the variant type measures was done using the standard formulae for pooling means and variance. Consequently, the comparison included in the meta-analysis is one of wild type against any variant type (homo- or heterozygote); with the pooled measured values used when provided and, when not available, the calculated pooled measurement. Meta-analyses were prepared when more than two studies contributed data.

The inverse variance method, using a fixed effect model, was initially used to calculate a pooled mean difference between wild type and mutant type study arms. However, the Q and I^2 measures of statistical heterogeneity demonstrated that the between study variability was significantly higher than appropriate for the fixed effects model. Consequently, it was decided to standardise the mean difference by dividing the mean difference by the pooled standard deviation and then fitting a random effects meta-analysis, to calculate a pooled standardised mean difference, in addition to 95% confidence intervals. The result of the meta-analyses are presented using Forest plots to describe both the individual studies and the overall pooled effect. Funnel plots, standard error of mean difference plotted against mean difference, were also constructed to assess publication bias. All analyses were undertaken using Review Manager (REVMAN), version 5.1, Copenhagen: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011.

2.3: Results

2.3.1: Search Results and Study Characteristics

The initial literature search yielded a total of 652 citations; of those 207 were included on the basis of title, abstract and full text review. 165 of the papers reported on platelet reactivity and were therefore included in this meta-analysis (**Figure 2.1**). 63 Studies reported outcome related to *CYP2C19*2* genotypes, 56 studies reported outcome related to combined *CYP2C19* metaboliser status, 19 reported outcomes to *ABCB1* C3435T genotypes, 18 reported outcomes related to *PON1* Q192R genotypes, 17 reported outcomes to



Figure 2.1 – Literature Search Results (* 125 papers reported on PD outcomes only, 40 papers reported on both PD and clinical outcomes, 41 papers reported on clinical outcomes only)

*CYP3A5*3*, 17 reported outcomes to *CYP2C19*17* genotypes, 11 reported outcomes to *CYP2C19*3* genotypes and four reported outcomes to *CYP2C9*3* genotypes. A number of polymorphisms were investigated by other studies, but these could not be combined in meta-analyses due to incomparable polymorphisms and/or outcomes (**Table 2.1**).

With regard to outcome measures, 50 studies reported using VerifyNow, 49 reported using Light Transmittance Aggregometry (20 μ mol/L ADP as agonist), 34 reported using Vasodilator stimulated phosphoprotein phosphorylation (VASP), 32 reported using LTA (5 μ mol/L ADP), 16 reported using LTA (10 μ mol/L ADP) and 9 reported using Multiplate. A number of other methods for assessing platelet reactivity were reported by the studies but these could not be combined in the meta-analyses due to small numbers or incomparable polymorphisms (**Table 2.2**).

Therefore, a total of 82 studies, reporting seven polymorphisms (*ABCB1* C3435T, *CYP3A5*3*, *CYP2C9*3*, *CYP2C19*2*, *CYP2C19*3*, *CYP2C19*17*, *PON1* Q192R) and six platelet function tests (LTA 5 µmol/L ADP, LTA 10 µmol/L ADP, LTA 20 µmol/L ADP, Multiplate, VASP and VerifyNow) were included in the final meta-analyses. The characteristics of the included studies are summarised in **Table 2.3**. The studies included a variety of different patient groups, with some studies recruiting healthy volunteers (8 studies) and the others recruiting subjects with either stable or unstable cardiovascular disease. Notably, the clopidogrel loading dose was frequently variable with studies giving up to 1200mg; clopidogrel maintenance doses were typically 75mg once daily although some studies reported using 150mg (ten studies) or 300mg once daily (one study). Furthermore, the studies also reported different outcome measures for individual platelet function tests; for example, LTA was reported using either maximal platelet aggregation (MPA), residual platelet aggregation (RPA) or inhibition of platelet aggregation (IPA). As most studies reported MPA, only studies that reported MPA were included in the final meta-analysis. A summary of all the meta-analyses performed is detailed in **Table 2.4**.

Gene	SNP	Studies	Study References
ABCB1	C3435T	19	S1; S2; S3; S5; S6; S7; S9; S10; S11; S12; S13; S14; S15; S22; S23; S24; S25; S26; S27
ABCB1	G2677T/A	3	S5; S6; S9
ABCB1	C1236T	1	S6
ACC3	-211C/T	1	S28
ARNT	rs2134688	1	S29
a2-AR	rs553668	1	S30
CES1	482G/A	1	S31
CES1	-816A/C	2	\$32; \$33
COX2	rs5277	1	\$34
CYP1A1	*2C	1	\$34
CYP1A2	*1F	2	S2; S13
CYP1A2	Met	2	S35; S36
CYP1A2	*1B	1	\$34
CYP2B6	*4	2	S2; S5
CYP2B6	*6	2	S5; S13
CYP2B6	Met	1	S36
CYP2C19	*2	63	S2; S3; S6; S7; S10; S11; S14; S15; S16; S17; S18; S19; S20; S22; S36; S27; S29; S30; S34; S37; S38; S39; S40; S41; S42; S43; S44; S45; S46; S47; S48; S49; S50; S51; S52; S53; S54; S55; S56; S57; S58; S59; S60; S61; S62; S63; S64; S65; S66; S67; S68; S69; S70; S71; S72; S73; S74; S75; S76; S77; S78; S79
CYP2C19	Met	56	<pre>\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$</pre>
CYP2C19	*17	17	S2; S3; S7; S11; S14; S15; S21; S49; S58; S67; S71; S75; S95; S122; S125; S126; S127
CYP2C19	*3	11	S2; S10; S11; S14; S15; S21; S49; S58; S67; S71; S75; S95; S122; S125; S126; S127
CYP2C19	*4	1	S15
CYP2C9	*3	4	S6; S7; S8; S14
CYP2C9	*2	3	S6; S8; S14
CYP2C9	Met	2	\$36; \$59
CYP2J2	Met	1	\$34
СҮРЗА4	IVS10+G12A (*1G)	8	S2; S13; S15; S34; S57; S80; S97; S128

СҮРЗА4	*1B	3	S6; S15; S46
CYP3A4	rs2246709	1	\$34
СҮРЗА4	*22	1	S29
СҮРЗА5	*3	17	S1; S2; S3; S4; S5; S12; S13; S15; S23; S27; S34: S46; S74; S79; S129; S130; S131
GPIa	C807T	4	S132; S133; S134; S135
GPIa	T837C	1	S133
GPIIIa	P1A1/A2	4	S79; S132; S136; S137
GPVI	C13254T	1	S132
IRS1	A227497991G	1	S15
IRS1	G227382808C	1	S15
ITGB3	T196C	1	S15
P2Y1	A1622G	4	S128; S136;S138; S139
P2Y12	T744C	10	S11; S34; S57; S63; S70; S74; S136; S140; S141; S142
P2Y12	H1/H2	8	S7; S35; S131; S132; S143; S144; S145; S146
P2Y12	C32T	3	S132; S146; S147
P2Y12	G33A	1	S27
P2Y12	C18T	1	S148
P2Y12	C34T	2	S11; S27
P2Y12	G52T	2	S11; S27
P2Y12	T742C	2	S5; S148
P2Y12	T2379C	2	S5; S148
P2Y12	rs6787801	1	S149
PAR1	IVSn-A14T	1	S132
PPAR-a	rs253728	1	S29
PPAR-a	rs4823613	1	S29
PON1	Q192R	18	S1; S5; S9; S12; S13; S15; S16; S17; S18; S19; S20; S21; S22I S25; S37; S72; S93; S101
PON1	L55M	2	S15; S20
P- Selectin	Thr715Pro	1	S150

Table 2.1 – Number of studies per gene and SNP (For all S references, please refer to Appendix 1).

Test	Studies	Study References
		S1; S2; S3; S4; S5; S6; S7; S8; S10; S13; S16; S23; S30; S31; S34;
VN	50	S38; S41; S43; S52; S53; S54; S55; S56; S60; S68; S71; S75; S76;
VIN	30	S77; S83; S84; S86; S88; S89; S90; S91; S92; S93; S94; S5; S105;
		S106; S108; S112; S119; S122; S124; S127; S129; S149
		S1; S4; S6; S10; S11; S12; S16; S17; S18; S22; S23; S26; S28; S29;
		S32; S36; S39; S42; S43; 45; S46; 49; S53; S58; S59; S65; S80;
LTA 20 ADP	49	\$82; \$84; \$85; \$86; \$87 \$99; \$100; \$101; \$106; \$107; \$113;
		S115; S116; S118; S121; S128; S134; S136; S138; S141; S146;
		S149
		S1; S4; S6; S9; S10; S16; S23; S29; S35; S42; S43; S44; S45; S46;
LTA 5 ADP	32	\$78; \$80; \$82; \$83; \$97; \$98; \$109; \$120; \$124; \$126; \$130;
		S131l S136; S138; S139; S146; S148; S149
		S1; S8; S9; S12; S14; S15; S18; S19; S21; S33; S35; S39; S40; S41;
VASP	34	S46; S50; S51; S52; S61; S68; S73; S86; S87; S96; S106; S114;
		S120; S125; S132; S140; S143; S144; S150
	16	S8; S16; S27; S46; S47; S48; S57; S62; S70; S79; S125; S133;
	10	S140; S143; S149
Flow Cytometry	11	S46; S64; S123; S128; S131; S136; S137; S138; S140; S141; S146
Multiplate®	9	S8; S37; S39; S52; S67; S69; S72; S83; S110
TEG	4	S25; S74; S103; S104; S117: S120; S147
PFA®	4	S24; S39; S63; S133
Impedance	2	S103, S145
Aggregometry	Z	5102; 5145
Imp-R	3	S8; S52; S77
WBSPC	1	S131

Table 2.2 - Number of studies per Platelet Function Test (For all S references, please refer to Appendix 1).

Author	Year	Туре	PD Test	Measure	Gene	Ν	Clop LD	Clop MD	Setting	Cohort
Alexopoulous D et al [S60]	2011	CROSS	VN	PRU	2C19*2	21	NA	150	SCAD	
Barker CM et al [S88]	2010	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2, *3, *4, *17	41	NS	75-150	PCI+SCAD	
Bin Sayeed MS et al [\$75]	2015	PC	VN	%inhib	2C19*2, *17	149	NS	NS	PCI	
Bonello L et al [S51]	2010	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2	411	VAR	75	PCI	
Bonello L et al [S19]	2012	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2; ABCB1 C3435T; PON1 Q192R	498	600	75	NS	
Bonello-Palot N et al [S40]	2009	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2	73	600	NS	PCI+SCAD	
Campo G et al [S3]	2011	PC	VN	PRI	2C19*2, *17; 3A5*3; ABCB1 C3435T	300	600	75	PCI	
Chae H et al [S108]	2013	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2, *3, *17	56	600	75	PCI	
Chan MY et al [S21]	2012	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2, *3, *17; PON1 Q192R	89	300	75	SCAD	
Chen B et al [S80]	2008	PC	LTA5, 20		2C19*2, *3	18	300	75	HV	
Collet JP et al [S53]	2011	CROSS	LTA20, VN	RPA, PRU	2C19*2	106	300	75	PCI	CLOVIS-2
Fontana P et al [S50]	2008	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2	81	600	75	PCI+ACS	
Fontana P et al [S18]	2011	PC	LTA20, VASP	MPA, PRI	2C19*2; PON1 Q192R	538	NS	75	SCAD	ADRIE

Frelinger AL et al [S1]	2013	CROSS	LTA5, 20; VASP; VN	MPA; PRI; PRU	3A5*3; ABCB1 C3435T; PON1 rs662	156	NA	75	HV	
Frere C et al [S46]	2008	РС	LTA10, FC62 10ADP; VASP	MPA; PRI	2C19*2; 3A4*1B; 3A5*3	603	600	NS	ACS	
Gajos G et al [S45]	2012	RCT	LTA5, 20	MPA	2C19*2	63	NS	75	PCI+SCAD	OMEGA-PCI
Gladding P et al [S95]	2008	RCT	VN	PRU	2C19*2,*4, *17; ABCB1 C1236T, C3435T, G2677T/A; 2C9*2, *3; P2Y12 H1/H2	60	600- 1200	75-150	PCI	PRINC
Gong IY et al [S93]	2012	PC	VN	PRU	PON1 Q192R	21	NA	75	HV	
Gremmel T et al [S8]	2011	PC	LTA10; VN; VASP; MP; Imp-R	MPA; PRU;PRI; AU; SC%	2C9*2, *3	288	300-600	75	PCI	
Gremmel T et al [S52]	2012	PC	LTA10; VN; VASP; MP; Imp-R	MPA; PRU;PRI; AU; SC%	2C19*2, *3	288	300-600	75	PCI	
Grosdidier C et al [S96]	2013	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2, *17	730	NS	150	ACS	

Han Y et al [S122]	2015	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2, *3, *17	339	NA	75	CVA	
Harmsze AM et al [S6]	2010	PC	LTA5, LTA 20, VN	MPA; PRU	2C9*2, *3; 2C19*2,*3; 3A4*1B; 3A5*3; ABCB1 C3435T, G2677T/A, C1236T; P2Y1 A1622G	428	300	75	PCI	
Hulot JS et al [S47]	2006	РС	LTA10, VASP	MPA; PRI	2C19*2; 3A5*3; 2B6*5; 1A2*1F	29	NA	75	HV	
Hulot JS et al [S20]	2011	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2; PON1 Q192R, L55M	371	VAR	75	ACS	AFIJI (CLOVIS-2 not included in extraction)
Hwang SJ et al [S42]	2010	PC	LTA5,20	RPA, MPA	2C19*2	134	NS	75-150	PCI	ACCEL- POLYMORPHISM
Hwang SJ et al [S43]	2011	PC	LTA5,20; VN	MPA, PRU	2C19*2, *3	190	300	75	PCI+SCAD	
Jeong YH et al [S10]	2011	PC	LTA5, 20; VN	MPA; PRU	2C19*2, *3, *17; ABCB1 C3435T	266	600	75	PCI	ACCEL-AMI
Jeong YH et al [S23]	2010	PC	LTA5, 20	RPA, MPA	2C19*2, *3; 3A5*3; ABCB1 C3435T	126	NS	150	PCI	ACCEL-DOUBLE
Jeong YH et al [S124]	2012	PC	LTA5; VN	MPA, PRU	2C19*2/*3	47	NA	75	NS	ACCEL-SWITCH

Г

Kaikita K et al [S86]	2014	РС	LTA20; VN; VASP	MPA; PRU, %inhib; PRI	2C19*2, *3	104	300	75	PCI+SCAD	CALDERA-PCI
Kang MK et al [S82]	2010	PC	LTA5,20	MPA	2C19*2, *3	176	300	75	PCI	
Kassimis G et al [S7]	2012	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2, *17; 2C9*3; ABCB1 C3435T; P2Y12	146	600	75	PCI	
Kim HS et al [S112]	2013	PC	VN	%inhib	2C19*2, *3, *17	2188	300-600	NS	SCAD+ACS	
Kim IS et al [S81]	2009	PC	LTA5, 20; VN	MPA; PRU, %inhib	2C19*2+*3	136	600	75	PCI+ACS	ACCEL cohort
Kim IS et al [S4]	2012	PC	LTA5 <i>,</i> 20; VN	MPA, RPA; PRU	2C19*2, *3; 3A5*3; ABCB1 C3435T	127	NS	75	PCI	ACCEL-2C19
Konishi A et al [S119]	2015	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2/*3	196	NS	75	PCI+SCAD+ACS	
Kreutz RP et al [S16]	2012	PC	LTA5, 10, 20; VN	MPA; PRU, %inhib	2C19*2; PON1 Q192R	151	600	75	PCI+SCAD	
Kreutz RP et al [S29]	2013	PC	LTA5, 10, 20	MPA	2C19*2; 3A4*22; PPAR-a rs4253728, rs4823613; ARNT rs2134688	211	600	75	PCI+SCAD	
Latkovskis G et al [S14]	2014	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2, *3, *5, *17; 2C9*2, *3; ABCB1 C3435T	93	300-600	75	PCI+SCAD+ACS	

Lee JB et al [S90]	2011	RC	VN	PRU, %inhib	2C19*2/*3	166	NA	75	CVA	
Lee JM et al [S34]	2009	PC	VN	% inhib	1A1 rs1048943; 1A2 rs2470890; 2J2 rs2280274; P2Y12 rs2046934; 2C19*2, *3; 3A4 rs2242480; 3A5 rs776746	387	300	75	PCI	
Li S et al [S76]	2015	PC	VN	PRU, %inhib	2C19*2	198	NS	75	PCI+SCAD+ACS	
Li X et al [S17]	2013	РС	LTA20	MPA, %inhib, %HPR	2C19*2, PON1 Q192R	180	NS	75	ACS	
Liang ZY et al [S11]	2013	PC	LTA20	MPA, %HPR	2C19*2, *3, *17; 3A4 rs2242480C>T, rs2404955G>A, rs2246709A>G, rs4646437C>T; 3A5 rs3800959T>C, 15524T>C; P2Y12 34C>T, 52G>T, 744T>C; ABCB1 C3435T	1016	600	75	PCI+ACS	
Liu T et al [S114]	2014	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2/*3	145	300	75	PCI+SCAD	
Liu XL et al [S44]	2010	PC	LTA5	MPA	2C19*2	722	300	75	PCI+SCAD	
Marcucci R et al [S48]	2012	PC	LTA10	MPA	2C19*2	1187	600	75	PCI	

Mega JL et al [S41]	2011	RCT	VASP; VN	PRI; PRU	2C19*2	333	NS	75, 150, 225, 300	SCAD	ELEVATE-TIMI 56
Miura G et al [S5]	2014	PC	VN	PRU, %inhib	2B6*4, *6; 2C9*3; 2C19*2/*3; 3A5*3; PON1 Q192R; ABCB1 G2677A/T, C3435T; P2Y12 C742T, T2739C	114	NA	75	SCAD	
Nagashima Z et al [S91]	2013	PC	VN	PRU, %inhib, %HPR	2C19*2/*3	177	300	75	PCI+ACS	
Nakata T et al [S106]	2013	РС	LTA20; VASP; VN	%HPR; PRI; PRU	2C19*2, *3	155	300	75	PCI+SCAD	McLORDD
Nishio R et al [S92]	2013	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2, *3	112	300	75	PCI	
Oestreich JL et al [S127]	2014	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2/*17	98	NA	75	SCAD	
Oh et al [S54]	2012	PC	VN	PRU, %HPR	2C19*2	2146	300-600	75	PCI	SKY
Ono T et al [S84]	2011	PC	LTA20; VN	MPA; PRU	2C19*2, *3	202	300	75	SCAD	
Palmerini T et al [S15]	2014	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2, *3, *4, *17; 3A4*1G, *1B; 3A5*3; ABCB1 C3435T; IRS1 A227497991G, G227382808C;	750	300-600	75	PCI+ACS	GEPRESS

					PON1 L55M,					
					Q192R; ITGB3					
					T196C					
					2C19*2, *3, *17;					
					1A2*1F; 2B6*6;					
Park II of al [S13]	2013	PC	VN	PRII	3A4 IVS10+12;	1264	300-600	75	PCI	
	2015	TC TC	VIN	TNO	3A5*3; PON1	1204	500 000	75	i ci	
					Q192R; ABCB1					
					C3435T					
Park JJ et al [S105]	2013	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2; 3A4 IVS 10	1247	300-600	75	PCI	CROSS-VERIFY
					1A2*1F; 2B6*4;					
					2C19*2, *3, *17;					
Park KW et al [S2]	2010	PC	VN	PRU	3A4 rs2242480;	1123	300-600	75	PCI	CROSS-VERIFY
					3A5*3; ABCB1					
					C3435T					
Park KW et al [S89]	2011	RCT	VN	PRU	2C19*2, *3, *17	474	NS	75	PCI	CILON-T
			17420.		2C19*2/*3; PON1					
Park Y et al [S12]	2014	PC	LIAZU,	IVIPA, DDA · DDI	Q192R; ABCB1	50	NA	75	SCAD	ACCEL-PARAZOL
			VAJI	NFA, FN	C3435T; 3A5*3					
Doaco Al ot al [520]	2014	DC	V/N	PRU,	2C19*2; a2AR	1 / 1	200	75		
Feace AJ et al [550]	2014	FC	VIN	%inhib	rs553668	141	500	75	PCITJCAD	
Pettersen AAR et al	2011	DC	VASP,	ווחם וחם	2010*2	210	NLA	75	SCAD	ASCET
[S68]	2011	PC	VN	PRI, PRU	2019-2	219	INA	75	SCAD	ASCET
					2C19*2. *17:					
					2B6*1B, *1C, *9,					
Price MJ et al [S94]	2012	RCT	VN	Res N	*6; ABCB1 C3435T;	1170	600	75, 150	PCI+SCAD+ACS	GRAVITAS / GIFT
					PEAR1; ITGB3;					
					VAV3					

Rideg O et al [S9]	2011	RCT	LTA5; VASP	MPA, RPA; PRI	2C19*2, *3, *17; ABCB1 C3435T, G2677T/A; PON1 Q192R	189	600	75-150	PCI+SCAD	DOSER
Roberts JD et al [S55]	2012	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2	187	600	75	PCI	RAPID GENE
Rossi JS et al [S71]	2014	PC	VN	PRU	2C19*2, *17	211	NA	75	SCAD	
Sani YN et al [S38]	2013	PC	VN	PRU, %HPR	2C19*2	45	300	NA	HV	
Shuldiner A et al [S49]	2009	PC	LTA 20	MPA	2C19*2	429	300	75	HV	AMISH-PAPI
Sibbing D et al [S37]	2011	PC	MP	AU*min	2C19*2, PON1 Q192R	1524	600	75	PCI	
Simon T et al [S35]	2011	PC	LTA5, 20; VASP	MPA, RPA;PRI	2C19*2, *3, *17	337	300-600	75-150	HV	
Tang N et al [S120]	2015	PC	LTA5; VASP; TEG	MPA; PRI; MA	2C19*2/*3	178	300	75	PCI+ACS	
Tang XF et al [S147]	2013	PC	TEG	% Agg, % HPR	2C19*2; P2Y12 C34T	577	300	75	PCI	
Tousoulis D et al [S56]	2013	PC	VN	PRU, %HPR	2C19*2	353	NA	75	SCAD	

Tsantes AE et al [S39]	2013	PC	LTA20; VASP; PFAC; MP	MPA; PRI; %HPR; AU*min	2C19*2	95	NS	75	ACS+SCAD	
Umemura K et al [S87]	2008	PC	LTA20, VASP	MPA; PRI	2C19*2, *3	47	300	NA	HV	
Xie C et al [S33]	2014	РС	VASP	PRI	2C19*2/*3; CES1A2 -816 A/C	162	300-600	75	PCI+SCAD+ACS	
Zhang HZ et al [S83]	2014	РС	LTA5; VN; MP	MPA; PRU; AU*min	2C19*2, *3, *17	244	NA	75	SCAD	
Zhang L et al [S22]	2013	PC	LTA20	MPA, %HPR	2C19*2, *3, *17; ABCB1 C3435T; PON1 Q192R	520	300	75	ACS	
Zhang S et al [S73]	2014	PC	VASP	PRI	2C19*2, *3	95	300	75	CVA	
Zou JJ et al [S85]	2013	PC	LTA20	MPA	2C19*2, *3	617	300	75	PCI+SCAD	

Table 2.3 - Characteristics of the studies included in meta-analysis (For all S references, please refer to Appendix 1).

MA	PD TEST	MEASURE	GENE	STUDIES COMBINED	REFERENCES	N	Std Mean Diff	95% CI	P Value	I^2
1	LTA5	MPA	2C19*2	6	S16; S29; S42; S43; S44; S45	1455	-0.41	-0.61 to -0.20	<0.0001	59
2	LTA5	ΜΡΑ	2C19*2&*3	8	S9; S35; S80; S81; S82; S83; S12; S124	1190	-1.16	-2.07 to -0.25	0.01	98
3	LTA5	MPA	ABCB1 C3435T	4	S1; S6; S9; S10	1031	0.05	-0.09 to 0.19	0.52	0
4	LTA5	MPA	PON1 Q192R	3	S1; S9; S16	496	-0.10	-0.29 to 0.08	0.28	0
5	LTA10	MPA	2C19*2	4	S16; S46; S47; S48	1967	-0.92	-1.65 to -0.18	0.01	97
6	LTA20	MPA	2C19*2&*3	7	S11; S12; S22; S81; S82; S84; S85	2697	-0.51	-0.61 to -0.41	<0.00001	29
7	LTA20	MPA	2C19*2	9	S10; S11; S16; S17; S22; S29; S39; S45; S49	2832	-1.02	-1.76 to -0.28	<0.00001	99
8	LTA20	MPA	2C19*3	4	S10; S11; S22; S43	1840	-0.53	-0.83 to -0.23	0.0006	68

9	LTA20	MPA	ABCB1 C3435T	4	S1; S6; S11; S12	1650	0.04	-0.07 to 0.14	0.50	0
10	LTA20	MPA	PON1 Q192R	4	S1; S12; S16; S17	537	-0.14	-0.34 to 0.07	0.20	0
11	MP		2C19*2	2	S37; S39	1619	-0.35	-0.46 to -0.24	<0.00001	0
12	VASP	PRI	2C19*2&*3	8	S9; S12; S33; S35; S86; S87; S114; S120	809	-0.99	-1.36 to -0.61	<0.00001	82
13	VASP	PRI	2C19*2	13	S14; S15; S18; S19; S39; S40; S41; S46; S47; S50; S51; S52; S73	3833	-1.35	-2.11 to -0.60	0.0005	99
14	VASP	PRI	ABCB1 C3435T	5	S1; S9; S12; S14; S15	1196	-0.15	-0.28 to -0.02	0.03	0
15	VASP	PRI	PON1 Q192R	7	S1; S9; S12; S15; S18; S19; S21	2232	-0.07	-0.15 to 0.02	0.14	0
16	VN	%inhib	2C19*2&*3	6	S5; S23; S81; S84; S90; S91	921	0.84	0.68 to 1.00	<0.00001	23

17	VN	PRU	2C19*2&*3	12	S4; S5; S13; S81; S84; S89; S90; S91; S92; S119; S122; S124	3007	-1.18	-1.66 to 0.70	< 0.00001	97
18	VN	%inhib	2C19*2	5	S16; S30; S34; S75; S76	990	0.56	0.31 to 0.80	<0.00001	68
19	VN	PRU	2C19*2	17	S2; S3; S7; S10; S16; S30; S38; S41; S43; S52; S53; S54; S55; S56; S60; S71; S76	6038	-0.67	-0.95 to -0.40	<0.00001	95
20	VN	PRU	2C19*3	3	S2; S10; S43	1436	-0.34	-0.48 to -0.20	< 0.00001	0
21	VN	PRU	2C9*3	4	S5; S6; S7; S8	909	0.14	-0.15 to 0.43	0.35	39
22	VN	PRU	3A5*3	5	S1; S2; S3; S4; S5	1802	-0.16	-0.38 to 0.06	0.16	0

23	VN	PRU	ABCB1 C3435T	7	S1; S3; S5; S6; S7; S10; S13	2674	-0.04	-0.14 to 0.06	0.48	16
24	VN	PRU	PON1 Q192R	5	S1; S5; S13; S16; S20	2056	-0.04	-0.16 to 0.08	0.49	0
25	VN	PRU	2C19*17	6	S2; S3; S7; S71; S122; S127	1813	0.25	-0.13 to 0.64	0.20	77

Table 2.4 – Summary of all meta-analyses (For all S references, please refer to Appendix 1).
2.3.2: CYP2C19*2 and platelet reactivity

A total of 46 studies with 16,808 participants investigated the association between the *CYP2C19*2* polymorphism and platelet reactivity. Meta-analyses were prepared when more than two studies contributed data. A clear association with higher platelet reactivity was demonstrated across all platelet function tests investigated with the carriage of the variant *2 allele.

For LTA 5 μmol/L ADP, a meta-analysis of six studies (Hwang et al., 2010, Hwang et al., 2011a, Gajos et al., 2012, Kreutz et al., 2012, Kreutz et al., 2013, Liu et al., 2010) with 1455 participants demonstrated a strong association between carriage of the variant *2 allele and higher platelet reactivity as measured by MPA (Std Mean Difference -0.41, 95% Cl -0.61 to -0.20; P<0.0001) although there was evidence of heterogeneity between the individual studies (I^2: 59%) (**Figure 2.2**).

Four studies (Frere et al., 2008, Hulot et al., 2006, Kreutz et al., 2012, Marcucci et al., 2012) of 1967 subjects demonstrated a significant association between carriage of the variant *2 allele and higher platelet aggregation as measured by LTA 10 μ mol/L MPA (Std Mean Difference – 0.92, 95% Cl -1.65 to -0.18; P-0.01). However, there was clear evidence of significant heterogeneity between the individual studies (I^2: 97%) (**Figure 2.3**).

Similarly, a clear association was demonstrated between carriage of the *2 allele and platelet aggregation defined by LTA 20 μ mol/L ADP MPA in a meta-analysis of 9 studies and 2832 participants (Gajos et al., 2012, Jeong et al., 2011, Kreutz et al., 2012, Kreutz et al., 2013, Li et al., 2013a, Liang et al., 2013, Shuldiner et al., 2009, Tsantes et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2013) (Std Mean Difference -1.02, 95% CI -1.76 to -0.28; P <0.00001). Significant heterogeneity was evident with an I^2 value of 99% (**Figure 2.4a**). However, when only studies with patients with unstable cardiovascular disease were combined (5 studies, 2023 participants (Jeong et al., 2013, Li et al., 2013a, Liang et al., 2013, Tsantes et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2013)), the observed heterogeneity was removed with a significant association between higher platelet reactivity and carriage of the *2 allele still demonstrated (Std Mean Difference: -0.44, 95% CI: -0.53 to -0.35; P <0.00001) (**Figure 2.4b**).

Thirteen studies of 3833 subjects demonstrated a significant association between carriage of the *2 allele and higher platelet aggregation as defined by VASP (Std mean difference - 1.35, 95% CI -2.11 to -0.60; P=0.0005) although there was significant inter-study

heterogeneity (I^2: 99%) (Bonello et al., 2010a, Bonello et al., 2012, Bonello-Palot et al., 2009, Fontana et al., 2008, Fontana et al., 2011, Frere et al., 2008, Gremmel et al., 2012, Hulot et al., 2006, Latkovskis et al., 2014, Mega et al., 2011, Palmerini et al., 2014, Tsantes et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2014c) (**Figure 2.5**). Despite analysing separately for stable cardiovascular disease, clopidogrel loading dose, time post loading dose of clopidogrel and assessment of Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE), the degree of heterogeneity remained significant.

Finally, a meta-analysis of 17 studies and 6038 subjects demonstrated a significant association between higher VerifyNow defined platelet aggregation and the *2 allele (Std mean difference -0.67, 95% CI -0.95 to -0.40; P<0.00001) (Alexopoulos et al., 2011b, Campo et al., 2011, Collet et al., 2011, Gremmel et al., 2012, Hwang et al., 2011a, Jeong et al., 2011, Kassimis et al., 2012, Kreutz et al., 2012, Li et al., 2015b, Mega et al., 2011, Nasyuhana Sani et al., 2013, Peace et al., 2014, Park et al., 2011a, Roberts et al., 2012, Rossi et al., 2014, Oh et al., 2012, Tousoulis et al., 2013) (Figure 2.6). However, similar to the previous metaanalyses, there was considerable heterogeneity between the individual studies (I^2: 96%), with no change in the I^2 value following removal of stable patient studies from the metaanalysis. There was considerable variation in clopidogrel loading doses and duration of clopidogrel treatment prior to platelet function testing which probably contributed to the observed heterogeneity. In addition, several studies did not assess for HWE or perform quality control steps for genotyping. As described in the meta-analyses above, despite analysing separately for clopidogrel loading dose, time between clopidogrel loading and platelet function testing and assessment of HWE, the degree of heterogeneity remained significant.

	W	/T/WT		A	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
293 Hwang et al, 2011	31.1	12.9	22	42.9	18.1	43	9.8%	-0.70 [-1.23, -0.18]	
321 Hwang et al, 2011	43.6	15.2	93	51.1	14.9	97	18.8%	-0.50 [-0.79, -0.21]	-
331 Liu et al, 2011	36.3	11.5	426	38.1	11.6	296	26.3%	-0.16 [-0.30, -0.01]	-
431 Kreutz et al, 2012	29.9	11.2	107	37.9	12	44	15.5%	-0.70 [-1.06, -0.34]	
441 Gajos et al, 2012	46.8	14.1	21	49.9	9.7	97	11.4%	-0.29 [-0.76, 0.18]	
545 Kreutz et al, 2013	31	15	149	36	15	60	18.2%	-0.33 [-0.63, -0.03]	
Total (95% CI)			818			637	100.0%	-0.41 [-0.61, -0.20]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau² = 0.0 Test for overall effect: Z =	13; Chi² = 3.94 (P	= 12.3: < 0.00	2, df = 5 101)	5 (P = 0.	03); I²	= 59%			-4 -2 0 2 4 Favours [WT/WT] Favours [Any MT]

Figure 2.2 – LTA 5 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19*2

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than *2 carriers



Figure 2.3 – LTA 10 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19*2

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than *2 carriers

	N	/T/WT		A	NY MT			Std. Mean Difference		Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI		IV, Random, 95% CI
021 Shuldiner et al, 2008	27.1	0.9	288	33	1.22	141	11.0%	-5.80 [-6.24, -5.36]	4	
407 Jeong et al, 2013	53.8	15.7	104	59.1	14.3	118	11.3%	-0.35 [-0.62, -0.09]		
431 Kreutz et al, 2012	43.6	12	107	51.3	11	44	11.2%	-0.65 [-1.01, -0.29]		
441 Gajos et al, 2012	54.3	17.9	21	61.4	10.7	9	10.2%	-0.43 [-1.22, 0.36]		
502 Zhang et al, 2013	37.9	18.5	239	47.1	18.1	261	11.4%	-0.50 [-0.68, -0.32]		+
506 Tsantes et al, 2013	38.4	19	69	43.7	14	26	11.0%	-0.30 [-0.75, 0.16]		
511 Liang et al, 2013	45.4	22.1	445	55.1	20.1	571	11.4%	-0.46 [-0.59, -0.34]		+
522 Li et al, 2013	42.6	15.1	82	49.1	16.8	98	11.3%	-0.40 [-0.70, -0.11]		
545 Kreutz et al, 2013	44	17	149	50	16	60	11.3%	-0.36 [-0.66, -0.06]		
Total (95% CI)			1504			1328	100.0%	-1.02 [-1.76, -0.28]		•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 1.25;	Chi ² = 5	53.71	df = 8	(P < 0.0	0001);	l² = 99	%		<u> </u>	
Test for overall effect: Z = 2.	71 (P = I	0.007)							-4	-2 U 2 4 Favours [WT/WT] Favours [Any MT]

Figure 2.4a – LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19*2

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than *2 carriers

	v	T/WT		A	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
407a Jeong et al, 2011	53.8	15.7	104	58.31	14.79	128	11.7%	-0.30 [-0.56, -0.04]	-
502 Zhang et al, 2013	37.87	18.51	239	47.12	18.13	261	25.0%	-0.50 [-0.68, -0.33]	-
506 Tsantes et al, 2013	38.4	19	69	43.7	14	26	3.9%	-0.30 [-0.75, 0.16]	
511a Liang et al, 2013	45.4	22.1	445	55.1	20.1	571	50.4%	-0.46 [-0.59, -0.34]	
522a LI et al, 2013	42.62	15.08	82	49.41	16.77	98	9.0%	-0.42 [-0.72, -0.13]	-
Total (95% CI)			939			1084	100.0%	-0.44 [-0.53, -0.35]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0	0; Chi² =	2.20, c	lf = 4 (F	P = 0.70); I ² = 0 ⁶	%		-	
Test for overall effect: Z =	9.74 (P	< 0.000	001)						Favours WT/WT Favours Any MT

Figure 2.4b – LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and CYP2C19*2 (Unstable patients only)

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than *2 carriers

	N	/T/WT		Α	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference		Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI		IV, Random, 95% CI
010 Bonello-Palot et al, 2009	44	26	51	59	19	22	7.6%	-0.61 [-1.13, -0.10]		_ -
069 Frere et al, 2008	50.9	1.3	435	60.5	2.9	166	7.8%	-5.10 [-5.44, -4.76]	•	
080 Fontana et al, 2007	50.9	13.7	54	51.7	16.8	27	7.7%	-0.05 [-0.52, 0.41]		-+-
087 Hulot et al, 2006	42.9	16.6	20	58.2	12.6	8	7.2%	-0.95 [-1.81, -0.09]		
297 Bonellio et al, 2010	49.2	24.2	277	61.7	18.4	134	7.8%	-0.56 [-0.76, -0.35]		+
380 Fontana et al, 2011	46	24	368	59	20.1	168	7.8%	-0.57 [-0.75, -0.38]		+
410 Mega et al, 2011	57.5	4.8	237	71	8.2	80	7.8%	-2.31 [-2.62, -1.99]		
414 Gremmel et al, 2012	43.8	1.7	200	53	2.4	88	7.7%	-4.73 [-5.19, -4.27]	•	
423 Bonello et al, 2012	50	24	354	59	19	144	7.8%	-0.40 [-0.59, -0.20]		-
506 Tsantes et al, 2013	57.5	19.2	69	70.2	16	26	7.7%	-0.68 [-1.15, -0.22]		_ —
583 Latkovskis et al, 2014	65.3	19.5	71	78.2	13.2	22	7.6%	-0.70 [-1.19, -0.21]		_ —
592 Palmerini et al, 2014	44	29	496	53.3	24.5	221	7.9%	-0.34 [-0.49, -0.18]		-
600 Zhang et al, 2014	43.8	15.2	58	53.6	17.9	37	7.7%	-0.60 [-1.02, -0.18]		
Total (95% CI)			2690			1143	100.0%	-1.35 [-2.11, -0.60]		◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 1.89; Chi	² = 1039	.61, df	= 12 (F	o < 0.00	001); I	² = 99%			<u> </u>	
Test for overall effect: Z = 3.51 (P = 0.00	05)							-4	-2 U 2 4

Figure 2.5 – VASP and CYP2C19*2

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than *2 carriers

	v	VT/WT		Α	ny MT		1	Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
321 Hwang et al, 2011	256.5	77.7	93	275.9	71.7	97	5.6%	-0.26 [-0.54, 0.03]	
327a Park et al, 2010	234	81.6	490	250.1	76.5	427	5.9%	-0.20 [-0.33, -0.07]	+
327b Park et al, 2010	214.9	76.9	114	228.2	76.2	84	5.6%	-0.17 [-0.46, 0.11]	
360a Collet et al, 2011	70	64	52	122.4	67.3	34	5.1%	-0.80 [-1.24, -0.35]	_ —
360b Collet et al, 2011	166	100	6	151.1	63.8	14	3.5%	0.19 [-0.77, 1.15]	
378 Campo et al, 2011	133	81	219	184.4	58.9	81	5.6%	-0.68 [-0.94, -0.42]	
382 Oh et al, 2014	231	82	1135	250	- 77	1011	5.9%	-0.24 [-0.32, -0.15]	-
393 Kassimis et al, 2012	205.4	48.1	108	250.7	69.6	38	5.3%	-0.83 [-1.21, -0.45]	
400 Alexopoulos, 2011	275.6	55.9	15	298.8	70	6	3.5%	-0.37 [-1.33, 0.58]	
407 Jeong et al, 2013	231	88	104	245	80	98	5.6%	-0.17 [-0.44, 0.11]	
410 Mega et al, 2011	163.6	19.5	236	231.9	35.8	81	5.5%	-2.76 [-3.09, -2.43]	
414 Gremmel et al, 2012	197	6	200	213	10	88	5.5%	-2.14 [-2.45, -1.84]	
431 Kreutz et al, 2012	195	78	107	234.6	67	44	5.4%	-0.53 [-0.88, -0.17]	
435 Roberts et al, 2012	143.8	100.5	141	198.8	85.6	46	5.5%	-0.56 [-0.90, -0.23]	
479 Tousoulis et al, 2013	199	91	222	207	80	131	5.7%	-0.09 [-0.31, 0.12]	-+
481 Sani et al, 2013	147.4	87.2	17	235.6	80.6	28	4.5%	-1.04 [-1.69, -0.40]	
560 Peace et al, 2014	174	105	95	222	94	46	5.4%	-0.47 [-0.83, -0.11]	
576 Rossi et al, 2014	171	82	74	238.8	77.7	58	5.4%	-0.84 [-1.20, -0.48]	
617 Li et al, 2015	200.4	36.4	87	224.2	44	111	5.6%	-0.58 [-0.87, -0.29]	
Total (95% CI)			3515			2523	100.0%	-0.67 [-0.95, -0.40]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.33;	Chi ² = 3	79.89, d	if = 18 (P < 0.0	0001);	i ² = 95'	%	ŀ	
Test for overall effect: Z = 4.	78 (P < 0).000001)	•				-	4 -2 U 2 4
			·						Favours [vv1/vv1] Favours [Any M1]

Figure 2.6 – VerifyNow and CYP2C19*2

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than *2 carriers

2.3.3: CYP2C19 metaboliser phenotype and platelet reactivity

A total of 36 studies involving 9524 participants investigated the association between the combined *CYP2C19* loss of function variants (*2 and *3 alleles) and platelet aggregation. A significant association was demonstrated between carriage of the loss of function variants and each of the pharmacodynamic tests investigated in the individual meta-analyses.

A meta-analysis of eight studies and 1190 participants (Chen et al., 2008, Jeong et al., 2012, Kang et al., 2010, Kim et al., 2009, Rideg et al., 2011, Simon et al., 2011a, Tang et al., 2015, Zhang et al., 2014a) demonstrated a significant association between higher LTA 5 µmol/L ADP defined platelet reactivity and carriage of the LOF variant (Std Mean Difference -1.16, 95% CI -2.07 to -0.25; P=0.01) (Figure 2.7). Similarly, for LTA 20 μmol/L ADP, in a metaanalysis of 7 studies and 2967 participants, a significant association with higher platelet reactivity was demonstrated with the LOF variants (Std Mean Difference -0.51, 95% CI -0.61 to -0.41; P<0.00001) with a relatively low heterogeneity between the studies (I^2: 29%) (Kim et al., 2009, Kang et al., 2010, Liang et al., 2013, Ono et al., 2011, Park et al., 2014, Zhang et al., 2013, Zou et al., 2013) (Figure 2.8). Eight studies with 809 participants were combined to assess the association between VASP defined platelet aggregation and LOF variants, with a significant association with higher platelet reactivity observed (Std Mean Difference -0.99, 95% CI -1.36 to -0.61; P<0.00001) (Kaikita et al., 2014, Liu et al., 2014, Park et al., 2014, Rideg et al., 2011, Simon et al., 2011a, Tang et al., 2015, Umemura et al., 2008, Xie et al., 2014) (Figure 2.9). Finally a significant association was also observed between higher VerifyNow defined platelet reactivity and LOF allele carriage in a meta-analysis of twelve studies and 3007 participants (Standard Mean Difference -1.18, 95% CI -1.66 to -0.70; P<0.00001) (Han et al., 2015, Jeong et al., 2012, Kim et al., 2009, Kim et al., 2012, Konishi et al., 2015, Lee et al., 2011, Miura et al., 2014, Nagashima et al., 2013, Nishio et al., 2013, Ono et al., 2011, Park et al., 2011b, Park et al., 2013b) (Figure 2.10).

	N	/T/WT		A	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
071 Chen et al, 2008	24.8	20.7	6	41.9	17	12	11.2%	-0.89 [-1.93, 0.14]	
211 Kim et al, 2009	42.6	14.1	57	49.8	14.6	79	12.8%	-0.50 [-0.84, -0.15]	
295 Kang et al, 2010	44.7	17.4	72	51.6	16.4	104	12.8%	-0.41 [-0.71, -0.11]	
386 Simon et al, 2011	32.6	0.8	158	41.5	2.28	87	12.4%	-5.91 [-6.50, -5.32] 🛛 🕂	
390 Rideg et al, 2011	27.9	14.8	75	33.4	13.2	45	12.8%	-0.38 [-0.76, -0.01]	
440 Jeong et al, 2012	37.5	18.8	20	44.1	15.8	24	12.3%	-0.38 [-0.98, 0.22]	
518 Zhang et al, 2013	33.4	15.8	101	44.6	14.2	143	12.9%	-0.75 [-1.01, -0.49]	+
608 Tang et al, 2015	32.1	19.3	94	34.6	13.5	113	12.9%	-0.15 [-0.43, 0.12]	-
Total (95% CI)			583			607	100.0%	-1.16 [-2.07, -0.25]	◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 1.1	65; Chi <mark>²</mark>	= 325.	07, df=	:7 (P <	0.0000	01); I ² =	98%		
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 2.50 (F	9 = 0.01	1)						Favours [WT/WTI] Favours [Any MT]

Figure 2.7 – LTA 5 $\mu mol/L$ ADP and CYP2C19 Metaboliser Phenotype (*2 and *3 alleles combined)

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than carriers of loss-of-function alleles

	N	/T/WT		A	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Diff	erence	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random,	95% CI	
211 Kim et al, 2009	54.3	14.6	57	62.6	10.1	79	7.2%	-0.68 [-1.03, -0.33]			
295 Kang et al, 2010	58.2	17.4	72	64.6	13.9	104	9.2%	-0.41 [-0.72, -0.11]			
394 Ono et al, 2011	48.5	12	71	57	10.4	131	9.5%	-0.77 [-1.07, -0.47]			
461 Zou et al, 2013	25	22.7	259	40	41.8	358	22.6%	-0.43 [-0.59, -0.27]	+		
502 Zhang et al, 2013	37.7	18.4	210	48.5	18.8	290	19.7%	-0.58 [-0.76, -0.40]	-		
511 Liang et al, 2013	42.2	21.8	413	51.3	22	603	29.0%	-0.41 [-0.54, -0.29]	•		
573 Park et al, 2014	44.1	17.4	20	56.9	16	30	2.8%	-0.76 [-1.35, -0.17]			
Total (95% CI)			1102			1595	100.0%	-0.51 [-0.61, -0.41]	•		
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.	01; Chi [≥]	= 8.41	, df = 6	(P = 0.2)	21); I ^z :	= 29%		⊢		<u></u>	1
Test for overall effect: Z =	= 9.90 (F	° ≺ 0.0	0001)					-4	Favours [WT/WT] Fa	vours [Any MT]	4

Figure 2.8 – LTA 20 $\mu mol/L$ ADP and CYP2C19 Metaboliser Phenotype (*2 and *3 alleles combined)

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than carriers of loss-of-function alleles

	N	/T/WT		Α	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference		Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI		IV, Random, 95% CI
066 Umemura et al, 2008	50	15.2	18	64.2	11.9	29	11.5%	-1.05 [-1.68, -0.43]		
386 Simon et al, 2011	38.5	4.3	10	66.5	4.5	20	3.4%	-6.14 [-7.97, -4.31]	•	
390 Rideg et al, 2011	46.7	20.4	75	57.7	20.9	45	14.5%	-0.53 [-0.91, -0.16]		
531 Kaikita et al, 2013	48	20.4	36	62.7	13.9	68	14.0%	-0.89 [-1.31, -0.47]		
552 Xie et al, 2014	43.8	18.2	41	56.4	19.1	67	14.3%	-0.67 [-1.07, -0.27]		
555 Liu et al, 2014	43.7	7.1	57	48.7	5.4	88	14.8%	-0.81 [-1.16, -0.47]		
573 Park et al, 2014	51.1	15.9	20	60.8	13.5	30	12.1%	-0.66 [-1.24, -0.08]		
608 Tang et al, 2015	49	17.5	94	64.8	12.7	111	15.4%	-1.04 [-1.34, -0.75]		-
Total (95% CI)			351			458	100.0%	-0.99 [-1.36, -0.61]		•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.22; (Chi ² = 3	8.19, d	lf = 7 (P	< 0.00	001); l ^a	= 82%			<u> </u>	
Test for overall effect: Z = 5.1	2 (P < 0		1)						-4	-2 U 2 4
										ravours (writer) ravours (Any Wri

Figure 2.9 – VASP and CYP2C19 Metaboliser Phenotype (*2 and *3 alleles combined) WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than carriers of loss-of-function alleles

	N	WT/WT Any MT					Std. Mean Difference			Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI		IV, Random, 95% CI
211 Kim et al, 2009	226.1	90.3	57	265	76.2	79	7.8%	-0.47 [-0.81, -0.12]		
345 Park et al, 2011	208	7	104	254	6	132	7.0%	-7.10 [-7.79, -6.40]	•	
387 Lee et al, 2011	195	84.9	68	253	79.5	98	7.9%	-0.71 [-1.02, -0.39]		
394 Ono et al, 2011	217.6	82.4	71	290	81.2	131	7.9%	-0.88 [-1.19, -0.58]		
402 Kim et al, 2011	125	76	48	200	79.2	79	7.8%	-0.96 [-1.33, -0.58]		- -
440 Jeong et al, 2012	241	90	20	263	63	24	7.3%	-0.28 [-0.88, 0.31]		
468 Park et al, 2013	213	80	503	249.4	84.2	738	8.1%	-0.44 [-0.56, -0.33]		+
512 Nagashima et al, 2013	232	102	46	285.2	69.4	131	7.9%	-0.67 [-1.01, -0.33]		
528 Nishio et al, 2013	197.9	51.6	37	240.3	40	75	7.7%	-0.95 [-1.37, -0.54]		- - -
588 Miura et al, 2014	243.7	53.4	40	286.3	61.6	74	7.7%	-0.72 [-1.11, -0.32]		
601a Konishi et al, 2015	204	39	20	240.3	34.3	32	7.3%	-0.99 [-1.58, -0.40]		
601b Konishi et al, 2015	198	32	33	248.7	42.7	51	7.6%	-1.29 [-1.77, -0.81]		_
644 Han et al, 2015	176	73	136	211.9	64.3	198	8.0%	-0.53 [-0.75, -0.31]		-
Total (95% CI)			1183			1842	100.0%	-1.18 [-1.66, -0.70]		◆
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.73; Cl	ni² = 362	2.03, di	f = 12 (l	P < 0.00)001);	l² = 979	6		<u> </u>	
Test for overall effect: Z = 4.84	(P < 0.0)00001)							-4	-2 U Z 4
	-									Favours [winwi] Favours [Ant Wil]

Figure 2.10 – VerifyNow and CYP2C19 Metaboliser Phenotype (*2 and *3 alleles combined)

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than carriers of loss-of-function alleles

2.3.4: Other CYP2C19 variants and platelet reactivity

In addition to the association with *CYP2C19*2*, there is a significant association between the *CYP2C19*3* loss-of-function variant and higher platelet aggregation defined by VerifyNow (3 studies, 1436 participants, Standard Mean Difference -0.34, 95% CI -0.48 to -0.20; P<0.00001 (Hwang et al., 2010, Jeong et al., 2011, Park et al., 2011a)) and LTA 5 µmol/L ADP (2 studies, 324 participants, Standard Mean Difference -0.41, 95% CI -0.72 to -0.09; P=0.01 (Hwang et al., 2010, Jeong et al., 2011)) (**Figures 2.11 and 2.12**). Interestingly, there was no clear association between the gain-of-function variant, CYP2C19*17, and VerifyNow defined platelet aggregation (6 studies, 1813 participants, Standard Mean Difference 0.25, 95% CI - 0.13 to 0.64; P=0.25 (Campo et al., 2011, Han et al., 2015, Kassimis et al., 2012, Park et al., 2011a, Oestreich et al., 2014, Rossi et al., 2014)) (**Figure 2.13**).



Figure 2.11 – VerifyNow and CYP2C19*3

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than carriers of loss-of-function alleles

	w	/T/WT		A	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
321 Hwang et al, 2011	59.7	14.4	165	67.2	10.3	25	21.5%	-0.54 [-0.96, -0.11]	
407 Jeong et al, 2013	53.8	15.7	104	59	15.1	30	22.2%	-0.33 [-0.74, 0.08]	
502 Zhang et al, 2013	37.7	15.7	452	42.8	20.7	48	27.5%	-0.31 [-0.61, -0.02]	
511 Liang et al, 2013	41.8	25.5	959	64.1	21.9	57	28.9%	-0.88 [-1.15, -0.61]	-
Total (95% CI)			1680			160	100.0%	-0.53 [-0.83, -0.23]	▲
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.0	06; Chi ² =	= 9.24	df = 3	(P = 0.0	3); I ² =	68%			
Test for overall effect: Z =	: 3.45 (P	= 0.00	106)						Favours (WT/WT) Favours (ANY MT)

Figure 2.12 – LTA 20 µmol/L and CYP2C19*3

WT homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than carriers of the *3 allele

	w	/T/WT		Α	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference	e Std. Mean Difference		
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI		
327a Park et al, 2010	241.7	79.6	887	214.7	95.8	13	16.6%	0.34 [-0.21, 0.89]			
327b Park et al, 2010	223	76.6	186	160.2	88.6	5	10.7%	0.81 [-0.08, 1.71]			
378 Campo et al, 2011	163	83	198	117	81	102	22.8%	0.56 [0.31, 0.80]	+		
393 Kassimis et al, 2012	217.1	56.7	81	239.1	60.5	65	21.2%	-0.37 [-0.70, -0.05]			
576 Rossi et al, 2014	171	82	74	158.9	90.8	63	21.0%	0.14 [-0.20, 0.48]			
644 Han et al, 2015	176	73	136	144	75.7	3	7.8%	0.44 [-0.71, 1.58]			
Total (95% CI)			1562			251	100.0%	0.25 [-0.13, 0.64]	•		
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.15;	Chi ² = 2	2.10, 0	df=5(P	P = 0.00	05); I ^z	= 77%		-			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 1$.	29 (P = 0	0.20)							Favours [WT/WT] Favours [Any WT]		

Figure 2.13 – VerifyNow and CYP2C19*17

No significant association detected between carriage of the *17, gain-of-function, allele and platelet reactivity

2.3.5: CYP3A5*3 variants and platelet reactivity

In a meta-analysis of five studies and 1802 participants (Campo et al., 2011, Frelinger et al., 2013, Kim et al., 2012, Miura et al., 2014), there was no clear association between *CYP3A5* genotype and VerifyNow defined platelet aggregation (Standard Mean Difference -0.16, 95% CI -0.38 to 0.06; P=0.16). There was no observed heterogeneity between the included studies (I^2: 0%) (**Figure 2.14**).

	N	/T/WT		Α	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference		Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI		IV, Random, 95% CI
327a Park et al, 2010	229.5	70.9	53	242.2	80.4	865	61.6%	-0.16 [-0.44, 0.12]		
327b Park et al, 2010	211.2	64.4	9	221.2	77.3	189	10.6%	-0.13 [-0.80, 0.54]		
378 Campo et al, 2011	167	209	2	147.7	84.2	287	2.4%	0.23 [-1.16, 1.62]		<u> </u>
402 Kim et al, 2011	164	75	10	172.4	88.2	117	11.4%	-0.10 [-0.74, 0.55]		
470 Frelinger et al, 2013	99.9	73.8	9	123	63.7	147	10.4%	-0.36 [-1.03, 0.32]		
588 Miura et al, 2014	275.7	16	3	281.4	63.5	111	3.6%	-0.09 [-1.24, 1.06]		
Total (95% CI)			86			1716	100.0%	-0.16 [-0.38, 0.06]		•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00	; Chi² = I	0.69, d	lf = 5 (P	^e = 0.98)	; I² = 0	%			-	
Test for overall effect: Z = 1	.42 (P =	-4	Favours (WT/WT) Favours (Any MT)							

Figure 2.14 – VerifyNow and CYP3A5*3

No significant association detected between carriage of the CYP3A5*3 allele and platelet reactivity

2.3.6: CYP2C9*3 variants and platelet reactivity

In a meta-analysis of four studies and 909 participants (Gremmel et al., 2013, Harmsze et al., 2010a, Kassimis et al., 2012, Miura et al., 2014) there was no clear association between carriage of the *CYP2C9*3* allele and VerifyNow defined platelet aggregation (Standard Mean Difference 0.14, 95% CI -0.15 to 0.43; P=0.35) (**Figure 2.15**).



Figure 2.15 – VerifyNow and CYP2C9*3

No significant association detected between carriage of the CYP2C9*3 allele and platelet reactivity

2.3.7: ABCB1 C3435T and platelet reactivity

In a meta-analysis of 4 studies and 1031 participants (Frelinger et al., 2013, Harmsze et al., 2010a, Jeong et al., 2011, Rideg et al., 2011) there was no association between LTA 5 µmol/L ADP defined platelet reactivity and *ABCB1* C3435T genotype (Standard Mean Difference 0.05, 95% CI: -0.09 to 0.19, P=0.52) with no heterogeneity detected (**Figure 2.16**). This was replicated with LTA 20 µmol/L ADP (4 studies, 1650 participants, Standard Mean Difference 0.04, 95% CI -0.07 to 0.14; P=0.50 (Frelinger et al., 2013, Harmsze et al., 2010a, Liang et al., 2013, Park et al., 2014)) and VerifyNow (7 studies, 2674 participants, Standard Mean Difference -0.04, 95% CI -0.14 to 0.08; P=0.48 (Campo et al., 2011, Frelinger et al., 2013, Harmsze et al., 2010a, Jeong et al., 2011, Kassimis et al., 2012, Miura et al., 2014, Park et al., 2013b)) (**Figures 2.17 and 2.18**). However, a significant association was detected between higher platelet reactivity and carriage of the T allele using VASP in five studies with 1196 participants (Standard Mean Difference -0.15, 95% CI -0.28 to -0.02; P=0.03 (Frelinger et al., 2013, Latkovskis et al., 2014, Palmerini et al., 2014, Park et al., 2014, Rideg et al., 2011)). The relevance of this finding is unclear given the small magnitude of effect and results from studies using different methodologies for assessment of platelet reactivity (**Figure 2.19**).

	N	тлут		А	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
009 Harmsze et al, 2009	42.1	8.5	78	41.2	12.4	350	32.6%	0.08 [-0.17, 0.32]	+
390 Rideg et al, 2011	30.7	15.3	46	27.4	14.2	135	17.5%	0.23 [-0.11, 0.56]	+=
407 Jeong et al, 2013	44.7	16.2	124	44.5	16.4	142	33.8%	0.01 [-0.23, 0.25]	+
470 Frelinger et al, 2013	30.5	12.1	44	32.2	11.9	112	16.1%	-0.14 [-0.49, 0.21]	
Total (95% CI)			292			739	100.0%	0.05 [-0.09, 0.19]	♦
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00;	Chi ² = 2								
Test for overall effect: Z = 0.64 (P = 0.52)									Favours [WT/WT] Favours [Any MT]

Figure 2.16 – LTA 5 μmol/L ADP and ABCB1 C3435T

No significant association detected between carriage pf the ABCB1 3435T allele and platelet reactivity



Figure 2.17 – LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and ABCB1 C3435T

No significant association detected between carriage of the ABCB1 3435T allele and platelet reactivity

	v	/T/WT		Any MT Std. Mean Difference					Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
009 Harmsze et al, 2009	182.3	70	78	177.6	69.9	350	13.8%	0.07 [-0.18, 0.31]	
378 Campo et al, 2011	125	84	69	153.7	83.6	231	11.8%	-0.34 [-0.61, -0.07]	
397 Kassimis et al, 2012	224.8	66.8	36	231.3	53.2	110	6.5%	-0.11 [-0.49, 0.26]	
407 Jeong et al, 2013	245	78	124	244.8	86.5	142	14.3%	0.00 [-0.24, 0.24]	+
468 Park et al, 2013	233	82	488	230.5	84.3	776	40.7%	0.03 [-0.08, 0.14]	•
470 Frelinger et al, 2013	118	63.7	44	123.2	64.8	112	7.5%	-0.08 [-0.43, 0.27]	
588 Miura et al, 2014	267.7	73.5	31	272.8	58.3	83	5.5%	-0.08 [-0.49, 0.33]	
Total (95% CI)			870			1804	100.0%	-0.04 [-0.14, 0.06]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00	; Chi ² = 7	'.15, df	= 6 (P	= 0.31);	l² = 16	6%			
Test for overall effect: $Z = 0.71$ (P = 0.48)							Favours [WT/WT] Favours [Any MT]		

Figure 2.18 – VerifyNow and ABCB1 C3435T

No significant association detected between carriage of the ABCB1 3435T allele and platelet reactivity

	N	лмт		А	ny MT			Std. Mean Difference	Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI
390 Rideg et al, 2011	50.1	22.5	46	50.2	21.9	135	15.0%	-0.00 [-0.34, 0.33]	-+-
470 Frelinger et al, 2013	42.1	16.4	44	44.7	16.5	112	13.8%	-0.16 [-0.51, 0.19]	
573 Park et al, 2014	60.6	15.9	14	55.4	16.7	36	4.4%	0.31 [-0.31, 0.93]	+
583 Latkovskis et al, 2014	67	22.5	17	68.7	18.1	76	6.1%	-0.09 [-0.61, 0.44]	
592 Palmerini et al, 2014	42	30	189	48.1	27.1	527	60.7%	-0.22 [-0.39, -0.05]	•
Total (95% CI)			310			886	100.0%	-0.15 [-0.28, -0.02]	•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00; Test for overall effect: Z = 2.2	54, df: .03)	= 4 (P =	: 0.47); I	²=0%	•			-4 -2 0 2 4 Favours [WT/WT] Favours [Any MT]	

Figure 2.19 – VASP and ABCB1 C3435T

ABCB1 3435C homozygotes have significantly lower platelet reactivity than carriers of the ABCB1 3435T allele

2.3.8: PON1 Q192R and platelet reactivity

In a meta-analysis of 4 studies and 537 participants, there was no association between *PON1* Q192R genotype and LTA 20 µmol/L ADP defined platelet aggregation (Standard Mean Difference -0.14, 95% CI -0.34 to 0.07; P=0.20 (Frelinger et al., 2013, Kreutz et al., 2012, Li et al., 2013a, Park et al., 2014)). This was mirrored by meta-analyses using VASP and VerifyNow as outcomes with no significant association demonstrated (Bonello et al., 2012, Chan et al., 2012, Fontana et al., 2011, Frelinger et al., 2013, Kreutz et al., 2012, Miura et al., 2014, Park et al., 2013b, Park et al., 2014, Hulot et al., 2011, Rideg et al., 2011) (**Figures 2.20-2.22**). There was no observed heterogeneity in any of the meta-analyses.



Figure 2.20 – LTA 20 µmol/L ADP and PON1 Q192R

No significant association detected between carriage of the PON1 192Q allele and platelet reactivity

	N	/T/WT		Any MT Std. Mean Difference						Std. Mean Difference
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI		IV, Random, 95% CI
380 Fontana et al, 2011	49	26	278	52.4	24	258	25.4%	-0.14 [-0.31, 0.03]		-
390 Rideg et al, 2011	48.3	23.2	91	51.4	20	98	8.9%	-0.14 [-0.43, 0.14]		
423 Bonello et al, 2012	50	24	237	51.2	23.6	261	23.6%	-0.05 [-0.23, 0.13]		+
434 Chan et al, 2012	77.4	15.8	13	74.2	20.1	73	2.1%	0.16 [-0.43, 0.75]		
470 Frelinger et al, 2013	43.5	17.7	33	44.1	16.1	123	4.9%	-0.04 [-0.42, 0.35]		-+-
573 Park et al, 2014	62.1	16.4	7	56	16.7	43	1.1%	0.36 [-0.44, 1.16]		
592 Palmerini et al, 2014	47	28	343	48	29.8	374	34.0%	-0.03 [-0.18, 0.11]		+
Total (95% CI)			1002			1230	100.0%	-0.07 [-0.15, 0.02]		•
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00; Chi ² = 2.81, df = 6 (P = 0.83); I ² = 0%						%			-4	
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.	49 (P = I	0.14)							-4	Favours (WT/WT) Favours (Any MT)

Figure 2.21 – VASP and PON1 Q192R

No significant association detected between carriage of the PON1 192Q allele and platelet reactivity

	N	/T/WT		Any MT Std. Mean Difference					Std. Mean Difference	
Study or Subgroup	Mean	SD	Total	Mean	SD	Total	Weight	IV, Random, 95% CI	IV, Random, 95% CI	
399 Hulot et al, 2011	166	85	168	159.8	86.5	203	32.4%	0.07 [-0.13, 0.28]	+	
431 Kreutz et al, 2012	192.9	70	63	213.8	86.2	88	12.9%	-0.26 [-0.59, 0.06]		
468 Park et al, 2013	227	82	129	232.7	83.6	1135	40.9%	-0.07 [-0.25, 0.11]	+	
470 Frelinger et al, 2013	118.1	75.6	33	122.7	61.2	123	9.2%	-0.07 [-0.46, 0.31]		
588 Miura et al, 2014	280.3	70.2	15	275.7	61.3	99	4.6%	0.07 [-0.47, 0.62]		
Total (95% CI)			408			1648	100.0%	-0.04 [-0.16, 0.08]	•	
Heterogeneity: Tau ² = 0.00;	; Chi² = :	3.21, d	f= 4 (P	= 0.52)	; Iz = 0	%			-4 -2 0 2	4
Test for overall effect: Z = 0.69 (P = 0.49)									Favours (WT/WT) Favours (Any MT)	7

Figure 2.22 – VerifyNow and PON1 Q192R

No significant association detected between carriage of the PON1 192Q allele and platelet reactivity

2.4: Discussion

The major finding of this meta-analysis is that the *CYP2C19* loss-of-function is consistently associated with higher platelet reactivity across a range of platelet function tests including LTA, VASP and VerifyNow.

The observed association of higher platelet reactivity in CYP2C19*2 carriers is consistent with a number of published clinical outcome studies that demonstrate an increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events in the presence of CYP2C19 variant alleles. In a collaborative meta-analysis of nine studies and 9685 patients, Mega et al (Mega et al., 2010b) identified a 55% increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events (defined as cardiovascular death, MI and ischaemic stroke) in patients carrying the CYP2C19 variant alleles. This risk is highest in CYP2C19 LOF variant homozygotes (Overall HR 1.76; 95% CI 1.24-2.50) and lowest in heterozygotes (Overall HR 1.55; 95% CI 1.11-2.17), in keeping with an additive inheritance model. Stent thrombosis, an exquisitely platelet sensitive outcome, showed an even greater association with CYP2C19 LOF variants, with an overall nearly threefold increase in risk in carriers of the variant alleles. In keeping with the composite outcome, this risk was also higher in variant homozygotes compared to heterozygotes. Importantly, it appears that carriage of the CYP2C19 LOF allele predicts early events, with significant associations between LOF allele carriage and outcome only being demonstrable in the first 30 days after an event. These data are in keeping with the known complex interplay between ACS, inflammation and anti-platelet drugs as discussed earlier. However, a larger meta-analysis of 15 studies by Bauer et al (Bauer et al., 2011) failed to demonstrate any significant association between the risk of adverse cardiovascular events and carriage of CYP2C19 variant alleles and only a modest association between carriage of the variant alleles and the risk of stent thrombosis.

The discrepancy between Mega's and Bauer's meta-analyses is most likely driven by different methodologies for the meta-analysis, with Bauer's meta-analysis identifying a number of potential confounders and sources of bias which reduced the level of association between the LOF alleles and outcome in their meta-analysis. Nonetheless, the genome wide association study performed by Shuldiner (Shuldiner et al., 2009) et al demonstrated a single cluster of SNPs significantly associated with platelet reactivity at chromosome 10q24 in the *CYP2C18-CYP2C19-CYP2C9-CYP2C8* gene cluster with the *CYP2C19*2* allele contributing most to the observed association signal. However, the variability in platelet reactivity explained by

the *CYP2C19*2* allele is relatively modest at 12%, although incorporating clinical and other biochemical factors is likely to increase this.

The current meta-analysis demonstrated a significant association between CYP2C19 variant alleles and higher platelet reactivity across three different platelet function tests including one point of care test. Higher on treatment platelet reactivity is associated with ischaemic events. In a meta-regression analysis by Piccolo et al (Piccolo et al., 2014) of 30 randomised trials and 6683 patients, HTPR was significantly associated with a higher risk of adverse clinical outcomes, whilst a strategy of reducing HTPR lowers the risk of adverse clinical outcomes. Interestingly, Piccolo's analysis identified a number of different clinical factors which appear to modify the risk associated with HPR, with the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes only observed in studies enrolling patients with unstable coronary artery disease. In addition, other potential modifiers of the relationship between HTPR and outcome were identified, including gender, diabetes and age, in keeping with other known modifiers of platelet reactivity. Importantly, this analysis also identified the type of platelet function test as being a potential modifier of the relationship between HTPR and outcome.

Similarly, a meta-analysis by Wisman et al (Wisman et al., 2014) of 59 studies and 34, 776 patients identified a significant relationship between HTPR on clopidogrel and adverse cardiovascular events. All the platelet function tests included in the current meta-analysis (LTA, VerifyNow and VASP) were associated with adverse cardiovascular events, with broadly similar relative risks across all three. The prevalence of HTPR identified by these tests was variable, with VASP reporting a 56.6% prevalence compared to 27.9% with LTA 10 µmol/L ADP. In addition, and in keeping with Piccolo's meta-regression analysis (Piccolo et al., 2014), several other factors appeared to significantly affect the relationship between HTPR and cardiovascular outcome. This included length of follow up, disease type (unstable versus stable coronary disease) and the outcome measure definition. It is therefore interesting to note that the potential causes of observed heterogeneity in the current meta-analysis appeared to also vary dependent on the platelet function test used. For example, the heterogeneity observed in the LTA meta-analysis appeared to be primarily related to stable versus unstable cardiovascular disease, whilst this was not the case for VerifyNow or VASP. In addition, further sensitivity analyses identified that other factors such as clopidogrel loading dose or proton-pump inhibitors may also be important in determining the degree of heterogeneity observed with VerifyNow and VASP in this meta-analysis.

There was no significant association observed in the current meta-analysis between platelet reactivity and several other genes and polymorphisms, including CYP3A5*3, ABCB1 C3435T and PON1 Q192R. There are conflicting data suggesting an association between the CYP3A5*3 variant and platelet reactivity. Whilst CYP3A4 is generally regarded as the most relevant CYP3A enzyme in clopidogrel's bioactivation, CYP3A5 may contribute up to 50% of overall CYP3A function in some patients (Suh et al., 2006) particularly in the presence of substrates or inhibitors of CYP3A4. The CYP3A5*3 polymorphism is associated with nonexpression of CYP3A5, and it is conceivable, therefore, that clopidogrel bioactivation would be substantially lower in carriers of the variant *3 allele. Consistent with this, in a study of 32 healthy volunteers (16 with the CYP3A5*1*1 genotype and 16 with the CYP3A5*3*3 genotype), Suh et al demonstrated that carriage of the *3 allele was associated with significantly higher platelet reactivity as compared to the *1 genotype (Suh et al., 2006). Conversely, in a larger, 160 healthy subject, study, carriage of the CYP3A5*3 allele was not associated with higher platelet reactivity or clopidogrel pharmacokinetics (Frelinger et al., 2013). Given these conflicting results, it seems likely that the CYP3A5*3 polymorphism exerts an effect on clopidogrel metabolism only in specific circumstances. For example, coadministration of ketoconazole, a potent CYP3A4 and CYP3A5 inhibitor, with clopidogrel in healthy volunteers significantly reduces the exposure to clopidogrel's active metabolite as well as clopidogrel induced platelet inhibition (Farid et al., 2007). However, itraconazole, a selective CYP3A4 inhibitor, does not significantly affect either clopidogrel's pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic effects (Suh et al., 2006) in wild type CYP3A5*1 homozygotes, but in subjects who are CYP3A5*3 homozygotes, clopidogrel's activation and pharmacodynamic effect is significantly impaired. Similarly, in the CROSS-VERIFY cohort (Park et al., 2012) of 1258 patients genotyped for the CYP3A5*3 allele, a significant interaction between amlodipine, a CYP3A4 inhibitor, and clopidogrel was only observed in patients who were carriers of the CYP3A5*3 homozygote genotype. These data suggest that the CYP3A5 genotype may only be important in specific circumstances such as the co-administration of CYP3A4 inhibitors and clopidogrel.

No significant association was detected between the *ABCB1* C3435T polymorphism and platelet reactivity determined by LTA and VerifyNow. Most published studies assessing the relationship between the *ABCB1* C3435T polymorphism and platelet reactivity do not demonstrate any significant associations between carriage of the variant T allele and clopidogrel induced HTPR. However, for VASP, a significant association between carriage of the the T allele and higher platelet reactivity was detected in this meta-analysis which was largely

powered by the GEPRESS study (Palmerini et al., 2014). The GEPRESS study enrolled 1,053 clopidogrel treated NSTEACS patients with a 1 year follow up for clinical outcomes and VASP defined platelet reactivity and HTPR. A comprehensive genotyping strategy, including 13 polymorphisms in 7 genes, was undertaken with only CYP2C19*2 carriage being associated with VASP PRI values and HTPR but not clinical outcome. The ABCB1 C3435T polymorphism was not associated with either VASP PRI values or HTPR in the published data, although this is likely to be due to the genotype-phenotype data being analysed in an additive model as opposed to the dominant model utilised in this meta-analysis. However, it is conceivable that ABCB1 polymorphisms may affect clopidogrel induced platelet reactivity. Clopidogrel is a substrate for P-glycoprotein which is coded for by the ABCB1 gene, and any loss of function variant, such as the non-coding C3435T polymorphism, could therefore reduce clopidogrel's absorption and consequent bioactivation as demonstrated in a study by Taubert et al (Taubert et al., 2006). In addition, a number of studies have detected a positive association between carriage of the T allele of the ABCB1 C3435T polymorphism and clopidogrel related HTPR (Harmsze et al., 2010a, Campo et al., 2011), with some clinical outcome studies also detecting an association between the ABCB1 C3435T polymorphism and adverse cardiovascular events in clopidogrel treated patients (Mega et al., 2010a). Furthermore, several studies have identified that the ABCB1 C3435T polymorphism is in strong linkage disequilibrium with two coding ABCB1 polymorphisms, G2677T/A and C1236T, which may better represent the overall effect of ABCB1 variants on platelet reactivity and clinical outcomes. Future studies should consider using a more comprehensive genotyping strategy to better represent the relationship between *ABCB1* genotype and outcome.

This meta-analysis also did not detect any significant association between the *PON1* Q192R polymorphism and platelet reactivity. These results are not in keeping with Bouman et al's study (Bouman et al., 2011), which demonstrated a significant association between carriage of the QQ genotype and higher platelet reactivity as well as adverse cardiovascular outcomes. However, more recent studies have failed to replicate the association observed by Bouman et al, and the cause of these discordant data remain unclear (Hulot et al., 2011, Trenk et al., 2011). Paraoxonase-1 (*PON-1*) has been postulated as being critical in the production of clopidogrel's active metabolite, with the Q192R polymorphism largely determining the overall activity of PON-1. Furthermore, the importance of *PON-1* to clopidogrel bioactivation was emphasised by the finding that 73% of the variability in clopidogrel induced platelet reactivity was explained by the Q192R polymorphism (Bouman et al., 2011). However, several factors may have contributed to these findings. Firstly,

clopidogrel induced platelet reactivity was not measured in patients until they had completed 12 months of DAPT following stent thrombosis, which may not best represent clopidogrel's pharmacodynamic effect in the context of cardiovascular disease. Secondly, the sample sizes used in Bouman's study were relatively small and therefore may have been subject to confounding from the well characterised inter-individual variability in platelet function. Finally, it is notable that the study did not detect any effect of the *CYP2C19* LOF polymorphism in their pharmacodynamic and clinical cohorts (Trenk et al., 2011), which is not in keeping with the majority of pharmacodynamic or clinical outcome studies.

Finally, several polymorphisms in platelet receptor genes and other cytochrome P450 enzymes could not be combined in this meta-analysis, either due to non-combinable variants or non-combinable outcome measures. In the main, published data on these genes and variants demonstrate inconsistent associations between genotype and outcome (Frere et al., 2008, Giusti et al., 2007, Harmsze et al., 2010a, Lee et al., 2009, Park et al., 2011a), but given their biological plausibility, these polymorphisms merit further investigation, perhaps using large datasets such as TRITON-TIMI-38 and PLATO, to determine their clinical utility and validity.

This meta-analysis clearly demonstrates that the effects of the CYP2C19 LOF polymorphisms is observed across three major methods of assessing platelet reactivity, including a point of care test (VerifyNow). This is an important finding given the concerns surrounding the poor correlation between individual platelet function tests and whether genotype or phenotype should be used to identify poor responders to clopidogrel and stratify patients. As discussed previously, each platelet function test assesses platelet reactivity in different ways and can be affected by clinical factors that are specific to that assay. For example, light transmittance aggregometry, the most widely used assay in this meta-analysis, is often considered to represent the gold-standard test for platelet function. However, one of LTA's major limitations is the level of operator and interpreter dependence (Michelson, 2004) which often leads to poor reproducibility across different studies. Furthermore, LTA analyses platelet function without other cellular components of blood, and uses different concentrations ADP as a single agonist, which is not reflective of platelet activation in vivo where other cellular components and collagen significantly contribute to overall platelet reactivity (Ohmori et al., 2006). However, given LTA is performed only in platelet-rich or platelet-poor plasma, it is relatively unaffected by clinical variables that may impact on other platelet function tests such as VerifyNow and Multiplate (Choi and Kim, 2018).

VerifyNow, on the other hand, is a point of care platelet function test which reports standardised units (P2Y12 Reaction Units, PRU) which lends itself to standardisation and the development of reference ranges or cut-off values for platelet reactivity. It is a fully point-of-care assay which, unlike LTA, utilises whole blood as the test matrix which may make it more sensitive to other in-vivo factors that affect platelet reactivity. HTPR identified by VerifyNow is robustly associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes, although this association is not always observed in patients with stable coronary artery disease (Viviani Anselmi et al., 2013, Aradi et al., 2010). However, VerifyNow is sensitive to haematocrit and haemoglobin values with an inverse correlation between Hct/Hb and PRU values (Choi and Kim, 2018). As VerifyNow uses an optical, turbidometric, method to assess platelet reactivity in whole blood, it is conceivable that Hb concentration alters light transmittance with consequent effects on the PRU values.

Finally, VASP phosphorylation utilises flow cytometry to assess platelet reactivity as measured by immunofluorescence to phosphorylated VASP, using whole blood incubated with either PGE1 alone or PGE and ADP together. However, like LTA, it is a laboratory based technique which requires established infrastructure and skilled staff to perform (Kozinski et al., 2014).

Several studies report poor correlation between individual platelet function tests. In a study by Cuisset et al (Cuisset et al., 2010) of 70 patients with cardiovascular disease, the agreement between LTA, VASP and VerifyNow was good, with linear regression coefficients between 0.55 and 0.64 when platelet reactivity was reported as a continuous variable. However, the correlation was weak when the assays were compared on the basis of HTPR, with kappa values varying between only 0.35 and 0.46. Similarly, Lemsele et al (Lemesle et al., 2014) demonstrated good correlation between LTA, VASP and VerifyNow in 100 patients on clopidogrel undergoing PCI. However, despite 45 patients being identified as poor responders by any of the three tests, only 16 patients were defined as poor responders by all three tests using the HPR cut-off values identified by a consensus white paper (Bonello et al., 2010c).

Rapid and reliable demonstration or prediction of clopidogrel non-response has the potential to allow stratification of anti-platelet therapy. Stratification of clopidogrel therapy has been investigated by several studies, with mixed results. In the context of stable coronary artery disease, the GRAVITAS study (Price et al., 2011) failed to demonstrate any benefit from identification of clopidogrel related HTPR with VerifyNow and treatment with clopidogrel

150mg once daily. Similarly, the TRIGGER-PCI study (Trenk et al., 2012), also in stable coronary artery disease, failed to demonstrate any benefit of VerifyNow based stratification and treatment with prasugrel 10mg once daily in clopidogrel non-responders. However, in a comparison between 133 myocardial infarction patients and 67 patients with stable angina, Lee et al (Lee et al., 2014) identified significantly higher platelet aggregation and HTPR rate in unstable patients as compared to stable patients, suggesting that the negative results observed in GRAVITAS and TRIGGER-PCI are due to inclusion of low risk, stable patients. Moreover, in the context of acute coronary syndrome, Aradi et al (Aradi et al., 2014) demonstrated a significant reduction in adverse cardiovascular events when using Multiplate to stratify anti-platelet therapy in a 741-patient study. Similarly, Hazarbasanov (Hazarbasanov et al., 2012) demonstrated a significant reduction in the occurrence of adverse cardiovascular events in patients whose anti-platelet therapy was stratified on the basis of Multiplate defined platelet reactivity compared to those on standard, non-stratified, therapy (5.3% vs 0%, P=0.03). In addition, in the TAILOR randomised study (Dridi et al., 2014), patients randomised to receive either clopidogrel 150mg or prasugrel 10mg had significantly lower rates of HTPR compared to clopidogrel 75mg, with prasugrel 10mg demonstrating significantly better platelet inhibition compared to clopidogrel 150mg. These data from the TAILOR study are in agreement with others that suggest that the optimal alternative antiplatelet treatment in clopidogrel non-responders is either prasugrel or ticagrelor and not double dose clopidogrel. Finally, a cost-effectiveness analysis by Coleman et al (Coleman and Limone, 2013) demonstrated that platelet function test driven anti-platelet drug stratification is cost effective in comparison to the universal use of ticagrelor without stratification. However, it is important to emphasise that stratification of anti-platelet therapy is likely to prove efficacious in certain clinical circumstances only, such as unstable cardiovascular disease or stent thrombosis. Interestingly, this is in keeping with the observed heterogeneity in the CYP2C19*2 meta-analysis which was removed by analysing separately for stable and unstable cardiovascular disease.

Fundamentally, it remains unclear whether genotype or phenotype should be used to identify clopidogrel poor responders for the purposes of stratification. However, our metaanalysis demonstrates that there is a clear association between *CYP2C19*2* genotype and platelet reactivity, suggesting that either could be potentially used to stratify anti platelet therapy. In a study of 65 patients undergoing PCI for NSTEACS, Ahn et al (Ahn et al., 2013) investigated both platelet function directed (using VerifyNow) and genotype guided (on the basis of the *CYP2C19*2* and *3 allele) stratification, demonstrating that both phenotype and

genotype guided strategies were equally effective in reducing clopidogrel HTPR. Although platelet function tests have the advantage of being a phenotypic test that is sensitive to underlying co-morbidities in the patient, there remains significant concern in relation to inter-test variability and poor consequent poor correlation. Furthermore, several studies have identified clinical factors that may significantly affect individual platelet function tests, such as Hct and VerifyNow, as well as other non-clinical factors such as ethnicity, gender and diet (Miller et al., 2014). Finally, there is little consensus at present on sensitive and specific cut-off values for stratification, with studies continuing to use different definitions for HTPR which are often different to published guidelines. Consequently, genotyping may be a better method of stratification despite the current problems surrounding its lack of consistent association with clinical outcome.

There are several limitations to our meta-analyses. Firstly, for certain gene-test combinations there were only a limited number of papers available for comparison which may affect the generalisability of these analyses. In addition, these meta-analyses were prepared on the basis of data extracted from published papers, with no access to patient-level data from individual studies. It was therefore not possible to adequately adjust for the heterogeneity observed in some of the meta-analyses as either these data were not available in the paper or were reported in a non-extractable format. Finally, there is a risk of publication bias as the meta-analyses were prepared only from published papers. Data extraction from other published data, such as conference abstracts, was attempted but there were insufficient data to adequately assess their quality or, in some cases, their outcome measures and therefore they could not be included. Funnel plots were prepared for all meta-analyses conducted and were generally symmetrical; however, given the low number of studies included in some of the meta-analyses, it is difficult to fully exclude any publication bias. Finally, data were only included up to a cut-off date of November 2015. Since then around 110 additional studies investigating the relationship between genotype and clopidogrel pharmacodynamic or clinical response have been published. However, most papers continue to identify the CYP2C19 LOF alleles as the primary modifying polymorphisms affecting clopidogrel response and, consequently, it is unlikely that the overall conclusions of this meta-analysis would be different with inclusion of the newer data.

In summary, the current meta-analysis clearly demonstrates that the *CYP2C19*2* and **3* alleles are associated with higher platelet reactivity as defined by three platelet function tests (LTA, VASP and VerifyNow) in patients taking clopidogrel. This provides consistent evidence of the relationship between phenotype and genotyping, demonstrating that

stratification of anti-platelet therapy using either a platelet function test or genotype is possible. Further, well designed and suitably powered stratification studies, incorporating clinical outcomes, adverse events and cost-effectiveness are now clearly required to demonstrate clinical utility.

Chapter 3 – Influence of genetic polymorphisms on clinical response to clopidogrel: a systematic review and meta-analysis

3.1: Introduction

Clopidogrel, an ADP receptor antagonist, has, until recently, been the mainstay of antiplatelet treatment for ACS in combination with aspirin. However, the advent of newer, more potent anti-platelet drugs, such as ticagrelor and prasugrel, has significantly reduced its usage with international guidelines recommending the universal use of ticagrelor as opposed to clopidogrel (Ibanez et al., 2018).

The newer anti-platelet agents have been demonstrated to be superior to clopidogrel in reducing adverse cardiovascular events in unstable cardiovascular disease. For example, in the TRITON – TIMI 38 trial, prasugrel reduced the risk of adverse cardiovascular events by 19% compared to clopidogrel (HR 0.81; 95% CI 0.73 to 0.90, P<0.001) (Wiviott et al., 2007). Similarly, ticagrelor was demonstrated to be superior to clopidogrel in the PLATO trial, with a 16% reduction in risk of adverse cardiovascular events (HR 0.84; 95% 0.77 to 0.92, P<0.001) (Wallentin et al., 2009).

The superiority of the newer anti-platelet agents has been considered to be related to the well-recognised phenomenon of clopidogrel non-response, which has been associated with a significant increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events in those deemed to be clopidogrel resistant (Snoep et al., 2007b).

Clopidogrel non-response is likely to be related to clopidogrel's bioactivation. Clopidogrel is a pro-drug, which requires a two-step activation via CYP450 enzymes to its active metabolite. The primary CYP450 isoenzyme responsible for clopidogrel's active metabolite generation is *CYP2C19* which has a number of genetic polymorphisms that alter the activity of the enzyme. A number of loss-of-function alleles have been identified (*2, *3 and others) in addition to a gain-of-function polymorphism (*17). Furthermore, clopidogrel is a substrate for P-gp, and polymorphisms in the *ABCB1* gene (e.g. C3435T) may consequently alter the absorption of clopidogrel. Clopidogrel's pharmacodynamic target, the ADP receptor *P2Y12*, has also been demonstrated to have a number of genetic polymorphisms that could conceivably alter its function, whilst downstream effects of the receptor, such as other platelet receptors or complexes, also demonstrate a number of different genetic polymorphisms (Cuisset et al.,

2007, Staritz et al., 2009). Consequently, a number of different genetic polymorphisms in both clopidogrel's pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic pathway may significantly alter its effect and response.

The importance of genetic polymorphisms on the effect of clopidogrel has been investigated by a number of studies. For example, in a genome wide association study, Shuldiner and colleagues identified that the *CYP2C19*2* polymorphism was the primary SNP associated with clopidogrel induced platelet inhibition (Shuldiner et al., 2009). These data are in keeping with clinical outcome studies, with a relative increase of 53% in adverse cardiovascular events demonstrated in *CYP2C19*2* carriers taking clopidogrel in the TRITON-TIMI 38 cohort (Mega et al., 2009). However, data for polymorphisms in clopidogrel's pharmacodynamic pathway, such as the P2Y12 and other platelet receptors are frequently conflicting (Cuisset et al., 2007, Staritz et al., 2009).

The *CYP2C19*2* polymorphism may also be the cause of the observed superiority of the newer anti-platelet agents over clopidogrel. As discussed previously, the genetic sub-studies of both PLATO and TRITON-TIMI 38 (Mega et al., 2010a, Wallentin et al., 2010) have demonstrated that neither ticagrelor nor prasugrel are robustly superior to clopidogrel in patients with a wild-type homozygous *CYP2C19* genotype. Given these data, the *CYP2C19* genotype could be used to identify patients with variant alleles (such as *2) who would benefit from ticagrelor or prasugrel treatment whilst those with a normal, wild-type, genotype could remain on clopidogrel, a significantly less expensive drug.

However, the association between the *CYP2C19*2* allele and poor cardiovascular outcomes in clopidogrel treated patients has not been universally observed. In an IPD meta-analysis of 9 studies and 9685 patients, Mega and colleagues demonstrated (Mega et al., 2010b) a clear association between carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele, adverse cardiovascular outcomes and stent thrombosis. However, a further meta-analysis by Bauer and colleagues (Bauer et al., 2011) of fifteen studies failed to demonstrate a consistent association between carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele and major adverse cardiovascular events. Furthermore, they could only demonstrate a moderate association between stent thrombosis, considered to be a highly platelet sensitive outcome, and *CYP2C19*2*. Moreover, carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele may only explain around 5% of the variability in platelet function in patients with cardiovascular disease, with inclusion of clinical factors only increasing this to 12% (Hochholzer et al., 2010). Finally, the impact of the *CYP2C19*2* polymorphism on clinical outcomes may be substantially modified by the patient's individual clinical situation. For example, in stable

coronary artery disease, several studies have failed to demonstrate any significant effect of *CYP2C19* genotype on adverse cardiovascular outcomes (Pare et al., 2010), whilst the presence of other clinical factors, such as diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and obesity, or interacting medication (such as proton pump inhibitors or calcium channel blockers) may also affect the response to clopidogrel.

Whilst the prospect of stratification of anti-platelet therapy on the basis of genotype appears possible, an alternative strategy would be to use platelet function tests to identify patients with poor response to clopidogrel. However, it remains unclear which platelet function test best represents platelet function in patients, with each testing platelet reactivity in different ways resulting in poor correlation between individual tests. Consequently, genotype, in addition to clinical variables, may be a more reliable strategy for stratification given that it is unambiguous and easily validated for use in a clinical setting.

Given the aforementioned concerns, it is clear that several key unanswered questions remain in relation to the association between genotype, clopidogrel response and clinical outcome. Firstly, is the effect of a particular genetic variant observed across all studies and outcome measures? Secondly, how do clinical covariates and type of cardiovascular disease impact on the observed associations between genotype and outcome? Finally, although most studies have focussed on *CYP2C19* variants and clinical outcomes, are there other genes that may influence the response to clopidogrel? In particular, is there evidence for an effect from other pharmacokinetic modifiers or pharmacodynamic modifiers of clopidogrel response?

In order to address these questions, a comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis of all published studies investigating the relationship between genetics and clinical outcomes in patients taking clopidogrel was performed. In addition, meta-analyses were prepared only on studies that presented survival data given the discordant conclusions from the Mega and Bauer meta-analyses. As outlined by Tierney et al (Tierney et al., 2007), use of odds ratios and relative risk as summary statistics for time-to-event data are likely to be sub-optimal, given that they report only the number of events rather than the time to event. Consequently, to best represent the relationship between genotype and clinical outcome, the meta-analyses were prepared only on studies that provided survival data or had other data that could be extracted and manipulated to provide survival data, using the methodology proposed by Tierney et al.

3.2: Methods

3.2.1: Search strategy

Relevant citations were identified using a comprehensive search strategy using PubMed (1966 to November 2015) and Scopus Web of Science. In order to find all relevant citations, a broad search term was used with the following terms in combination or as text words with no language restriction: clopidogrel, thienopyridines, *P2Y12, CYP2C19, CYP2C9, CYP2B6, CYP3A4, P2Y1*, cytochrome P450, gene, genotype, SNP, allele, polymorphism, variant and haplotype. In addition, manual searching of reference lists was undertaken for each of the extracted papers. Conference abstracts were also identified by searching for supplemental issues of major cardiovascular or clinical pharmacology journals.

3.2.2: Data Extraction

Data were extracted by two independent reviewers, with any disagreement discussed and arbitrated by a third reviewer. Initially all citations were reviewed by title and subsequently by abstract. Inclusion criteria were (a) studies that included patients about to commence or already established on clopidogrel and, (b) studies which investigated the effect of genetic variants on the response to clopidogrel. Included data were extracted onto standardised data extraction forms and entered on to a computer spreadsheet. For each study, data were collected on a number of different variables including number of participants, age, setting, risk factors for cardiovascular disease, clopidogrel dose (maintenance and loading), genotype distribution and clinical outcomes. Methodological quality was also assessed (Hardy-Weinberg assessment and genotyping methodology).

3.2.3: Outcomes

The primary objective of the meta-analysis was to investigate the relationship between genetic variants and clinical outcomes in patients on clopidogrel. The outcome measures investigated were determined by the clinical outcomes in each paper. Only comparable clinical outcomes were combined in the meta-analysis, and therefore the meta-analyses for some clinical outcomes were broken down by outcome and definition.

3.2.4: Statistical Analysis

As the studies frequently reported measurements for the wild type gene along with measurements for both one and two variant types and /or a combined variant type, meta-

analyses were performed using a dominant inheritance model. Where reported separately, mutant type heterozygotes and mutant type homozygotes were combined where possible.

Meta-analyses were performed only on studies that provided data on time to event or survival and were reported as Hazard Ratios. Where studies presented HRs and P-values from a log-rank or Cox proportional hazards model, these were extracted and analysed directly in the meta-analysis. However, where data were not directly available, HRs were indirectly calculated using the methodology provided by Tierney et al (Tierney et al., 2007) wherever possible. Briefly, this included indirect calculation from published ORs, RRs, HRs, 95% Cl, number of events in each group and Kaplan-Meier curves using equations provided by Tierney et al in their paper. All analyses were conducted and reported in R statistics (version 3.5.0, R Foundation). Meta-analyses were presented using Forest plots to describe both the individual studies and the overall pooled effect.

Meta-analyses were prepared when more than one study presented survival or time-toevent data.

3.3: Results

3.3.1: Search Results and Study Characteristics

The initial literature search yielded a total of 652 citations; of those 207 were included on the basis of title, abstract and full-text review. 81 of the papers reported on clinical outcomes and were therefore included in this meta-analysis. A total of 39 studies reported outcomes related to *CYP2C19*2* genotype, 30 reported outcomes related to combined *CYP2C19* metaboliser status, 15 reported outcomes related to *ABCB1* C3435T genotype, 11 reported outcomes related to *PON1* Q192R genotype, 10 reported outcomes related to *CYP2C19*17* genotype, 8 reported outcomes related to *CYP3A5*3* genotype and seven reported outcomes related to *CYP2C19*3* genotype. A number of other polymorphisms have been investigated in several studies but these could not be combined in meta-analyses due to incomparable polymorphisms and /or outcomes (**Table 3.1**).

With regard to outcome measures, 49 studies reported on major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE), 32 reported on stent thrombosis, 25 studies reported on MI, 17 studies reported on cardiovascular death, 16 studies reported on any bleeds, 12 studies reported on all-cause mortality and 5 studies reported on target lesion revascularisation (TLR). A number of other clinical outcomes were reported, but these could not be combined in meta-analyses due to small numbers or incomparable polymorphisms (**Table 3.2**).

In total, twenty-four definitions of MACE were used by the 49 studies using MACE as an outcome. The commonest definition was a composite of CV death, non-fatal MI and non-fatal CVA used by 11 studies, followed by six studies using a composite of all-cause mortality, non-fatal MI and non-fatal CVA. Five studies used a composite of CV death, non-fatal MI, target lesion revascularisation (TLR) and stent thrombosis. Most other definitions of MACE were used by only one or two studies (**Table 3.3**).

The characteristics of the included studies are summarised in **Table 3.4**. The studies included a variety of different patient groups. 31 studies were conducted in patients with either ACS or stable coronary artery disease, whilst 27 studies and 12 studies were performed in ACS patients only or stable coronary artery disease patients only respectively. Six studies were performed in stroke patients. The clopidogrel loading dose was also variable: 26 studies reported a loading dose of 300mg, 16 studies reported a loading dose of 600mg and ten studies used either 300 or 600mg loading doses. Only three studies included patients with very high loading doses of clopidogrel (>600mg), whilst 21 studies did not report the loading dose. Most studies utilised a 75mg clopidogrel dose. Follow up lengths for clinical outcomes were also variable, with most studies reporting a follow up period of 12 months. The maximum duration of follow up was 96 months and the minimum duration was 24 hours.

3.3.2: Methodological Quality

Most studies collected data prospectively, although relatively few reported formal power calculations for their sample size. Several studies reported genetic sub-study data from a larger study, such as TRITON-TIMI 38 (Mega et al., 2010a). Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was assessed in the majority of the included studies (56 studies), but genotyping quality control was performed in only 30 studies. Most studies reported genotype data in an additive model (38 studies), with 33 studies reporting in a dominant model.

3.3.3: Meta-analyses

A total of 14 meta-analyses, incorporating four genes and seven clinical outcomes, were prepared on the basis of the extracted data. A summary of all meta-analyses is provided in **Table 3.5**.



Figure 3.1 – Literature Search Results (* 125 papers reported on PD outcomes only, 40 papers reported on both PD and clinical outcomes, 41 papers reported on clinical outcomes only)

Gene	SNP	Studies	References
ABCB1	C1236T	1	T18
ABCB1	C3435T	15	T2, T8, T14, T18, T19, T23, T25, T31, T39, T42, T45, T58, T63, T71, T73
ABCB1	G2677T/A	2	T18 T39
ABCB1	T129C	1	T39
CES1A2	-816A/C	2	T62 T63
COX1	-824A/G	1	T42
1A2	Met	1	Τ7
1A2	*1F	1	T58
2B6	Met	1	Τ7
2B6	*3	1	T58
2B6	*9	1	T58
2C19	Met	30	T7, T8, T14, T16, T37, T41, T43, T44, T49, T51, T52, T53, T54, T57, T27, T58, T59, T60, T61, T63, T64, T67, T68, T70, T71, T74, T75, T76, T79, T81
2C19	rs1188072C/T	1	T42
2C19	*17	10	T1, T19, T23, T25, T39, T56, T34, T38, T69, T73
2C19	*2	39	T3, T4, T6, T7, T5, T8, T9, T17, T18, T19, T22, T23, T23, T25, T31, T32, T36, T39, T42, T45, T46, T47, T48, T50, T55, T56, T20, T26, T33, T34, T35, T65, T66, T69, T73, T77, T78, T80, T82
2C19	*3	7	T8, T31, T39, T45, T56, T66, T73
2C19	*4	2	Т8, Т73
2C19	*5	1	Т8
2C9	Met	1	Τ7
2C9	*2	3	T18, T23, T58
2C9	*3	2	Т18, Т23
3A4	1344T/A	1	T58
3A4	20239G/A	1	T58
3A4	C894T	1	Т59
3A4	*1B	3	T18, T23, T73
3A4	*1G	2	Т23, Т73
3A5	Met	1	Τ7
3A5	*3	8	T8, T10, T18, T23, T25, T40, T58, T73
GPIa	C807T	1	T42
GPIIIa	PIA1/A2	1	T12
GPIIIa	rs8069732T/C	1	T42
IRS1	A227382808C	1	Т73
IRS1	A227497991G	1	Т73
ITGB3	T196C	1	Т73
P2Y1	A1622G	1	T18
P2Y12	C34T	3	T11, T48, T59

P2Y12	G52T	1	Т59
P2Y12	T744C	2	T58, T77
PON1	-162A/G	1	Т50
PON1	-108C/T	2	Т39, Т50
PON1	-126C/G	1	Т50
PON1	206T/A	1	T58
PON1	672A/G	1	Т58
PON1	A163T	1	Т73
PON1	A575G	2	T42, T73
PON1	L55M	3	T39, T50, T29
PON1	Q192R	11	T22, T23, T23, T24, T39, T45, T50, T28, T29, T61, T63

Table 3.1 - Number of studies per gene and SNP (For all T references, please refer to Appendix 2).

Outcomes	Studies	References
Bleed (All)	16	T7, T12, T25, T30, T50, T53, T15, T37, T45, T48, T49, T33, T34, T38, T71, T72
Minor Bleed	8	T1, T14, T16, T37, T47, T48, T38, T81
Major Bleed	3	T1, T48, T38
Cardiovascular Death	17	T6, T7, T46, T53, T54, T4, T15, T26, T33, T60, T67, T69, T71, T77, T78, T79, T82
Cardiovascular Relapse	1	T61
CVA	17	T7, T5, T10, T19, T52, T53, T15, T33, T60, T67, T69, T71, T77, T79, T80, T81, T82
Death	12	T5, T10, T17, T19, T25, T41, T46, T49, T20, T65, T68, T74
Functional Status	1	T51
MACE (All)	49	T1, T2, T3, T4, T6, T7, T5, T8, T10, T11, T12, T9, T14, T16, T19, T24, T25, T30, T32, T36, T37, T40, T41, T42, T45, T46, T48, T49, T50, T53, T54, T55, T56, T15, T26, T27, T28, T29, T35, T58, T67, T70, T71, T72, T73, T76, T77, T78, T79
Myocardial Infarction	25	T1, T6, T4, T5, T10, T12, T19, T41, T43, T49, T53, T54, T15, T20, T26, T33, T60, T64, T66, T67, T71, T77, T78, T80, T82
NSTEMI	3	T5, T33, T69
Perioperative thrombosis	1	T68
Prognosis	1	T75
Recurrent Angina	1	T82
Revascularisation	4	T6, T46, T26, T79
Restenosis	2	Т59, Т69
Stable Angina	1	Т69
Stent Thrombosis	32	T1, T4, T6, T7, T5, T9, T14, T18, T19, T22, T23, T23, T24, T25, T39, T41, T44, T47, T49, T53, T57, T15, T20, T26, T33, T34, T62, T63, T74, T77, T78, T82
STEMI	3	T5, T33, T69
Target lesion revascularisation	5	T41, T57, T20, T74, T78
Target vessel revascularisation	4	T20, T60, T67, T74
Unstable angina	4	T60, T69, T77, T79
Vascular ischaemia	1	T68
Vascular surgery	1	Т68

Table 3.2 - Number of studies per Clinical Outcome (For all T references, please refer toAppendix 2).

Outcomes	Definition	Studies	References
MACE 1	CV Death, Non-fatal MI	4	T14, T36, T42, T35
MACE 2	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Non-fatal CVA	11	T7, T8, T10, T14, T16, T30, T37, T46, T55, T71
MACE 3	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Non-fatal CVA, Recurrent ischaemia, Hospitalisation	1	T16
MACE 4	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Non-fatal CVA, Stent thrombosis	2	T40, T53
MACE 5	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Non-fatal CVA, Stent thrombosis, Revascularisation	1	T54
MACE 6	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, PCI, CABG	1	T12
MACE 7	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Target lesion revascularisation, Stent thrombosis	5	T41, T45, T48, T29, T78
MACE 8	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Revascularisation	3	T6, T26, T27
MACE 9	CV Death, Stent thrombosis	1	T4
MACE 10	Death, MI, Revascularisation	1	T1
MACE 11	Death, Non-fatal MI	3	T9, T19, T24
MACE 12	Death, Non-fatal MI, Non-fatal CVA	6	T2, T5, 378, 410, 527, 396
MACE 13	Death, Non-fatal MI, Stent thrombosis	1	T49
MACE 14	Death, Non-fatal MI, Target lesion revascularisation	1	T19
MACE 15	Death, Non-fatal CVA, Target lesion revascularisation	1	T19
MACE 16	CV Death, MI, CVA, Stent thrombosis, Readmission	1	T19
MACE 17	Neurological Events	1	T11
MACE 18	Unstable angina, Transient ischaemic attack, Revascularisation	1	T37
MACE 19	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Stent thrombosis	2	T26, T58
MACE 20	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Readmission	1	T35
MACE 21	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Non-fatal CVA, Target vessel revascularisation, Periprocedural MI	2	T67, T70
MACE 22	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Non-fatal CVA, Unstable angina, Target vessel revascularisation	2	T60, T79
MACE 23	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Target vessel revascularisation, Stent thrombosis	3	T72, T73, T76
MACE 24	CV Death, Non-fatal MI, Non-fatal CVA, Unstable angina, Stent thrombosis	1	Τ77

Table 3.3 – MACE definitions per study (For all T references, please refer to Appendix 2).

Author	Year	Туре	Outcome	Gene	N	Clop LD	Clop MD	Setting	FU	Cohort
Anselmi C et al [T58]	2014	PC	MACE	2C19*2, *3; ABCB1 C3435T; 1A2*1F; 2B6*9, *3; 2C9*2; 3A4 20239G>A, 1344T>A; 3A5*3; P2Y12 T744C; PON1 206T>A, PON1 672A>G	1432	600	75	PCI (SCAD)	> 12 months	
Arima Y et al [T70]	2015	PC	MACE	2C19*2/*3	518	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	>12 months	
Bhatt DL et al [T37]	2012	RCT	MACE, Bleed	2C19*2	2266	NS	75	SCAD	800 days	CHARISMA
Bouman HJ et al [T23]	2011	CC+PC	ST	2C19*2; 2C9*2, *3; 3A4*1B, *1G (IVS10); 3A5*3; PON1 Q192R; ABCB1 C3435T	112+1982	300- 600	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	
Campo G et al [T25]	2011	РС	Death, ST, Bleed, MACE	2C19*2, *17; 3A5*3; ABCB1 C3435T	300	600	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	

Cayla G et al [T30]	2011	сс	Bleed, MACE	2C19*2, *3, *17; 2C9*2, *3; 2B6*5, *9; 3A5*3; POR C1508T; PON1 Q192R, L55M; ABCB1 C3435T; P2Y12 T744C; ITGB3 T196G; MTHFR C677T	369	VAR	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	NA	ONASSIST
Chen DY et al [T39]	2012	сс	ST	2C19*2, *3, *17; PON1 Q912R, L55M, C108T; ABCB1 C3435T, T129C, G2677T/A	4964	NS	NS	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	NA	CAPTAIN
Collet JP et al [T6]	2009	PC	CV Death, ST, MACE, MI, Revasc	2C19*2	259	VAR	75	ACS	Up to 8 years	AFIJI
Cresci S et al [T65]	2014	PC+CROSS	Death	2C19*2	2062	NS	NS	ACS	12 months	TRIUMPH
Dai Z et al [T38]	2012	PC	Bleed, Maj Bleed, Min Bleed	2C19*17	520	300	75	PCI (BSS+ACS)	1 month	

Depta J et al [T69]	2015	РС	STEMI, NSTEMI, UA, SA, Restenosis, CVA, CV Death	2C19*2, *17	2062	NS	NS	ACS	12 months	TRIUMPH
Giusti B et al [T4]	2009	PC	ST, MACE	2C19*2	772	600	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	6 months	RECLOSE
Guo B et al [T68]	2014	PC	Vasc surg, thrombosis, death, ischaemia	2C19*2/*3	50	NS	75	PAD	12 months	
Harmsze AM et al [T18]	2010	СС	ST	2C19*2, *3; 2C9*2, *3; 3A4*1B; 3A5*3; ABCB1 C1236T, G2677T/A, C3435T; P2Y1 A1622G	596	NS	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	
Hokimoto S et al [T60]	2014	PC+RCT	CV Death, MACE, CVA, UA, MI, Revasc	2C19*2/*3	174	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	18 mths	
Hulot JS et al [T29]	2011	РС	MACE	2C19*2; PON1 L55M, Q192R	371	300- 900	75	ACS	Up to 6 years	CLOVIS-2, AFIJI
Jeong YH et al [T31]	2011	РС	MACE, Bleed	2C19*2, *3; ABCB1 C3435T	266	600	75	PCI (ACS)	>12 months	ACCEL-AMI
Jia DM et al [T51]	2013	PC	Funct Status	2C19*2/*3; 3A4 C894T;	259	NS	75	CVA	6 months	
				P2Y12 C34T, G52T						
-----------------------	------	----	--	---	------	-------------	----	-------------------	-----------	
Kang YH et al [T50]	2013	сс	MACE, Bleed	2C19*2; PON1 -108C>T, - 126C>G, - 162A>G, L55M, Q192R	538	300	75	PCI (ACS)	12 months	
Kim HS et al [T56]	2013	РС	MACE	2C19*2, *3, *17	2188	300- 600	NS	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	
Konishi A et al [T74]	2015	РС	Death, ST, TLR, TVR	2C19*2/*3	196	NS	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	>450 days	
Li S et al [T78]	2015	PC	MACE, CV Death, MI, ST, TLR	2C19*2	198	NS	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	
Liang ZY et al [T53]	2013	PC	CV Death, ST, Bleed, CVA, MI, MACE	2C19*2, *3, *17; 3A4 rs2242480C>T, rs2404955G>A, rs2246709A>G, rs4646437C>T; 3A5 rs3800959T>C, 15524T>C; P2Y12 34C>T, 52G>T, 744T>C; ABCB1 C3435T	1106	600	75	PCI (ACS)	12 months	

Lin Y et al [T59]	2014	РС	In-stent restenosis	P2Y12 C34T, G52T; 3A4 C894T; 2C19*2, *3	90	NS	75	VAS	> 12 months	
Malek LA et al [T17]	2010	PC	Death	2C19*2	261	300- 600	75	PCI (ACS)	4 years	
Marcucci R et al [T36]	2012	PC	MACE	2C19*2	1187	600	75	PCI (ACS)	6 months	
Martinez-Quintana E et al [T61]	2014	RC	CV Relapse	2C19*2/*3	263	NS	75	ACS+SCAD	12 months	
McDonough CW et al [T81]	2015	PC	CVA, Bleed	2C19*2/*17	522	NA	75	CVA	VAR, median 3.2 yrs	SPS3-GENES
Mega JL et al [T15]	2010	PC	MACE, Bleed, ST, CV Death, MI, CVA	ABCB1 C3435T, G2677T/A, C1236T	1471	300	75	PCI (ACS)	450 days	TRITON-TIMI 38
Mega JL et al [T32]	2011	RCT	MACE	2C19*2	333	NS	75-300	SCAD	30 days	ELEVATE-TIMI 56
Mega JL et al [T7]	2009	PC	MACE, Bleed, ST, CV Death, MI, CVA	2C19; 2C9; 2B6; 3A5; 3A4; 1A2	1459+162	300	75	PCI (ACS)+HV	450 days	TRITON-TIMI 38
Mizobe M et al [T67]	2014	РС	CV Death, MACE, MI, CVA, Revasc, Interproc event	2C19*2/*3	519	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	> 12 months	
Nagashima Z et al [T54]	2013	PC	CV Death, MI, MACE	2C19*2/*3	177	300	75	PCI (ACS)	12 months	
Nishio R et al [T41]	2012	PC	Death, ST, MI, MACE, TLR	2C19	160	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	3 years	

Nishio R et al [T57]	2013	РС	ST, TLR	2C19*2, *3	112	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	
Oh IY et al [T26]	2012	РС	MACE, Revasc, MI, CV Death, ST	2C19*2	2146	300- 600	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	SKY
Palmerini T et al [T73]	2014	PC	MACE	2C19*2, *3, *4, *17; 3A4*1G, *1B; 3A5*3; ABCB1 C3435T; IRS1 A227382808C, A227497991G; PON1 A163T, A575G; ITGB3 T196C	750	300- 600	75	PCI (ACS)	12 months	GEPRESS
Pare G et al [T16]	2010	PC	MACE, Bleed	2C19	2549+570	300	75	ACS+AF	12 months	ACTIVE-A, CURE
Park KW et al [T40]	2012	PC	MACE	2C19*2; 3A5*3	1258	300- 600	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	CROSS-VERIFY
Peng Y et al [T46]	2013	РС	Death, Revasc, MACE, CV Death	2C19*2	506	300	75	ACS+SCAD	12 months	
Qiu L et al [T75]	2015	PC	Poor prognosis	2C19*2/*3	211	NS	75	CVA	6 months	
Rideg O et al [T27]	2011	RCT	MACE	2C19*2, *3, *17; ABCB1 C3435T, G2677T/A; PON 1 Q192R	189	600	75-150	PCI (SCAD)	12 months	DOSER

Rothenbacher D et al [T55]	2013	EPID	MACE	2C19*2	1050	NS	75	SCAD	8 years	
Sawada T et al [T20]	2011	PC	Death, MI, TVR, TLR, ST(OCT)	2C19*2	100	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	VAR - over 200 days	
Sen HM et al [T80]	2014	PC	CVA	2C19*2	51	NA	75	CVA	12 months	
Shetkar S et al [T64]	2014	PC	MACE	2C19*2/*3/*17	110	NS	NS	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	NS	
Shuldiner AR et al [T3]	2009	PC	MACE	2C19*2	227+429	300- 600	75	PCI (SCAD) +HV	12 months	AMISH PAPI, SINAI, CLEAR PLATELETS
Sibbing D et al [T22]	2011	CC+PC	ST	2C19*2; PON1 Q192R	1439	600	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	30 days	
Sibbing D et al [T1]	2010	PC	ST, Bleed, MI, MACE	2C19*17	1524	600	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	30 days	
Sibbing D et al [T5]	2009	PC	Death, ST, CVA, MACE, MI, STEMI, NSTEMI	2C19*2	2485	600	75	PCI (ACS)	30 days	ISAR (REACT, SMART2, SWEET, REACT2)
Siller-Matula JM et al [T34]	2011	PC	ST, Bleed	2C19*2, *17	416	600	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	PEGASUS-PCI
Simon T et al [T21]	2011	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	FAST-MI
Simon T et al [T28]	2011	PC	MACE, MI, CVA, Death, Bleed	PON1 Q192R	2432	300- 900	75	ACS	12 months	FAST-MI
Simon T et al [T8]	2009	PC	MACE	2C19*2, *3, *4, *5, *17; 3A5*3; P2Y12 C34T; ITGB3; ABCB1 C3435T	2208	300- 900	75	ACS	12 months	FAST-MI

Spiewak M et al [T2]	2009	PC	MACE	ABCB1 C3453T	98	300- 600	75	PCI (ACS)	24 months
Spokoyny I et al [T52]	2013	RC	CVA	2C19	43	NS	75	CVA	NS
Suh JW et al [T10]	2006	PC	MACE, Death, MI, CVA	3A5*3	348	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	6 months
Sun B et al [T77]	2015	РС	MACE	2C19*2; 3A5*3; P2Y12 T744C	118	300	75	PCI (ACS)	6 months
Sun W et al [T71]	2014	PC	CV Death, Bleed, CVA, MI, MACE	2C19*2/*3, *17	625	NS	75	CVA	12 months
Syros G et al [T12]	2009	PC	MACE, Bleed, MI	P1A1/A2	200	NS	NS	PCI (SCAD)	12 months
Tabata N et al [T79]	2015	РС	MACE, CV Death, MI, CVA, UA, Revasc	2C19*2/*3	434	300	75	PCI+SCAD	1-3 years
Tang N et al [T76]	2015	PC	MACE	2C19*2/*3	178	300	75	PCI (ACS)	6 months
Tang XF et al [T45]	2013	РС	Bleed, MACE	2C19; PON1 Q192R; ABCB1 C3435T	670	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months
Tang XF et al [T48]	2013	PC	Bleed, MACE	2C19*2; P2Y12 C34T	577	300	75	PCI (ACS)	12 months
Teixera R et al [T35]	2012	PC	MACE	2C19*2	95	VAR	75	ACS	VAR - median 136 days
Tiroch KA et al [T19]	2010	РС	Death, ST, MACE, MI, CVA	2C19*2, *17; ABCB1 rs1045642	928	600	75	PCI (ACS)	12 months

Tousoulis D et al [T47]	2013	PC	ST, Bleed	2C19*2	353	NS	75	SCAD	2 years	
Trenk D et al [T24]	2011	PC	ST, MACE	PON1 Q192R	760	600	75	PCI (SCAD)	12 months	EXCELSIOR
Trenk D et al [T9]	2008	PC	MACE, ST	2C19*2	797	600	75	PCI (SCAD)	12 months	EXCELSIOR
Verschuren JJW et al [T42]	2013	сс	MACE	COX1 -824A>G; P2Y1 893C>T; GP1a 807C>T; GPIIIa rs8069732T>C; 2C19*2, rs11188072; ABCB1 C3435T; PON1 576A>G	1327	600	75	PCI (ACS)	12 months	MISSION-AMI
Wallentin L et al [278]	2010	РС	MACE, ST Bleed	2C19*2; ABCB1 C3435T	5148	300- 600	75	ACS	12 months	PLATO
Wei Y et al [T82]	2015	РС	Rec Angina, MI, CVA, ST, CV Death	2C19*2	110	300	75	PCI+ACS	12 months	
Wu H et al [T43]	2012	РС	MI	2C19*2/*3	233	300	75	PCI (ACS)	Peri- procedure	
Xie C et al [T63]	2014	PC+CC	ST	CES1A2 - 816A/C; 2C19*2/*3; PON1 Q192R; ABCB1 C3435T	104	300- 600	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months	
Xie X et al [T49]	2013	РС	Death, ST, Bleed, MI, MACE	2C19	1068	600	75	PCI (ACS +SCAD)	12 months	

Yoshimura H et al [T66]	2014	СС	МІ	2C19*2/*3	121	300	75	PCI (SCAD)	28 days
Yuo L et al [T33]	2011	PC	ST, CV Death, MI, NSTEMI, CVA, Bleed, STEMI	2C19*2	1738	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	180 days
Zhang JH et al [T72]	2014	РС	MACE, Bleed	ABCB1 C3435T, multiple SNPs	452	300	75	PCI (ACS)	12 months
Ziegler S et al [T11]	2005	РС	MACE	P2Y12 C34T, G52T	473	NS	75	PAD	2 years
Zou JJ et al [T44]	2013	РС	ST	2C19	617	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months
Zou JJ et al [T62]	2014	РС	ST	CES1A2 - 816A/C	249	300	75	PCI (ACS+SCAD)	12 months

Table 3.4 - Characteristics of the studies included in meta-analysis (For all T references, please refer to Appendix 2).

MA	Outcome	Gene	Potential Studies	Combinable Studies	References	N	HR	95% CI	I^2
1	CV DEATH	2C19*2	9	2	T6, T26	2405	3.64	0.99 to 0.75	0%
2	DEATH	2C19*2	7	2	T5, T17	2746	1.35	0.61 to 3.00	40.20%
3	MACE	2C19*2	24	10	T3, T5, T6, T9, T25, T26, T35, T36, T42, T50	9347	1.80	1.33 to 2.43	62.78%
4	МІ	2C19*2	10	2	T5, T6	2744	2.33	0.50 to 10.84	87.16%
5	REVASC	2C19*2	3	3	T5, T26, T46	2911	1.13	0.87 to 1.46	18.40%
6	ST	2C19*2	19	6	T4, T5, T6, T7, T26, T34	7429	3.20	1.79 to 5.72	30.19%
7	BLEED	2C19	6	4	T7, T37, T49, T71	5413	0.81	0.70 to 0.93	0%
8	CV DEATH	2C19	7	2	T7, T71	2085	5.62	1.92 to 13.30	0%
9	MACE	2C19	17	11	T7, T8, T14, T16, T37, T56, T58, T60, T70, T71, T79	19288	1.39	1.14 to 1.71	69.48%
10	MAJ BLEED	2C19	4	2	T16, T37	5364	1.04	0.80 to 1.35	57.80%
11	ST	2C19	10	2	T7, T49	2457	3.20	1.72 to 5.98	0%

12	MACE	ABCB1 C3435T	11	3	T8, T15, T25	3959	1.39	0.99 to 1.95	39.80%
13	MACE	3A5*3	7	2	T7, T25	1581	1.06	0.59 to 1.91	16.12%
14	MACE	PON1 Q192R	8	4	T24, T28, T29, T50	4393	1.00	0.75 to 1.31	20.45%

 Table 3.5 – Summary of all meta-analyses (For all T references, please refer to Appendix 2).

3.3.4: CYP2C19*2 Polymorphism and Clinical Outcome Assessment

CYP2C19*2 and Cardiovascular Death

A total of 9 studies (Collet et al., 2009, Depta et al., 2015, Giusti et al., 2009, Li et al., 2015b, Luo et al., 2011, Oh et al., 2012, Peng et al., 2013, Sun et al., 2015a, Wei et al., 2015) were eligible to be included in this meta-analysis. Only three studies (Collet et al., 2009, Oh et al., 2012, Peng et al., 2013) reported sufficient data for inclusion and extraction or calculation of hazard ratios. Study 471 (Oh et al., 2012) presented hazard ratios for three categorical groups and therefore could not be included in a dominant model. Consequently, a meta-analysis of two studies (Collet et al., 2009, Oh et al., 2012), including 2,405 patients, was conducted which did not detect a significant association between cardiovascular death and carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele (HR 3.64; 95% Cl 0.99 to 7.05). No significant heterogeneity was detected in this meta-analysis, with similar patient groups and clopidogrel loading doses used in the studies included in this meta-analysis (**Figure 3.2**).

CYP2C19*2 and all-cause mortality

Seven studies (Campo et al., 2011, Cresci et al., 2014, Malek et al., 2010, Peng et al., 2013, Sawada et al., 2011, Sibbing et al., 2009, Tiroch et al., 2010) were potentially suitable for inclusion in this meta-analysis. However, only three studies (Malek et al., 2010, Peng et al., 2013, Sibbing et al., 2009) reported sufficient data for extraction or calculation of hazard ratio. Peng et al (Peng et al., 2013) presented hazard ratios for three categorical groups and therefore could not be included in a dominant model. Consequently, a meta-analysis of the two remaining studies (Sibbing et al., 2009, Malek et al., 2010) and 2,746 patients demonstrated no significant association between the *CYP2C19*2* polymorphism and risk of all-cause mortality (HR 1.35; 95% Cl 0.61 to 3.00). Moderate heterogeneity was detected (I^2=40.2) which could be explained by the difference in follow up periods between the studies (Study 56 (Sibbing et al., 2009) – 30 days; Study 287 (Malek et al., 2010) – maximum of 50 months) (**Figure 3.3**).

CYP2C19*2 and major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE)

A total of 24 studies (Campo et al., 2011, Collet et al., 2009, Giusti et al., 2009, Kang et al., 2013, Marcucci et al., 2012, Kim et al., 2013, Li et al., 2015b, Mega et al., 2009, Mega et al., 2011, Oh et al., 2012, Palmerini et al., 2014, Peng et al., 2013, Rideg et al., 2011, Rothenbacher et al., 2013, Shuldiner et al., 2009, Sibbing et al., 2009, Simon et al., 2009, Sun et al., 2015a, Tang et al., 2013a, Tang et al., 2013b, Teixeira et al., 2012, Tiroch et al., 2010,

Trenk et al., 2008, Verschuren et al., 2013) were identified as potentially eligible for inclusion into this meta-analysis. Six studies were excluded as they did not report survival analysis, and a further eight studies were excluded as they presented survival data for three categorical genotype groups which were not combinable into a dominant model. Consequently, a meta-analysis of the remaining 10 studies, which included 9,347 patients, demonstrated a significant association between carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele and risk of MACE (HR 1.80; 95% Cl 1.33 to 2.43) (Campo et al., 2011, Collet et al., 2009, Kim et al., 2013, Marcucci et al., 2012, Oh et al., 2012, Shuldiner et al., 2009, Sibbing et al., 2009, Teixeira et al., 2012, Trenk et al., 2008, Verschuren et al., 2013). There was significant heterogeneity observed in this meta-analysis, with a number of different patient types (ACS, stable disease) and clopidogrel loading doses included. In addition, this meta-analysis included all studies reporting MACE, irrespective of its definition. Importantly, six different definitions of MACE were used by the studies included in the meta-analysis (**Figure 3.4**)

CYP2C19*2 and myocardial infarction

Ten studies were potentially eligible for inclusion in this meta-analysis (Collet et al., 2009, Li et al., 2015b, Luo et al., 2011, Oh et al., 2012, Sawada et al., 2011, Sibbing et al., 2009, Sun et al., 2015a, Tiroch et al., 2010, Wei et al., 2015, Wu et al., 2012). Of these ten, eight studies were excluded as no survival analysis was reported. Consequently, only two studies, which included 2,744 patients, were included in this meta-analysis (Collet et al., 2009, Sibbing et al., 2009). No significant association between carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele and myocardial infarction was detected (HR 2.33; 95%Cl 0.50 to 10.84) although significant heterogeneity was present (I^2 = 87.16%). Similar to previous meta-analyses, there was a significant difference in the length of follow up between the two studies which may explain the degree of heterogeneity (**Figure 3.5**).

CYP2C19*2 and revascularisation

A total of three studies were potentially eligible for inclusion in this meta-analysis (Collet et al., 2009, Oh et al., 2012, Peng et al., 2013) and all three reported data on survival in a total of 2,911 patients. However, no clear association was detected between carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* and the risk of revascularisation (HR 1.13; 95% CI 0.87 to 1.46). No significant heterogeneity was detected in this meta-analysis (**Figure 3.6**).

CYP2C19*2 and stent thrombosis

Nineteen studies were assessed as being potentially suitable for this meta-analysis (Bouman et al., 2011, Campo et al., 2011, Chen et al., 2012b, Collet et al., 2009, Giusti et al., 2009, Li et al., 2015b, Luo et al., 2011, Mega et al., 2009, Oh et al., 2012, Sawada et al., 2011, Sibbing et al., 2009, Sibbing et al., 2011, Siller-Matula et al., 2012, Sun et al., 2015a, Tiroch et al., 2010, Tousoulis et al., 2013, Trenk et al., 2008, Wei et al., 2015). Twelve studies were excluded as they did not report survival data, and a further study was excluded due to genotype data being incomplete. Consequently, a total of six studies, including 7,429 patients, demonstrated a significant association between carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele and the risk of stent thrombosis (HR 3.20; 95% CI 1.79-5.72). Heterogeneity was relatively low with an I^2 value of 30.19%. (**Figure 3.7**).

Variant = CYP2C19*2

Outcome = CV Death



Figure 3.2 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and cardiovascular death (59 - Collet et al, 2009; 382 - Oh et al, 2012) No significant association detected between carriage of the CYP2C19*2 allele and cardiovascular death

Variant = CYP2C19*2

Outcome = Death



Heterogeneity I-squared= 40.2

Figure 3.3 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and all-cause mortality (56 – Sibbing et al, 2009; 287 – Malek et al, 2010) No significant association detected between carriage of the CYP2C19*2 allele and all-cause mortality



Heterogeneity I-squared= 62.78 %

Figure 3.4 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and MACE (59 – Collet et al, 2009; 425 – Teixera et al, 2012; 21 – Shuldiner et al, 2009; 56 – Giusti et al, 2009; 68 – Trenk et al, 2008; 378- Campo et al, 2011; 382 – Oh et al, 2012; 426 – Marcucci et al, 2012; 455 – Verschuren et al, 2013; 491 – Kang et al, 2013) CYP2C19*2 allele carriers have a significantly higher risk of MACE



Figure 3.5 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and myocardial infarction (56 – Sibbing et al, 2009; 59 – Collet et al, 2009) No significant association detected between carriage of the CYP2C19*2 allele and myocardial infarction



Figure 3.6 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and revascularisation (59 – Collet et al, 2009; 382 – Oh et al, 2012; 471 – Peng et al, 2013) No significant association detected between carriage of the CYP2C19*2 allele and revascularisation



Figure 3.7 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19*2 and stent thrombosis (52 – Giusti et al, 2009; 56 – Sibbing et al, 2009; 59 – Collet et al, 2009; 60 – Mega et al, 2009; 382 – Oh et al, 2012 421 – Siller-Matula et al, 2011) CYP2C19*2 allele carriers have a significantly higher risk of stent thrombosis

3.3.5 CYP2C19 metaboliser phenotype and Clinical Outcome Assessment

Studies that combined the loss-of-function CYP2C19*2 and *3 alleles together in a single analysis were defined as *CYP2C19* metaboliser phenotype and reported in the meta-analyses reported below.

CYP2C19 and bleeding

Six studies were potentially combinable in this meta-analysis (Bhatt et al., 2012, Liang et al., 2013, Mega et al., 2009, McDonough et al., 2015, Sun et al., 2015b, Xie et al., 2013). However, two studies were not combinable either due to incomplete genotype data for the LOF alleles or not reporting survival data. Consequently, four studies (Bhatt et al., 2012, Mega et al., 2009, Sun et al., 2015b, Xie et al., 2013), which included 5,413 patients, were included in a meta-analysis which detected a significant reduction in the risk of bleeding events in carriers of any *CYP2C19* LOF alleles (HR 0.81; 95% CI 0.70 to 0.93). No heterogeneity was observed in this meta-analysis (I^2 = 0%) (**Figure 3.8**).

CYP2C19 and cardiovascular death

A total of seven studies were identified as potentially combinable in this meta-analysis (Hokimoto et al., 2014, Liang et al., 2013, Mega et al., 2009, Mizobe et al., 2014, Nagashima et al., 2013, Sun et al., 2015b, Tabata et al., 2016a). Five studies were excluded as they did not report survival analysis data. Consequently, only two studies (Mega et al., 2009, Sun et al., 2015b), which included 2,085 patients, could be combined in this meta-analysis. A significant association between carriage of any *CYP2C19* LOF allele and the risk of cardiovascular death was detected (HR 5.62; 95% CI 1.92 to 13.30) with no significant heterogeneity detected (I^2 = 0%) (**Figure 3.9**).

CYP2C19 and major adverse cardiovascular events

Seventeen studies were assessed as potentially eligible for inclusion in this meta-analysis (Arima et al., 2015, Bhatt et al., 2012, Hokimoto et al., 2014, Kim et al., 2013, Liang et al., 2013, Mega et al., 2009, Mizobe et al., 2014, Nagashima et al., 2013, Nishio et al., 2012, Pare et al., 2010, Simon et al., 2009, Sun et al., 2015b, Tabata et al., 2016a, Tang et al., 2015, Viviani Anselmi et al., 2013, Wallentin et al., 2010, Xie et al., 2013). Six studies were excluded due to either reporting three genotype groups that could not be combined in the survival analysis or not reporting survival data. Consequently, a total of 11 studies, representing 19,288 patients, were included in the final meta-analysis (Arima et al., 2015, Bhatt et al., 2012, Kim et al., 2013, Mega et al., 2009, Mizobe et al., 2014, Pare et al., 2010, Simon et al.,

2009, Sun et al., 2015b, Tabata et al., 2016a, Viviani Anselmi et al., 2013, Wallentin et al., 2010). A significant association between carriage of any *CYP2C19* LOF allele and the risk of MACE was observed (HR 1.39; 95% CI 1.14 to 1.71), although a significant degree of heterogeneity was also demonstrated (I^2 = 69.48%). As described in the *CYP2C19*2* MACE meta-analysis, this meta-analysis also included studies with any definition of MACE. Indeed, eight different definitions of MACE were used in the studies included in this meta-analysis, which may explain the observed heterogeneity (**Figure 3.10**).

CYP2C19 and Major bleeding

A total of four studies were potentially combinable in this meta-analysis (Bhatt et al., 2012, McDonough et al., 2015, Pare et al., 2010, Wallentin et al., 2010). Two studies were excluded due to not reporting survival data, with the remaining two studies (Bhatt et al., 2012, Pare et al., 2010) combined in this meta-analysis. No significant association between carriage of any *CYP2C19* LOF allele and the risk of major bleeding was detected (HR 1.04; 95% CI 0.80 to 1.35) in this meta-analysis of 5,364 patients. Significant heterogeneity was detected (I^2 = 57.8%) despite both studies including similar types of patients as well as utilising the same loading dose of clopidogrel (**Figure 3.11**).

CYP2C19 and stent thrombosis

Ten studies were assessed as being potentially eligible for inclusion in this meta-analysis (Harmsze et al., 2010b, Konishi et al., 2015, Liang et al., 2013, Mega et al., 2009, Nishio et al., 2012, Nishio et al., 2013, Wallentin et al., 2010, Xie et al., 2013, Xie et al., 2014, Zou et al., 2013). Eight studies were excluded due to not reporting survival data or presenting data in three genotype groups that were not combinable in a dominant model. Consequently, only two studies, which included 2,457 patients, were included in the final meta-analysis (Mega et al., 2009, Xie et al., 2013). A significant association was detected between carriage of any *CYP2C19* LOF allele and risk of stent thrombosis with no observed heterogeneity ($I^2 = 0\%$) (**Figure 3.12**).



Figure 3.8 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19 metaboliser status and bleeding (60 – Mega et al, 2009; 486 – Xie et al, 2013; 432 – Bhatt et al, 2012; 590 – Sun et al, 2014)

Carriers of CYP2C19 loss-of-function alleles (*2 and *3) have a lower risk of bleeding



Figure 3.9 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19 metaboliser status and cardiovascular death (60 – Mega et al, 2009; 590 – Sun et al, 2014) Carriers of CYP2C19 loss-of-function alleles (*2 and *3) have a higher risk of cardiovascular death





Figure 3.10 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19 metaboliser status and MACE (61 – Simon, 2009; 278 – Wallentin, 2010; 280 – Pare, 2010; 432 – Bhatt, 2012; 60 – Mega, 2009; 527 – Kim, 2013; 540 – Anselmi, 2014; 549 – Hokimoto, 2014; 586 – Arima, 2015; 590 - Sun, 2014; 623 – Tabata, 2015) Carriers of CYP2C19 loss-of-function alleles (*2 and *3) have a higher risk of MACE



Figure 3.11 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19 metaboliser status and major bleeding (280 – Pare et al, 2010; 432 – Bhatt et al, 2012) No significant association detected between carriage of the CYP2C19 loss-of-function alleles (*2 and *3) and major bleeding



Figure 3.12 – Meta-analysis of CYP2C19 metaboliser status and stent thrombosis (60 – Mega et al, 2009; 486 – Xie et al, 2013) Carriers of CYP2C19 loss-of-function alleles (*2 and *3) have a higher risk of MACE

3.3.6: Other Polymorphisms and Clinical Outcome Assessments

ABCB1 C3435T and major adverse cardiovascular events

A total of twelve studies were assessed as being potentially combinable in this meta-analysis (Campo et al., 2011, Mega et al., 2010a, Palmerini et al., 2014, Simon et al., 2009, Spiewak et al., 2009, Sun et al., 2015b, Tang et al., 2013a, Tiroch et al., 2010, Verschuren et al., 2013, Viviani Anselmi et al., 2013, Wallentin et al., 2010, Zhang et al., 2014b). However, nine of these studies were excluded as a result of either not reporting survival data or reporting genotype groups that could not be combined in a dominant model. Consequently, only three studies, representing 3,959 patients, could be combined in this meta-analysis (Campo et al., 2011, Mega et al., 2010a, Simon et al., 2009). No significant association was observed between the risk of MACE and the *ABCB1* C3435T genotype. Between study heterogeneity was relatively low with an I^2 value of 39.8% (**Figure 3.13**).

CYP3A5*3 and major adverse cardiovascular events

Seven studies were identified as potentially eligible for inclusion in this meta-analysis (Campo et al., 2011, Mega et al., 2009, Palmerini et al., 2014, Park et al., 2012, Simon et al., 2009, Suh et al., 2006, Viviani Anselmi et al., 2013). Five studies were excluded due to not reporting survival data or presenting data in groups that could not be combined into a dominant model. Two studies (Campo et al., 2011, Mega et al., 2009), which included 1,581 patients, were combined into this meta-analysis. No significant association was detected between the risk of MACE and carriage of the *CYP3A5*3* allele, with no significant heterogeneity observed ($I^2 = 16.12\%$) (**Figure 3.14**).

PON1 Q192R and major adverse cardiovascular events

A total of eight studies were assessed as being potentially combinable in this meta-analysis (Hulot et al., 2011, Kang et al., 2013, Palmerini et al., 2014, Simon et al., 2011b, Tang et al., 2013a, Trenk et al., 2011, Verschuren et al., 2013, Viviani Anselmi et al., 2013). Four studies were excluded as they did not report survival data. Consequently, four studies (Hulot et al., 2011, Kang et al., 2013, Simon et al., 2011b, Trenk et al., 2011), representing 4,393 patients, were included in the final meta-analysis. No significant association between the *PON1* Q192R genotype and risk of MACE was detected (HR 1.00; 95% CI 0.75 to 1.31). Again, heterogeneity was demonstrated to be very low, with a reported I^2 value of 20.45% (Figure 3.15).



Figure 3.13 – Meta-analysis of ABCB1 C3425T and MACE (61 – Simon et al, 2009; 279 – Mega et al, 2010; 378 – Campo et al, 2011) No significant association detected between carriage of the ABCB1 3435T allele and MACE



Figure 3.14 – Meta-analysis of CYP3A5*3 and MACE (60 – Mega et al, 2009; 378 – Campo et al, 2011) No significant association detected between carriage of the CYP3A5*3 allele and MACE



Figure 3.15 – Meta-analysis of PON1 Q192R and MACE (371 – Trenk et al, 2011; 396 – Simon et al, 2011; 399 – Hulot et al, 2011; 491 – Kang et al, 2013) No significant association detected between carriage of the PON 192Q allele and MACE

3.4: Discussion

The major finding of this meta-analysis is that the *CYP2C19* loss-of-function alleles are associated with adverse clinical outcomes in the context of cardiovascular disease. However, in this meta-analysis, the effect of the polymorphism was not uniform with some outcomes being associated with the variant alleles and others not.

The observed association between the CYP2C19*2 allele and clinical outcome in this metaanalysis is consistent with a number of other studies. In a genetic sub-study of the TRITON-TIMI 38 study, Mega and colleagues (Mega et al., 2009) demonstrated a 53% relative increase in the risk of MACE in carriers of the CYP2C19*2 allele in a cohort of 1477 patients (HR 1.53; 95% CI 1.07 to 2.19, P=0.01) and a threefold increase in the risk of stent thrombosis (HR 3.09; 95%CI 1.19 to 8.00). These data have been mirrored by other large studies (Simon et al., 2009). However, in the genetic sub-study of the PLATO trial, the effect of the CYP2C19*2 polymorphism on outcome was less clear (Wallentin et al., 2010). In the 4,904 clopidogrel treated patients with genotype data, only the rate of MACE at 30 days post randomisation was significantly higher in the CYP2C19*2 allele carriers compared to wild type CYP2C19 homozygotes (HR 1.37; 95%CI 1.04-1.82, P=0.028). The rate of MACE beyond 30 days was not significantly different between the two genotype groups in clopidogrel treated patients, and this was replicated across other outcome measures such as stent thrombosis, cardiovascular death and myocardial infarction. Similarly, in the CURE trial genetic sub-study (Pare et al., 2010), no significant effect of the CYP2C19*2 polymorphism on cardiovascular outcomes was demonstrated in 5059 ACS patients. Interestingly, subjects with the gain-offunction CYP2C19*17 polymorphism reported significantly lower rates of cardiovascular events compared to the wild-type genotype, in keeping with an increased rate of clopidogrel bio-activation (HR 0.55; 95% CI 0.42 to 0.73, P=0.02). However, it should be noted that the rate of PCI and stenting was very low in the CURE study which may explain the lack of effect of the CYP2C19*2 polymorphism. Conversely, the rate of PCI in clopidogrel treated patients in the PLATO study was around 60%, significantly higher than the 14% in the CURE trial. However, the PLATO genetic sub-study does not report the PCI rate in genotyped patients and consequently it is unclear whether the PCI rate was similar to the main trial.

These conflicting data are replicated in the published meta-analyses. In Mega's collaborative meta-analysis (Mega et al., 2010b), nine studies were included representing 9,685 patients. Whilst this meta-analysis demonstrated clear and consistent associations between the carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele and adverse cardiovascular outcomes, it did not include data from either the PLATO or CURE genetic sub-studies. Given the size of those studies, it is

likely that they would have substantially reduced the effect size observed in Mega's metaanalysis. Indeed, the later meta-analysis from Bauer et al (Bauer et al., 2011) did include both the PLATO and CURE genetic sub-studies and failed to detect a significant association between carriage of the CYP2C19*2 allele and most cardiovascular outcomes apart from a moderate association with stent thrombosis. In addition, Bauer's meta-analysis also identified, and commented on, the poor methodological quality of a large proportion of the published data on clopidogrel response, clinical outcome and CYP2C19*2 genotype, which are mirrored by the findings from the present meta-analysis. Specifically, these include lack of adequate genotyping quality control, failure to assess compliance with Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, unclear duration of follow-up, failure to assess adherence to clopidogrel and potential influence from industry or other healthcare institution funding. Importantly, the present meta-analysis also identified that outcome measure definitions were very variable between individual studies. For example, this meta-analysis identified twenty-four separate definitions of MACE in the included studies. Analysis under a single, universal, definition of MACE revealed widely different effect sizes from the included studies, with high levels of heterogeneity observed as a result. Consequently, this limits the generalisability of the detected associations between MACE and the CYP2C19 genotype in the present metaanalysis and, given the small numbers of studies in each separate MACE definition, it was not possible to perform individual meta-analyses for each definition. Importantly, this finding is likely to affect other published meta-analyses which have included MACE as an outcome.

The present meta-analysis also demonstrated a significant association between stent thrombosis and carriage of *CYP2C19* LOF alleles. This is in keeping with the published data including both Mega's and Bauer's meta-analyses. Stent thrombosis is a largely platelet driven outcome measure and it is therefore the most sensitive clinical outcome measure to clopidogrel response, in keeping with the observed higher effect sizes seen in previous pharmacogenetic studies compared to other clinical outcomes, outlined in the Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium (CPIC) guidelines for CYP2C19 polymorphism testing and clopidogrel therapy (Scott et al., 2013).

The present meta-analysis failed to demonstrate a consistent association between carriage of *CYP2C19* LOF alleles and cardiovascular death, with the meta-analysis using only the *CYP2C19*2* allele failing to show an association whereas the *CYP2C19* metaboliser phenotype meta-analysis demonstrated a significant association. It should be noted that only two studies were included in both of these individual meta-analyses and therefore any associations detected should be treated with caution. Furthermore, the *CYP2C19*

metaboliser phenotype meta-analysis included stroke patients only which may limit the applicability of this meta-analysis to patients with coronary artery disease. Finally, the present meta-analysis failed to detect any association between carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele and all-cause mortality, myocardial infarction and revascularisation. This is likely to be due to the low number of studies included in the individual meta-analyses, as well as significant differences between the individual studies such as length of follow-up, clopidogrel doses and clinical context.

In keeping with the pharmacodynamic meta-analysis, no significant association were observed between ABCB1 C3435T genotype and MACE. As discussed previously, it is conceivable that ABCB1 genotype could affect clopidogrel response given that clopidogrel is a substrate for P-gp. Interestingly, a number of clinical outcome studies have suggested that the ABCB1 C3435T polymorphism may be associated with clinical outcomes. In a further genetic sub-study of the TRITON-TIMI 38 study, Mega and colleagues (Mega et al., 2010a) identified that ABCB1 3435 TT homozygotes had an increased risk of major adverse cardiovascular events compared to CT or CC genotypes (HR 1.69; 95% CI 1.05-2.72). However, the rates of stent thrombosis were no different in the two genotype groups, although the event rates were low in both groups. Furthermore, there appeared to be an additive effect of the CYP2C19*2 polymorphism in ABCB1 3435TT homozygotes, with the relative risk of adverse cardiovascular events increasing by around 30% when both variants were combined (HR 1.97; 95% CI 1.38-2.82). Similarly, in a study of 300 patients with either stable or unstable cardiovascular disease undergoing PCI, carriage of the ABCB1 3435T allele carriers significantly increased the occurrence of a composite endpoint comprised of death, myocardial infarction and stroke (1.5 vs 8.6%, P=0.02) (Campo et al., 2011). However, other studies have failed to demonstrate a significant association between outcome and the ABCB1 C3435T polymorphism, including in the genetic sub-study of the PLATO trial (Wallentin et al., 2010). As discussed previously, these inconsistent data may be related to the observed linkage disequilibrium between the ABCB1 C3435T polymorphism and the G2677T/A and C1236T polymorphism. However, the genetic sub-study of the TRITON-TIMI 38 trial also analysed for the combined haplotype of the three polymorphisms but this did not significantly affect the association between genotype and clinical outcome. Importantly, most studies did not routinely report the use of other drugs that are P-gp substrates or inhibitors, such as amiodarone, which are likely to be used in this patient group (Simon et al., 2009).

Similarly, this meta-analysis failed to demonstrate an association between clinical outcome and the CYP3A5*3 polymorphism. As discussed previously, CYP3A5 may only impact clopidogrel response in specific circumstances such as CYP3A4 inhibition (Farid et al., 2007, Park et al., 2012). In a study by Suh et al (Suh et al., 2006) of 348 patients undergoing stent implantation, a significant association between carriage of the CYP3A5*3 allele and 6 month adverse cardiovascular events was observed (OR 4.89; 95% Cl 1.28-18.7). Notably, the number of CYP3A metabolised drugs taken by the patient was also identified as an independent risk factor for adverse cardiovascular events, in keeping with the relationship between the polymorphism and co-administration of CYP3A4 metabolised drugs or inhibitors. Furthermore, in a study of 1258 patients undergoing PCI (Park et al., 2012), no significant association was observed between CYP3A5*3 genotype and adverse cardiovascular outcome in patients not taking amlodipine, whereas in patients taking amlodipine, carriage of the CYP3A5*3 allele was strongly associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes. Neither study included in the present meta-analysis for CYP3A5*3 reported any data on use of CYP3A4 metabolised drugs, and therefore it is unclear whether the use of these medications impacted on its result.

The present meta-analysis also did not report any association between the *PON1* Q192R polymorphism and MACE. Again, the generalisability of this finding is limited due to the low number of studies included. However, as discussed previously, several studies (Hulot et al., 2011, Trenk et al., 2011) have failed to replicate the initial associations reported by Bouman et al (Bouman et al., 2011) for reasons that remain unclear currently.

A number of other polymorphisms have been investigated in relation to clopidogrel response and clinical outcomes, including its pharmacodynamic target, *P2Y12* (Lin et al., 2014, Simon et al., 2009, Sun et al., 2015a). Simon et al (Simon et al., 2009) failed to demonstrate an association between two *P2Y12* polymorphisms (C34T and H1/H2) and a composite outcome of cardiovascular death, non-fatal MI and non-fatal stroke. However, Ziegler et al (Ziegler et al., 2005), in their cohort of peripheral artery disease patients, demonstrated a fourfold higher risk of neurological events in patients carrying the 34T allele who were taking clopidogrel (HR 3.96; 95%CI 1.02 to 17.84; P=0.048). However, more recent studies investigating common *P2Y12* polymorphisms (Lin et al., 2014, Sun et al., 2015a) have failed to demonstrate any significant effect on clinical outcomes.

Given the findings of the present meta-analysis, it is clear that *CYP2C19* genotype could be used as a marker for stratification for anti-platelet drugs, with wild-type homozygotes

continuing to receive clopidogrel whilst the more potent anti-platelet drugs could be used only in carriers of the CYP2C19 LOF alleles. Several studies have investigated the use of genotype guided stratification for anti-platelet drugs. In a cohort of 628 patients undergoing PCI, Shen and colleagues (Shen et al., 2016) randomised patients to either a 'routine group' (clopidogrel 75mg daily) or an 'individual group'. All patients received a loading dose of clopidogrel (600mg) prior to PCI, and in the individual group, patients were divided into metaboliser groups determined by their CYP2C19 genotype. Patients with an extensive metaboliser (EM, wild-type homozygotes) genotype continued to receive clopidogrel 75mg once daily whilst the intermediate metabolisers (IM, LOF heterozygotes) received clopidogrel 150mg once daily. Finally, the poor metaboliser group (PM, LOF homozygotes) received ticagrelor 90mg twice daily. All patients were followed up at 1 month, 6 months and 12 months for MACE (all-cause mortality, MI, target vessel revascularisation) and bleeding. At 12 months, the occurrence of MACE was significantly lower in the individual group in comparison to the routine group (4.2% vs 9.4%, P=0.01) with no observed increase in the rate of bleeding (8.1% vs 6.0%, P=0.29). In addition, there were no significant differences in MACE occurrence in the EM, IM and PM groups (5.3%, 2.9%. 5.3% respectively, P=0.59) and no significant differences in the rate of bleeding between those groups. These findings suggest that genotyped guided stratification has the potential to significantly reduce the risk of MACE in clopidogrel treated patients, whilst also establishing that the efficacy of clopidogrel in EM patients is similar to the more potent ticagrelor in PM patients. Several other studies have also identified that genotype guided dosing is effective in reducing platelet reactivity, with one study demonstrating that using either clopidogrel or prasugrel on the basis of genotype achieved similar levels of platelet inhibition to universal usage of ticagrelor (Malhotra et al., 2015).

One critical consideration in utilising a genotype stratified approach is cost-effectiveness. A cost-effectiveness analysis by Wang et al (Wang et al., 2018e) established that genotype guided dosing of anti-platelets was cost-effective in comparison to either universal ticagrelor or universal clopidogrel usage. In addition, inclusion of prasugrel into a cost-effectiveness model did not alter the superior cost-effectiveness of a genotype guided approach (Jiang and You, 2017). However, an older cost-effectiveness analysis by Sorich et al (Sorich et al., 2013) identified that universal ticagrelor may be more effective than a genotype guided approach albeit at a higher cost that was likely to be within acceptable limits for funding. However, Sorich's analysis reported only a small difference in the cost of clopidogrel treatment compared to ticagrelor treatment, which is not in keeping with price differential used in

Wang's or Jiang's analyses or the current UK market price for both drugs. In addition, both Wang's and Jiang's cost-effectiveness analyses demonstrate that genotype guided dosing may be more cost-effective than platelet function test guided dosing. A cost-effectiveness analysis by Coleman et al (Coleman and Limone, 2013) demonstrated that the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) for platelet reactivity driven anti-platelet therapy compared with universal clopidogrel were between USD 40,100 and USD 49,143 per quality-adjusted life year (QALY), which compares to USD 2560/QALY and USD 10,153/QALY for genotype guided dosing in Wang et al's and Liang et al's cost-effectiveness analyses respectively.

There are several limitations to the current meta-analysis. Firstly, whilst a large number of studies have been published investigating the relationship between genetic polymorphisms, clopidogrel response and clinical outcome, only a small number could be combined in meta-analyses. This was also compounded by the decision to combine only studies that reported survival data, which resulted in only very small numbers in some meta-analyses which severely limits their generalisability. In addition, it was notable that several different definitions were utilised for studies reporting MACE as an outcome which resulted in high reported heterogeneity in all the MACE meta-analyses. Despite identifying several different definitions for MACE, separate meta-analyses could not be prepared for each definition given the low number of studies reporting each definition.

Secondly, this meta-analysis was performed only on published data. This limited the ability to correct for any heterogeneity observed in the individual meta-analyses and also prevents analysis of separate outcomes that were reported as composites within the published studies. Where possible, particular characteristics of studies that may affect outcome, such as the type of patients included in the study or the clopidogrel loading dose, have been identified and reported in each meta-analysis. Consequently, future meta-analyses should be conducted using individual patient data where possible. In addition, it was not possible to conduct meta-regression analysis to investigate the source of heterogeneity given the low number of studies included in most meta-analyses.

Thirdly, as is common to most meta-analyses, there is a risk of publication bias given that only published studies were included in the meta-analyses. To overcome this, an attempt was made to include published conference abstracts; however these could not be included since there was insufficient data available on outcomes or to adequately assess their quality.

Fourthly, as discussed in Chapter 2, the cut-off date for the data included in this metaanalysis was November 2015. Since then, a number of additional papers have been

published, of which around 70 report on clinical outcomes. However, following review of these studies, most have continued to report a positive association between carriage of the *CYP2C19* LOF alleles and adverse cardiovascular outcomes and, therefore, are unlikely to affect the conclusions of this meta-analysis. Moreover, most newly published studies have not reported survival data and therefore the numbers of includable papers in this meta-analysis is likely to be very low.

Finally, it should be noted that a dominant mode of inheritance was assumed for each metaanalysis, as this was the case for a significant proportion of the included studies. Statistical methods for genetic meta-analyses are available which estimate the mode of inheritance from the data, thus removing the need to make a specific assumption. However, since they rely on information from studies reporting on three genotype groups separately, they were not applied in this current meta-analysis as most included studies did not provide data for all genotype groups. Although power is not lost due to incorrect assumptions regarding the mode of inheritance, it is recommended that future studies report data for all three groups. However, the frequency of variant homozygotes is often low and therefore large studies will be required to ensure a sufficient number of mutant-type homozygotes.

In summary, the current meta-analyses suggest that carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* polymorphism increases the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes in patients treated with clopidogrel. These data suggest that utilising the *CYP2C19*2* polymorphism as a marker for stratification is possible, with existing published data demonstrating that this is likely to be a clinically and cost effective strategy. Further well designed and suitably powered stratification studies, investigating clinical outcomes and cost-effectiveness, are required to demonstrate clinical utility.
Chapter 4 – The influence of genetic polymorphisms in aspirin's pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic pathway on platelet reactivity in aspirin treated patients with acute coronary syndrome

4.1: Introduction

Aspirin remains one of the most widely used anti-platelet drugs worldwide, with indications ranging from treatment of acute coronary syndromes and ischaemic strokes through to secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease. It is an effective drug, with clear evidence of significant risk reduction in cardiovascular events across a range of patient populations and disease indications. In the pivotal Antithrombotic Triallists' Collaboration (ATC) (Antithrombotic Trialists, 2002) meta-analysis of 287 studies and 212,000 patients, aspirin treated patients demonstrated a consistent 25% reduction in serious vascular events compared to controls or placebo. This translates to an absolute risk reduction of a serious vascular event by 36 per 1000 treated for two years, which substantially out-weighs the increased risk of bleeding from aspirin use.

However, the response to aspirin can be variable across different patients and diseases whilst non-response to aspirin has been associated with an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes. In a study of 465 patients with stable coronary artery disease, the prevalence of aspirin non-response was 20% with an associated fourfold increase in risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes in the five year follow up period (OR 4.28; 95% Cl 1.64 to 11.20, P=0.03) (Chen and Chou, 2018b). However, a 900-patient study, again in stable cardiovascular disease, failed to demonstrate any significant prognostic effect of aspirin non-response over a three year follow up (Larsen et al., 2017). Nonetheless, a large meta-analysis from Krasopoulos et al, (Krasopoulos et al., 2008) including 20 studies and 2930 patients, demonstrated a fourfold increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events in patients deemed to have aspirin non-response compared to those with normal aspirin responsiveness (OR 3.85; 95% Cl 3.08 to 4.08, P < 0.001). These findings are in keeping with a meta-analysis from Snoep et al (Snoep et al., 2007a), which also demonstrated a similar increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events across 15 studies and 1800 patients.

The underlying causes of aspirin non-response remain unclear. Like other anti-platelet drugs, various clinical factors may affect aspirin response either directly or indirectly. However, several studies have suggested that the response to aspirin may be a heritable trait. In a

study (Faraday et al., 2007) of 1880 asymptomatic subjects from families with premature coronary artery disease, aspirin response was determined to be highly heritable based on a number of COX-1 and non-COX-1 dependent platelet function tests. Only 1-13% of variation in aspirin response could be explained by clinical factors, with age and gender being the most important identified variables. Heritable factors explained 27% to 77% of the observed variance in platelet function, with adjustment for the clinical variables having a minimal effect on the observed heritability. These findings suggest that genetic factors may have a critical role in determining aspirin response.

Aspirin's primary pharmacodynamic effect is the irreversible acetylation of COX-1 at serine-529, thereby reducing the conversion of arachidonic acid (AA) to thromboxane A2, a potent platelet activator and vasoconstrictor. However, platelet activation is a complex process, with several inter-relating pathways that involve multiple enzymes, mediators and platelet receptors. Consequently, studies investigating the role of genetic polymorphisms in determining aspirin responses have focussed on a number of different genes controlling different platelet receptors and enzymes.

Several studies have focussed on investigating the relationship between common *COX-1* polymorphisms and aspirin response. The most common *COX-1* polymorphism, C50T, has been demonstrated to be associated with aspirin non-response (Lepantalo et al., 2006), whereas several studies have failed to detect any association between the C50T polymorphism and aspirin response (Li et al., 2013b, Yi et al., 2013). Similar results have been observed for other *COX-1* variants, although it should be noted that COX-1 phenotype, and therefore aspirin response, may be better represented by a haplotype of five *COX-1* SNPs rather than the individual variants. In addition, other components of the arachidonic acid pathway demonstrate inconsistent associations with aspirin response as exemplified by SNPs in thromboxane synthase and the TXA2 receptor (Lordkipanidze et al., 2011, Postula et al., 2011, Wang et al., 2013).

Like clopidogrel, considerable focus has been placed on the relationship between aspirin response and platelet receptors or other platelet surface proteins. A number of studies have investigated common polymorphisms in the ADP receptor, *P2Y12*, and response to aspirin with largely negative results (Bernardo et al., 2006, Bierend et al., 2008, Isordia-Salas et al., 2012, Lev et al., 2007b, Ulehlova et al., 2014). Interestingly, some studies have demonstrated positive associations between *P2Y1* receptor polymorphisms (Li et al., 2007, Timur et al., 2012) and aspirin response, although a number of negative studies have also been published

(Lev et al., 2007b, Lordkipanidze et al., 2011, Wang et al., 2013). Similarly, the *GPIIIa* PIA1/A2 polymorphism has been demonstrated to potentially affect aspirin response, although this may be dependent on the type of platelet function test utilised for determining aspirin response. In a meta-analysis of 16 studies investigating the *GPIIIa* PIA1/A2 polymorphism, Floyd and colleagues demonstrated an association between the PIA2 variant and aspirin response, but only in studies that used the PFA-100 as the measure of platelet inhibition (Floyd and Ferro, 2014).

The impact of genetic polymorphisms on aspirin's pharmacokinetic pathway have not been robustly assessed. Aspirin is rapidly metabolised to salicylic acid in the portal circulation following oral administration. Further metabolism within the liver by glucuronidation and hydroxylation may be dependent on UGT1A6 and CYP2C9, respectively. Consequently, polymorphisms within those enzymes may significantly affect aspirin response. Studies in healthy volunteers demonstrated a significant effect of the *UGT1A6*2* polymorphisms, with faster generation of metabolites in *2 allele carriers compared to wild-type homozygotes (Chen et al., 2007, van Oijen et al., 2009). However, in patients, there appears to be little significant effect on platelet reactivity, as demonstrated by Postula and colleagues in a study of 287 diabetic patients (Postula et al., 2013).

Finally, the GeneSTAR study (Mathias et al., 2010) conducted a genome wide association study in over 2000 healthy volunteers following 14 days of aspirin treatment. Whilst a number of novel SNPs were identified at genome-wide significance level, some were only associated with certain platelet function tests and not others. However, in agreement with other genome-wide studies (Lewis et al., 2013), variants in platelet endothelial aggregation receptor-1 (*PEAR-1*) were identified as potential modifiers of aspirin response (Keramati et al., 2018). However, like other variants investigated for association with aspirin response, conflicting data exist with some studies demonstrating a clear association between *PEAR1* variants and outcome and others not (Lewis et al., 2013, Peng et al., 2016).

In summary, despite the high heritability of aspirin response, it remains unclear whether specific genetic variants are associated with aspirin response. To date, studies have mostly focussed on investigating single polymorphisms rather than utilising a comprehensive pathway analysis in order to identify other genes that may impact on aspirin's pharmacokinetic or pharmacodynamic response. Furthermore, findings in healthy volunteers may not necessarily reflect response in patients where concomitant disease acts as an important confounder. Additionally, the patient groups included in studies may not

represent the patient group most likely to suffer harm from poor response to aspirin, with most studies focusing primarily on patients with stable disease. As discussed previously, response to aspirin can be assessed using a variety of different assays, some of which test COX-1 specific pathways and others not, with consequent poor agreement and high variability between different assays.

In order to address this question, a study investigating the association between genetic variants, chosen on the basis of aspirin's PK and PD pathway, and platelet function was conducted in a cohort of patients with non-ST elevation acute coronary syndromes (NSTEACS).

4.2: Methods

4.2.1: Patient Cohort

Patients included in this study were recruited from the prospective 'Pharmacogenetics of Acute Coronary Syndrome' (PhACS) study. This was a prospective study which recruited 1470 patients with an index admission diagnosis of NSTEACS, across multiple UK hospital sites.

Patients were included in the study if they were in hospital with a primary diagnosis of an acute coronary syndrome. ACS was defined as either a positive troponin or ECG changes with a history consistent with an ACS. ECG changes were further defined as ST-segment depression, transient ST-segment elevation, T-wave inversion or ST-segment elevation. Specific exclusion criteria included ST elevation MI, diagnosis or other pathology likely to account for symptoms or troponin rise and being unwilling or unable to consent.

Subjects were followed up for a minimum of 12 months from recruitment, with physical visits at month 1 (visit 2) and month 12 (visit 3) to collect laboratory samples and clinical data. Data were collected on recurrent cardiovascular events, changes to medications, changes to diagnoses and occurrence of PCI or CABG. Patient defined outcomes, such as medication adherence and functional status were also assessed. After visit 3, subjects were contacted every 12 months and a case-note review was undertaken to collect data on cardiovascular events, changes to medications, changes to diagnoses and interventions such as PCI and CABG. Follow up continued annually until the final patient recruited had completed 12 months of follow up.

Blood and urine samples were taken at each physical visit (baseline, visit 1 and visit 2). A sample for genotyping was taken at the baseline visit only. Two samples for platelet function (4mL hirudin and 3.6mL citrate), 1 sample for RNA (9mL), 1 serum sample (9mL) and 1 urine sample (plain tube) was taken at all visits. Platelet function was assessed using the PFA-100 and Multiplate analysers. Assessment of platelet function was only performed at three sites (Royal Liverpool University Hospital (PFA-100 and Multiplate), Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital (PFA-100 and Multiplate) and Blackpool Victoria Hospital (Multiplate only)).

The primary outcome measure for the PhACS study was a composite outcome of cardiovascular mortality, non-fatal myocardial infarction and non-fatal stroke. Secondary outcome measures were all cause mortality, bleeding and development of left ventricular failure. Outcome measures used in the PhACS study were defined by outcome measures utilised in other cardiovascular outcome trials (cardiovascular mortality defined by the PLATO trial criteria (Wallentin et al., 2009), non-fatal MI defined by the TRITON-TIMI 38 trial criteria (Wiviott et al., 2007), non-fatal stroke and bleeding defined by the HORIZONS-AMI study (Mehran et al., 2008). All outcome measures were adjudicated by a panel of cardiologists.

The study received ethical approval from the Liverpool Adult Research Ethics Committee and was conducted in compliance with Good Clinical Practice and the Declaration of Helsinki. Site Specific Approval was obtained for all participating hospital sites.

4.2.2: Patient Selection

Patients were selected for this study from the main PhACS cohort. Participants were included if they had data on platelet function at month 1 and had sufficient quantity and quality of DNA to ensure successful genotyping.

4.2.3: Outcome measures

The outcome measure for this study was platelet function. Platelet function was assessed by either the PFA-100 or Multiplate platforms.

4.2.4: Platelet Function Testing

PFA-100

Blood was collected in a 3mL citrate tube and analysed using the PFA-100 platform (Dade-Behring International, Miami, Florida) in compliance with the manufacturer's instruction. All samples were tested within two hours of the specimen collection. Briefly, the PFA-100 assesses platelet function under high shear conditions utilising a 150-micrometre aperture coated with collagen and epinephrine (CEPI). Whole, citrated, blood is injected through the aperture at a constant flow rate, and the time taken for the aperture to close is measured, with results presented as closure times in seconds. Samples were processed locally at the recruitment site by research nurses. A cut-off value of <193 seconds was used as the definition of aspirin non-response in this study, in line with the manufacturer's instructions and published data (Reny et al., 2008). PFA-100 data are presented as categorical data (responder or non-responder).

<u>Multiplate</u>

Blood was collected in a 3mL hirudin tube (Verum Diagnostica GmbH, Munich, Germany) and analysed using the Multiplate platform (Verum Diagnostica GmbH, Munich, Germany) in compliance with the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the Multiplate platform assesses platelet reactivity using the principal of impedance aggregometry where activated platelets adhere to electrodes, increasing the overall resistance measured across a circuit. Whole blood (300 microL) was pipetted into test chambers followed by the addition of 300 microL of 0.9% saline. These samples were allowed to incubate for 3 minutes with stirring provided by magnetic stirrers. After three minutes, arachidonic acid was added (to a final concentration of 0.5mM). Platelet aggregation was determined over six minutes with final values reported as aggregation units (AU) per minute. Samples were processed locally at the recruitment site by research nurses. Multiplate data are presented as continuous data in order to represent overall platelet reactivity.

4.2.5: Selection of genetic polymorphisms

Genes and polymorphisms were selected following review of the Platelet Aggregation Inhibitor Pathway, Pharmacodynamics from the PharmGKB website (<u>www.pharmgkb.org/pathway/PA154444041/overview</u>). In addition, a literature review on aspirin's pharmacokinetic pathway was also undertaken to identify additional genes and polymorphisms. Following identification, genes and polymorphisms were selected for genotyping if the minor allele frequency was greater than 0.05 and the SNP had been identified to be functional or non-synonymous.

A total of 16 polymorphisms in ten genes were chosen for genotyping on the basis of these criteria. They included genes involved in aspirin's pharmacokinetic pathway (*UGT1A6*, *CYP2C9*, *CES2*) and pharmacodynamic pathway (*PTGS-1* (*COX-1*), *TBXA2R*, *PTGDR*, *PTGER3*,

PTGER4, *PTGFR*, *TBXAS1* and *TBXA2R*). A summary of the included genes and polymorphisms is provided in **Table 4.1**.

4.2.6: Genotyping

DNA extraction was performed using the Chemagic Magnetic Module 1 system in compliance with the manufacturer's instructions and standard procedures.

Genotyping for the included SNPs was performed using commercially available TaqMan realtime PCR genotyping assays following addition of 1x Genotyping Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, Carslbad, USA). A total of 20ng of genomic DNA per reaction was genotyped using an ABI7900HT real-time PCR system (Applied Biosystems, Carlsbad, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions and standard procedure. Genotyping was performed in duplicate for ten percent of samples to ensure quality control of the genotyping process. Genotyping was conducted in the Wolfson Centre for Personalised Medicine by Dr Dan Carr and myself.

4.2.7: Statistical analysis

Data were presented as mean and standard deviation for continuous variables, and frequencies or percentages for categorical variables. For continuous variables, data were compared using ANOVA with categorical data being compared using the Chi-squared test. Correction for multiple testing was performed using the Bonferroni method. A P value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS version 24 (SPSS, Chicago, USA).

4.3: Results

4.3.1: Patient Characteristics

A total of 263 patients were included in this analysis from the PhACS study, all of whom had platelet function data at the month 1 visit (visit 2) and sufficient DNA for genotyping. PFA-100 platelet function data were available in 179 patients and Multiplate platelet function data were available in 108 patients. A summary of patient demographics, clinical risk factors and medications is provided in **Table 4.2**. Notably, statistically significant differences were present between the PFA-100 and Multiplate patient groups, with Multiplate group patients having lower rates of chronic kidney disease, diabetes and previous MI compared to the PFA-100 group. Platelet function summary data are presented in **Table 4.3**.

Gene	Rs#	AmA Change	MAF	Allele	Successful?
СҮР2С9	rs1799853	p.R144C	0.089	*2	Yes
СҮР2С9	rs1057910	p.1359L	0.061	*3	Yes
UGT1A6	rs6759892	p.S7A	0.381	*2,*3,*4	Yes
UGT1A6	rs1105879	p.R184S	0.308	*2,*4	Yes
UGT1A6	rs2070959	p.T181A	0.271	*2,*5	Yes
PEAR1	rs12041331	NA	0.08		Yes
COX-1	rs10306114	c842A>G	0.153		Yes
TBXA2R	rs4523	p.X308Y	0.5		Yes
CES2	rs62057932	p.H6R	0.5		No
COX-1	rs3842787	c.50C>T/p.L17P	0.104		No
PTGDR	rs41311442	p.C17R	0.07		No
PTGER1	rs7249305	p.R256H	0.093		No
PTGER2	rs77558975	p.P226H	0.054		No
PTGER4	rs77448213	p.P211L	0.198		No
PTGFR	rs1123153	р.Х7К	0.196		No
TBXA2R	rs5749	p.T160A	0.095		No
TBXAS1	rs13306050	p.L512P	0.069		No

Table 4.1 – Genes and polymorphisms included in this analysis

		All	PFA	Multiplate	P-	
		Patients	Patients	Patients	Value*	
	Ν	263	179	108		
Malos	N	184	126	76	<u>>0 00</u>	
iviales	%	69.96	70.39	70.37	20.99	
	Mean	64.01	65.01	62.31		
	SD	12.55	12.96	11.68		
٨٣٥	Median	64.08	64.94	62.89	0.19	
Age	Q1	54.21	54.55	53.80	0.10	
	Q3	72.99	74.66	70.36		
	IQR	18.79	20.11	16.56		
	Mean	28.86	28.66	29.33		
	SD	6.03	6.06	5.94		
DA4	Median	28.11	27.73	28.40	0.27	
BIVII	Q1	24.62	24.57	25.46	0.27	
	Q3	32.20	31.60	32.89		
	IQR	7.58	7.03	7.43		
	N	158	107	64	0.02	
Hypertension	%	60.08	59.78	59.26	0.93	
the second second	N	137	100	53	0.26	
нурегиріа	%	52.09	55.87	49.07	0.20	
Peripheral	N	19	16	5		
arterial disease	%	6 7.22		4.63	0.17	
Chronic Kidney	N	23	21	2	.0.01	
Disease	%	8.75	11.73	1.85	<0.01	
B 1 1	N	56	43	15		
Diabetes	%	21.29	24.02	13.89	0.04	
	N	83	63	22		
Prior MI	%	31.56	35.20	20.37	0.01	
	N	33	21	13		
Prior PCI	%	12.55	11.73	12.04	0.94	
	N	27	17	10	0.05	
Prior CABG	%	10.27	9.50	9.26	0.95	
Current	N	64	38	30	0.21	
Smoker	%	24.33	21.23	27.78	0.21	
Previous	Ν	110	83	34	0.01	
Smoker	%	41.83	46.37	31.48	0.01	
Non Smaller	N	84	57	40	0.27	
Non Smoker	%	31.94	31.84	37.04	0.37	
A	N	263	179	108	× 0.00	
Aspirin	%	100.00	100.00	100.00	>0.99	
Clopidogrel	Ν	231	158	94	0.76	

	%	87.83	88.27	87.04	
Marfaria	N	9	7	5	0.77
wariarin	%	3.42	3.91	4.63	0.77
	Ν	9	8	3	0.47
	%	3.42	4.47	2.78	0.47
Poto Plackar	N	222	148	93	0.44
Deta-DIOCKEI	%	84.41	82.68	86.11	0.44
CCP	Ν	46	40	13	0.02
ССВ	%	17.49	22.35	12.04	0.05
Nitrata	Ν	147	88	69	0.02
Millale	%	55.89	49.16	63.89	0.02
Statin	Ν	247	167	103	0.47
Statin	%	93.92	93.30	95.37	0.47
	N	196	133	77	0 5 9
ACE-I	%	74.52	74.30	71.30	0.56
ADD	N	20	12	12	0.10
AKD	%	7.60	6.70	11.11	0.19
DDI	N	95	62	39	0.90
PPI	%	36.12	34.64	36.11	0.80

 Table 4.2 – Demographics of included patients (*P-value relates to the comparison between the PFA-100 tested patients and the Multiplate tested patients)

PFA Closure Time	N	%
>193s	103	57.54
<193s	76	42.46
Multiplate ASPI	Mean	SD
Test AUC	25.13	21.43

Table 4.3 – Summary of platelet function test data

4.3.2: Genotyping

Due to technical reasons, a number of polymorphisms could not be reliably genotyped either due to low call rates, unreliable assays or undetectable variant alleles. These included polymorphisms in *CES2*, *PTGER2*, *PTGER4*, *PTGFR*, *PTGER1*, *PTGDR* and *TBXAS1*. Consequently, data are presented only for 8 SNPs in five genes (CYP2C9, UGT1A6, PEAR1, TBXA2R and COX-1).

4.3.3: Allele and genotype frequencies

Allelic and genotype frequencies are reported in the individual gene and outcome tables (**Tables 4.4 and 4.5**). One polymorphism (*UGT1A6* rs2070959 T181A) was noted to deviate from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (P<0.01) which is likely to be related to the lower call-rate for this SNP. No other polymorphism deviated from HWE (P>0.05).

4.3.4: CYP2C9*2 and aspirin related platelet inhibition

No significant association was detected between PFA-100 defined aspirin non-responders and *CYP2C9*2* genotype using an additive model. Using the < 193s cut-off for aspirin non-response, 74 patients were determined to be a non-responder and the frequency of the *2 variant allele was not significantly different in responders compared to non-responders (13% vs 14% respectively, uncorrected P=0.737, corrected P >0.999) (**Table 4.4**).

In addition, no significant association was observed between Multiplate defined platelet reactivity and *CYP2C9*2* genotype. Mean ASPI test AUC was reported as 24.7 +/- 23.2 AU*min in *1/*1 genotypes, 16.4 +/-8.0 AU*min in *1*2 genotypes and 19.8 +/-9.2 AU*min in *2*2 genotypes (uncorrected P=0.181, corrected P>0.999) (**Table 4.5**).

4.3.5: CYP2C9*3 and aspirin related platelet inhibition

No significant association was detected between *CYP2C9*3* genotype and aspirin nonresponse as defined by PFA-100. For the 193s cut-off value, there was no significant differences in carriage of the variant *3 allele between responders (N=103) and nonresponders (N=74) (7% vs 10% respectively, uncorrected P=0.342, corrected P>0.999) (**Table 4.4**).

For Multiplate defined platelet inhibition, there was no significant difference in AU*min values in *CYP2C9* *1*1 genotypes in comparison to the *1*3 genotypes (22.0 +/- 20.8 AU*min vs 25.7 +/- 13.5 AU*min respectively, uncorrected P=0.561, corrected P>0.999) (**Table 4.5**).

4.3.6: PEAR1 rs12041331 and aspirin related platelet inhibition

No significant association was detected between the allelic or genotype frequencies and PFA-100 defined aspirin response. For the 193s cut-off values, 73 patients were categorised as non-responders with no difference in the variant A allelic frequencies between the responders and non-responders observed (8% vs 10%, uncorrected P=0.414, corrected P>0.999) (**Table 4.4**).

In keeping with the PFA-100 data, no significant association was noted between the Multiplate ASPI test values and *PEAR1* rs12041331 genotype (uncorrected P=0.728, corrected P>0.999) (**Table 4.5**).

4.3.7: COX-1 rs10306114 (-824A>G) and aspirin related platelet inhibition

For PFA-100 defined aspirin response, no significant association was observed between genotype and allelic frequencies in responders compared to non-responders. For the 193s cut-off value, the frequency of the variant G allele was 8% in responders and 6% in non-responders (uncorrected P=0.541, corrected P>0.999) (**Table 4.4**).

No significant associations were detected between Multiplate ASPItest values and *COX-1* rs10306114 genotype, although it should be noted that only 1 patient carried the GG genotype in this group. Multiplate values were similar across all three genotype groups, with no significant association detected (uncorrected P=0.111, corrected P=0.888) (**Table 4.5**).

4.3.8: TBXA2R rs4523 (X308Y) and aspirin related platelet inhibition

A potential association between both genotype and allelic frequency was observed for this polymorphism, although statistical significance was lost following correction for multiple testing. A higher frequency of the variant T allele was observed in non-responders compared to responders, using the PFA-100 <193s cut-off value (47% vs 31%, uncorrected P=0.008, corrected P=0.064). CT and TT genotypes were also more frequent in non-responders when compared to responders (70% vs 51% of patients, uncorrected P=0.039, corrected P=0.312) (Table 4.4).

However, no significant association was observed between *TBXA2R* rs4523 genotype and Multiplate ASPI test values, with similar results observed across all genotype groups (uncorrected P=0.458, corrected P>0.999) (**Table 4.5**).

4.3.9: UGT1A6 rs6759892 (S7A) and aspirin related platelet inhibition

No clear association was detected between carriage of the variant G allele of the rs6759892 SNP and PFA-100 defined aspirin response, although both the variant genotype and allelic frequencies were higher in responders compared to non-responders. The GT and GG genotype frequency was not significantly different between the responders and non-responders (77% vs 57%, uncorrected P=0.137 and corrected P>0.999 across all three genotype groups). Similarly, no significant difference was observed for the allelic frequencies between responders and non-responders (47% vs 37%, uncorrected P=0.059, corrected P=0.472) (Table 4.4).

No significant association was detected between *UGT1A6* rs6759892 genotype and Multiplate ASPItest values, with similar results noted across all three genotype groups (**Table 4.5**).

4.3.10: UGT1A6 rs2070959 (T181A) and aspirin related platelet inhibition

There was no clear association between PFA-100 defined aspirin response and *UGT1A6* rs2070959 genotype. For the 193s cut-off value, the carriage of the variant AG and GG genotypes was not significantly different in responders and non-responders (33% vs 19%, uncorrected P=0.155 and corrected P>0.999 across all three genotype groups). In addition, no significant difference in allelic frequency was observed between responders and non-responders (22% vs 13%, uncorrected P=0.064, corrected P=0.512) (**Table 4.4**).

For Multiplate, an initially significant association was detected between *UGT1A6* rs2070959 genotype and ASPItest AUC values but this became non-significant following correction for multiple testing. Platelet reactivity appeared to be significantly higher in variant homozygotes at 42.0+/-39.2 AU*min compared to 21.0 +/- 16.1 AU*min in wild type homozygotes (uncorrected P=0.03 and corrected P=0.24 across all three genotype groups) (**Table 4.5**).

However, it should also be noted that this SNP appeared to deviate from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (P <0.01) which may be related to the lower number of patients that were successfully genotyped for this SNP compared to the other SNPs including in this analysis.

4.3.11: UGT1A6 rs1105879 (R184S) and aspirin related platelet inhibition

No significant association was detected between the rs1105879 polymorphism and PFA-100 determined aspirin response. No significant differences were noted in allelic or genotype frequencies between responders and non-responders for the 193s cut-off (**Table 4.4**).

Similarly, no clear association was detected between Multiplate ASPItest determined platelet reactivity and genotype. Platelet reactivity was numerically higher in variant CC genotypes (35.9 +/-36.9) compared to wild-type AA genotypes (22.7 +/- 18.5) but this was not statistically significant (uncorrected P=0.063, corrected P=0.504) (**Table 4.5**).

				Genotype frequency					Allelic f			elic fre	eque	ncy			
				A1/A1 A1/A2		L/A2	A2/A2				A1		A2				
Gene/SNP	Alleles (A1/A2)	PFA-100 CT (s)	Total	n	%	n	%	n	%	P-value (Uncorr)	P- value (Corr)	n	%	n	%	P-value (Uncorr)	P- value (Corr)
CVD2C0*2 *4 /*2	<193	74	56	75.7	17	23.0	1	1.4	0 207	>0.000	129	87.2	19	12.8	0 727	>0.000	
		>193	103	79	76.7	19	18.4	5	4.9	0.397	>0.999	177	85.9	29	14.1	0.757	20.999
<i>CYP2C9*3</i> *1/*3	*1 /*2	<193	74	60	81.1	13	17.6	1	1.4	0.42	> 0.000	133	89.9	15	10.1	0.242	> 0 000
	>193	103	88	85.4	15	14.6	0	0.0	0.42	>0.999	191	92.7	15	7.3	0.342	>0.999	
UGT1A6 S7A	TIC	<193	73	31	42.5	30	41.1	12	16.4	0.137 >0.9	> 0 000	92	63.0	54	37.0	0.050	0 472
(rs6759892)	1/6	>193	103	29	28.2	51	49.5	23	22.3		>0.999	109	52.9	97	97 47.1	0.059	0.472
UGT1A6		<193	67	54	80.6	8	11.9	5	7.5		>0.999	116	86.6	18	13.4	0.064 0	0 5 1 2
(rs2070959)	A/G	>193	88	59	67.0	20	22.7	9	10.2	0.155		138	78.4	38	21.6		0.512
UGT1A6	A/C	<193	74	35	47.3	33	44.6	6	8.1	0 277	> 0.000	103	69.6	45	30.4	0 1 7 2	> 0 000
(rs1105879)	A/C	>193	103	39	37.9	51	49.5	13	12.6	0.377	>0.999	129	62.6	77	37.4	0.173	>0.999
PEAR1	c/1	<193	73	59	80.8	13	17.8	1	1.4	0.501		131	89.7	15	10.3	0.414	
rs12041331	G/A	>193	103	89	86.4	12	11.7	2	1.9	0.501	>0.999	190	92.2	16	7.8	0.414	>0.999
COX-1 - 842A>G A/ (rs10306114)	A/C	<193	74	65	87.8	9	12.2	0	0.0)	> 0.000	139	93.9	9	6.1	0.544	
	A/G	>193	103	88	85.4	14	13.6	1	1.0	0.005	>0.999	190	92.2	16	7.8	0.541	>0.999

TBXA2R	C/T	<193	59	18	30.5	27	45.8	14	23.7	0 020	0 212	63	53.4	55	46.6	0.009	0.064
(rs4523)	C/T	>193	88	43	48.9	35	39.8	10	11.4	0.039	0.512	121	68.8	55	31.3	0.008	0.004

 Table 4.4 – Summary of PFA-100 defined aspirin response and genotype (*Corrected P-values for multiple testing)

			Geno	type Freq	uency	Mean (SD) Multiplate AUC				
SNP	Alleles (A1/A2)	N	A1/A1	A1/A2	A2/A2	A1/A1	A1/A2	A2/A2	P- value	P- value*
CYP2C9*2	*1/*2	108	0.69	0.25	0.06	24.7±23.2	16.4±8.0	19.8±9.2	0.181	>0.999
CYP2C9*3	*1/*3	108	0.90	0.10	0.00	22.0±20.8	25.7±13.5	-	0.561	>0.999
<i>UGT1A6</i> S7A (rs6759892)	T/G	107	0.31	0.48	0.21	22.5±20.6	21.1±17.0	25.2±26.2	0.714	>0.999
<i>UGT1A6</i> T181A (rs2070959)	A/G	94	0.63	0.29	0.08	21.0±16.1	18.0±8.8	42.0±39.2	0.030	0.24
UGT1A6 R184S (rs1105879)	A/C	108	0.38	0.53	0.09	22.7±18.5	19.8±16.5	35.9±36.9	0.063	0.504
<i>PEAR1</i> rs12041331	G/A	107	0.84	0.11	0.05	22.0±20.3	26.8±23.3	20.8±8.0	0.728	>0.999
COX-1 - 842A>G (rs10306114)	A/G	107	0.83	0.16	0.01	20.7±14.5	31.8±37.9	18.0	0.111	0.888
<i>TBXA2R</i> X308Y (rs4523)	С/Т	101	0.45	0.40	0.15	26.7±27.7	18.6±9.4	18.7±13.2	0.139	>0.999

Table 4.5 – Summary of Multiplate ASPI test defined platelet reactivity and genotype (*Corrected P-values for multiple testing)

4.4: Discussion

In this analysis, a potential association was detected between two polymorphisms, one in aspirin's pharmacokinetic pathway (*UGT1A6*) and one in aspirin's pharmacodynamic pathway (*TBXA2R*).

TBXA2R codes for the thromboxane A2 receptor, which promotes platelet activation and subsequent platelet aggregation. Higher levels of thromboxane A2 are associated with more severe atherosclerotic disease, with cardiovascular risk factors such as diabetes, smoking and obesity also associated with higher thromboxane levels (Gleim et al., 2013). In our data, a possible association was demonstrated between carriage of the variant T allele of the rs4523 (C924T) polymorphism and aspirin non-response which is in keeping with other published data. In a case-control study of 210 patients undergoing off-pump CABG and 210 patients with stable coronary artery disease as a control, Wang et al (Wang et al., 2013) demonstrated a significant association between carriage of the variant T allele in the TBXA2R rs4523 polymorphism and high on-aspirin platelet reactivity (OR 4.5; 95% CI 1.8 to 11.1). In addition, the TXBA2R rs4523 polymorphism has been associated with Multiplate defined aspirin nonresponse. In a study of 55 patients undergoing carotid endarterectomy, Roullet et al (Roullet et al., 2018) identified a number of polymorphisms, including TXBA2R rs4523, which significantly increased platelet reactivity as determined by the Multiplate platform. Conversely, a recent study by De Iuliis et al (De Iuliis et al., 2018) demonstrated a strong association between carriage of the C allele of the TBXA2R rs4523 polymorphism and higher PFA-100 derived platelet aggregation, a finding at odds with the data in the current analysis and previous studies. Interestingly, this study also assessed whether the expression of TXBA2R was altered by rs4523 genotype, with C allele homozygotes expressing higher levels of the receptor compared to T allele homozygotes. Furthermore, T allele homozygotes appeared to express a less stable receptor which, in tandem with lower expression of the receptor in T allele homozygotes, led to lower platelet aggregation in patients with the TT genotype.

Several studies have also identified other variants in the *TXBA2R* genes that are associated with platelet function and, in some studies, an increased risk of adverse vascular outcomes. Postula et al demonstrated a significant association between *TXBA2R* rs1131882 genotype and PFA-100 defined aspirin non-response in a cohort of 295 diabetic patients treated with aspirin for primary prevention (Postula et al., 2011). Similarly Peng et al (Peng et al., 2016), in a study of 283 ischaemic stroke patients, detected a significant association between

TXBA2R rs1131882 genotype, serum thromboxane B2 levels and aspirin non-response. Importantly, *TXB2AR* polymorphisms may also increase the risk of significant vascular events. In a study of 407 patients who had a cerebral infarction and 270 controls, Zhao et al (Zhao et al., 2013) demonstrated a significant association between the *TXBA2R* rs768963 polymorphism and risk of CVA in a Chinese population. Notably, no association was observed for the rs4523 polymorphism, although the number of C allele carriers was very low in both the CVA and control group which is not in keeping with other studies. These data are in keeping with a mechanistic study by Yi and colleagues (Yi et al., 2017a) which demonstrated that the *TBXA2R* rs1131882 polymorphism is independently associated with the risk of carotid plaque instability, which may lead with to an increased risk of ischaemic stroke.

Clearly, our data did not withstand correction for multiple testing. Taken together with the contradictory data in the literature on the association between TBXAR2 polymorphisms and either platelet function tests or clinical events, it is not clear whether variation in this gene is important. However, there is biological plausibility for the importance of this gene. TBXA2R is expressed in several tissues, including platelets, leucocytes and atherosclerotic plaques and it is conceivable that TBXA2R polymorphisms may increase expression of the receptor or sensitivity of the receptor to TXA2 (Wang et al., 2013). As previously discussed, COX-2 expression is increased in atherosclerotic plaques and is less sensitive to aspirininduced inhibition than COX-1. Conceivably, increased TBXA2R expression or sensitivity could increase platelet reactivity to non-COX-1 generated TXA2 in aspirin treated patients, with a consequent increase in platelet reactivity independent of aspirin's inhibition of COX-1. Furthermore, given the widespread expression of TBXA2R in atherosclerotic plaques, increased expression or sensitivity of TBXA2R may significantly affect the pathogenesis and development of atherosclerosis and vascular disease (Zhao et al., 2013) with a consequent increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes. Therefore, further studies in larger patient cohorts may be warranted.

Our analysis also demonstrates a potential association between polymorphisms in the *UGT1A6* gene and aspirin response, although this was not significant following correction for multiple testing. As discussed previously, aspirin is metabolised rapidly into salicylic acid which then undergoes either hydroxylation or glucuronidation in the liver. Multiple UDP-glucuronyltransferase (UGT) enzymes are involved in the metabolism of salicylic acid (Kuehl et al., 2006) although several studies have identified *UGT1A6* SNPs as being primarily involved in determination of aspirin effect (van Oijen et al., 2009). In a study by Chen et al (Chen et al., 2007), conducted in 28 healthy volunteers (19 *UGT1A6*1* homozygotes and nine

UGT1A6*2 homozygotes), urinary excretion of aspirin and its metabolites were significantly lower in volunteers homozygous for the *1 allele compared to the *2 allele homozygotes. In addition, the *1 homozygotes excreted aspirin and its associated metabolites over a longer period than the *2 homozygotes, with a greater percentage excretion 12 hours post aspirin dose compared to the first 12 hours. These data suggest that UGT1A6*2 allele carriers and homozygotes have more rapid glucuronidation of salicylic acid than *1 homozygotes, which could potentially lead to lower aspirin-induced platelet inhibition. Similarly, in a study of nine female healthy volunteers (five UGT1A6*1 homozygotes and four UGT1A6*2 homozygotes), Van Oijen et al (van Oijen et al., 2009) demonstrated a significantly lower plasma level of salicylic acid in UGT1A6*2 homozygotes compared with UGT1A6*1 homozygotes. Furthermore, overall exposure to salicylic acid was also significantly lower in UGT1A6*2 homozygotes. However, in a large study of 264 men and 264 women, Navarro and colleagues failed to detect any significant effect of UGT1A6 genotype on urinary excretion of aspirin or its associated metabolites, although significant effects of gender and ethnicity were observed (Navarro et al., 2011). These data are in keeping with a study in 284 diabetic patients treated with aspirin (Postula et al., 2013), where no association was detected between three UGT1A6 polymorphisms (rs17863783, rs1105880, rs2070959) and aspirin non-response as determined by PFA-100, VerifyNow, serum TXB2 and 11dhTXB2. Similarly, in a study of 165 patients with stable cardiovascular disease, Jalil et al (Jalil et al., 2015) demonstrated no significant association between carriage of the UGT1A6*2 and UGT1A6*3 and the risk of developing aspirin induced gastritis.

Whilst *UGT1A6* polymorphisms may significantly affect the pharmacokinetics of aspirin and its associated metabolites, data from large patient studies suggest that these polymorphisms do not significantly alter aspirin's pharmacodynamic effect. Given that UGT1A6 is involved only in salicylic acid metabolism, it is unlikely that *UGT1A6* polymorphisms would significantly impact on aspirin's pharmacodynamic or clinical effect. Aspirin's anti-platelet effect is exerted only prior to its rapid deacetylation to salicylic acid, which is not dependent on UGT1A6. In the current analysis, a potential association was only observed for one *UGT1A6* polymorphism (rs2070959) and one platelet function test. As discussed earlier, this polymorphism was not in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium and the genotype call-rate was 20% lower than all other SNPs included in the analysis. Consequently, this is unlikely to represent a true effect of the polymorphism on platelet reactivity.

This analysis also failed to detect an association between the *CYP2C9*2* and **3* polymorphisms and aspirin response. These findings are in keeping with data from Postula's

study (Postula et al., 2013) where no association was observed between carriage of the *CYP2C9*2* and **3* polymorphisms and platelet reactivity as measured by four different assays. However, in Jalil's study of 165 patients with stable cardiovascular disease, carriage of the *CYP2C9*3* allele was significantly associated with the risk of aspirin induced gastritis (OR 6.8; 95% CI 1.39 – 33.19, P=0.033) (Jalil et al., 2015). Like UGT1A6, CYP2C9 is involved in aspirin metabolism only after conversion of aspirin to the inactive salicylic acid; consequently, it is unlikely that *CYP2C9* polymorphisms would directly affect the anti-platelet activity of aspirin.

The current analysis also failed to detect any associations between a number of other polymorphisms and aspirin response. Polymorphisms in the COX-1 gene have been suggested as potentially important in determining aspirin effect, given that COX-1 is the pharmacodynamic target for aspirin. However, data on this relationship have been conflicting, with some studies detecting a significant association between COX-1 polymorphisms and aspirin response whilst other studies have not. In a study of 38 healthy volunteers, Halushka et al (Halushka et al., 2003) detected a significant association between the A-824G/C50T haplotype and formation of PGH2, the precursor molecule for TXA2. Heterozygotes demonstrated a significantly greater inhibition of PGH2 production to aspirin as compared to wild type homozygotes. Importantly, this study also demonstrated that the A-824G and C50T polymorphisms were in complete linkage disequilibrium, with the variant G allele of the A-824G polymorphism creating a potential AP2 transcription factor binding site which may lower COX-1 expression. Similarly, in a study recruiting patients with coronary artery disease, the haplotype of five polymorphisms in the COX-1 gene (A-824G, C22T, G128A, C644A and C714A) was significantly associated with arachidonic acid induced platelet aggregation and serum TXB2 levels (Maree et al., 2005). Furthermore, Ulehlova and colleagues (Ulehlova et al., 2014) demonstrated a significant association between the COX-1 A-824G polymorphism and aspirin induced platelet inhibition in a cohort of 124 patients recruited after an acute MI. In this study, G allele carriers were significantly more likely to be identified as aspirin resistant by LTA or Multiplate (P=0.003) than wild-type A allele carriers. However, other studies have not detected a clear effect from COX-1 polymorphisms on aspirin response and clinical outcome. In a large study of 859 stroke patients, Cao et al (Cao et al., 2014) did not demonstrate any significant association between the A-824G polymorphism and the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes, although a modest increase in risk was observed for one polymorphism, G1676A (HR 1.92; 95% CI 1.15 to 3.33, P=0.013). In addition, several other studies have demonstrated putative associations between other

COX-1 alleles and clinical outcome (Lee et al., 2008, Yi et al., 2017b) whilst other studies have not (Hillarp et al., 2003, Lordkipanidze et al., 2011). Given these discordant data, it is likely that the effect of individual *COX-1* polymorphisms are small, which limits their utility for predicting aspirin response or clinical outcome. Importantly, individual *COX-1* polymorphisms exist as part of larger haplotypes and investigating those haplotypes against clinical or pharmacodynamic outcomes is likely to better reflect the effect of *COX-1* genotype on aspirin response.

The current analysis failed to detect an association between *PEAR1* genotype and aspirin induced platelet inhibition, although several studies have demonstrated associations between PEAR1 genotype and aspirin response. In a study of 1486 healthy participants from at-risk families for cardiovascular disease, Herrera-Galeano et al (Herrera-Galeano et al., 2008) identified a number of polymorphisms in the PEAR1 gene, with one SNP (rs2768759) being significantly associated with aspirin related platelet inhibition. Similarly, in a cohort of 965 patients with stable coronary artery disease, Wurtz and colleagues demonstrated a strong association between the PEAR1 rs12041331 polymorphism and aspirin response determined by Multiplate. However, Peng et al failed to demonstrate any significant association between the rs12041331 polymorphism and platelet aggregation in 288 aspirin treated stroke patients. Nonetheless, a genome-wide association study from the Pharmacogenomics of Anti-Platelet Intervention (PAPI) cohort identified a strong association between anti-platelet response and the PEAR1 rs1204133 polymorphism (Lewis et al., 2013), which was then replicated in 1227 patients with cardiovascular disease. In the patient studies, the rs12041331 polymorphism was significantly associated with clinical outcomes, with A allele carriers demonstrating a higher risk of adverse cardiovascular events compared to GG homozygotes. These findings are in keeping with other recent studies assessing platelet reactivity or clinical outcomes, which demonstrate a clear association between PEAR1 genotype and higher platelet reactivity or adverse clinical outcomes (Backman et al., 2017, Yao et al., 2018). Furthermore, deep sequencing of the PEAR1 locus in 1709 participants of the GeneSTAR genome-wide association study has also demonstrated a significant association between the PEAR1 rs12041331 polymorphism and aspirin related platelet inhibition (Keramati et al., 2018). Taken together, these data suggest that PEAR1 polymorphisms may be important modifiers of aspirin response, although the underlying mechanism of how the polymorphisms affect aspirin response remains unclear. Whilst a number of studies have demonstrated an association between PEAR1 polymorphisms and platelet reactivity in patients on aspirin, the relationship with COX-1 sensitive assays, such as

serum thromboxane B2 or urinary 11dhTXB2, has been less clear. This suggests that the effect of the *PEAR1* polymorphism on platelet aggregation is unlikely to be COX-1 or aspirin specific. Moreover, *PEAR1* polymorphisms have also been associated with response to other anti-platelet drugs, such as clopidogrel, which is in keeping with recent data suggesting that PEAR1 has pluripotent effects on platelet aggregation via multiple pathways including GPIIb/IIIa activation and PI3K/Akt signalling (Backman et al., 2017, Keramati et al., 2018).

A recent-meta-analysis of 53 studies assessing the relationship between aspirin response and genetic polymorphisms (Yang et al., 2018a) by Yang and colleagues identified six genetic polymorphisms that may be associated with aspirin response. These included SNPs in *GPIb* (-5T/C), *GPIa* (807C/T), *COX-1* (-1676A/G), *COX-2* (-1195A/G) and *TBXA2R* (924T/C), with some SNPs being associated with platelet outcome only in a specific ethnicity or disease group. Notably, this meta-analysis failed to detect significant associations between a number of other SNPs in different genes and aspirin response, including platelet receptors and other surface glycoproteins. These data are in keeping with another meta-analysis of studies investigating polymorphisms in *COX-1*, *COX-2*, *GPIa* and *GPIb* (Weng et al., 2013), which demonstrated a strong association between the *GPIa* 807C/T and *COX-2* 765G/C polymorphisms and aspirin response. Similarly, other meta-analyses have also failed to detect associations between aspirin response and other polymorphisms, such as *GPIIIa* PIA1/A2 (Floyd and Ferro, 2014) or *COX-1*, *P2Y1* and *P2Y12* (Goodman et al., 2008).

Whilst a number of genetic variants have been associated with poor aspirin response, it remains unclear how patients demonstrated to be poorly responsive to aspirin should be treated. In a sub-analysis of the ASPECT study (Gurbel et al., 2007), Gurbel et al could not demonstrate a clear dose-response relationship at three different aspirin doses (81, 162 and 325mg) in COX-1 specific platelet function tests, although higher doses did reduce resistance and platelet reactivity when non-COX-1 dependent platelet function tests were used. Furthermore, a sub-study of the CHARISMA study failed to demonstrate any clinical benefit of aspirin doses greater than 100mg daily (Steinhubl et al., 2009). However, recent data have suggested that increasing aspirin dose in aspirin poor responders may improve aspirin sensitivity and potentially clinical outcomes. Mrdovic et al (Mrdovic et al., 2016) treated aspirin non-responders (N=190) with 300mg aspirin daily for 30 days, whilst aspirin sensitive patients remained on low dose aspirin (N=771). After 30 days, the clinical outcomes of MACE and bleeding were not significantly different between the two groups, suggesting that aspirin 300mg in poor responders was as effective as low dose aspirin in aspirin sensitive patients. Similarly, Gengo et al., 2016) demonstrated that increasing the dose of aspirin

beyond 81mg daily in non-responders substantially improved platelet inhibition. Out of 100 patients deemed non-responders, 79 patients became aspirin sensitive following doses of 162mg or 325mg, although no clinical outcome or adverse event data were available for this study. Interestingly, a further study by Paikin et al (Paikin et al., 2015) demonstrated that a four-time daily dose of 81mg aspirin may be more effective than a single 325mg dose of aspirin in reducing platelet reactivity in aspirin non-responders.

Despite these positive data on higher doses of aspirin to reduce platelet reactivity in aspirin non-responders, there are no high quality, randomised, clinical trial data to support this in clinical practice. In addition, treatment of other causes of poor aspirin response, such as diabetes, interacting medication and poor adherence, should be considered first-line measures.

There are a number of limitations to the current analysis. Firstly, whilst patients were recruited from a prospective cohort of NSTEACS patients, patients were selected for this analysis on the basis of available platelet function test data and it has not been possible to control for other factors that may significantly affect platelet function such as diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and high body mass index. However, the incidence of these conditions in the current analysis is broadly similar to other pharmacogenetic studies investigating aspirin non-response. In addition, a statistically significant difference was observed in a number of co-morbidities between the PFA-100 and Multiplate groups, which is likely to represent a location effect. Most patients with Multiplate data were recruited from tertiary cardiothoracic units (Blackpool Victoria Hospital and Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital) whereas the PFA-100 data were from patients mostly admitted to the Royal Liverpool University Hospital, with a more general and less-specialised cardiology unit.

Secondly, the number of patients included in the current analysis is relatively low. As described in the methods section, platelet function was assessed at only three of the sixteen UK hospital sites that recruited patients into the PhACS study. Furthermore, this analysis is from an interim analysis undertaken after approximately 900 of the 1470 patients had been enrolled. Consequently, this has limited the power of this analysis to detect associations between genotype and phenotype, particularly after correction for multiple testing.

Thirdly, this analysis was undertaken using a candidate gene approach based on an assessment of aspirin's pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic pathway. Consequently, polymorphisms in other potential candidate genes (such as platelet glycoproteins and receptors) were not assessed. However, several meta-analyses have failed to identify

polymorphisms in platelet receptors and platelet glycoproteins as significant modifiers of aspirin response; consequently, it is unlikely that any significant effect would have been observed had those polymorphisms been included in this analysis.

Fourthly, a number of SNPs chosen for this analysis could not be included due to difficulties encountered during genotyping (low call rate, assay failure) or from very low minor allelic frequencies. Consequently, this has limited the scope of the analysis given that a number of polymorphisms in aspirin's pharmacodynamic pathway could not be assessed.

Fifthly, the current analysis did not investigate the agreement between the two methods used to assess platelet reactivity. Whilst the PFA-100 system was used to identify non-responders to aspirin, the Multiplate platform assessed overall platelet reactivity and consequently it was not possible to directly assess correlation between the two platforms. A further limitation was the small number of patients that had platelet function data from both the PFA-100 and Multiplate systems. However, a potential strength of this analysis is the use of one COX-dependent platelet function test (Multiplate) and one COX-independent test (PFA-100), which offers a greater opportunity to assess genotype against the complex phenotype of platelet aggregation and response to anti-platelets.

Finally, this analysis reported a relatively high level of aspirin non-response. Whilst patients included in this analysis reported good adherence to aspirin, aspirin adherence was not assessed formally by measuring serum TXB2 or Ur11dhTXB2.

In conclusion, the current investigation failed to detect any significant associations between candidate genes in aspirin's pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic pathway and aspirin response as assessed by two different platelet function tests, although possible associations were detected for polymorphisms in *TBXA2R* and *UGT1A6* prior to correction for multiple testing. In addition, several studies have demonstrated potentially clinically relevant SNPs in the *PEAR1* gene which may be important for assessing the risk of aspirin non-response and poor clinical outcome. Similarly, two meta-analyses have also identified SNPs in the *GPIa* and *GPIb* genes that may also increase the risk of aspirin non-response. Further studies, utilising relevant, high risk, patient populations are clearly necessary to determine the relevance of these genetic variants. These studies should include robust clinical outcomes, platelet function testing and assessment of aspirin compliance in addition.

Chapter 5 – The relationship between OxLDL- β 2GPI levels, lipid profile, platelet function and clinical outcomes in patients with an acute coronary syndrome treated with aspirin

5.1: Introduction

Atherosclerosis is the fundamental process underlying most acute coronary syndromes. It leads to the formation of atheromatous plaques within arteries causing progressive vascular stenosis, haemodynamic insufficiency and consequent ischaemic symptoms. Rupture of atheromatous plaques in coronary arteries lead to rapid, platelet-rich, thrombus formation with acute ischaemia and infarction of distal myocardium.

Atherosclerosis is primarily driven by lipids, and in particular, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL) (Pirillo et al., 2013) which is deposited within the intima of the arterial wall. Subsequent oxidation of the deposited LDL leads to immune activation and inflammatory cell activation via several mechanisms (Hartley et al., 2019) including expression of vascular adhesion molecules and endothelial cell dysfunction. A defining feature of atherosclerosis is the production of foam cells within the arterial wall, which are derived from macrophages and are primarily responsible for cholesterol uptake into atherosclerotic plaques mediated via scavenger receptor class A (SR-A) and CD36 (Yu et al., 2013). Oxidised LDL, derived from lipid oxidation, is one of the principal factors that promote the formation of foam cells from macrophages (Peluso et al., 2012), increasing the rate of lipid disposition with consequent formation of lipid rich atherosclerotic plaques. In addition, macrophage activation induces the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines which attracts other immune cells, such as lymphocytes, into the plaque. The resulting pro-inflammatory state in the plaque increases production of various proteolytic enzymes and reactive oxygen species (ROS) which further increases immune activation and lipid oxidation. Ultimately, the extensive inflammatory cell infiltration, lipid peroxidation and enzyme mediated degradation leads to plaque instability and eventual rupture, culminating in an acute coronary syndrome.

Lipid peroxidation is likely to be the critical step in this process. OxLDL production stimulates the production of a wide range of mediators, some of which may be recognised by the immune system as 'danger associated molecular patterns' (DAMPs) (Hartley et al., 2019, Leibundgut et al., 2013). These include 'oxidation-specific epitopes' (OSEs) which may have varying effects: some, such as malondialdehyde-acetaldehyde (MDA)-LDL, increase the

uptake of OxLDL by macrophages, whilst others are recognised by the innate immune system and lead to further immune activation. Ultimately, their pleiotropic effect results in propagation of both atherosclerosis and immune activation and therefore OxLDL can be viewed as a primary regulator of atherosclerosis. In addition, OxLDL exerts its effect via the lectin-like oxidised LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1) (Pirillo et al., 2013) which is expressed on a number of different vascular and immune tissues, including endothelial cells, vascular smooth muscle and macrophages. Its expression is up-regulated by a number of factors, including inflammation, hypertension, hyperglycaemia, oxidative stress and shear stress (Pirillo et al., 2013). LOX-1 activation also has deleterious effects on vascular biology, inducing endothelial dysfunction as well as increasing overall oxidative stress (Jin and Cong, 2019), which forms a positive feedback loop with OxLDL. Endothelial cell dysfunction may itself accelerate the development of atherosclerosis due to immune dysregulation, platelet activation and alterations in vascular haemodynamics, all of which may increase the likelihood of plaque rupture (Jin and Cong, 2019, Pirillo et al., 2013). Finally, LOX-1 may also have effects on vascular smooth muscle cells causing both proliferation and apoptosis in experimental models (Pirillo et al., 2013).

Higher OxLDL and LOX-1 levels have been associated with clinical manifestations of cardiovascular disease and, in some studies, an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular events. Several studies have demonstrated an association between higher levels of OxLDL and increases in carotid artery intima-media thickness (cIMT) (Calmarza et al., 2014, Gao et al., 2018), with one study demonstrating significant increases in carotid plaque inflammation and consequent stroke risk (Markstad et al., 2019). Furthermore, in the CHANCE study, OxLDL level was strongly associated with the risk of recurrent stroke (HR 1.43; 95% CI 1.03 to 1.98) (Wang et al., 2018b), as was the ratio between OxLDL and HDL (HR 1.50; 95% CI 1.08 to 2.08) (Wang et al., 2018a). A meta-analysis of 12 studies also demonstrated a consistent association between OxLDL level and cardiovascular prognosis with a 79% increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events reported (Gao et al., 2018). However, this meta-analysis also highlighted that the number of high-quality studies investigating the relationship between OxLDL and clinical outcome is low, with individual studies including different patient types and utilising variable outcome measures.

Importantly, OxLDL also forms stable complexes with beta-2-glycoprotein I, a phospholipid binding protein, which may also be similarly pro-atherogenic. The OxLDL- β 2GPI complex promotes macrophage differentiation to foam cells (Xu et al., 2014) via pathways specific to the complex itself and, consequently, the effects of the OxLDL- β 2GPI complex is likely to be

additive to the known effects of OxLDL. In addition, the complex is pro-inflammatory and widely distributed throughout atherosclerotic plaques, further enhancing immune activation, inflammation, lipid deposition and plaque instability (Ames et al., 2018, Wang et al., 2018c).

Several clinical studies have demonstrated that the OxLDL- β 2GPI complex is associated with more severe atherosclerosis and risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes. In a large study of 500 patients with cardiovascular disease, Bliden et al (Bliden et al., 2016) demonstrated a strong association between severe atherosclerosis and higher OxLDL- β 2GPI complex levels. Interestingly, there was no association between OxLDL levels and degree of atherosclerosis, suggesting that OxLDL- β 2GPI levels may be a more sensitive marker of lipid oxidation and overall vascular inflammation. Similarly, other studies have demonstrated associations between OxLDL- β 2GPI complex levels and carotid artery disease, stroke and diabetic microvascular disease (Berger et al., 2014, Yu et al., 2015, Zhang et al., 2018), although recent data on clinical outcomes in unstable cardiovascular disease is lacking, with a single study demonstrating a significant increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events in ACS patients with elevated OxLDL- β 2GPI complex levels (Greco et al., 2010).

Lipid oxidation may also be associated with higher rates of platelet activation. Several studies have demonstrated that OxLDL may significantly increase platelet aggregation via a number of different mechanisms. These include activation of platelets via the scavenger receptor, CD36, or via other mechanisms such as ROS generation, phospholipase C activation, increased platelet-monocyte interactions or dysregulation of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway (Berger et al., 2018, Hua et al., 2009, Wang et al., 2018d). As these mechanisms are not directly inhibited by anti-platelet drugs, such as aspirin, it is conceivable that they may be involved in the underlying causes of aspirin non-response. However, little data exists on the relationship between OxLDL and platelet reactivity in patients and therefore the impact of the interaction between platelet reactivity and OxLDL is unclear.

In summary, whilst OxLDL has a critical role in the development of atherosclerosis and subsequent acute coronary syndromes, there remains a paucity of clinical outcome data in relevant patient cohorts, such as unstable cardiovascular disease. In addition, whilst OxLDL has been demonstrated to increase platelet activation *in vitro*, it remains unclear whether there is an effect on platelet reactivity in patients and whether this is associated with a poorer response to anti-platelets such as aspirin. Finally, OxLDL exerts some of its pro-atherogenic action via the formation of OxLDL-β2GPI complexes, which, to date, have not

been robustly investigated in the context of acute coronary syndromes or via the assessment of platelet reactivity.

In order to address these questions, a case-control study investigating the relationship between $OxLDL-\beta 2GPI$ complex levels and clinical and platelet reactivity outcomes was conducted in a cohort of patients with non-ST elevation acute coronary syndromes (NSTEACS).

5.2: Methods

5.2.1: Patient Cohort

Patients were recruited from the prospective 'Pharmacogenetics of Acute Coronary Syndrome' (PhACS) study which has been described previously.

Briefly, subjects were included in this study if they were in hospital with a primary diagnosis of an acute coronary syndrome. Principal exclusions included ST elevation MI, other diagnoses likely to explain a positive troponin and being unwilling or unable to consent to the study.

All included subjects were followed up for a minimum of 12 months from recruitment with two physical visits at month 1 and month 12 and annual telephone follow up with a case note review. Follow up continued annually until the final patient recruited had completed 12 months of follow up.

Blood samples were taken at all physical visits. These included a sample for genotyping (baseline visit only), platelet function (all visits), RNA sample (all visits), serum sample (all visits) and urine samples (all visits). Platelet function was assessed using the PFA-100 system and the Multiplate platform.

The primary outcome measure for the PhACS study was a composite of cardiovascular mortality, non-fatal MI and stroke. Secondary outcomes included all-cause mortality, bleeding and development of left ventricular failure.

Cardiovascular mortality was defined using the PLATO trial (Wallentin et al., 2009) criteria of "cardiovascular deaths, cerebrovascular deaths and any other death for which there was not a clearly documented non-vascular cause". Non-fatal myocardial infarction was defined using the TRITON-TIMI 38 (Wiviott et al., 2007) criteria of "MI must be distinct from the index

event and is defined by symptoms suggestive of ischaemia/infarction, electrocardiographic data, cardiac biomarker or pathologic evidence of infarction dependent on the clinical situation using criteria adapted from the definition developed by the American College of Cardiology". Non-fatal stroke was defined using adapted criteria from the HORIZONS-AMI study (Mehran et al., 2008) of "an acute neurological event or deficit lasting for greater than 24 hours, as classified by a physician".

This study received ethical approval from the Liverpool Adult Research Ethics Committee and was conducted in compliance with Good Clinical Practice and the Declaration of Helsinki.

5.2.2: Patient Selection

Patients were selected for this study on a case-control basis. Cases were defined as patients who had suffered an ischaemic event consistent with the primary outcome measure definition. Cases were matched 1:1 with other patients recruited to the PhACS study who did not suffer an ischaemic event. Subjects were matched for the following criteria:

- Gender
- Age (+/- 5 years)
- Body Mass Index (obese / not obese)
- Diabetes Status
- Follow up period for the control subject exceeds the case subject's time to first cardiovascular event

In addition, subjects had to be receiving aspirin at discharge form the index admission. Wherever possible, other cardiovascular risk factors were matched between the case and control subjects. Given that platelet function was only assessed at three sites in the PhACS study, cases and controls were selected only from those sites.

5.2.3: OxLDL-β2GPI Assay

The OxLDL- β 2GPI complex was tested using the hsAtherOx Test Kit (Corgenix, Broomfield USA) in compliance with the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, the assay is performed as an indirect enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). The subject's diluted serum samples, as well as calibrator and control samples, were incubated in microwells coated with a monoclonal antibody against human complexed β 2GPI. Samples were washed to remove protein present within the serum, which was followed by addition of biotin conjugated antihuman apoB100 (LDL) monoclonal antibodies in order to form complexes with the bound

antigen. After a further washing step, horseradish peroxidase conjugated Streptavidin (HRP-SA) was added to the biotin-conjugated antibody-antigen complex. After washing, tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) / hydrogen peroxide was added and colour allowed to develop over 30 minutes. Optical density was then read using a 450 nm wavelength; with results being calculated against the calibration curves prepared using the kit's calibration samples. Results are reported as U/mL. Samples were analysed in the Wolfson Centre for Personalised Medicine by Dr Eunice Zhang, Dr Valentina Manzo and myself.

5.2.4: Lipid profile analysis

All lipid profile samples were analysed by the Clinical Biochemistry Department at the Royal Liverpool University Hospital for a standard profile of total cholesterol, high density lipoprotein (HDL) and triglycerides. Results are reported as mmol/L.

Briefly, the cholesterol and HDL assays were performed using an automated Roche/Hitachi cobas c analyser using the CHOL2 and HDLC4 assay kits (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) in line with the manufacturer's instructions and standard procedures. The CHOL2 assay utilises an enzymatic, colorimetric method where cholesterol esterase is used to generate free cholesterol. The free cholesterol is then oxidised to cholest-4-en-3-one and hydrogen peroxide via cholesterol oxidase and the hydrogen peroxide generated induces changes in the oxidative-coupling of phenol and 4-aminophenazone which forms a red quinone-imine dye, measured by an increase in absorption. Similarly, the HDLC4 assay is a homogenous enzymatic colorimetric test, using the differential sensitivity of LDL, VLDL and HDL to cholesterol esterase and cholesterol oxidase following addition of polyanions and detergent. HDL is then isolated via the actions of cholesterol esterase and cholesterol oxidase in the presence of oxygen, resulting in the generation of hydrogen peroxide. The hydrogen peroxide, in the presence of peroxidase, generates a dye from 4-amino-antipyrine which is then read photometrically. The triglyceride assay (Trig/GB) was performed using the automated Roche/Hitachi MODULAR P analyser (Roche, Mannheim, Germany). This assay measures free glycerol using a colorimetric method following enzymatic hydrolysis of triglycerides catalysed by glycerol kinase, glycerol-3-phosphate oxidase and lipase.

LDL values were derived and reported using the following formula:

LDL cholesterol = Total cholesterol – HDL cholesterol – VLDL cholesterol

VLDL cholesterol was estimated using the following formula:

VLDL cholesterol = Triglycerides / 2.19

5.2.5: Platelet function testing

Platelet function was assessed as described previously using the PFA-100 system and Multiplate platforms. PFA-100 data were only available for patients recruited from the Royal Liverpool University Hospital and Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital whilst Multiplate data were available from Blackpool Victoria Hospital, Royal Liverpool University Hospital and Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital. Both PFA-100 and Multiplate data were analysed as categorical variables (responder / non-responder). A cut off value of <193 seconds was used as the definition of non-response to aspirin for the PFA-100 system. For the Multiplate platform, a cut-off value of >39 units for the Multiplate ASPI test was used to define aspirin non-response, as advised by the manufacturer. Platelet function tests were performed at the local recruiting site by research nurses.

5.2.6: Statistical Analysis

Data were presented as mean and standard deviation for continuous data, and frequencies or percentages for categorical variables. For continuous variables, data were compared by either a t-test or ANOVA. Categorical data were compared using a Chi-squared test. Simple and logistic regression analyses were conducted to investigate the relationship between $OxLDL-\beta 2GPI$ levels, platelet function, lipid profile, clinical variables and case-control status. A result was considered statistically significant if the P value was less than 0.05. Data were analysed using SPSS version 24 (SPSS, Chicago, USA).

5.3: Results

5.3.1: Patient Characteristics

A total of 835 patients were recruited to the PhACS study from the Royal Liverpool University Hospital, Blackpool Victoria Hospital and Liverpool Heart and Chest Hospital. Out of those 835 patients, 155 patients (18.6%) had a further ischaemic event which was considered to be consistent with the primary outcome measure. Ninety-five of the 155 patients were successfully matched with a control subject. Measurement of OxLDL-β2GPI complex levels was unsuccessful in 19 of the case-control pairs, leaving a total 76 cases and 76 controls which were included in the final analysis. A summary of patient demographics, clinical risk factors and medications is provided in **Table 5.1**. No statistically significant differences in cardiac risk factors, previous cardiac history, symptom scores or concomitant medications between the case and control groups were observed. In the case group, the first ischaemic event was myocardial infarction in 44 patients (57.9%), cardiovascular death in 27 patients (35.5%) and CVA in 5 patients (6.6%).

5.3.2: Platelet function data

Platelet function data were available for only a sub-set of patients as described previously. PFA-100 data were available for 68 patients in total, of which 28 were cases and 40 were controls. Similarly, only 56 patients had available data on the Multiplate ASPI test, of which 23 were cases and 33 were controls. The overall rate of non-response observed with the PFA-100 system across both cases and controls was 54.4% (n=37). However, the Multiplate system reported a substantially lower rate of aspirin non-response (8.9%, n=5) across both cases and controls. A summary of platelet function data is provided in **Table 5.2**.

5.3.3: Relationship between OxLDL $-\beta$ 2GPI complex levels and case-control status

The mean OxLDL- β 2GPI level was 1.62 +/- 2.31 U/mL in cases and 2.65 +/- 4.13 in controls. Similarly, the median OxLDL- β 2GPI level was 0.65 U/mL (IQR 0.38 - 1.49) in cases and 0.83 (0.45 - 2.28). Univariate analysis did not demonstrate a significant association between OxLDL- β 2GPI and case-control status (P=0.071). However, following adjustment for clinical co-variates including age, gender, obesity, diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia and chronic kidney disease, a significant association between lower OxLDL- β 2GPI complex levels and further cardiovascular events was observed (P=0.0341) (**Table 5.3**).

5.3.4: Relationship between OxLDL-β2GPI levels and lipid profiles

There was no significant association detected between LDL cholesterol and OxLDL- β 2GPI levels (P=0.099) in univariate analyses. Similarly, no association was observed between OxLDL- β 2GPI levels and total cholesterol (P=0.066) or triglycerides (P=0.711).

5.3.5: Relationship between OxLDL-β2GPI levels and platelet reactivity

No significant association was observed between PFA-100 defined aspirin non-response and OxLDL- β 2GPI levels (P=0.847). Similarly, for the Multiplate ASPI test no significant association between OxLDL- β 2GPI level and aspirin non-response status (P=0.533) or overall ASPItest AUC (P=0.273) was observed (**Table 5.4**).

5.3.6: Relationship between platelet reactivity and case-control status

For PFA-100 determined aspirin non-response, the aspirin non-response rate was numerically higher in control patients compared to cases although this was not statistically significant (60.0% versus 46.4% respectively, P=0.415). In addition, for aspirin non-response

defined using the Multiplate ASPI test, a higher rate of non-response was detected in the controls compared to the cases which was not statistically significant (12.1% vs 4.4%, P=0.336) (Table 5.2).

5.3.7: Relationship between lipid profile and case-control status

There were no significant differences observed in LDL, HDL and total cholesterol levels between case and control patients. Whilst mean total cholesterol values were marginally higher in cases compared to controls, this did not meet statistical significance (P=0.47). Conversely, mean HDL cholesterol levels were also numerically higher in cases compared to controls, but this did not meet statistical significance (1.06 +/- 0.49 vs 0.96 +/- 0.26 mmol/L, P=0.10). Notably, the case and control groups were well matched for statin usage (89.0% vs 91.8% respectively, P=0.57), with mean total cholesterol and LDL-cholesterol demonstrating good control of hyperlipidaemia across both groups (**Table 5.3**).

5.3.8: Relationship between lipid profile and platelet function

A significant association between HDL:cholesterol ratio level and aspirin non-response determined by the Multiplate ASPItest was observed, with aspirin non-responders having a higher HDL:cholesterol ratio compared to aspirin responders (5.18+/-1.99 vs 3.68 +/-1.23 mmol/L, P=0.017). This appeared to be primarily driven by a lower HDL cholesterol level in non-responders compared to responders, although the difference was not statistically significant (0.72+/-0.08 vs 1.02+/-1.02 mmol/L, P=0.059). No significant associations between Multiplate defined aspirin response and LDL or total cholesterol were observed. In addition, there was no significant difference in lipid profiles between aspirin responders or non-responders as determined by the PFA-100 system (**Table 5.4**).

		Cases	Controls	P-value		
	N	76	76	1.00		
Malos	Ν	56	56	1.00		
wates	%	73.68	73.68	1.00		
	Mean	70.58	69.72			
	SD	10.75	10.19			
A .co	Median	71.96	70.03	0.50		
Age	Q1	63.51	63.13	0.59		
	Q3	79.60	77.73			
	IQR	16.08	14.61			
	Mean	28.97	29.00			
	SD	6.93	5.94			
PMI	Median	27.69	28.40	0.09		
DIVII	Q1	24.10	25.45	0.98		
	Q3	33.34	32.10			
	IQR	9.24	6.65			
Uunomtonsion	Ν	51	54	0.60		
nypertension	%	67.11	71.05	0.00		
Hunorlinidoomio	Ν	49	46	0.62		
пуретриаетна	%	64.47	60.53	0.02		
BAD	Ν	7	2	0.00		
PAD	%	9.21	2.63	0.09		
CKD	Ν	12	8	0.24		
CKD	%	15.79	10.53	0.54		
DM	Ν	21	21	1.00		
DIVI	%	27.63	27.63	1.00		
Prior MI	N	40	32	0 10		
	%	52.63	42.11	0.15		
Prior PCI	N	18	12	0.22		
	%	23.68	15.79	0.22		
Prior CAPC	N	15	11	0.20		
	%	19.74	14.47	0.39		
Current Smoker	N	15	10	0.27		

	%	19.74	13.16		
Drovious Smokor	N	45	47	0.74	
Previous Smoker	%	59.21	61.84	0.74	
Non Smoker	N	16	18	0.70	
Non Smoker	%	21.05	23.68	0.70	
	Mean	1.32	1.11		
CCS	SD	0.91	0.83	0.12	
	Median	1	1		
	N	73	73		
Acpirin	N	73	73	1.00	
Aspiriti	%	100.00	100.00	1.00	
Clonidogral	N	66	66	1.00	
ciopidogrei	%	90.41	90.41	1.00	
Marfarin	N	2	1	0.56	
wartann	%	2.74	1.37	0.50	
LMWH	N	4	5	0.72	
	%	5.48	6.85	0.75	
Poto Blocker	N	56	64	0.08	
Deta-Diotker	%	76.71	87.67	0.08	
CCP	N	17	16	0.84	
ССВ	%	23.29	21.92	0.84	
Nitrata	N	45	40	0.40	
Nitrate	%	61.64	54.79	0.40	
Statin	N	65	67	0.57	
Statin	%	89.04	91.78	0.57	
	N	56	53	0.57	
ACE-I	%	76.71	72.60	0.57	
	N	5	7	0.55	
	%	6.85	9.59	0.55	
DDI	N	39	32	0.25	
FPI	%	53.42	43.84	0.25	
Death	N	27	ΝΛ	ΝΛ	
Death	%	35.5	INA.	NA	
N /1	Ν	44			
-------------	---	------			
IVII	%	57.9			
C)//A	Ν	5			
CVA	%	6.6			

Table 5.1 – Characteristics of included patients

		Cases	Controls	P-value
	Number with Data	28	40	
PFA	N Resistant	13	24	0.415
	% Resistant	46.4	60.0	
	Number with Data	23	33	
Multiplate	N Resistant	1	4	0.336
	% Resistant	4.4	12.1	

Table 5.2 – Relationship between case-control status and platelet function

		Cases	Controls	P-value
	Ν	76	76	NA
	Mean	1.62	2.65	0.07
OxLDL-β2GPI	SD	2.31	4.13	(Unadjusted)
(U/mL)	Median	0.65	0.83	0.03
	IQR	0.37-1.49	0.45-2.28	(Adjusted)
LDL	Mean	2.03	2.07	0.70
(mmol/L)	SD	0.96	0.81	0.79
Cholesterol	Mean	3.83	3.69	0.47
(mmol/L)	SD	1.28	0.91	0.47
HDL	Mean	1.06	0.96	0.10
(mmol/L)	SD	0.49	0.26	0.10
HDL:Chol Ratio	Mean	4.20	4.11	0.76
	SD	2.33	1.57	0.70

Table 5.3 – Relationship between case-control status, OxLDL- β 2GPI and lipid profile

			PFA-100			Multiplate		
		SENS	RESIST	P-value	SENS	RESIST	P-value	
	N	31	37	NIA	51	5	NA	
	%	45.6	54.4	NA	91.1	8.9	INA	
	Mean	3.12	3.33		4.18	2.31		
OxLDL-β2GPI	SD	4.26	4.40	0.047	4.85	3.45	0 1 1 1	
(U/mL)	Median	1.21	1.28	0.847	1.69	1.17	0.141	
	IQR	0.64-4.14	0.51-5.95		0.48-6.67	0.37-4.83		
LDL	Mean	2.05	2.10	0.02	1.91	2.36	0.20	
(mmol/L)	SD	1.11	0.78	0.82	0.80	1.15	0.26	
Cholesterol	Mean	3.75	3.86	0.00	3.52	3.70	0.00	
(mmol/L)	SD	1.23	1.13	0.68	0.94	1.37	0.69	
HDL	Mean	1.07	1.01	0.02	1.02	0.72	0.00	
(mmol/L)	SD	0.39	0.52	0.62	0.34 0.08		0.06	
HDL:Chol	Mean	3.85	4.31	0.20	3.68	5.18	0.02	
Ratio	SD	1.76	1.82	0.30	1.23	1.99	0.02	

Table 5.4 – Relationship between platelet function tests, OxLDL- β 2GPI and lipid profile

5.4: Discussion

In this analysis, a potential association was detected between OxLDL- β 2GPI complex levels and case-control status, with controls having higher levels of OxLDL- β 2GPI compared to patients who had recurrent cardiovascular events in the PhACS study. This suggests that the OxLDL- β 2GPI complex may be protective in the context of atherosclerosis rather than being pro-atherogenic and pro-inflammatory.

However, our finding is out of keeping with the majority of the published clinical outcome data. In a study by Greco et al (Greco et al., 2010), 339 patients with acute coronary syndrome had OxLDL- β 2GPI measured and were followed up for a median of two years. OxLDL-β2GPI levels were significantly higher in patients with more severe coronary artery disease as assessed by coronary angiography, and clinical outcomes were worse for patients in the highest quartiles of OxLDL- β 2GPI level, with an overall threefold risk increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes in patients in the highest quartiles of OxLDL-β2GPI levels (RR 3.53; 95% CI 1.20 to 10.38, P=0.026). These data are in keeping with others, with a study by Bliden et al (Bliden et al., 2016) also demonstrating a significant association between higher OxLDL-β2GPI levels and more severe coronary atherosclerosis in a cohort of 435 patients undergoing elective coronary angiography. Similarly, Ames et al (Ames et al., 2018), in a cross-sectional case-control study of 57 patients with cardiovascular disease and 90 healthy controls, higher OxLDL/β2GPI levels were significantly associated with myocardial infarction and venous thromboembolism. Furthermore, higher OxLDL/ β 2GPI levels have been associated with ischaemic stroke, particularly in the context of diabetes (Zhang et al., 2018).

However our findings are in keeping with recent data suggesting that β 2GPI may prevent, in some cases, the binding of OxLDL to LOX-1, thereby reducing the pro-inflammatory effects of OxLDL. Chi et al (Chi et al., 2018) demonstrated a substantial reduction in the OxLDL mediated expression of tissue factor by murine macrophages following incubation with domain 5 (DV) of β 2GPI. In addition, the expression of LOX-1 was also substantially reduced following incubation of DV- β 2GPI, as was the binding of OxLDL to the LOX-1 receptor. These data are in keeping with earlier studies that demonstrated that OxLDL- β 2GPI may have protective effects on the vasculature rather than being pro-inflammatory. Several older studies have demonstrated that binding of β 2GPI to OxLDL prevented uptake of both OxLDL and cholesterol into macrophages (Hasunuma et al., 1997, Lin et al., 2001), in keeping with Chi's data.

Whilst other data suggest that the OxLDL-β2GPI complex does have pro-inflammatory effects, its effects may be mediated by anti- β 2GPI antibodies bound to the OxLD- β 2GPI complex rather than by the complex itself. In Toll-Like Receptor 4 (TLR-4)-competent and TLR4 mutant mice, Zhang et al (Zhang et al., 2014d) demonstrated that treatment with $OxLDL-\beta2GPI$ /anti- $\beta2GPI$ induced the formation of foam cells from peritoneal macrophages via expression of TLR-4 and activation of NFkB, with a subsequent increase in proinflammatory cytokines observed. However, administration of OxLDL-β2GPI alone did not significantly increase NFkB activation or expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines compared to media alone. Interestingly, administration of OxLDL alone significantly increased the level of NFkB activation compared to media alone, but the increase was significantly lower than that achieved by administration of $OxLDL-\beta2GPI/anti-\beta2GPI$. Similarly, the conversion of macrophages into foam cells was also lower following OxLDL-B2GPI administration compared to both OxLDL alone and OxLDL/ β 2GPI/anti- β 2GPI. In addition, OxLDL can bind to CRP, which may also increase its pro-inflammatory effects. In mice, Wang et al (Wang et al., 2016) described 5-fold increase in macrophage cholesterol content following administration of CRP-OxLDL, compared to 3- and 4-fold increases for OxLDL-β2GPI and CRP-OxLDL-β2GPI groups. Importantly, there was a significant difference in macrophage cholesterol content between the OxLDL alone and OxLDL- β 2GPI groups, with the OxLDL- β 2GPI group demonstrating significantly lower macrophage cholesterol content compared to OxLDL alone. However, both OxLDL, OxLDL- β 2GPI and their CRP bound entities all increased macrophage expression of scavenger receptors, although this was less pronounced following OxLDL-β2GPI administration compared to all other groups. However, in vascular smooth muscle cells (SMCs), the effects of the OxLDL- β 2GPI complex appear to be broadly similar to OxLDL- β2GPI /Anti-β2GPI and OxLDL alone. Wang et al (Wang et al., 2018c) demonstrated that lipid uptake in vascular SMCs was significantly increased by the administration of OxLDL, OxLDL- β 2GPI and OxLDL- β 2GPI/Anti- β 2GPI, with no significant differences between any of the three. This effect appears to be mediated by TLR4, and leads to expression of proatherogenic molecules such as MMP-9 and MCP-1. Taken together, these data suggest that whilst the OxLDL- β 2GPI complex has some pro-atherogenic effects, it appears to be less functional than OxLDL itself, and in some cases may blunt the pro-inflammatory effects of OxLDL which is partially in keeping with the findings of our study. However, our analysis did not measure OxLDL in addition to OxLDL- β 2GPI levels. It is therefore not possible to determine whether the higher levels of OxLDL- β 2GPI in the control patients were consistent with a reduction in the pro-atherogenic effects of OxLDL, as has been observed in the *in vitro* and animal data above.

However, in the published clinical studies, OxLDL- β 2GPI levels were generally associated with OxLDL levels (Yu et al., 2015, Zhang et al., 2018) with similar increases in the risks of adverse clinical outcomes. Nonetheless, it is not clear whether the associations observed in those clinical studies are mechanistically driven by OxLDL or the OxLDL- β 2GPI complex although in Bliden et al's study, only OxLDL- β 2GPI was associated with the presence of severe atherosclerotic disease with no association detected for OxLDL alone (Bliden et al., 2016). Given the lack of agreement between the pre-clinical and clinical study findings, as well as the paucity of clinical data on the relationship between OxLDL- β 2GPI and outcome, it remains unclear whether OxLDL- β 2GPI complexes are by themselves pro-atherogenic or whether the observed effect is mediated by OxLDL alone.

Importantly, OxLDL has been long identified as a marker of atherosclerosis and increased vascular risk. As discussed previously, one of the key effects of OxLDL is the transformation of macrophages into foam cells with consequent development of lipid rich atherosclerotic plaques. In addition, this transformation is associated with the generation of various danger associated molecular patterns (Leibundgut et al., 2013) that lead to inflammatory cell activation and secretion of multiple pro-inflammatory cytokines. Ultimately this leads to activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome via NFkB activation in macrophages, resulting in IL-1β secretion and further inflammatory cell recruitment (Grebe et al., 2018). OxLDL has been serially associated with activation of TLR4, but may also have additional effects via interactions with scavenger receptors such as CD36 (Grebe et al., 2018), which also increases activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. OxLDL has also been associated with other proatherogenic effects including endothelial cell dysfunction, effects on vascular smooth muscle and increases in oxidative stress via generation of ROS (Chen et al., 2012a, Chang et al., 2015, Katouah et al., 2015, Watt et al., 2016). These in-vitro effects are mirrored by clinical studies, with OxLDL levels being associated with more severe atherosclerosis and increased risk of adverse cardiovascular events. In a meta-analysis of 12 studies which included over 12,000 patients, higher OxLDL levels conferred an almost twofold higher risk of adverse cardiovascular events (Gao et al., 2017). Importantly, this meta-analysis also identified that the effects of OxLDL on cardiovascular outcome are independent of LDL cholesterol levels, an important cardiovascular risk factor. However, the relationship between LDL levels and OxLDL is unclear, with some studies demonstrating (Aydin et al., 2015, Ogawa et al., 2015) a close relationship between OxLDL levels and LDL cholesterol, whilst others do not (Russo et

al., 2018). In the current analysis, we did not demonstrate a clear association between OxLDL- β 2GPI levels and LDL cholesterol levels. However, given that OxLDL levels are likely to be driven by the pro-inflammatory milieu within atherosclerotic lesions, it is likely that the degree and severity of atherosclerosis is a more important determinant of OxLDL levels than LDL cholesterol in patients. This is in keeping with the published data where OxLDL levels are most closely associated with LDL in healthy volunteer or registry studies (Zuliani et al., 2013) where the burden of atherosclerosis is likely to be very low. We did not measure the levels of inflammatory markers or pro-inflammatory cytokines in this study, and it is consequently unclear whether the observed lack of association between OxLDL- β 2GPI levels and LDL-cholesterol is due to the independent effects of inflammation on OxLDL production or not. However, it should be noted that the patients included in this study had an index diagnosis of ACS and are therefore more likely to have a substantial atherosclerotic burden with consequent higher levels of inflammation.

The current analysis also failed to demonstrate a significant association between platelet reactivity and OxLDL-B2GPI levels. The relationship between the OxLDL-B2GPI complex and platelet reactivity has not been previously investigated in the context of acute coronary syndromes and, consequently, the relevance of this finding is unclear. However, a number of published studies have reported an association between higher OxLDL levels and increased platelet reactivity. In a study by Carnevale et al (Carnevale et al., 2014), agonist stimulated platelets from healthy volunteers incubated with LDL demonstrated an increase in ROS and formation of OxLDL. OxLDL generation was greater in platelets sampled from patients with hypercholesterolaemia, whilst greater platelet aggregation was observed in LDL-incubated platelets. These data suggest that hyperlipidaemia significantly increases overall platelet reactivity, and platelets themselves may be able to generate OxLDL independently. These data are in keeping with a study by Chatterjee et al (Chatterjee et al., 2017) which demonstrated that LDL and OxLDL stimulate generation of ROS and mitochondrial superoxide generation in platelets. Furthermore, in a lipidomic analysis, the lipid profile in platelets is substantially altered in patients with coronary artery disease, with specific increases detected in oxidised lipid derivatives consistent with higher oxidative stress. Finally, LDL and OxLDL were demonstrated to significantly increase both GPIIbIIIa activation and platelet degranulation, thereby providing a clear mechanism by which hyperlipidaemia and OxLDL activates platelets. OxLDL and hyperlipidaemia induced ROS production is likely to be mediated via a phospholipase Cy2 dependent pathway (Berger et al., 2018) whilst inhibition of ROS production in platelets reduces OxLDL related platelet

activation, mediated via increased activity of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathway (Wang et al., 2018d) and a reduction in consequent autophagy. Interestingly, OxLDL may also increase platelet-monocyte interactions. Badrnya et al (Badrnya et al., 2014) demonstrated that following stimulation with OxLDL, platelets and monocytes rapidly form platelet-monocyte aggregates, predominantly involving CD16+ monocytes. This interaction increased monocyte OxLDL uptake and conversion to foam cells, mediated via a CD36-OxLDL interaction. Furthermore, addition of aspirin or ticagrelor appeared to reduce OxLDL uptake although it did not abolish it entirely. In human umbilical vein endothelial cells, Chen et al (Chen et al., 2012a) demonstrated that aspirin also reduced OxLDL mediated ROS generation by downregulation of Nox4 and nitric oxide synthase expression as well as NFKB activation. In keeping with Badrnya et al's findings, aspirin also reduced the expression of MCP-1 with consequent lower monocyte attraction and potential for generation of pro-atherogenic foam cells. Taken together, these data suggest that OxLDL may be an important modifier of platelet reactivity, although it remains unclear whether the OxLDL- β 2GPI complex would be similarly pro-aggregatory given that the OxLDL-B2GPI complex may decrease the proinflammatory effect of OxLDL itself.

Our study did detect a significant association between higher HDL:cholesterol ratios and an increased frequency of aspirin non-response when measured by the Multiplate platform. This observation appeared to be driven mostly by a reduction in HDL-cholesterol rather than an increase in total cholesterol, although no significant differences were demonstrated in HDL levels between non-responsive and responsive patients. These findings are in keeping with data suggesting that hyperlipidaemia may increase platelet reactivity and reduce effectiveness of anti-platelet drugs such as aspirin and clopidogrel. In a study of 48 patients with hypercholesterolaemia, Chan and colleagues (Chan et al., 2015) demonstrated that platelet reactivity was significantly higher in hypercholesterolaemic patients compared to healthy volunteers. Importantly, whilst high LDL cholesterol was associated with increased platelet reactivity, patients with both high LDL cholesterol and low HDL cholesterol levels had significantly higher platelet reactivity compared to patients with raised LDL cholesterol alone. With regard to anti-platelet drug response, Labuz-Roszak and colleagues (Labuz-Roszak et al., 2014) demonstrated that aspirin response, assessed by the Multiplate platform, was associated with lipid profile in a cohort of 96 patients with diabetes. A strong association was detected between poor aspirin response and higher LDL levels, although no association was demonstrated between total cholesterol or HDL levels and aspirin response in this study. Following a lipid challenge, Yassine et al demonstrated a significant increase in

urine11dhTXB2 levels in a cohort of 11 diabetic patients being treated with aspirin (Yassine et al., 2010) although there was no significant increase in VerifyNow measured platelet reactivity.

Given the emerging evidence of the adverse effects of OxLDL on platelet reactivity and clinical outcomes, an increasing focus has been placed on how high levels of OxLDL should be treated. Despite the effects of OxLDL on platelet reactivity, aspirin has been demonstrated to reduce the effects of OxLDL on vascular cells. In OxLDL stimulated macrophages (Hua et al., 2009), aspirin significantly reduced the expression of MMP-2 and MMP-9 which are important mediators associated with the risk of atherosclerotic plaque rupture. In addition, aspirin was also demonstrated to upregulate tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMP) - 1 and -2, further reducing the effects of MMP-2 and MMP-9. In endothelial cells exposed to Ox-LDL, aspirin also reduced the expression of COX-2 and ICAM-1 (Zhao et al., 2008), which may reduce the levels of oxidative stress and monocyte binding. In addition, aspirin was demonstrated to significantly reduce NFkB activation and p38 MAPK phosphorylation induced by OxLDL.

Statins, given their beneficial effect on lipids, also have beneficial effects on OxLDL. Statins have been demonstrated to have anti-inflammatory effects on endothelial cells. In an in-vitro study, Wang and colleagues (Wang et al., 2017) demonstrated that OxLDL activates the NLRP3 inflammasome in vascular endothelial cells, which is significantly reduced by the addition of simvastatin. The beneficial effects of statin therapy on OxLDL and inflammation has also been extensively demonstrated in clinical studies and randomised controlled trials. In a retrospective study of 600 patients undergoing angiography, Ogawa and colleagues (Ogawa et al., 2015) demonstrated that an observed association between OxLDL levels and smoking status was only observed in patients not being treated with statins. In patients on statins, no significant association was observed between smoking status and any component of the investigated lipid profile. In STEMI patients, Aydin et al (Aydin et al., 2015) randomised 120 statin naïve patients to receive either atorvastatin 80mg or rosuvastatin 20mg daily. After four weeks of treatment, both atorvastatin and rosuvastatin significantly reduced OxLDL levels by 60% from baseline values which was accompanied by a corresponding decrease in inflammatory markers (hs-CRP, IL-6 and TNF-R1). Similarly, in 153 hypercholesterolaemic patients, Moutzouri et al (Moutzouri et al., 2013) randomised patients to receive either simvastatin 40mg, rosuvastatin 10mg or simvastatin 10mg and ezetimibe 10mg daily. All three treatments significantly reduced OxLDL levels to a similar extent after a three-month treatment period, with corresponding reductions in other

markers of oxidative stress (8-Epi PGF2 α) and inflammation (lipoprotein associated phospholipase A2). Finally, Altunkeser et al (Altunkeser et al., 2019) randomised 106 ACS patients to receive atorvastatin 80mg or rosuvastatin 40mg daily for four weeks. After four weeks, the levels of OxLDL were significant lower compared to baseline assessment, with no significant difference observed between the two treatment groups. However, this was at the expense of an increased PCSK9 level which is in keeping with the previously known effects of high-dose statin therapy. Importantly, statin therapy may also have beneficial effects on platelet reactivity and the response to anti-platelet drugs. In a study of 83 patients with stable coronary artery disease, Pesaro et al (Pesaro et al., 2012) demonstrated that statin therapy significantly reduced platelet reactivity in aspirin treated patients, which was mirrored by reductions in CRP, OxLDL and LDL cholesterol. These data are in keeping with two further studies which demonstrated a significant improvement in anti-platelet drug response following treatment with statins (Godino et al., 2017, Tacconelli et al., 2018). In this study, we did not investigate the potential effect of statin treatment on platelet reactivity or OxLDL- β 2GPI levels, particularly in relation to statin potency or dose. However, there are no significant differences between statin treatment in the case and control groups, with similar numbers of patients in both groups receiving high potency or high dose statins.

However, OxLDL and OxLDL- β 2GPI may not best represent the pathological effects of hyperlipidaemia or oxidative stress on atherosclerosis. Recent data suggest that other factors, such as lipid particle size, may have a critical effect on cardiovascular risk and development of acute coronary syndromes. Smaller HDL particle size may reduce the affinity of the HDL particles for the cholesterol scavenger receptor, thereby reducing overall cholesterol efflux and increasing cardiovascular risk (Parra et al., 2014). In a study of 284 patients, classified as low cardiovascular risk, smaller HDL particle size was significantly associated with greater cIMT and higher CRP values (Parra et al., 2014). Similarly, smaller HDL particle size was observed in patients with acute coronary syndromes as compared to non-ischaemic controls in a recent case-control study (de Miranda Teixeira et al., 2019). In addition, smaller LDL particle size has been demonstrated to increase cardiovascular risk through a higher propensity of smaller particles to be oxidised to OxLDL, with consequent effects on the development of atherosclerosis (Shiffman et al., 2017). In the large Malmo Prevention Project Study of 5764 participants (Shiffman et al., 2017), very small LDL particles were associated with a 23% increase in risk of cardiovascular events following adjustment for overall lipid profile (HR 1.23; 95% Cl 1.06 – 1.43, P=0.007). Furthermore, LDL particle size was an independent risk factor for further cardiovascular events irrespective of overall

calculated cardiovascular risk, suggesting that measurement of LDL particle size may increase the sensitivity of existing risk scores. Additional observational studies have confirmed this finding, with the Hortega-Liposcale Follow-up study (Pichler et al., 2018) demonstrating a higher risk of incident cardiovascular events in patients with smaller LDL particles as well as an increased risk in patients who switch from larger to smaller LDL particles over time. Moreover, smaller LDL particles may adversely affect otherwise protective lipid components, such as OxHDL and large HDL particles, thereby increasing cardiovascular risk further (Sorokin et al., 2018). Whilst our study failed to detect a clear association between OxLDLβ2GPI levels, case-control status or other components of the lipid profile, we did not measure lipid particle size. Given the published data on the importance of lipid particle size and its effects on cardiovascular risk independent of overall LDL or HDL levels, further studies should assess particle size as a critical measure of the effect of overall lipid metabolism on atherosclerosis.

Oxidative stress, and the production of ROS, is a critical component in the development of atherosclerosis and production of OxLDL (Kattoor et al., 2017), whilst OxLDL production itself leads to further oxidative stress, expression of cell adhesion molecules and induction of proinflammatory cytokines (Lara-Guzman et al., 2018). Elevated markers of oxidative stress, such as LOX-1, total anti-oxidant capacity and reactive oxygen metabolites, are associated with acute cardiovascular events and are significantly lower in patients with stable disease or in healthy individuals (Lubrano et al., 2019). Furthermore, in young adults and patients with stable cardiovascular disease, elevated markers of oxidative stress are associated with the risk of new or recurrent cardiovascular events and correlate well with other, conventional, risk factors such as hypertension, smoking and hyperlipidaemia (Rodrlguez et al., 2019). Reduction in oxidative stress by dietary modification, smoking cessation and physical exercise significantly reduces the risk of cardiovascular events in otherwise healthy individuals and cardiovascular disease patients (Marchio et al., 2019). Whilst OxLDL and oxidative stress are closely associated, it is important to note that oxidative stress has a pluripotent effect on the vasculature beyond its effects on lipid peroxidation. Consequently, future studies investigating the effect of OxLDL on cardiovascular events and platelet reactivity should assess markers of oxidative stress to better determine the overall effect of OxLDL on the vasculature and atherosclerotic disease.

The current analysis has a number of additional limitations. Firstly, whilst this analysis was conducted as a case-control study, it was not possible to match cases and controls for all cardiac risk factors and concomitant medications. However, no significant differences in

baseline demographics, concomitant medications or cardiac risk factors were detected when the case and control groups have been compared.

Secondly, the number of patients included in the current analysis is relatively low. Despite the number of available cases for matching, it was not possible to successfully match a significant proportion of cases to control subjects despite adopting a pragmatic approach to the matching criteria. In addition, a small number of cases and controls were not included in the final analysis due to unavailable OxLDL- β 2GPI data. Whilst this analysis was not formally powered to detect an association between OxLDL- β 2GPI level and case-control status, the power to detect an association has been reduced by the inability to match some cases to controls as well as unavailable ELISA data. A post-hoc power calculation demonstrates that the current analysis had only 47.5% power to detect a significant association between OxLDL- β 2GPI and case-control status, and is lower for other reported outcomes such as LDL, total cholesterol and HDL.

Thirdly, platelet function data were not available for all patients included in this analysis and consequently the power to detect an association between platelet reactivity and OxLDLβ2GPI levels, lipid profiles or clinical outcome has been reduced. In addition, the rate of PFA-100 defined aspirin non-response was higher than most published data. Whilst all patients included in this analysis were reported to be treated with aspirin with good adherence, serum or urinary thromboxane levels were not measured to confirm this. However, Multiplate defined aspirin non-response was substantially lower and in keeping with previously published data.

In conclusion, the current analysis demonstrated that higher $OxLDL-\beta2GPI$ levels are associated with a lower occurrence of cardiovascular events. In addition, we detected an association between a higher HDL:cholesterol ratio and aspirin non-response determined using the Multiplate platform but not the PFA-100 system. This analysis failed to detect any association between $OxLDL-\beta2GPI$ level and aspirin response. However, several studies have identified potential mechanisms by which platelet reactivity may be affected by OxLDL, and further studies in patients using well validated and relevant methods for platelet function testing should be conducted. Furthermore, such studies should include assessment of inflammatory phenotype to investigate more closely the overall effect of inflammation on lipid peroxidation and platelet function. Finally, given that higher levels of OxLDL have been repeatedly associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes, further studies should be performed to assess its potential use as a prognostic biomarker. In addition, these studies

should give consideration to how raised OxLDL levels should be treated, either via conventional lipid lowering therapies or mechanistic treatments.

Chapter 6 – The relationship between *Helicobacter Pylori* serology, *CYP2C19* genotype and clinical outcomes in patients with an acute coronary syndrome treated with clopidogrel and proton-pump inhibitors

6.1: Introduction

The interaction between proton-pump inhibitors and clopidogrel has been cited as one of the most important causes of clopidogrel non-response. Clopidogrel is a pro-drug that requires a two-step process for metabolism into its active metabolite, with CYP2C19 being the primary enzyme responsible for its biotransformation (Gurbel et al., 2009). Similarly, most PPIs are metabolised by CYP2C19 with a consequent risk of interaction due to competition for CYP2C19 or CYP2C19 inhibition by the PPI. In addition, PPIs may also be responsible for other interactions within clopidogrel's pharmacokinetic pathway, such as a reduction in absorption, mediated by an increase in gastric pH (Scott et al., 2014). Lower rates of formation of clopidogrel's active metabolite and subsequent lower levels of clopidogrel induced platelet inhibition increase the risk of clopidogrel non-response and adverse cardiovascular events.

Several studies have investigated the potential interaction between PPIs and clopidogrel. In a study of 52 patients who had undergone PCI with drug eluting stent (DES) implantation, Arbel and colleagues (Arbel et al., 2013) demonstrated a clear association between omeprazole usage and clopidogrel related HTPR as measured by the VerifyNow system. Similarly, in a large, 59,000 patient, observational study, PPI usage in clopidogrel treated patients was associated with a 27% increase in the risk of thrombotic events (HR 1.27; 95% CI 1.12 to 1.45) (Kim et al., 2019), with CYP2C19-inhibiting PPIs increasing the risk further. Furthermore, several meta-analyses have demonstrated a clear association between PPI usage and elevated cardiovascular risk in patients being treated with clopidogrel. In a recent meta-analysis of 11 studies published between 2012 and 2016 (Bundhun et al., 2017), a 37% increase in the risk of MACE was observed in clopidogrel treated patients who were coadministered PPI. These data are in keeping with earlier meta-analyses which have also demonstrated similar increases in the level of risk from clopidogrel and PPI co-administration (Siller-Matula et al., 2010). Given these data, regulatory agencies worldwide have recommended against co-prescription of PPIs and clopidogrel which has resulted in a

significant decline in the use of PPIs in clopidogrel treated patients, with co-prescription dropping by 53% between 2006 and 2012 alone (Guerin et al., 2016).

However, the observed association between clopidogrel, PPIs and adverse cardiovascular outcomes has not been universally observed. No significant association between PPI use and adverse cardiovascular outcomes in clopidogrel treated patients was observed in post hoc analyses of three large cardiovascular outcome studies (TRANSLATE-ACS, TRILOGY-ACS and CREDO) (Dunn et al., 2013, Jackson et al., 2016, Nicolau et al., 2015), whilst pharmacodynamic studies have also failed to detect an association between PPI usage and clopidogrel induced platelet inhibition (Przespolewski et al., 2018). In addition, a recent meta-analysis from Demcsak and colleagues (Demcsak et al., 2018), which included 27 studies and over 150,000 recruited patients, did not demonstrate a significant association between PPI use and the risk of MACE in clopidogrel treated patients following a robust sub-group analysis (RR 0.99; 95% CI 0.76 to 1.28, P=0.93).

The underlying cause for these discordant data is unclear. In a subgroup analysis of the TRIUMPH study, Depta et al (Depta et al., 2015) demonstrated that ethnicity and CYP2C19 genotype may have a significant influence on the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcome in patients co-prescribed clopidogrel and PPI. In this study, a significant association between PPI use in clopidogrel treated patients and outcome was detected for Caucasian patients but not for African-American patients. In addition, whilst an overall association between outcome and PPI use was observed in Caucasian patients (HR 1.62; 95% CI 1.19 to 2.19, P=0.002), this was only observed in patients carrying the CYP2C19*17 allele (HR 2.05; 95% CI 1.26 to 3.33, P=0.003), whilst CYP2C19 wild-type homozygotes did not demonstrate a significant association between PPI use and outcome (HR 1.51; 95% CI 0.90 to 2.54, P=0.12). Furthermore, a number of studies have highlighted that PPIs are associated with adverse effects which may increase the risk of adverse cardiovascular events independent of their putative interactions with clopidogrel. These include development of *Clostridium difficile* associated diarrhoea, osteoporosis and renal dysfunction. In addition, Pello-Lazaro et al (Pello Lazaro et al., 2017) demonstrated that PPI use in ACS patients increased the risk of heart failure and death, but not recurrent ischaemia, independently of clopidogrel usage in a cohort of ACS patients. However, these data have not been replicated in other studies (Fortuna et al., 2016) or in meta-analyses (Batchelor et al., 2018).

An alternative explanation for the clopidogrel-PPI interaction is to consider the indication for PPI treatment. In the context of cardiovascular disease, PPIs are often prescribed to prevent

gastrointestinal bleeding from aspirin administration (Pelliccia et al., 2015). However, they are also commonly prescribed for a variety of gastro-intestinal disorders including gastrooesophageal reflux disease, peptic ulcer disease and non-ulcer related dyspepsia (Batchelor et al., 2018), some of which may be related to or caused by infection with *Helicobacter Pylori*.

H. Pylori is a spiral shaped, Gram negative, bacterium that colonises the gastric mucosa and is associated with the development of gastritis, peptic ulcer disease and gastric cancer (Jamkhande et al., 2016). Infection with *H. Pylori* is subclinical with no overt signs and symptoms and as such it is regarded as a chronic, asymptomatic, infection, diagnosed only at the point of development of gastrointestinal symptoms. In addition, *H. Pylori* secretes a number of virulence factors, such as cytotoxin gene A (CagA) which may generate a local and systemic inflammatory response (Kucukazman et al., 2015). This inflammatory response may also increase the level of vascular inflammation with consequent endothelial cell dysfunction, immune cell activation and increased platelet reactivity, culminating in a greater atherosclerotic burden and higher risk of adverse cardiovascular events.

Several studies have demonstrated an association between H. Pylori infection and cardiovascular disease. In a study of 204 patients with ACS, Tabata et al (Tabata et al., 2016c) demonstrated a significant association between positive H. Pylori serology and occurrence of ST-elevation MI. Similarly, in a further study by the same group, H. Pylori seropositivity was associated with worse clinical outcomes in ACS patients followed up for three years (Tabata et al., 2016b). These data are in keeping with a large meta-analysis by Liu and colleagues (Liu et al., 2014) of 26 studies and over 20,000 patients which demonstrated a twofold increase in risk of myocardial infarction in *H. Pylori* seropositive patients (OR 2.10; 95% CI 1.75 to 2.53, P=0.006). Importantly, several studies have also demonstrated that H. Pylori eradication may reduce markers of vascular dysfunction and improve clinical outcomes. Blum et al (Blum et al., 2011) demonstrated a significant improvement in endothelial dysfunction following eradication therapy with histopathologically confirmed H. Pylori infection, with other studies demonstrating similar reductions in inflammatory markers, such as sCD40L, post eradication therapy (Kebapcilar et al., 2009). Similarly, eradication of H. Pylori has been demonstrated to significantly reduce the risk of further adverse cardiovascular events in acute coronary syndromes (Elizalde et al., 2004).

Taken together, these data suggest that *H. Pylori* may be an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease. Given that a common reason for PPI prescription is non-specific gastrointestinal symptoms, it is possible that a number of PPI treated ACS patients have an

undiagnosed *H. Pylori* infection that may contribute to an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular events caused by *H. Pylori* induced vascular inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. As previously discussed, inflammation is an important contributor to antiplatelet treatment failure and it is therefore possible that part of the observed clopidogrel-PPI interaction is due to the pro-inflammatory effects of *H. Pylori* as opposed to a pharmacokinetic interaction at CYP2C19. In addition, *H. Pylori* infection rates are likely to vary widely between different study populations which may contribute to the lack of consistent association between adverse clinical outcomes and clopidogrel-PPI co-prescription.

In order to investigate this hypothesis, a nested case-control study investigating the association between *H. Pylori* infection and clinical outcome was performed in a cohort of patients with non-ST elevation acute coronary syndromes (NSTEACS) who were treated with both clopidogrel and a PPI.

6.2: Methods

6.2.1: Patient Cohort

Patients were recruited from the prospective 'Pharmacogenetics of Acute Coronary Syndrome' (PhACS) study which has been described previously. Briefly, subjects were included in this study if they had a primary diagnosis of an acute coronary syndrome. Specific exclusions included ST elevation MI and other diagnoses likely to be responsible for an elevated troponin.

Subjects were followed up for a minimum of 12 months from recruitment, with two physical visits at month 1 and month 12 for blood sampling and interview. Subjects were followed up annually thereafter with a telephone interview and review of their case notes. Blood sampling at physical visits included samples for genotyping (baseline visit only), platelet function, RNA and serum.

The primary outcome measure was a composite of cardiovascular mortality, non-fatal MI and non-fatal stroke, based on outcome definitions from the PLATO, TRITON-TIMI 38 and HORIZONS-AMI studies (Mehran et al., 2008, Wallentin et al., 2009, Wiviott et al., 2007). Secondary outcomes included all-cause mortality, bleeding and development of left ventricular failure.

The study received ethical approval from the Liverpool Adult Research Ethics Committee and was conducted in compliance with Good Clinical Practice and the Declaration of Helsinki.

6.2.2: Patient Selection

Patients were selected for this study on a case-control basis. Cases were defined as patients who had suffered an ischaemic event consistent with the primary outcome measure definition. Cases were matched 1:1 with other patients recruited to the PhACS study who did not suffer an ischaemic event.

Subjects were matched for the following criteria:

- Gender
- Age (+/- 5 years)
- BMI (obese / not obese)
- On clopidogrel at discharge from the index admission
- On a PPI at discharge from the index admission
- Diabetes status
- Follow up period for the control subject exceeds the case subject's time to first cardiovascular event

Wherever possible, other cardiovascular risk factors were matched between the case and control subjects.

6.2.3: *H. Pylori* Serology

H. Pylori serology was measured by the Microbiology Department at the Royal Liverpool University Hospital. Anti-*H.Pylori* antibodies were measured using the INOVA Diagnostics (San Diego, CA, USA) QUANTA Lite H. Pylori IgG ELISA in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions and standard procedures. Results are given as Positive (>25 U/L), Equivocal (20-25 U/L) and Negative (<20 U/L).

6.2.4: CYP2C19 Genotype

Raw genotype data were provided by Dr Vanessa Fontana, University of Liverpool, UK. Briefly, DNA samples from the PhACS study were genotyped using the Illumina HumanOmniExpressExome-8 v1.0 BeadChip array at Edinburgh Genomics. Samples and variants were excluded if the genotype call-rate was <95%, minor allele frequency <0.05 or the variant deviated from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Imputation up to the 1000 Genomes Phase I reference panel was undertaken using IMPUTE2. Data were reported separately for each genotype and were analysed using either an additive or dominant inheritance model. In addition, the data for the *CYP2C19*2* and **17* alleles were combined into a metaboliser status as defined by the genetic analyses of the PLATO, CURE and ACTIVE-A trials (Pare et al., 2010, Wallentin et al., 2010). Any carrier of a **17* allele was characterised as an ultra-rapid metaboliser (UM, unless they also carried a **2* allele, in which case they were defined as an indeterminate metaboliser(IndM)), **1* allele homozygotes were defined as extensive metabolisers (EM), **2* allele heterozygotes were characterised as indeterminate metabolisers as a **17* allele, in which case they were defined as indeterminate metabolisers (IndM)) and **2* allele homozygotes were defined as poor metabolisers (PM). Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium was assessed for both the *CYP2C19*17* and *CYP2C19*2* alleles.

6.2.5: Statistical Analysis

Data were presented as mean and standard deviation for continuous data and frequencies or percentages for categorical variables. For continuous variables, data were compared using either a t-test or ANOVA. Categorical data were compared using a Chi-squared test. Simple and logistic regression analyses were conducted to investigate the relationship between *H. Pylori* serology, *CYP2C19* genotype, clinical variables and case-control status. A result was considered statistically significant if the P value was less than 0.05. Data were analysed using SPSS version 24 (SPSS, Chicago, USA).

6.3: Results

6.3.1: Patient Characteristics

Out of 1470 patients recruited to the PhACS study, a total of 472 (32.1%) were discharged from the index admission receiving both clopidogrel and a PPI. 73 patients (15.5%) had a further ischaemic event, of which 69 were successfully matched with a control subject. Genetic or *H. Pylori* serology data were unavailable for two subjects, leaving a total of 67 cases and 67 controls which were included in the final analysis. A summary of patient demographics, clinical risk factors and medications is provided in **Table 6.1**. Control patients were noted to have a significantly lower incidence of prior coronary artery bypass grafting; otherwise there were no significant differences in cardiac risk factors, symptom scores or concomitant medications between the case and control groups. Importantly, both groups were well matched for PPIs which are CYP2C19 inhibitors (omeprazole and esomeprazole). In the case group, the first ischaemic event was myocardial infarction in 41 patients (61.2%), cardiovascular death in 20 patients (29.8%) and CVA in 6 patients (9.0%).

6.3.2: H. Pylori Serology

H. Pylori data were available for all subjects in the final analysis. In the 134 patients included in the current study, a total of 42 patients (31.3%) were positive for *H. Pylori* IgG and a further five (3.7%) had equivocal results (**Table 6.2**).

6.3.3: CYP2C19 genotype

A total of 128 subjects had available *CYP2C19* genotype data. For the *CYP2C19*17* genotype, 46 patients were heterozygotes for the variant allele (35.9%) while seven patients were variant homozygotes (5.5%). Allelic frequencies were 0.77 for the *1 allele and 0.23 for the *17 allele. For the *CYP2C19*2* allele, 29 patients carried one copy of the variant allele (22.7%) while 2 patients (1.5%) carried two copies, i.e. were homozygotes. The allelic frequencies were 0.87 for the *1 allele and 0.13 for the *2 allele. No polymorphism deviated significantly from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. As discussed previously, the *CYP2C19*17* and *CYP2C19*2* genotypes were combined into a metaboliser status for each patient. A total of 48 patients (37.5%) were categorised as UMs, 49 as EMs (38.3%), 24 as IMs (18.8%), 2 as PMs (1.5%) and 5 (3.9%) were categorised as indeterminate metabolisers (IndMs) (**Tables 6.3, 6.4 and 6.5**).

		Cases	Controls	P-value
	N	67	67	1.00
Malas	N	46	46	1.00
iviales	%	68.66	68.66	1.00
	Mean	71.78	70.80	
	SD	12.01	10.97	
A	Median	73.64	73.59	0.20
Age	Q1	64.48	64.32	0.29
	Q3	81.30	77.82	
	IQR	16.82	13.49	
	Mean	30.11	29.32	
	SD	6.90	6.04	
PMI	Median	28.41	27.74	0.10
Bivii	Q1	25.44	25.60	0.10
	Q3	33.18	31.66	
	IQR	7.74	6.06	
Hyportonsion	N	46	46	1.00
nypertension	%	68.66	68.66	1.00
Hyperlinidaemia	Ν	43	41	0.72
пуретриаетна	%	64.18	61.19	0.72
PAD	Ν	4	7	0.25
FAD	%	5.97	10.45	0.35
CKD	Ν	12	6	0.13
	%	17.91	8.96	0.15
DM	N	22	22	1.00
DIVI	%	32.84	32.84	1.00
Prior MI	Ν	40	35	0.38
	%	59.70	52.24	0.50
Prior PCI	Ν	18	14	0.42
Prior PCI	%	26.87	20.90	0.42
Prior CABG	Ν	20	7	0.01
	%	29.85	10.45	0.01
Current Smoker	Ν	12	16	0.40

	%	17.91	23.88	
Drovious Smoker	N	38	28	0.08
Previous Smoker	%	56.72	41.79	0.08
New Swelton	N	17	22	0.24
Non Smoker	%	25.37	32.84	0.34
	Mean	1.38	1.30	
CCS	SD	1.09	1.10	0.50
	Median	1	1	
Acairia	N	58	63	0.14
Aspirin	%	86.57	94.03	0.14
Clanidagral	N	67	67	1.00
Clopidogrei	%	100.00	100.00	1.00
Warfarin	N	2	0	0.15
wanann	%	2.99	0.00	0.15
	N	0	3	0.08
	%	0.00	4.48	0.08
Rota-Blocker	N	53	54	0 83
Beta-Diockei	%	79.10	80.60	0.85
CCB	N	19	15	0.43
	%	28.36	22.39	0.45
Nitrato	N	49	46	0.57
Nitiate	%	73.13	68.66	0.57
Statin	N	62	64	0.47
Statin	%	92.54	95.52	0.47
	N	54	50	0.41
	%	80.60	74.63	0.41
ARB	N	6	11	0 19
	%	8.96	16.42	0.15
DDI	Ν	67	67	1 00
	%	100.00	100.00	1.00
Omenrazole	N	33	29	0 / 0
	%	49.25	43.28	0.49
Esomeprazole	N	1	2	0.56

	%	1.49	2.99	
	N	34	31	0.60
Omep or Esomep	%	50.75	46.27	0.60
Death	Ν	20		
Death	%	29.9		
D41	N	41	ΝΔ	NIA
IVII	%	61.2	NA	NA
C)/A	N	6		
CVA	%	9.0		

Table 6.1 – Characteristics of the included patients

		All	Case	Control
	Total n	134	67	67
H. Pylori	n	42	20	22
Positive	%	31.3	29.9	32.8
H. Pylori	n	87	45	42
Negative	%	64.9	67.2	62.7
H. Pylori	n	5	2	3
Equivocal	%	3.7	3.0	4.5

Table 6.2 – *H. Pylori* serology results

							Ge	enotyp	oe freque			All	elic fre	que	ncy		
			*1*1 *1*17 *1		*17*17		D.Value	Duchus (Dear)	Any *		Any *17		Duralius (Dam)	*1 *1		17	
SNP	Group	Total	n	%	n	%	n	%	P-value	P-value (Regr)	n	%	P-value (Dom)	n	Freq	n	Freq
7	All patients	128	75 58.6 46 35.9 7 5.5 NA NA		NA	53	41.4	NA	196	0.77	60	0.23					
. 1.	Case Patients	64	34	53.1	26	40.6	4	6.3		0 222	30	46.9	0.200	94	0.73	34	0.27
C19	Control Patients	64	41	64.1	20	31.3	3	4.7	0.454	0.322	23	35.9	0.209	102	0.80	26	0.20
YP2	H. Pylori Positive	39	24	61.5	13	33.3	2	5.1	0.070	NA	15	38.5	0.022	61	0.78	17	0.22
ΰ	H. Pylori Negative	84	50	59.5	29	34.5	5	6.0	0.970	NA	34	40.5	0.832	129	0.77	39	0.23

Table 6.3 – Relationship between the CYP2C19*17 polymorphism, case-control status and *H.Pylori* serology results (Regr – regression model, Dom – dominant inheritance model)

							Ge	noty	pe freque			All	elic fre	eque	ncy		
			*	1*1	*	1*2	*	*2*2 B value			Any *2		Duchus (Dam)	*1		*2	
SNP	Group	Total	n	%	n	%	n	%	P-value	P-value (Regr)	n	%	P-value (Dom)	n	Freq	n	Freq
	All patients	128	97	75.8	29	22.7	2	1.6	NA	NA NA S		24.2	NA	223	0.87	33	0.13
9*2	Case Patients	64	54	84.4	10	15.6	0	0.0	0.040	0.014	10	15.6	0.022	118	0.92	10	0.08
2C1	Control Patients	64	43	67.2	19	29.7	2	3.1	0.049	0.049 0.014		32.8	0.023	105	0.82	23	0.18
ΥP	H. Pylori Positive	39	30	76.9	8	20.5	1	2.6	0.752	0.212	9	23.1	0 714	68	0.87	10	0.13
	H. Pylori Negative	84	62	73.8	21	25.0	1	1.2	0.752	0.313	22	26.2	0.711	145	0.86	23	0.14

Table 6.4 – Relationship between the CYP2C19*2 polymorphism, case-control status and *H.Pylori* serology results (Regr – regression model, Dom – dominant inheritance model)

								Phe	notyp	e freq	uency				
			Ultr	a-rapid	Exte	nsive	Intern	nediate	Ро	or	Indeterm.		Divolue	Dyskup (Degr)	
SNP	Group	Total	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	P-value	P-value (Regr)	
	All patients	128	48	37.5	49	38.3	24	18.8	2	1.6	5	3.9	NA	NA	
iser	Case Patients	64	26	40.6	28	43.8	6	9.4	0	0.0	4	6.3	0.025	0.000	
abol	Control Patients	64	22	34.4	21	32.8	18	28.1	2	3.1	1	1.6	0.025	0.008	
Met	<i>H. Pylori</i> Positive	39	14	35.9	16	41.0	7	17.9	1	2.6	1	2.6	0.044	0 570	
	<i>H. Pylori</i> Negative	84	30	35.7	32	38.1	17	20.2	1	1.2	4	4.8	0.944	0.570	

Table 6.5 – Relationship between the CYP2C19 metaboliser status, case-control status and H.Pylori serology results (Regr – regression model)

6.3.4: Relationship between H.Pylori serology and case-control status

There was no significant association detected between case-control status and positive *H. Pylori* serology. A total of 20 patients (29.9%) in the case group tested positive for *H. Pylori* antibodies compared to 22 (32.8%) in the control group (P=0.819). After including a number of clinical co-variates (Age, gender, obesity, diabetes status, hypertension and chronic kidney disease) in a regression analysis, the overall P-value for the association between positive *H. Pylori* serology and case-control status was 0.88. In addition, no other included clinical co-variates were significantly associated with case-control status (**Table 6.2**).

6.3.5: Relationship between CYP2C19 genotype and case-control status

For *CYP2C19*17*, no significant association was detected between genotype frequency and case-control status. For case patients, the genotype frequencies for the *1*1, *1*17 and *17*17 genotypes were 53.1%, 40.6% and 6.3% respectively, in comparison to 64.1%, 31.3% and 4.7% in the control arm (P=0.454 for an additive model, P=0.209 for a dominant model). After including clinical co-variates (age, gender, obesity, diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and CKD), the overall association between *CYP2C19*17* genotype and case-control status remained non-significant (P=0.322). Furthermore, no associations between clinical co-variates and *CYP2C19*17* genotype were detected (**Tables 6.3 and 6.6**).

However, for *CYP2C19*2*, a significant association between genotype frequency and casecontrol status was demonstrated. For case patients, the genotype frequencies for the *1*1, *1*2 and *2*2 genotypes were 84.4%, 15.6% and 0% respectively, compared to 67.2%, 29.7% and 3.1% in the control subjects (P=0.049 for an additive model, P=0.023 for a dominant model). Following inclusion of clinical factors in a regression model (age, gender, obesity, diabetes, hyperlipidaemia and CKD), the overall association between *CYP2C19*2* genotype and case-control status remained significant (P=0.014). In a sub-group analysis, a significant association between *CYP2C19*2* genotype and case-control status was only detected in patients who were *H. Pylori* negative, with *H. Pylori* positive patients demonstrating no significant association between genotype and case-control status (P=0.614). In *H. Pylori* negative case patients, 86% had a *1*1 genotype, 14% had a *1*2 genotype and 0% had the *2*2 genotype. In comparison, the *H. Pylori* negative control patients reported genotype frequencies of 61.0% for *1*1, 36.6% for *1*2 and 2.4% for *2*2 (P=0.028 for an additive model, P=0.009 for a dominant model) (**Table 6.4 and 6.7**). In addition, a significant association was demonstrated between combined metaboliser status and case-control status, with control patients having a significantly higher number of intermediate and poor metabolisers compared to the case patients. For the case patients, the metaboliser frequencies for UMs, EMs, IMs, PMs and IndMs were 40.6%, 43.8%, 9.4%, 0% and 6.3% respectively, in comparison to 34.4%, 32.8%, 28.1%, 3.1% and 1.6% in the control patients (P=0.025). Following inclusion of clinical factors in a regression analysis, the association remained significant for intermediate metabolisers only (P=0.016). As expected, a significant association between metaboliser status and case-control status was only detected in cases and control patients that tested negative for *H. Pylori* (P=0.617 for *H. Pylori* positive patients, P=0.022 for *H. Pylori* negative patients) (**Table 6.5 and 6.8**).

6.3.6: Relationship between H. Pylori serology and CYP2C19 genotype

For *CYP2C19*17*, no significant association was detected between genotype and *H. Pylori* serology. In the *H. Pylori* positive patients, the genotype frequencies for *1*1, *1*17 and *17*17 were 61.5%, 33.3% and 5.1% respectively, which compared to 59.5%, 34.5% and 6.0% in *H. Pylori* negative patients (P=0.970 for an additive model, P=0.832 for a dominant model) (**Table 6.3 and 6.6**).

Similarly, for *CYP2C19*2* no significant association was detected between *H. Pylori* status and genotype. Genotype frequencies were 76.9%, 20.5% and 2.6% for the *1*1, *1*2 and *2*2 genotypes in *H. Pylori* positive patients, which compared to 73.8%, 25.0% and 1.2% respectively in *H. Pylori* negative patients (P=0.752 for an additive model, P= 0.711 for a dominant model) (**Table 6.4 and 6.7**).

Given the detected association between the *CYP2C19*2* polymorphism and case-control status in *H. Pylori* negative patients, the association between genotype and *H. Pylori* status was assessed in the individual case and control groups. In *H. Pylori* positive case patients, the genotype frequencies for *1*1, *1*2 and *2*2 were 78.9%, 21.1% and 0% respectively, in comparison to 86.0%, 14.0% and 0% in *H. Pylori* negative case patients (P=0.484 for both additive and dominant models). In the control patients, the genotype frequencies were 75.0%, 20.0% and 5.0% for the *1*1, *1*2 and *2*2 genotypes respectively in *H. Pylori* positive controls, which compared to 61.0%, 36.6% and 2.4% respectively in the *H. Pylori* negative controls (P=0.394 for an additive model, P=0.279 for a dominant model). With inclusion of clinical variables (age, gender, obesity, diabetes, hypertension, hyperlipidaemia and CKD), there remained no significant association between *CYP2C19*2* genotype and *H. Pylori* status overall (P=0.313) (**Table 6.4 and 6.7**).

Finally, no association was detected between a combined metaboliser status and *H. Pylori* serology. The metaboliser frequencies for UMs, EMs, IMs, PMs and IndMs in *H. Pylori* positive patients was 35.9%, 41.0%, 17.9%, 2.6% and 2.6% respectively, which compared to 35.7%, 38.1%, 20.2%, 1.2% and 4.8% in the *H. Pylori* negative patients (P=0.944). When analysed within the individual case and control groups, there remained no association between metaboliser status and *H. Pylori* status with inclusion of clinical variables having no effect (P=0.570) (**Table 6.5 and 6.8**).

								Genoty	oe frequency					
			*	1*1	*1*17 *17*17			Duralius (D)	Any *17		P-value	P-value		
SNP	Group	Total	n	%	n	%	n	%	P-value (A)	P-value (B)	n	%	(A)	(B)
19*17	Case, HP Positive	19	12	63.2	7	36.8	0	0.0	0.358	0.364	7	36.8	0.839 (HP Pos)	0.425
	Cont, HP Positive	20	12	60.0	6	30.0	2	10.0	(HP Pos)	(Case)	8	40.0		(Case)
P2C	Case, HP Negative	43	22	51.2	17	39.5	4	9.3	0.218	0.426	21	48.8	0.132	0.522
ζ	Cont, HP Negative	41	28	68.3	12	29.3	1	2.4	(HP Neg)	(Cont)	13	31.7	(HP Neg)	(Cont)

A = Comparison between Cases & Controls with same HP serology

status

B = Comparison between HP positives and negatives with same case-control status

 Table 6.6 – CYP2C19*17 polymorphism sub-group analysis

			Genotype frequency											
			*1*1		*	*1*2		2*2		D volue (P)	Any *2			Duralua (D)
SNP	Group	Total	n	%	n	%	n	%	P-value (A)	P-value (B)	n	%	P-value (A)	F-value (B)
CYP2C19*2	Case, HP Positive	19	15	78.9	4	21.1	0	0.0	0.614	0.484 (Case)	4	21.1	0.770 (HP Pos)	0.484 (Case)
	Cont, HP Positive	20	15	75.0	4	20.0	1	5.0	(HP Pos)		5	25.0		
	Case, HP Negative	43	37	86.0	6	14.0	0	0.0	0.028	0.394 (Cont)	6	14.0	0.009 (HP Neg)	0.279 (Cont)
	Cont, HP Negative	41	25	61.0	15	36.6	1	2.4	(HP Neg)		16	39.0		

A = Comparison between Cases & Controls with same HP serology status

B = Comparison between HP positives and negatives with same case-control status

Table 6.7 - CYP2C19*2 polymorphism sub-group analysis

			Phenotype frequency											
				Ultra-rapid		Extensive		Intermediate		Poor		determ.		P-value
SNP	Group	Total	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	n	%	P-value (A)	(B)
Metaboliser	Case, HP Positive	19	6	31.6	9	47.4	3	15.8	0	0.0	1	5.3	0.617	0.302 (Case)
	Cont, HP Positive	20	8	40.0	7	35.0	4	20.0	1	5.0	0	0.0	(HP Pos)	
	Case, HP Negative	43	18	41.9	19	44.2	3	7.0	0	0.0	3	7.0	0.022	0.702 (Cont)
	Cont, HP Negative	41	12	29.3	13	31.7	14	34.1	1	2.4	1	2.4	(HP Neg)	

A = Comparison between Cases & Controls with same HP serology status

B = Comparison between HP positives and negatives with same case-control status

 Table 6.8 - CYP2C19 metaboliser phenotype sub-group analysis

6.4: Discussion

In this study, we did not detect a significant association between positive *H. Pylori* serology and the risk of further cardiovascular events in the context of acute coronary syndromes. Whilst these findings are inconsistent with most *in vitro* and clinical biomarker studies that suggest a mechanistic link between *H. Pylori* infection and increased cardiovascular risk, our findings are in keeping with larger clinical outcome studies that do not clearly demonstrate an association between *H. Pylori* infection and poor cardiovascular outcomes.

Several studies have demonstrated potential molecular pathways by which *H. Pylori* may increase the degree and severity of atherosclerosis. Li and colleagues (Li et al., 2017b) demonstrated that *H. Pylori* CagA positive strains induced greater expression of cytokines compared to CagA negative strains, via activation of the c-Met-PI3K/Akt-mTOR signalling pathway. In addition, *H. Pylori* has been demonstrated to induce NLRP3 expression (Pachathundikandi and Backert, 2018) in THP-1 monocytes via specific microRNA upregulation. Analysis of other *H. Pylori* associated miRNAs and mRNA interactions by Yang and colleagues (Yang et al., 2018b) has also identified a number of genes and proteins that are significantly altered by *H. Pylori* infection and may increase the risk of cardiovascular disease, inflammation and cancer.

H. Pylori infection has also been associated with the development and acceleration of atherosclerosis. In mice infected with *H. Pylori* and fed with a high-fat diet, atherosclerotic burden is significantly increased compared to non- *H. Pylori* infected animals (Ayada et al., 2009). Furthermore, eradication of *H. Pylori* or immunisation with *Hp*-HSP60 reduced the burden of atherosclerosis and reduced the elevated Th1 mediated immune response observed on *H. Pylori* infection. However, unlike other chronic bacterial infections such as *Chlamydia pneumoniae*, *H. Pylori* specific Th1-cells have not been demonstrated in atherosclerotic plaques from *H. Pylori* infected patients (Benagiano et al., 2003), although other studies have demonstrated that *H. Pylori* can be cultured from human atherosclerotic plaques (Izadi et al., 2012).

An alternative mechanism by which *H. Pylori* could increase the risk of adverse cardiovascular events is by altering platelet reactivity. In healthy volunteers, *H. Pylori* has been demonstrated to increase platelet reactivity by binding vWF with consequent interaction with the platelet GPIb receptor which, importantly, also requires the presence of anti-*H. Pylori* IgG (Byrne et al., 2003). In addition, *H. Pylori* urease has also been demonstrated to activate platelets in rabbits via a lipo-oxygenase mediated pathway (Wassermann et al.,

2010). Scopel-Guerra and colleagues (Scopel-Guerra et al., 2017) also demonstrated that *H. Pylori* urease related platelet activation induces production of pro-inflammatory mediators such as IL-1 β and CD14, which may further increase the pro-inflammatory state induced by *H. Pylori* infection. However, in this current study, we could not assess platelet reactivity as an outcome as only a small proportion of the included patients were recruited from sites which could perform platelet function tests.

In human studies, H. Pylori infection has been associated with a number of different biomarkers associated with cardiovascular disease. In a study of 185 patients with coronary artery disease and 80 healthy controls, Badran and colleagues (Badran and Mahfouz, 2007) demonstrated a significant association between H. Pylori CagA IgG positive serology and raised inflammatory markers, whilst CagA positive patients had a fourfold increase in the risk of atrial fibrillation (OR 3.59; 95% CI 1.87-6.94, P<0.001). Similarly, in a cohort of 159 patients with coronary artery disease, Huang et al (Huang et al., 2011) observed a clear association between H. Pylori infection and higher levels of total cholesterol, LDL-cholesterol, OxLDL and hsCRP, with CagA expressing *H. Pylori* strains demonstrating the largest increases in lipid and inflammatory markers compared to the CagA negative strains. In addition, H Pylori infection has been demonstrated to induce endothelial dysfunction which was also associated with higher levels of inflammatory and cell-adhesion markers (Oshima et al., 2005). Taken together, these data suggest that H. Pylori infection is pro-inflammatory, with direct effects on the vascular endothelium which may consequently increase the risk of vascular disease. Furthermore, several studies have reported associations between H. Pylori infection and the presence of conventional vascular risk factors, such as hyperlipidaemia (Kim et al., 2016) and hypertension (Wan et al., 2018). However, several other studies have failed to replicate the association between H. Pylori infection and the presence of vascular risk factors (Kim et al., 2016, Lu et al., 2014), which is in keeping with the data from our study where no such association was detected.

Despite clear associations between *H. Pylori* infection and a number of different inflammatory and vascular biomarkers, the association between clinical outcome and *H. Pylori* is less clear, with some studies reporting positive associations and others not. For example, in patients with diabetes mellitus, Hamed et al demonstrated a significant association between *H. Pylori* infection and risks of micro and macrovascular diabetic complications, which was also associated with higher levels of TNF- α and IL-6 in *H. Pylori* positive patients (Hamed et al., 2008). Furthermore, in a large, retrospective, cross-sectional study of 17,322 patients with *H. Pylori* and 69,328 matched controls, Huang and colleagues

(Huang et al., 2014) demonstrated a 50% increase in risk of ischaemic stroke (HR 1.52; 95%CI 1.40-1.65).

However, most studies have failed to replicate an association between H. Pylori and clinical outcomes. In a prospective nested case-control study of 29,876 subjects without overt cardiovascular disease, Ikeda and colleagues (Ikeda et al., 2013) could not detect an association between positive H. Pylori IgG serology and adverse cardiovascular outcomes, such as stroke and MI, over an eight year follow up period. Similarly, in data from the 9895 patient NHANES III study (Chen et al., 2013), H. Pylori status was not associated with the risk of all-cause or stroke mortality with an inverse association reported between H. Pylori Cag A positive patients and stroke related mortality (HR 0.45; 95% CI 0.27-0.76). Finally, in a nested case-control study of similar design to our study, Lin et al (Lin et al., 2015) also failed to detect any association between positive *H. Pylori* serology and the risk of cardiovascular mortality in a large cohort of otherwise healthy subjects. Whilst a meta-analysis of 26 case-control studies (Liu et al., 2015) demonstrated a strong association between positive H. Pylori serology and risk of myocardial infarction, it should be noted that most included studies were cross-sectional and did not include prospective data. In the included prospective studies, the association between H. Pylori serology and outcome was weaker and often not significant. It is therefore unclear whether the overall association reported by Liu's meta-analysis represents a true effect of *H. Pylori* or whether it has been confounded by study design and retrospective data capture. Furthermore, in a meta-analysis of ten prospective cohort and case-control studies, Yu et al did not demonstrate any significant association between positive *H. Pylori* serology and risk of stroke (Yu et al., 2014).

Taken together, these data suggest that the impact of positive *H. Pylori* serology on clinical outcomes is minimal despite its well characterised effects on a cellular and biomarker level. Indeed, the lack of association with clinical outcomes is entirely consistent with the findings from our study, which failed to detect a significant association between *H. Pylori* serology and case-control status. Importantly, however, our study did not measure any inflammatory biomarkers and therefore we cannot determine whether higher levels of inflammatory markers or pro-inflammatory cytokines were associated with either case-control or *H. Pylori* status, as has been described in previous studies. In addition, a significant limitation of our study (and most of the published data) is the use of *H. Pylori* antibody status alone as a marker of active *H. Pylori* infection. Stool tests for *H. Pylori* antibody, which may be a marker of previous, rather than active, exposure (Braden, 2012). However, stool tests

and the urea breath test are more complex and costly to perform than the standard serology test and consequently most studies have investigated only *H. Pylori* antibodies. In addition, a significant proportion of studies investigating the association between *H. Pylori* infection and clinical outcome have been conducted in mostly asymptomatic patients without overt cardiovascular disease or significant cardiovascular risk factors. It is therefore unclear whether *H. Pylori* infection may be an important additive factor in the context of acute coronary syndrome given its potential pro-inflammatory and pro-atherogenic effects demonstrated *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Our study also demonstrated a significant association between *CYP2C19*2* genotype and case-control status, with control patients having significantly higher allelic frequencies for the variant, loss-of-function, *2 allele. In addition, this effect was only observed in *H. Pylori* negative patients and not in patients with positive *H. Pylori* serology. Whilst the *CYP2C19*2* allele has been determined as a risk factor for adverse cardiovascular events in patients treated with clopidogrel (Mega et al., 2010b), our study observed a higher frequency of the *2 allele in the control group rather than the case group. This suggests that the observed association in our study is not mediated by non-response to clopidogrel but perhaps by an effect on PPI metabolism, which is also catalysed by the CYP2C19 isoenzyme.

Several studies have suggested that *CYP2C19* polymorphisms may affect the efficacy of PPIs. In a study of 120 Japanese, *H. Pylori* negative, healthy volunteers Sugimoto and colleagues (Sugimoto et al., 2014) demonstrated that intra-gastric pH values were significantly higher in subjects with *CYP2C19*2* and *CYP2C19*3* genotypes compared to wild-type subjects administered either omeprazole, lansoprazole or rabeprazole. Similarly, Deshpande and colleagues demonstrated a significant association between *CYP2C19* genotype and pharmacokinetics of esomeprazole. Poor metabolisers were noted to have significantly higher exposure and maximum concentrations of esomeprazole in comparison to ultra-rapid metabolisers and extensive metabolisers (Deshpande et al., 2016).

The relationship between *CYP2C19* polymorphisms and clinical effectiveness of PPIs has been well studied, particularly in the context of *H. Pylori* eradication. PPIs form a cornerstone of eradication therapy by potentiating the effects of the co-prescribed antibiotics in addition to their own intrinsic anti- *H. Pylori* activity (Kuo et al., 2014). In a study of 200 *H. Pylori* positive patients, Ormeci and colleagues (Ormeci et al., 2016) demonstrated a significantly higher rate of *H. Pylori* eradication failure in patients with a wild-type *CYP2C19* genotype in comparison to carriers of the variant *CYP2C19*2* and **3* alleles. Similarly, Hong et al (Hong
et al., 2016) also demonstrated a significant association between *CYP2C19* genotype and the rate of *H. Pylori* eradication failure in a cohort of 374 patients with duodenal ulcer disease, with an eradication rate of 80.6% in EMs compared to 90.0% in IMs and PMs (OR 4.65; 95% CI 0.257 – 0.843, P = 0.005). However, Chang and colleagues (Chang et al., 2018) failed to demonstrate any significant effect of *CYP2C19* genotype on the rate of *H. Pylori* eradication therapy failure in a cohort of 190 patients with chronic gastritis. Importantly, the effect of *CYP2C19* genotype may be dependent on the type of PPI prescribed, with PPIs that are dependent on *CYP2C19* for their metabolism (e.g. omeprazole) being most closely associated with *CYP2C19* genotype. In a study of 160 *H. Pylori* positive dyspeptic patients, Lin et al (Lin et al., 2017) demonstrated a significant association between the *CYP2C19* extensive metaboliser patients and *H. Pylori* eradication therapy failure in omeprazole treated patients but not in patients treated with rabeprazole, a PPI that is not significantly metabolised by CYP2C19. Of note, in our study, nearly half of the patients included were treated with either omeprazole or esomeprazole, with the remainder being treated with lansoprazole, which is also largely CYP2C19 metabolised.

Whilst CYP2C19 genotype has been demonstrated to affect the success rate of H. Pylori eradication and PPI efficacy, it is not clear how this may relate to the observed higher numbers of CYP2C19*2 allele carriers in H. Pylori negative controls in our study. Furthermore, we did not detect any association between H. Pylori serology status and CYP2C19 genotype, irrespective of whether this was analysed as cases and controls combined or individually within the case and control groups. This suggests that any effect of CYP2C19 polymorphisms on PPI efficacy is not related to carriage of H. Pylori in this study, which is broadly in keeping with the limited published data investigating the effects of PPIs on the gastric microbiota (Parsons et al., 2017). However, given that the association between case-control status and CYP2C19*2 genotype was not observed in H. Pylori positive cases and controls; it is conceivable that there remains an undetected interaction between H. Pylori status, case-control status and CYP2C19 genotype although the underlying cause remains unclear. It should also be noted that the H. Pylori seropositive rate in this casecontrol population is relatively low in comparison to other published data (circa 30% in this study compared to 60-70% in the majority of the published data), and it is likely that the actual number of included patients with active infection is much lower given the limitations of the H. Pylori antibody test. It is possible that the lower prevalence of H. Pylori seropositivity is related to the criteria used to identify cases and controls for this study, given that all participants were treated with a PPI. However, whilst PPIs have been recognised to

have intrinsic anti-H. Pylori activity, little data have been published investigating whether long term PPI treatment lowers the risk of H. Pylori infection. Several studies have demonstrated that any increase in gastric pH alters the gastric microbiome, with either species restriction or expansion depending on the underlying cause for the pH alteration (Parsons et al., 2017). PPIs have been associated with significant species expansion in the gastric flora (Paroni Sterbini et al., 2016), potentiating the growth of a number of bacterial species that are usually inhibited by the unfavourable gastric environment, although the effect on *H. Pylori* growth remains largely unknown. However, the alteration in the gastric microbiome may induce local and systemic inflammation, which may potentially affect the risk of cardiovascular disease. Nonetheless, the lower H. Pylori prevalence in our study, the effect of PPIs on the gastric microbiome and the potential effect of the CYP2C19*2 polymorphism on PPI efficacy do not appear to explain our finding of a significantly higher number of CYP2C19*2 genotypes in H. Pylori negative controls compared to H. Pylori negative case patients. Furthermore, our finding does not appear to be explained by the effect of the CYP2C19*2 polymorphism on clopidogrel metabolism, given that the frequency of the variant allele is higher in patients who did not have further cardiovascular events, which is not in keeping with the known effect of the CYP2C19*2 on clopidogrel's pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics.

There are several other limitations to our study. As discussed previously, we used the serum *H. Pylori* antibody to define *H. Pylori* status which, whilst in keeping with most of the published literature, does not differentiate between currently and previously infected individuals. In addition, we did not record whether subjects had previously received eradication therapy and it is therefore likely that a proportion of *H. Pylori* positive patients in this study may not have had current infection. This represents a significant weakness given that the underlying hypothesis relies on active infection increasing vascular inflammation and consequent cardiovascular risk. Furthermore, we did not assess for *H. Pylori* associated virulence factors, such as CagA, which have been better associated with inflammation and vascular dysfunction in previous studies.

The current study is also limited by the small number of included patients which is partially a consequence of a relatively low proportion of patients being co-prescribed a PPI and clopidogrel following recent regulatory advice regarding the potential clopidogrel and PPI interaction. Consequently, our power to detect associations between *H. Pylori* and casecontrol status is reduced.

In conclusion, this study failed to detect a significant association between *H. Pylori* infection and the risk of adverse cardiovascular events or *CYP2C19* genotype. However, we did detect a significant association between *CYP2C19*2* genotype and case-control status, with higher numbers of patients with the *CYP2C19*2* allele in the control arm compared to the patients with further cardiovascular events. In addition, this association was detected only in *H. Pylori* negative patients, with no significant differences in *CYP2C19* genotype between the *H. Pylori* positive cases and controls. The mechanism underlying this observation remains unclear and requires replication within the whole PhACS cohort to determine its significance.

Furthermore, given the published data demonstrating associations between *H. Pylori* infection, vascular inflammation, platelet reactivity and endothelial dysfunction, further studies investigating the association between *H. Pylori* and the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes should be performed, particularly in the context of unstable cardiovascular disease and PCI. These studies should include robust measures of *H. Pylori* virulence factors, inflammatory biomarkers and platelet reactivity.

Chapter 7 – Final Discussion

Cardiovascular disease remains one of the greatest health challenges worldwide. Over the last 25 years, outcomes have improved significantly by focussing on better management of both acute and chronic disease manifestations. In particular, the evidence-based usage of anti-platelet agents, both aspirin and the ADP receptor blockers, have significantly improved outcomes by inhibiting platelet aggregation which, ultimately, is fundamental to the underlying pathology of acute coronary syndromes.

However, response to anti-platelet agents is variable. Sub-optimal response to anti-platelet agents is common, with several studies demonstrating a significantly worse prognosis in patients deemed non-responsive to anti-platelet drugs. A meta-analysis from Krasopoulos et al (Krasopoulos et al., 2008) of almost 3000 patients and 20 studies identified that 28% of patients were categorised as aspirin resistant, with a fourfold increase in adverse cardiovascular events and a six-fold increase in the risk of death. Similarly for clopidogrel, a meta-analysis of 25 studies and 3688 patients by Snoep et al (Snoep et al., 2007b) reported a mean clopidogrel non-response rate of 21% and an eight-fold higher risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes in clopidogrel non-responsive patients. Furthermore, the newer anti-platelet agents, such as prasugrel and ticagrelor, are also reported to have variable responses. For prasugrel, several studies have reported high on-treatment platelet reactivity (HTPR) in prasugrel treated patients which is associated with poorer outcomes (Sato et al., 2017, Bonello et al., 2011). Similarly, HTPR in ticagrelor treated patients has also been reported, although this may be significantly less prevalent than clopidogrel or prasugrel related HTPR (Lemesle et al., 2015). These data suggest that non-response to anti-platelet drugs is relatively common, with clear effects on cardiovascular outcomes.

The rationale for this thesis was to investigate some of the most important causes for this observed non-response. In particular, this thesis has focussed on the impact of genetic polymorphisms, inflammation and cardiac risk factors on anti-platelet drug response and clinical outcomes in patients with unstable cardiovascular disease. In addition, we have also investigated two potential strategies for personalisation of anti-platelet therapy: genetic markers and pharmacodynamic response via platelet function tests.

7.1: Genetic Factors

In chapters 2 & 3, we demonstrated a clear association between carriage of the CYP2C19*2 polymorphism and poor clinical or pharmacodynamic outcomes in clopidogrel treated patients using large meta-analyses of published data. For the pharmacodynamic metaanalysis, we included 165 studies and performed 25 meta-analyses investigating four methods of testing platelet function and seven genetic polymorphisms. In the clinical metaanalysis, a total of 81 studies were included with four genetic polymorphisms and eight clinical outcome measures investigated. Together, these data demonstrate the critical importance of CYP2C19 loss-of-function polymorphisms on clopidogrel response, with higher platelet reactivity and worse clinical outcomes consistently demonstrated in carriers of the CYP2C19*2 or *3 alleles. This finding is in keeping with a meta-analysis by Mega and colleagues (Mega et al., 2010b) demonstrating a 55% increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events in clopidogrel treated patients carrying the variant CYP2C19 alleles. In addition, in the clinical meta-analysis, we also demonstrated clear association between carriage of the CYP2C19*2 or *3 allele and a range of clinical outcome measures, despite only including studies where survival analysis data were provided or extractable. This finding emphasises the results of Mega's meta-analysis (Mega et al., 2010b) but is not in keeping with the data from Bauer's and Holmes' meta-analysis (Bauer et al., 2011, Holmes et al., 2011), where no consistent association between CYP2C19 variant alleles and clinical outcomes was detected, aside from a weak association with stent thrombosis in both studies and myocardial infarction in Holmes' analysis only. Whilst both Holmes' and Bauer's metaanalyses undertook extensive meta-regression and control of confounding variables, it remains unclear whether their results truly represent the effect of the CYP2C19 genotype on clinical outcome. For example, both meta-analyses rely on published data rather than pooled data used in Mega's meta-analysis, with consequent limitations in reporting (use of odds ratio or relative risk) which may not best represent the time to event analyses reported in many of the included studies. In addition, both meta-analyses include stable and unstable populations together for analysis which may dilute any relationship between CYP2C19 genotype and clinical outcome.

Importantly, we also failed to detect any association between pharmacodynamic or clinical outcomes and other genetic polymorphisms that had variably been demonstrated to be associated with clopidogrel response. This includes polymorphisms involved in clopidogrel absorption (*ABCB1* C3435T) and clopidogrel metabolism (*CYP3A5*3, PON1* Q192R). However, a significant association was observed between *ABCB1* 3435T allele carriers and

platelet reactivity when VASP was used for pharmacodynamic assessment in our pharmacodynamic meta-analysis, but this was not detected when LTA or VerifyNow was used for the assessment of platelet function. The relevance of this finding is unclear, and no association between *ABCB1* C3435T genotype and clinical outcome was detected in the clinical meta-analyses. However, it should be noted that several studies have demonstrated an association between carriage of the T allele and clopidogrel related HTPR (Harmsze et al., 2010a) and adverse clinical outcomes (Mega et al., 2010a) which, in tandem with our findings, suggest that *ABCB1* polymorphisms may have a small but significant role in determining clopidogrel response. Similarly, whilst we did not detect any association between the CYP3A5*3 polymorphism and clinical or pharmacodynamic outcome, the *CYP3A5*3* polymorphism may have functional relevance in certain circumstances such as co-administration of CYP3A4 metabolised or inhibiting drugs (e.g. amlodipine) (Park et al., 2012).

Given the impact of genetic variants on clopidogrel pharmacodynamics and clinical outcome, we sought to investigate the effect of genetic polymorphisms on the pharmacodynamic response to aspirin, using a cohort of patients with acute coronary syndrome. A number of previous meta-analyses have failed to demonstrate a clear effect of several polymorphisms in the COX-1 or platelet glycoprotein genes on the response to aspirin, despite evidence that the response to aspirin may be a heritable trait (Faraday et al., 2007). Furthermore, a number of novel polymorphisms were identified in the GeneSTAR genome-wide association study (Mathias et al., 2010) but the detected associations between aspirin response and genotype were highly platelet function test specific. However, newly identified variants in the PEAR-1 gene were demonstrated to be associated with aspirin response (Keramati et al., 2018), which is in keeping with other genome-wide association studies (Lewis et al., 2013). Consequently, in chapter 4, we undertook a review of aspirin's pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic pathway using published literature and the Platelet Aggregation Inhibitor Pathway on the PharmGKB website (www.pharmgkb.org/pathway/PA154444041/overview) and selected a total of 16 polymorphisms in ten genes for genotyping, although only 8 polymorphisms in five genes were successfully genotyped. Whilst significant associations between the UGT1A6 rs2070959 and TBXA2R rs4523 polymorphisms and aspirin response were detected, statistical significance was lost following correction for multiple testing. In addition, it should be noted that there was very poor agreement between the two platelet function tests utilised for this study (Multiplate and PFA-100) which is in keeping with data from the GeneSTAR study and other published data demonstrating associations between

genotype and only certain platelet function tests, with poor agreement across other tests utilised in the study. Nonetheless, our finding that the TBXA2R rs4523 polymorphism may be associated with aspirin response has biological plausibility, given that TBXA2R is expressed on several tissues, including platelets, leucocytes and atherosclerotic plaques. TBXA2R polymorphisms have been demonstrated to increase the sensitivity of the thromboxane receptor to TXA2 (Wang et al., 2013), with elevated levels of TXA2 being generated via overexpressed, aspirin-insensitive COX-2 on atherosclerotic plaques. Consequently, this may increase arachidonic acid induced platelet aggregation via a partially aspirin-independent pathway, with a consequent increase in adverse cardiovascular outcomes. We also observed a potential association between UGT1A6 polymorphisms and aspirin response, although this was compromised by a relatively low genotype call rate and the polymorphism not being in Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Furthermore, UGT1A6 polymorphisms are unlikely to affect aspirin related platelet inhibition, given that UGT1A6 is involved in aspirin metabolism only after aspirin's conversion to inactive salicylic acid which has no anti-platelet effect (Kuehl et al., 2006). Taken together with a small sample size, it is likely that the association with UGT1A6 is a false-positive signal. Importantly, we did not demonstrate any association between COX-1, PEAR-1 and CYP2C9 polymorphisms and aspirin response, which is in keeping with several published studies and meta-analyses (Goodman et al., 2008, Weng et al., 2013).

7.2: Platelet Function Testing

As discussed previously, we noted a lack of agreement between aspirin response defined by the Multiplate platform and the PFA-100 system used in Chapter 4. In addition, in our pharmacodynamic meta-analysis, we observed an association between *ABCB1* C3435T polymorphism and platelet aggregation for the VASP assay but not LTA or VerifyNow. Furthermore, in Chapter 5, we demonstrated a clear association between lipid profiles and platelet reactivity for the Multiplate platform but not the PFA-100 system. These findings are in keeping with data from other studies which have demonstrated poor correlation between individual platelet function tests, particularly for arachidonic acid induced platelet activation (Gremmel et al., 2015). Moderate agreement and good reliability over time has been demonstrated between LTA, VASP, Mutiplate and VerifyNow for measuring ADP induced platelet aggregation but, for arachidonic acid induced platelet aggregation, only Multiplate demonstrated moderate reliability over time (Karon et al., 2014). Importantly, whilst the PFA-100 system demonstrates a significant association with clinical outcome, it is generally poorly correlated with other assays and is regarded as not being aspirin specific, with

significant interferences from other variables such as vWF, haematocrit and platelet count (Fitzgerald and Pirmohamed, 2011, Kovacs et al., 2014). In addition, several other clinical variables have been demonstrated to affect the results of specific platelet function tests such as haematocrit and VerifyNow (Kim et al., 2017b) as well as platelet count and Multiplate (Choi and Kim, 2018). Furthermore, platelet function tests have been demonstrated to be inconsistent over time, with several studies demonstrating poor reproducibility in both healthy volunteers and aspirin treated patients across a range of different assays (Miller et al., 2014, Muir et al., 2009).

These data reflect the complex nature of platelet reactivity, with significant effects from clinical and non-clinical factors. Whilst platelet function tests can be used to monitor antiplatelets in clinical practice, recent data suggest that they are used relatively infrequently in the context of ACS despite their potential utility in identifying patients with high or low ontreatment platelet reactivity who may be at risk of adverse clinical outcomes (Wang et al., 2015). Several reasons may explain this finding. Firstly, it is not clear what platelet function test are most specific to the anti-platelet agent being tested. Whilst some tests, for example thromboxane B2 or its metabolites, are thought to be specific to aspirin, it is likely that there are other mechanisms by which anti-platelet drugs modulate platelet reactivity, which may not be related to the primary mechanism of action of the anti-platelet drug. Importantly, each platelet function test investigates anti-platelet response in different ways, which may explain the lack of consensus and high variability in studies where these assays are directly compared. Assays that are often considered gold-standard and with the lowest inter-assay and intra-assay variability (e.g. LTA) are complex to perform and cannot be used as a rapid, point-of-care test. Cut-off values to define HTPR are often variable and inconsistent for individual assays, with published data often using multiple definitions, making it difficult to compare individual studies. Finally, European Society of Cardiology guidelines (and others) suggest universal use of highly potent P2Y12 inhibitors in combination with aspirin; these drugs are subject to lower rates of HTPR in comparison to clopidogrel and, consequently, platelet function testing is unlikely to change management for patients. However, stratification of anti-platelet therapy may have significant benefits, even with the now routine use of ticagrelor. Whilst ticagrelor has been demonstrated to be a more potent antiplatelet agent than clopidogrel, its use is associated with a significantly higher risk of bleeding as well as a number of unique adverse effects, such as dyspnoea, which are a consequence of its effect on adenosine metabolism. In addition, the observed variability in platelet function tests suggest that platelet reactivity is more complex than a simple drug-receptor

interaction and that other clinical and biological factors modulate platelet function. Whilst platelet function tests are potentially sensitive to these additional factors, their utility for stratification may be limited by the lack of data demonstrating which assay best represents overall platelet reactivity and, specifically, which assay best represents the action of a particular drug. Further studies investigating the relationship between clinical outcomes and platelet function tests are clearly necessary, with a focus on development of clear cut-off values for non-response and identification of a 'gold standard' assay that best reflects drug response in patients.

7.3: Inflammation and other clinical factors

One of the additional biological factors demonstrated to significantly affect platelet reactivity and clinical outcomes is vascular inflammation, with inflammation being a critical component of the development of atherosclerosis. Several studies have demonstrated that higher levels of inflammation are associated with the severity of atherosclerosis and risk of acute coronary syndromes (Ertem et al., 2017, Odeberg et al., 2016). Data from large clinical cohorts such as CLARITY-TIMI 28 (O'Donoghue et al., 2016) and CREDO (Dosh et al., 2009) have also demonstrated a significant association between higher levels of inflammation and poor outcome following myocardial infarction or PCI. Importantly, treatment with antiinflammatory agents may significantly reduce the risk of further cardiovascular events. In the CANTOS study (Ridker et al., 2017), treatment with canakinumab, a monoclonal antibody against IL-1 β , significantly reduced adverse cardiovascular events in a cohort of 10,061 patients who had suffered a previous myocardial infarction and had an hsCRP>2mg/L (HR 0.85; 95% CI 0.74-0.98, P=0.021 for the 150mg canakinumab dose). In addition, anti-platelet agents may also significantly lower inflammatory markers (Hajsadeghi et al., 2016b), with the more potent agents, such as prasugrel or ticagrelor, reducing inflammatory markers to a greater extent than clopidogrel (Hajsadeghi et al., 2016a, Wei et al., 2017b). Similarly, higher levels of inflammatory markers may be associated with HTPR although the data are not consistent, with some studies demonstrating a clear association with certain inflammatory markers and others not (Muller et al., 2010, Osmancik et al., 2012).

Vascular inflammation may be induced by lipid oxidation. Lipid oxidation and the production of oxidised LDL (OxLDL) is a critical step in the production of foam cells and the development of atherosclerotic plaques (Yu et al., 2013). OxLDL induces a pro-inflammatory state within the atherosclerotic plaque, which leads to subsequent plaque instability and rupture with consequent development of an acute coronary syndrome (Hartley et al., 2019). In addition,

OxLDL forms stable complexes with β 2GPI which may better represent the effect of OxLDL in vivo, although data are conflicting on whether the complex is pro- or anti-atherogenic. In Chapter 5, we investigated the effect of OxLDL- β 2GPI complex levels on clinical outcome and platelet reactivity in a cohort of patients with ACS. Our findings suggested that higher levels of OxLDL-B2GPI complexes were associated with fewer adverse cardiovascular events and were unrelated to either LDL levels or platelet reactivity. However, our data were limited by the lack of contemporaneous measurement of OxLDL and inflammatory biomarkers, which makes it difficult to determine whether OxLDL- β 2GPI complexes moderate or enhance the effect of OxLDL in our study, or whether OxLDL- β 2GPI complexes are pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory. However, there are few published data investigating the effect of OxLDL-B2GPI in unstable cardiovascular disease although in stable cardiovascular disease, higher OxLDL-B2GPI levels have been associated with more severe atherosclerosis and the occurrence of stroke or diabetic microvascular complications (Berger et al., 2014, Bliden et al., 2016, Yu et al., 2015). Whilst the majority of *in vitro* data suggest that OxLDL- β 2GPI complexes are pro-inflammatory, recent data have demonstrated that OxLDL-B2GPI complexes may reduce binding of OxLDL to the LOX-1 receptor, thereby reducing the proinflammatory effects of OxLDL (Chi et al., 2018).

We also demonstrated that levels of $OxLDL-\beta2GPI$ were independent of LDL and total cholesterol levels. This is in agreement with several studies demonstrating poor correlation between LDL and OxLDL levels (Gao et al., 2017, Russo et al., 2018) and is likely to reflect the importance of overall atherosclerotic and inflammatory burden in determining OxLDL levels as opposed to being dependent on overall LDL levels.

We also failed to demonstrate any significant association between the levels of OxLDL- β 2GPI levels and platelet reactivity as measured by both the PFA-100 system and Multiplate platform. Whilst there are few published data investigating OxLDL- β 2GPI levels and platelet reactivity, *in vitro* data suggest that OxLDL may modify platelet function by increasing platelet activation via several potential mechanisms. These include generation of reactive oxygen species (Berger et al., 2018), increased platelet-monocyte interactions (Badrnya et al., 2014) and overall effects of a pro-inflammatory milieu on platelet reactivity (Wang et al., 2018d). In addition, some of these mechanisms may be common to the effects of hyperlipidaemia on platelet function and it was notable that we observed an association between higher levels of aspirin related platelet reactivity in patients and raised HDL:cholesterol ratios in our study, which was driven predominantly by lower HDL levels in aspirin non-responsive patients as opposed to raised cholesterol. These findings are in

keeping with other clinical studies that have demonstrated a significant relationship between hyperlipidaemia and higher levels of platelet reactivity (Labuz-Roszak et al., 2014). Indeed, in a study by Chan and colleagues (Chan et al., 2015), platelet reactivity was significantly higher in hypercholesterolaemic patients in comparison to healthy volunteers. Interestingly, patients in this study with low HDL cholesterol levels had significantly higher platelet reactivity in comparison to patients with normal HDL cholesterol irrespective of the levels of LDL cholesterol, which is in keeping with our observations.

Finally, we investigated (Chapter 6) the potential mechanism underlying the observed interaction between clopidogrel and PPIs. Several studies have demonstrated that clopidogrel is less effective when co-administered with PPIs, with a consequent increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events (Kim et al., 2019). As previously discussed, clopidogrel is a pro-drug that requires metabolism to its active metabolite which is primarily catalysed by CYP2C19. CYP2C19 is also the primary CYP450 enzyme responsible for the metabolism of PPIs and, consequently, there is a risk of interaction between both drugs. However, post-hoc analysis of data from large clinical outcomes trials such as TRANSLATE-ACS (Dunn et al., 2013) and others have failed to demonstrate a clear association between poor clinical outcomes and co-administration of clopidogrel and PPIs, which suggests that alternative mechanisms may underlie the putative pharmacokinetic interaction. In particular, PPIs are often prescribed for a variety of non-specific gastrointestinal conditions, such as dyspepsia, which may be associated with H. Pylori infection. H. Pylori infection has been associated with an increased risk of adverse cardiovascular events (Tabata et al., 2016c) which may be caused by an increase in vascular inflammation (Kucukazman et al., 2015). Give the previously discussed importance of the relationship between inflammation and cardiovascular risk, the observed interaction between clopidogrel and PPIs may be related to *H. Pylori* infection and consequent vascular inflammation rather than a pharmacokinetic interaction at CYP2C19.

We conducted a case-control study in patients with unstable cardiovascular disease who were co-prescribed clopidogrel and a PPI. We failed to demonstrate any significant association between positive *H. Pylori* serology and clinical outcome which is inconsistent with *in vitro* and biomarker data but in keeping with larger clinical outcome studies. *In vitro* studies clearly demonstrate that *H. Pylori* infection increases vascular inflammation and the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes by inducing inflammatory responses within atherosclerotic plaques (Li et al., 2017b), increasing endothelial cell dysfunction (Oshima et al., 2005) and, potentially, activating platelets (Scopel-Guerra et al., 2017). However, large,

prospective clinical outcome studies have failed to demonstrate a clear increase in the risk of adverse cardiovascular events from *H. Pylori* infection although retrospective studies have tended to demonstrate associations between *H. Pylori* infection and adverse clinical outcomes (Huang et al., 2014). In our cohort of unstable cardiovascular disease patients, we did not detect any association between *H. Pylori* infection and clinical outcome and it is notable that few published studies have investigated *H. Pylori* infection in the context of acute coronary syndromes and MI. However, like most published data, our study is limited by the use of *H. Pylori* serology as the measure of *H. Pylori* infection which may reflect previous infection rather than current, active infection. Furthermore, we did not assess any inflammatory biomarkers in the study which prevents assessment of whether inflammatory markers or pro-inflammatory cytokines were associated with *H. Pylori* serology or clinical outcome. Finally, we could not assess any putative effect of *H. Pylori* infection on platelet function given the low numbers of included patients who had available platelet function data.

Interestingly, we detected a significant association between *CYP2C19*2* genotype and casecontrol status, with higher rates of the loss-of-function, *2, allele carriage in patients who did not suffer additional cardiovascular events. In addition, this association was observed in *H. Pylori* negative but not in *H. Pylori* positive patients. The mechanism underlying this finding remains unclear. Whilst PPIs are sensitive to *CYP2C19* polymorphisms, with greater efficacy observed in patients with loss-of-function genotypes (Sugimoto et al., 2014), it is not clear how that may interact with *H. Pylori* infection given that the relationship between *H. Pylori* infection and long-term PPI use is poorly understood despite the well characterised changes in the gastric flora in patients prescribed PPIs long term (Parsons et al., 2017). In addition, the observed association between carriage of the *CYP2C19*2* allele and a lower risk of further cardiovascular events is not in keeping with the known effects of the allele on clopidogrel metabolism and efficacy.

7.4: Optimisation of anti-platelet therapy

In summary, this thesis has identified several important points in relation to anti-platelet response. Firstly, *CYP2C19* genotype is clearly associated with platelet function and clinical outcomes in clopidogrel treated patients. Secondly, whilst a number of genetic variants may alter aspirin response, it remains unclear whether any single polymorphism or panel of polymorphisms could represent aspirin response for the purposes of stratification. Thirdly, although platelet function tests directly measure anti-platelet response, their intrinsic inter-

assay variability limits their use as a potential biomarker for stratification. Finally, vascular inflammation and other cardiovascular risk factors may have significant impact on antiplatelet drug response which may necessitate specific treatments to reduce the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes.

On this basis, it appears that genetic stratification is the most appropriate method for personalisation of anti-platelet therapy. Small-scale adoption of *CYP2C19* guided dosing of clopidogrel has recently been reported with positive results (Cavallari et al., 2018, Lee et al., 2018).

Whilst large-scale, randomised clinical trials have clearly demonstrated that, in terms of efficacy and pharmacodynamic outcomes, the newer anti-platelets agents are superior to clopidogrel, there remains a clear case for personalisation of anti-platelet therapy. Clopidogrel is associated with a lower risk of bleeding in comparison to the newer, more potent, agents and does not share the adverse effects of dyspnoea associated with the use of ticagrelor. In addition, the mechanism by which clopidogrel is less efficacious is well known, easily testable for and, if detected *a priori*, potentially modifiable by using alternative ADP receptor antagonists. Furthermore, other clinical and biochemical factors, such as inflammation, hyperlipidaemia and drug interactions, are potentially easily monitorable and treatable. Treatment of such risk factors (e.g. with statins or with drugs to improve glycaemic control) could also substantially improve the efficacy of anti-platelet drugs in parallel with stratification of anti-platelet therapy. However, for aspirin, it remains unclear whether personalisation of therapy is currently possible given the lack of clear biomarkers for aspirin response, the absence of alternative agents and inconsistent data on the effects of an increased aspirin dose to overcome non-response (Dominiak et al., 2013, Mrdovic et al., 2016, Xian et al., 2015). Consequently, the discussion on stratification will focus primarily on clopidogrel and the other ADP receptor antagonists.

Crucially, the observed superiority of prasugrel and ticagrelor over clopidogrel may be due to poor clopidogrel response in patients carrying the *CYP2C19* loss-of-function alleles. In both TRITON-TIMI 38 (Mega et al., 2010a) and PLATO (Wallentin et al., 2010), the observed benefits of the newer anti-platelet agents were largely observed only in clopidogrel treated patients who had variant *CYP2C19* loss-of-function genotypes and not in those with wild-type genotypes. As a result, genotyping for *CYP2C19* alleles could be an effective strategy for personalisation of ADP receptor antagonists, with wild type genotypes being treated with

clopidogrel whilst those patients with variant, loss-of-function genotypes being treated with either ticagrelor or prasugrel.

Genotype guided therapy has been investigated in clinical trials with positive results. Pharmacodynamic outcome studies have demonstrated that patients treated on the basis of genotype achieve platelet inhibition in the therapeutic range more frequently than patients treated with universal clopidogrel or ticagrelor (Lee et al., 2016, Malhotra et al., 2015). Similarly, in clinical outcome studies, genotype guided dosing has been demonstrated to reduce the risk of adverse cardiovascular outcomes in clopidogrel treated patients. In a study by Shen et al (Shen et al., 2016), 628 post-PCI patients were randomised to receive 'routine' therapy with clopidogrel or 'individual' therapy on the basis of CYP2C19 genotype. In the 'individual group', extensive metabolisers were treated with clopidogrel whilst intermediate metabolisers were treated with high-dose clopidogrel (150mg/day) and poor metabolisers were treated with ticagrelor. A composite outcome of death, myocardial infarction or target vessel revascularisation was assessed at 1, 6 and 12 months. A significant reduction in the composite endpoint was observed in the 'individual' group when compared to the 'routine' group and, importantly, within the 'individual' group, no significant differences in outcome were detected between the extensive, intermediate and poor metaboliser patients. Larger scale studies in PCI patients have also been positive, with two recent studies demonstrating no significant differences in adverse cardiovascular events between clopidogrel treated patients with wild type CYP2C19 genotypes and ticagrelor or prasugrel treated patients with LOF CYP2C19 genotypes (Cavallari et al., 2018, Lee et al., 2018). These emerging data suggest that genotype guided anti-platelet dosing is safe and efficacious, with further randomised trials now necessary to demonstrate its clinical effectiveness.

Platelet function test guided therapy has also been extensively assessed in clinical trials, with mixed results although this may be a consequence of the patient population included in the individual studies. Large clinical outcome studies such as GRAVITAS (Price et al., 2011), TRIGGER-PCI (Trenk et al., 2012) and ARCTIC (Collet et al., 2012) all failed to demonstrate any significant improvement in clinical outcomes following stratification of anti-platelet therapy on the basis of VerifyNow assessed platelet reactivity. However, all three studies were conducted largely in patients with stable coronary artery disease and it is therefore likely that failure to detect any benefit from stratification was largely due to the intrinsic low event rate in this group of patients. Studies in patients with acute coronary syndromes have demonstrated more positive results (Dridi et al., 2014) but, unlike the GRAVITAS, TRIGGER-PCI and ARCTIC trials, did not compare patients with clopidogrel related HTPR who received

stratified treatment against patients who had normal responses to clopidogrel. Instead, stratified therapy was compared only against patients with clopidogrel related HTPR who continued to receive standard doses of clopidogrel. It, therefore, remains unclear whether the observed benefit of pharmacodynamic stratification in ACS is merely a consequence of comparing stratified patients against high risk patients with HTPR who remained on treatment with clopidogrel.

Cost-effectiveness analyses have demonstrated that both genotype and platelet function guided stratification are likely to be cost-effective (Coleman and Limone, 2013, Jiang and You, 2017, Wang et al., 2018e). However, the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio (ICER) for genotype guided dosing is at least fourfold lower for genotype guided dosing (USD 2,560 to 10,153 per quality-adjusted life year) in comparison to platelet function guided dosing (USD 40,100 to 49,143 per QALY).

Taking all these data together, genotype guided stratification appears to be the most clinically and cost-effective method for personalisation of ADP receptor antagonist therapy. In addition, whilst genotype is not necessarily sensitive to additional clinical and biochemical factors that may affect anti-platelet response, it is the single most important determinant of clopidogrel non-response and can be easily and reliably measured in clinical practice. Consequently, further, adequately powered clinical trials in patients with unstable cardiovascular disease are required to determine its effectiveness.

Finally, attention should be given to the other clinical and biochemical factors that influence response to both the ADP receptor antagonists and aspirin. These include inflammation, hyperlipidaemia and diabetes, all of which have been demonstrated to increase platelet reactivity and lower the response to anti-platelets. Several studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of treating inflammation with anti-inflammatory agents, with the recent CANTOS study (Ridker et al., 2017) demonstrating significant reductions in the occurrence of adverse cardiovascular events in patients with previous MI treated with canakinumab, a monoclonal anti-IL1 β antibody. However, it is likely that more specific therapies can be developed for the treatment of vascular inflammation as further data emerges on atherosclerosis specific inflammasomes. For example, recent focus has been placed on the development of specific therapies against OxLDL, with several pre-clinical and clinical trials ongoing at the present time (Hartley et al., 2019). Furthermore, better management of hyperlipidaemia and diabetes may significantly improve the response to anti-platelets in those conditions (Schuette et al., 2015). In particular, statins have been demonstrated to

have pluripotent effects by reducing LDL cholesterol and inflammation whilst also improving endothelial cell function and aspirin induced platelet reactivity (Pesaro et al., 2012, Wang et al., 2017). Consequently, stratification of ADP receptor antagonists should also be accompanied by robust management of other clinical and biochemical factors to ensure full optimisation and maximisation of anti-platelet therapy.

7.5: Conclusion

In conclusion, this thesis has investigated a number of genetic, clinical and biochemical factors that may affect the response to anti-platelet drugs. We have demonstrated, through robust meta-analysis of the published data, that *CYP2C19* polymorphisms are critical to identifying patients at risk of poor response to clopidogrel. At current, two randomised trials are being conducted (Popular Genetics and TAILOR-PCI) comparing genotype-guided anti-platelet therapy to universal therapy with either prasugrel and ticagrelor, with both trials expected to report within the next 12 to 18 months (Klein et al., 2019). In addition, we have identified potential polymorphisms that merit further investigation for their role in determining response to aspirin. Furthermore, we have also detected potential interactions between lipid oxidation and clinical outcomes in patients with unstable cardiovascular disease. Finally, we did not detect any significant association between *H. Pylori* infection and clinical outcomes in patients with a stratification of anti-platelet therapy on the basis of genotype may be possible for clopidogrel but not aspirin. In addition, modification of various risk factors, such as hyperlipidaemia, may also be important in reducing non-response to anti-platelet drugs.

8: Bibliography

- ABUZAHRA, M., PILLAI, M., CALDERA, A., HARTLEY, W. B., GONZALEZ, R., BOBEK, J., DOKAINISH, H. & LAKKIS, N. 2008. Comparison of higher clopidogrel loading and maintenance dose to standard dose on platelet function and outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention using drug-eluting stents. *Am J Cardiol*, 102, 401-3.
- ADAMSKI, P., BUSZKO, K., SIKORA, J., NIEZGODA, P., BARANSKA, M., OSTROWSKA, M., PACIOREK, P., NAVARESE, E. P., GOROG, D. A. & KUBICA, J. 2018. Metabolism of ticagrelor in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Sci Rep*, *8*, 11746.
- AHN, S. G., YOON, J., KIM, J., UH, Y., KIM, K. M., LEE, J. H., LEE, J. W., YOUN, Y. J., AHN, M. S., KIM, J. Y., YOO, B. S., LEE, S. H., TAHK, S. J. & CHOE, K. H. 2013. Genotype- and Phenotype-Directed Personalization of Antiplatelet Treatment in Patients with Non-ST Elevation Acute Coronary Syndromes Undergoing Coronary Stenting. *Korean Circ J*, 43, 541-9.
- AL-SOFIANI, M. E., YANEK, L. R., FARADAY, N., KRAL, B. G., MATHIAS, R., BECKER, L. C., BECKER, D. M., VAIDYA, D. & KALYANI, R. R. 2018. Diabetes and Platelet Response to Low-Dose Aspirin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 103, 4599-4608.
- ALEXANDER, J. H., LOPES, R. D., JAMES, S., KILARU, R., HE, Y., MOHAN, P., BHATT, D. L., GOODMAN, S., VERHEUGT, F. W., FLATHER, M., HUBER, K., LIAW, D., HUSTED, S. E., LOPEZ-SENDON, J., DE CATERINA, R., JANSKY, P., DARIUS, H., VINEREANU, D., CORNEL, J. H., COOLS, F., ATAR, D., LEIVA-PONS, J. L., KELTAI, M., OGAWA, H., PAIS, P., PARKHOMENKO, A., RUZYLLO, W., DIAZ, R., WHITE, H., RUDA, M., GERALDES, M., LAWRENCE, J., HARRINGTON, R. A., WALLENTIN, L. & INVESTIGATORS, A.-. 2011. Apixaban with antiplatelet therapy after acute coronary syndrome. N Engl J Med, 365, 699-708.
- ALEXOPOULOS, D., DIMITROPOULOS, G., DAVLOUROS, P., XANTHOPOULOU, I., KASSIMIS, G., STAVROU, E. F., HAHALIS, G. & ATHANASSIADOU, A. 2011a. Prasugrel overcomes high on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity post-stenting more effectively than high-dose (150-mg) clopidogrel: the importance of CYP2C19*2 genotyping. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 4, 403-10.
- ALEXOPOULOS, D., MAKRIS, G., XANTHOPOULOU, I., PATSILINAKOS, S., DEFTEREOS, S., GKIZAS, V., PERPERIS, A., KARANIKAS, S., ANGELIDIS, C., TSIGKAS, G., KOUTSOGIANNIS, N., HAHALIS, G. & DAVLOUROS, P. 2014a. Onset of antiplatelet action with high (100 mg) versus standard (60 mg) loading dose of prasugrel in patients with ST-segment-elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention: pharmacodynamic study. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 7, 233-9.
- ALEXOPOULOS, D., PANAGIOTOU, A., XANTHOPOULOU, I., KOMNINAKIS, D., KASSIMIS, G., DAVLOUROS, P., FOURTOUNAS, C. & GOUMENOS, D. 2011b. Antiplatelet effects of prasugrel vs. double clopidogrel in patients on hemodialysis and with high ontreatment platelet reactivity. J Thromb Haemost, 9, 2379-85.
- ALEXOPOULOS, D., XANTHOPOULOU, I., STOREY, R. F., BLIDEN, K. P., TANTRY, U. S., ANGIOLILLO, D. J. & GURBEL, P. A. 2014b. Platelet reactivity during ticagrelor maintenance therapy: a patient-level data meta-analysis. *Am Heart J*, 168, 530-6.
- ALTUNKESER, B. B., TUNCEZ, A., OZTURK, B., TEZCAN, H., ATES, M. S., YILMAZ, C., YALCIN, M. U., AYGUL, N. & DEMIR, K. 2019. Comparative effects of high-dose atorvastatin versus rosuvastatin on lipid parameters, oxidized low-density lipoprotein, and proprotein convertase subtilisin kexin 9 in acute coronary syndrome. *Coron Artery Dis*.

- AMES, P. R. J., DI GIROLAMO, G., D'ANDREA, G., LOPEZ, L. R., GAETA, G., IANNACCONE, L. & MARAGLIONE, M. 2018. Predictive Value of Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein/beta2-Glycoprotein-I Complexes (oxLDL/beta2GPI) in Nonautoimmune Atherothrombosis. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost*, 24, 1050-1055.
- ANAND, S. S., BOSCH, J., EIKELBOOM, J. W., CONNOLLY, S. J., DIAZ, R., WIDIMSKY, P., ABOYANS, V., ALINGS, M., KAKKAR, A. K., KELTAI, K., MAGGIONI, A. P., LEWIS, B. S., STORK, S., ZHU, J., LOPEZ-JARAMILLO, P., O'DONNELL, M., COMMERFORD, P. J., VINEREANU, D., POGOSOVA, N., RYDEN, L., FOX, K. A. A., BHATT, D. L., MISSELWITZ, F., VARIGOS, J. D., VANASSCHE, T., AVEZUM, A. A., CHEN, E., BRANCH, K., LEONG, D. P., BANGDIWALA, S. I., HART, R. G., YUSUF, S. & INVESTIGATORS, C. 2018. Rivaroxaban with or without aspirin in patients with stable peripheral or carotid artery disease: an international, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet*, 391, 219-229.
- ANGIOLILLO, D. J., FERNANDEZ-ORTIZ, A., BERNARDO, E., RAMIREZ, C., CAVALLARI, U., TRABETTI, E., SABATE, M., JIMENEZ-QUEVEDO, P., HERNANDEZ, R., MORENO, R., ESCANED, J., ALFONSO, F., BANUELOS, C., COSTA, M. A., BASS, T. A., PIGNATTI, P. F.
 & MACAYA, C. 2005. Lack of association between the P2Y12 receptor gene polymorphism and platelet response to clopidogrel in patients with coronary artery disease. *Thromb Res*, 116, 491-7.
- ANGIOLILLO, D. J., SHOEMAKER, S. B., DESAI, B., YUAN, H., CHARLTON, R. K., BERNARDO, E., ZENNI, M. M., GUZMAN, L. A., BASS, T. A. & COSTA, M. A. 2007. Randomized comparison of a high clopidogrel maintenance dose in patients with diabetes mellitus and coronary artery disease: results of the Optimizing Antiplatelet Therapy in Diabetes Mellitus (OPTIMUS) study. *Circulation*, 115, 708-16.
- ANNEMA, W., WILLEMSEN, H. M., DE BOER, J. F., DIKKERS, A., VAN DER GIET, M., NIEUWLAND, W., MULLER KOBOLD, A. C., VAN PELT, L. J., SLART, R. H., VAN DER HORST, I. C., DULLAART, R. P., TIO, R. A. & TIETGE, U. J. 2016. HDL function is impaired in acute myocardial infarction independent of plasma HDL cholesterol levels. J Clin Lipidol, 10, 1318-1328.
- ANTITHROMBOTIC TRIALISTS, C. 2002. Collaborative meta-analysis of randomised trials of antiplatelet therapy for prevention of death, myocardial infarction, and stroke in high risk patients. *BMJ*, 324, 71-86.
- ARADI, D., KOMOCSI, A., PRICE, M. J., CUISSET, T., ARI, H., HAZARBASANOV, D., TRENK, D., SIBBING, D., VALGIMIGLI, M., BONELLO, L. & TAILORED ANTIPLATELET TREATMENT STUDY, C. 2013. Efficacy and safety of intensified antiplatelet therapy on the basis of platelet reactivity testing in patients after percutaneous coronary intervention: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Cardiol*, 167, 2140-8.
- ARADI, D., KOMOCSI, A., VOROBCSUK, A., RIDEG, O., TOKES-FUZESI, M., MAGYARLAKI, T., HORVATH, I. G. & SEREBRUANY, V. L. 2010. Prognostic significance of high onclopidogrel platelet reactivity after percutaneous coronary intervention: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am Heart J, 160, 543-51.
- ARADI, D., TORNYOS, A., PINTER, T., VOROBCSUK, A., KONYI, A., FALUKOZY, J., VERESS, G., MAGYARI, B., HORVATH, I. G. & KOMOCSI, A. 2014. Optimizing P2Y12 receptor inhibition in patients with acute coronary syndrome on the basis of platelet function testing: impact of prasugrel and high-dose clopidogrel. J Am Coll Cardiol, 63, 1061-70.
- ARBEL, Y., BIRATI, E. Y., FINKELSTEIN, A., HALKIN, A., KLETZEL, H., ABRAMOWITZ, Y., BERLINER, S., DEUTSCH, V., HERZ, I., KEREN, G. & BANAI, S. 2013. Platelet inhibitory effect of clopidogrel in patients treated with omeprazole, pantoprazole, and famotidine: a prospective, randomized, crossover study. *Clin Cardiol*, 36, 342-6.

- ARIMA, Y., HOKIMOTO, S., AKASAKA, T., MIZOBE, K., KAIKITA, K., ONIKI, K., NAKAGAWA, K. & OGAWA, H. 2015. Comparison of the effect of CYP2C19 polymorphism on clinical outcome between acute coronary syndrome and stable angina. J Cardiol, 65, 494-500.
- AYADA, K., YOKOTA, K., HIRAI, K., FUJIMOTO, K., KOBAYASHI, K., OGAWA, H., HATANAKA, K., HIROHATA, S., YOSHINO, T., SHOENFELD, Y., MATSUURA, E. & OGUMA, K. 2009. Regulation of cellular immunity prevents Helicobacter pylori-induced atherosclerosis. *Lupus*, 18, 1154-68.
- AYDIN, M. U., AYGUL, N., ALTUNKESER, B. B., UNLU, A. & TANER, A. 2015. Comparative effects of high-dose atorvastatin versus moderate-dose rosuvastatin on lipid parameters, oxidized-LDL and inflammatory markers in ST elevation myocardial infarction. *Atherosclerosis*, 239, 439-43.
- BACKMAN, J. D., YERGES-ARMSTRONG, L. M., HORENSTEIN, R. B., NEWCOMER, S., SHAUB, S., MORRISEY, M., DONNELLY, P., DROLET, M., TANNER, K., PAVLOVICH, M. A., O'CONNELL, J. R., MITCHELL, B. D. & LEWIS, J. P. 2017. Prospective Evaluation of Genetic Variation in Platelet Endothelial Aggregation Receptor 1 Reveals Aspirin-Dependent Effects on Platelet Aggregation Pathways. *Clin Transl Sci*, 10, 102-109.
- BADRAN, H. M. & MAHFOUZ, M. E. 2007. Cytotoxin-associated gene-A bearing strains of Helicobacter pylori and atrial fibrillation due to ischemic origin: is there a link? *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil*, 14, 518-20.
- BADRNYA, S., SCHROTTMAIER, W. C., KRAL, J. B., YAIW, K. C., VOLF, I., SCHABBAUER, G., SODERBERG-NAUCLER, C. & ASSINGER, A. 2014. Platelets mediate oxidized lowdensity lipoprotein-induced monocyte extravasation and foam cell formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 34, 571-80.
- BAE, J. P., FARIES, D. E., ERNST, F. R., LIPKIN, C., ZHAO, Z., MORETZ, C., LIEU, H. D. & EFFRON, M. B. 2014. Real-world observations with prasugrel compared to clopidogrel in acute coronary syndrome patients treated with percutaneous coronary intervention in the United States. *Curr Med Res Opin*, 30, 2207-16.
- BAGOLY, Z., HOMORODI, N., KOVACS, E. G., SARKADY, F., CSIBA, L., EDES, I. & MUSZBEK, L. 2016. How to test the effect of aspirin and clopidogrel in patients on dual antiplatelet therapy? *Platelets*, 27, 59-65.
- BATCHELOR, R., KUMAR, R., GILMARTIN-THOMAS, J. F. M., HOPPER, I., KEMP, W. & LIEW, D. 2018. Systematic review with meta-analysis: risk of adverse cardiovascular events with proton pump inhibitors independent of clopidogrel. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther*, 48, 780-796.
- BAUER, T., BOUMAN, H. J., VAN WERKUM, J. W., FORD, N. F., TEN BERG, J. M. & TAUBERT, D. 2011. Impact of CYP2C19 variant genotypes on clinical efficacy of antiplatelet treatment with clopidogrel: systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*, 343, d4588.
- BAVISHI, C., PANWAR, S., MESSERLI, F. H. & BANGALORE, S. 2015. Meta-Analysis of Comparison of the Newer Oral P2Y12 Inhibitors (Prasugrel or Ticagrelor) to Clopidogrel in Patients With Non-ST-Elevation Acute Coronary Syndrome. Am J Cardiol, 116, 809-17.
- BECKER, D. M., SEGAL, J., VAIDYA, D., YANEK, L. R., HERRERA-GALEANO, J. E., BRAY, P. F., MOY, T. F., BECKER, L. C. & FARADAY, N. 2006. Sex differences in platelet reactivity and response to low-dose aspirin therapy. *JAMA*, 295, 1420-7.
- BENAGIANO, M., AZZURRI, A., CIERVO, A., AMEDEI, A., TAMBURINI, C., FERRARI, M., TELFORD, J. L., BALDARI, C. T., ROMAGNANI, S., CASSONE, A., D'ELIOS, M. M. & DEL PRETE, G. 2003. T helper type 1 lymphocytes drive inflammation in human atherosclerotic lesions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100, 6658-63.
- BERGER, J. S., BHATT, D. L., CANNON, C. P., CHEN, Z., JIANG, L., JONES, J. B., MEHTA, S. R., SABATINE, M. S., STEINHUBL, S. R., TOPOL, E. J. & BERGER, P. B. 2009. The relative

efficacy and safety of clopidogrel in women and men a sex-specific collaborative meta-analysis. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 54, 1935-45.

- BERGER, J. S., ROCKMAN, C. B., GUYER, K. E. & LOPEZ, L. R. 2014. Proatherogenic oxidized low-density lipoprotein/beta2-glycoprotein I complexes in arterial and venous disease. *J Immunol Res*, 2014, 234316.
- BERGER, M., WRAITH, K., WOODWARD, C., ABURIMA, A., RASLAN, Z., HINDLE, M. S., MOELLMANN, J., FEBBRAIO, M. & NASEEM, K. M. 2018. Dyslipidemia-associated atherogenic oxidized lipids induce platelet hyperactivity through phospholipase Cgamma2-dependent reactive oxygen species generation. *Platelets*, 1-6.
- BERNARDO, E., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., RAMIREZ, C., CAVALLARI, U., TRABETTI, E., SABATE, M., HERNANDEZ, R., MORENO, R., ESCANED, J., ALFONSO, F., BANUELOS, C., COSTA, M. A., BASS, T. A., PIGNATTI, P. F., MACAYA, C. & FERNANDEZ-ORTIZ, A. 2006. Lack of association between gene sequence variations of platelet membrane receptors and aspirin responsiveness detected by the PFA-100 system in patients with coronary artery disease. *Platelets*, 17, 586-90.
- BERNLOCHNER, I., MAYER, K., ORBAN, M., MORATH, T., JAITNER, J., ROSSNER, L., GROSS, L., LAUGWITZ, K. L., KASTRATI, A. & SIBBING, D. 2016. Ticagrelor versus prasugrel in patients with high on-clopidogrel treatment platelet reactivity after PCI: The ISAR-ADAPT-PF study. *Platelets*, 27, 796-804.
- BHATT, D. L., BONACA, M. P., BANSILAL, S., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., COHEN, M., STOREY, R. F., IM, K., MURPHY, S. A., HELD, P., BRAUNWALD, E., SABATINE, M. S. & STEG, P. G. 2016.
 Reduction in Ischemic Events With Ticagrelor in Diabetic Patients With Prior Myocardial Infarction in PEGASUS-TIMI 54. J Am Coll Cardiol, 67, 2732-2740.
- BHATT, D. L., FOX, K. A., HACKE, W., BERGER, P. B., BLACK, H. R., BODEN, W. E., CACOUB, P., COHEN, E. A., CREAGER, M. A., EASTON, J. D., FLATHER, M. D., HAFFNER, S. M., HAMM, C. W., HANKEY, G. J., JOHNSTON, S. C., MAK, K. H., MAS, J. L., MONTALESCOT, G., PEARSON, T. A., STEG, P. G., STEINHUBL, S. R., WEBER, M. A., BRENNAN, D. M., FABRY-RIBAUDO, L., BOOTH, J., TOPOL, E. J. & INVESTIGATORS, C. 2006. Clopidogrel and aspirin versus aspirin alone for the prevention of atherothrombotic events. *N Engl J Med*, 354, 1706-17.
- BHATT, D. L., GROSSER, T., DONG, J. F., LOGAN, D., JESKE, W., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., FRELINGER, A. L., 3RD, LEI, L., LIANG, J., MOORE, J. E., CRYER, B. & MARATHI, U. 2017. Enteric Coating and Aspirin Nonresponsiveness in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. J Am Coll Cardiol, 69, 603-612.
- BHATT, D. L., LINCOFF, A. M., GIBSON, C. M., STONE, G. W., MCNULTY, S., MONTALESCOT, G., KLEIMAN, N. S., GOODMAN, S. G., WHITE, H. D., MAHAFFEY, K. W., POLLACK, C. V., JR., MANOUKIAN, S. V., WIDIMSKY, P., CHEW, D. P., CURA, F., MANUKOV, I., TOUSEK, F., JAFAR, M. Z., ARNEJA, J., SKERJANEC, S., HARRINGTON, R. A. & INVESTIGATORS, C. P. 2009. Intravenous platelet blockade with cangrelor during PCI. N Engl J Med, 361, 2330-41.
- BHATT, D. L., PARE, G., EIKELBOOM, J. W., SIMONSEN, K. L., EMISON, E. S., FOX, K. A., STEG,
 P. G., MONTALESCOT, G., BHAKTA, N., HACKE, W., FLATHER, M. D., MAK, K. H.,
 CACOUB, P., CREAGER, M. A., BERGER, P. B., STEINHUBL, S. R., MURUGESAN, G.,
 MEHTA, S. R., KOTTKE-MARCHANT, K., LINCOFF, A. M., TOPOL, E. J. &
 INVESTIGATORS, C. 2012. The relationship between CYP2C19 polymorphisms and
 ischaemic and bleeding outcomes in stable outpatients: the CHARISMA genetics
 study. *Eur Heart J*, 33, 2143-50.
- BHATT, D. L., STONE, G. W., MAHAFFEY, K. W., GIBSON, C. M., STEG, P. G., HAMM, C. W., PRICE, M. J., LEONARDI, S., GALLUP, D., BRAMUCCI, E., RADKE, P. W., WIDIMSKY, P., TOUSEK, F., TAUTH, J., SPRIGGS, D., MCLAURIN, B. T., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., GENEREUX, P., LIU, T., PRATS, J., TODD, M., SKERJANEC, S., WHITE, H. D., HARRINGTON, R. A. &

INVESTIGATORS, C. P. 2013. Effect of platelet inhibition with cangrelor during PCI on ischemic events. *N Engl J Med*, 368, 1303-13.

- BIEREND, A., RAU, T., MAAS, R., SCHWEDHELM, E. & BOGER, R. H. 2008. P2Y12 polymorphisms and antiplatelet effects of aspirin in patients with coronary artery disease. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 65, 540-7.
- BLIDEN, K. P., CHAUDHARY, R., LOPEZ, L. R., DAMRONGWATANASUK, R., GUYER, K., GESHEFF, M. G., FRANZESE, C. J., KAZA, H., TANTRY, U. S. & GURBEL, P. A. 2016. Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein-beta2-Glycoprotein I Complex But Not Free Oxidized LDL Is Associated With the Presence and Severity of Coronary Artery Disease. *Am J Cardiol*, 118, 673-8.
- BLUM, A., TAMIR, S., MUALEM, K., BEN-SHUSHAN, R. S., KEINAN-BOKER, L. & PARITSKY, M. 2011. Endothelial dysfunction is reversible in Helicobacter pylori-positive subjects. *Am J Med*, 124, 1171-4.
- BONELLO-PALOT, N., ARMERO, S., PAGANELLI, F., MANCINI, J., DE LABRIOLLE, A., BONELLO, C., LEVY, N., MAILLARD, L., BARRAGAN, P., DIGNAT-GEORGE, F., CAMOIN-JAU, L. & BONELLO, L. 2009. Relation of body mass index to high on-treatment platelet reactivity and of failed clopidogrel dose adjustment according to platelet reactivity monitoring in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am J Cardiol*, 104, 1511-5.
- BONELLO, L., ARMERO, S., AIT MOKHTAR, O., MANCINI, J., ALDEBERT, P., SAUT, N., BONELLO, N., BARRAGAN, P., ARQUES, S., GIACOMONI, M. P., BONELLO-BURIGNAT, C., BARTHOLOMEI, M. N., DIGNAT-GEORGE, F., CAMOIN-JAU, L. & PAGANELLI, F. 2010a. Clopidogrel loading dose adjustment according to platelet reactivity monitoring in patients carrying the 2C19*2 loss of function polymorphism. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 56, 1630-6.
- BONELLO, L., BONELLO-PALOT, N., ARMERO, S., BONELLO, C., MOKHTAR, O. A., ARQUES, S., DIGNAT-GEORGE, F., CAMOIN-JAU, L. & PAGANELLI, F. 2010b. Impact of P2Y12-ADP receptor polymorphism on the efficacy of clopidogrel dose-adjustment according to platelet reactivity monitoring in coronary artery disease patients. *Thromb Res*, 125, e167-70.
- BONELLO, L., CAMOIN-JAU, L., MANCINI, J., BESSEREAU, J., GROSDIDIER, C., ALESSI, M. C., OSTORERO, M., DIGNAT-GEORGE, F. & PAGANELLI, F. 2012. Factors associated with the failure of clopidogrel dose-adjustment according to platelet reactivity monitoring to optimize P2Y12-ADP receptor blockade. *Thromb Res*, 130, 70-4.
- BONELLO, L., PANSIERI, M., MANCINI, J., BONELLO, R., MAILLARD, L., BARNAY, P., ROSSI, P., AIT-MOKHTAR, O., JOUVE, B., COLLET, F., PEYRE, J. P., WITTENBERG, O., DE LABRIOLLE, A., CAMILLERI, E., CHENEAU, E., CABASSOME, E., DIGNAT-GEORGE, F., CAMOIN-JAU, L. & PAGANELLI, F. 2011. High on-treatment platelet reactivity after prasugrel loading dose and cardiovascular events after percutaneous coronary intervention in acute coronary syndromes. J Am Coll Cardiol, 58, 467-73.
- BONELLO, L., TANTRY, U. S., MARCUCCI, R., BLINDT, R., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., BECKER, R., BHATT,
 D. L., CATTANEO, M., COLLET, J. P., CUISSET, T., GACHET, C., MONTALESCOT, G.,
 JENNINGS, L. K., KEREIAKES, D., SIBBING, D., TRENK, D., VAN WERKUM, J. W.,
 PAGANELLI, F., PRICE, M. J., WAKSMAN, R., GURBEL, P. A. & WORKING GROUP ON
 HIGH ON-TREATMENT PLATELET, R. 2010c. Consensus and future directions on the
 definition of high on-treatment platelet reactivity to adenosine diphosphate. J Am
 Coll Cardiol, 56, 919-33.
- BOSSARD, M., GRANGER, C. B., TANGUAY, J. F., MONTALESCOT, G., FAXON, D. P., JOLLY, S. S., WIDIMSKY, P., NIEMELA, K., STEG, P. G., NATARAJAN, M. K., GAO, P., FOX, K. A. A., YUSUF, S. & MEHTA, S. R. 2017. Double-Dose Versus Standard-Dose Clopidogrel

According to Smoking Status Among Patients With Acute Coronary Syndromes Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. *J Am Heart Assoc*, 6.

- BOUMAN, H. J., SCHOMIG, E., VAN WERKUM, J. W., VELDER, J., HACKENG, C. M., HIRSCHHAUSER, C., WALDMANN, C., SCHMALZ, H. G., TEN BERG, J. M. & TAUBERT, D. 2011. Paraoxonase-1 is a major determinant of clopidogrel efficacy. *Nat Med*, 17, 110-6.
- BRADEN, B. 2012. Diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection. *BMJ*, 344, e828.
- BRANDT, J. T., CLOSE, S. L., ITURRIA, S. J., PAYNE, C. D., FARID, N. A., ERNEST, C. S., 2ND, LACHNO, D. R., SALAZAR, D. & WINTERS, K. J. 2007. Common polymorphisms of CYP2C19 and CYP2C9 affect the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic response to clopidogrel but not prasugrel. J Thromb Haemost, 5, 2429-36.
- BREET, N. J., VAN WERKUM, J. W., BOUMAN, H. J., KELDER, J. C., HARMSZE, A. M., HACKENG,
 C. M. & TEN BERG, J. M. 2011. High on-treatment platelet reactivity to both aspirin and clopidogrel is associated with the highest risk of adverse events following percutaneous coronary intervention. *Heart*, 97, 983-90.
- BREET, N. J., VAN WERKUM, J. W., BOUMAN, H. J., KELDER, J. C., RUVEN, H. J., BAL, E. T., DENEER, V. H., HARMSZE, A. M., VAN DER HEYDEN, J. A., RENSING, B. J., SUTTORP, M. J., HACKENG, C. M. & TEN BERG, J. M. 2010. Comparison of platelet function tests in predicting clinical outcome in patients undergoing coronary stent implantation. *JAMA*, 303, 754-62.
- BRENER, S. J., KIRTANE, A. J., RINALDI, M. J., STUCKEY, T. D., WITZENBICHLER, B., WEISZ, G., NEUMANN, F. J., METZGER, D. C., HENRY, T. D., COX, D. A., DUFFY, P. L., MAZZAFERRI, E. L., JR., GURBEL, P. A., BRODIE, B. R., MEHRAN, R., MCANDREW, T. & STONE, G. W. 2018. Prediction of Ischemic and Bleeding Events Using the Dual Antiplatelet Therapy Score in an Unrestricted Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Population. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 11, e006853.
- BUNDHUN, P. K., TEELUCK, A. R., BHURTU, A. & HUANG, W. Q. 2017. Is the concomitant use of clopidogrel and Proton Pump Inhibitors still associated with increased adverse cardiovascular outcomes following coronary angioplasty?: a systematic review and meta-analysis of recently published studies (2012 2016). *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*, 17, 3.
- BYRNE, M. F., KERRIGAN, S. W., CORCORAN, P. A., ATHERTON, J. C., MURRAY, F. E., FITZGERALD, D. J. & COX, D. M. 2003. Helicobacter pylori binds von Willebrand factor and interacts with GPIb to induce platelet aggregation. *Gastroenterology*, 124, 1846-54.
- CAI, G., ZHOU, W., LU, Y., CHEN, P., LU, Z. & FU, Y. 2016. Aspirin resistance and other aspirinrelated concerns. *Neurol Sci*, 37, 181-9.
- CALMARZA, P., TREJO, J. M., LAPRESTA, C. & LOPEZ, P. 2014. LDL oxidation and its association with carotid artery intima-media thickness and other cardiovascular risk factors in a sample of Spanish general population. *Angiology*, 65, 357-62.
- CAMPO, G., PARRINELLO, G., FERRARESI, P., LUNGHI, B., TEBALDI, M., MICCOLI, M., MARCHESINI, J., BERNARDI, F., FERRARI, R. & VALGIMIGLI, M. 2011. Prospective evaluation of on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity over time in patients treated with percutaneous coronary intervention relationship with gene polymorphisms and clinical outcome. J Am Coll Cardiol, 57, 2474-83.
- CANNON, C. P., HUSTED, S., HARRINGTON, R. A., SCIRICA, B. M., EMANUELSSON, H., PETERS, G., STOREY, R. F. & INVESTIGATORS, D.-. 2007. Safety, tolerability, and initial efficacy of AZD6140, the first reversible oral adenosine diphosphate receptor antagonist, compared with clopidogrel, in patients with non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndrome: primary results of the DISPERSE-2 trial. J Am Coll Cardiol, 50, 1844-51.

- CAO, L., ZHANG, Z., SUN, W., BAI, W., SUN, W., ZHANG, Y., WANG, X., CAI, B., XIE, X., DUAN, Z., CAI, Q., LIU, D., XIONG, Y., MA, M., LIU, X. & XU, G. 2014. Impacts of COX-1 gene polymorphisms on vascular outcomes in patients with ischemic stroke and treated with aspirin. *Gene*, 546, 172-6.
- CARNEVALE, R., BARTIMOCCIA, S., NOCELLA, C., DI SANTO, S., LOFFREDO, L., ILLUMINATI, G., LOMBARDI, E., BOZ, V., DEL BEN, M., DE MARCO, L., PIGNATELLI, P. & VIOLI, F. 2014. LDL oxidation by platelets propagates platelet activation via an oxidative stressmediated mechanism. *Atherosclerosis*, 237, 108-16.
- CARUSO, R., ROCCHICCIOLI, S., GORI, A. M., CECCHETTINI, A., GIUSTI, B., PARODI, G., COZZI,
 L., MARCUCCI, R., PAROLINI, M., ROMAGNUOLO, I., CITTI, L., ABBATE, R. & PARODI,
 O. 2015. Inflammatory and antioxidant pattern unbalance in "clopidogrel-resistant" patients during acute coronary syndrome. *Mediators Inflamm*, 2015, 710123.
- CATELLA-LAWSON, F., REILLY, M. P., KAPOOR, S. C., CUCCHIARA, A. J., DEMARCO, S., TOURNIER, B., VYAS, S. N. & FITZGERALD, G. A. 2001. Cyclooxygenase inhibitors and the antiplatelet effects of aspirin. *N Engl J Med*, 345, 1809-17.
- CAVALLARI, L. H., LEE, C. R., BEITELSHEES, A. L., COOPER-DEHOFF, R. M., DUARTE, J. D., VOORA, D., KIMMEL, S. E., MCDONOUGH, C. W., GONG, Y., DAVE, C. V., PRATT, V. M., ALESTOCK, T. D., ANDERSON, R. D., ALSIP, J., ARDATI, A. K., BROTT, B. C., BROWN, L., CHUMNUMWAT, S., CLARE-SALZLER, M. J., COONS, J. C., DENNY, J. C., DILLON, C., ELSEY, A. R., HAMADEH, I. S., HARADA, S., HILLEGASS, W. B., HINES, L., HORENSTEIN, R. B., HOWELL, L. A., JENG, L. J. B., KELEMEN, M. D., LEE, Y. M., MAGVANJAV, O., MONTASSER, M., NELSON, D. R., NUTESCU, E. A., NWABA, D. C., PAKYZ, R. E., PALMER, K., PETERSON, J. F., POLLIN, T. I., QUINN, A. H., ROBINSON, S. W., SCHUB, J., SKAAR, T. C., SMITH, D. M., SRIRAMOJU, V. B., STAROSTIK, P., STYS, T. P., STEVENSON, J. M., VARUNOK, N., VESELY, M. R., WAKE, D. T., WECK, K. E., WEITZEL, K. W., WILKE, R. A., WILLIG, J., ZHAO, R. Y., KREUTZ, R. P., STOUFFER, G. A., EMPEY, P. E., LIMDI, N. A., SHULDINER, A. R., WINTERSTEIN, A. G., JOHNSON, J. A. & NETWORK, I. 2018. Multisite Investigation of Outcomes With Implementation of CYP2C19 Genotype-Guided Antiplatelet Therapy After Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 11, 181-191.
- CERDA, A., PAVEZ, M., MANRIQUEZ, V., LUCHESSI, A. D., LEAL, P., BENAVENTE, F., FAJARDO, C. M., SALAZAR, L., HIRATA, M. H. & HIRATA, R. D. C. 2017. Effects of clopidogrel on inflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules in human endothelial cells: Role of nitric oxide mediating pleiotropic effects. *Cardiovasc Ther*, 35.
- CHAN, L. W., LUO, X. P., NI, H. C., SHI, H. M., LIU, L., WEN, Z. C., GU, X. Y., QIAO, J. & LI, J. 2015. High levels of LDL-C combined with low levels of HDL-C further increase platelet activation in hypercholesterolemic patients. *Braz J Med Biol Res*, 48, 167-73.
- CHAN, M. Y., TAN, K., TAN, H. C., HUAN, P. T., LI, B., PHUA, Q. H., LEE, H. K., LEE, C. H., LOW,
 A., BECKER, R. C., ONG, W. C., RICHARDS, M. A., SALIM, A., TAI, E. S. & KOAY, E. 2012.
 CYP2C19 and PON1 polymorphisms regulating clopidogrel bioactivation in Chinese,
 Malay and Indian subjects. *Pharmacogenomics*, 13, 533-42.
- CHANG, C., YANG, H., XIN, S. L., LIU, J. X., ZHAO, X. F., LIU, L. J., HAN, L. Y., MENG, L. M. & LI, Q. 2015. The Inhibition of Oxidised Low-Density Lipoprotein-Induced Apoptosis of Macrophages by Recombinant Human Brain Natriuretic Peptide and the Underlying Mechanism. *Cardiology*, 132, 137-46.
- CHANG, Y. W., KO, W. J., OH, C. H., PARK, Y. M., OH, S. J., MOON, J. R., CHO, J. H., KIM, J. W.
 & JANG, J. Y. 2018. Clarithromycin resistance and female gender affect Helicobacter pylori eradication failure in chronic gastritis. *Korean J Intern Med*.
- CHATTERJEE, M., RATH, D., SCHLOTTERBECK, J., RHEINLAENDER, J., WALKER-ALLGAIER, B., ALNAGGAR, N., ZDANYTE, M., MULLER, I., BORST, O., GEISLER, T., SCHAFFER, T. E.,

LAMMERHOFER, M. & GAWAZ, M. 2017. Regulation of oxidized platelet lipidome: implications for coronary artery disease. *Eur Heart J*, 38, 1993-2005.

- CHEN, B., ZHAO, J., ZHANG, S., WU, W. & QI, R. 2012a. Aspirin inhibits the production of reactive oxygen species by downregulating Nox4 and inducible nitric oxide synthase in human endothelial cells exposed to oxidized low-density lipoprotein. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*, 59, 405-12.
- CHEN, B. L., ZHANG, W., LI, Q., LI, Y. L., HE, Y. J., FAN, L., WANG, L. S., LIU, Z. Q. & ZHOU, H.
 H. 2008. Inhibition of ADP-induced platelet aggregation by clopidogrel is related to CYP2C19 genetic polymorphisms. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*, 35, 904-8.
- CHEN, D. Y., WANG, C. Y., WEN, M. S., LEE, T. H., CHU, Y., HSIEH, M. J., CHANG, S. H., LEE, C. H., WANG, J. L., CHEN, C. C., LU, L. S., LEE, M. T., YEH, S. J., LIN, F. C. & HSIEH, I. C. 2012b. Paraoxonase-1 is not a major determinant of stent thrombosis in a Taiwanese population. *PLoS One*, 7, e39178.
- CHEN, H. Y. & CHOU, P. 2018a. Associations Between PFA-Measured Aspirin Resistance, Platelet Count, Renal Function, and Angiotensin Receptor Blockers. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost*, 1076029618786588.
- CHEN, H. Y. & CHOU, P. 2018b. PFA-100-measured aspirin resistance is the predominant risk factor for hospitalized cardiovascular events in aspirin-treated patients: A 5-year cohort study. *J Clin Pharm Ther*, 43, 249-255.
- CHEN, W. H., LEE, P. Y., NG, W., TSE, H. F. & LAU, C. P. 2004. Aspirin resistance is associated with a high incidence of myonecrosis after non-urgent percutaneous coronary intervention despite clopidogrel pretreatment. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 43, 1122-6.
- CHEN, Y., KUEHL, G. E., BIGLER, J., RIMORIN, C. F., SCHWARZ, Y., SHEN, D. D. & LAMPE, J. W. 2007. UGT1A6 polymorphism and salicylic acid glucuronidation following aspirin. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*, **17**, 571-9.
- CHEN, Y., SEGERS, S. & BLASER, M. J. 2013. Association between Helicobacter pylori and mortality in the NHANES III study. *Gut*, 62, 1262-9.
- CHENG, J. M., OEMRAWSINGH, R. M., GARCIA-GARCIA, H. M., BOERSMA, E., VAN GEUNS, R. J., SERRUYS, P. W., KARDYS, I. & AKKERHUIS, K. M. 2016. PCSK9 in relation to coronary plaque inflammation: Results of the ATHEROREMO-IVUS study. *Atherosclerosis*, 248, 117-22.
- CHI, Y., LI, M., YU, T., QIN, J., LI, J., CHEN, Y. & LIU, Q. 2018. Recombinant Domain V of beta (2)-Glycoprotein I Inhibits OxLDL-induced TF Expression in Macrophages. J Pak Med Assoc, 68, 1644-11649.
- CHOI, S. Y. & KIM, M. H. 2018. Comparison of factors affecting platelet reactivity in various platelet function tests. *Platelets*, 1-6.
- CLAPPERS, N., VAN OIJEN, M. G., SUNDARESAN, S., BROUWER, M. A., TE MORSCHE, R. H., KEUPER, W., PETERS, W. H., DRENTH, J. P. & VERHEUGT, F. W. 2008. The C50T polymorphism of the cyclooxygenase-1 gene and the risk of thrombotic events during low-dose therapy with acetyl salicylic acid. *Thromb Haemost*, 100, 70-5.
- CLEMMENSEN, P., ROE, M. T., HOCHMAN, J. S., CYR, D. D., NEELY, M. L., MCGUIRE, D. K., CORNEL, J. H., HUBER, K., ZAMORYAKHIN, D., WHITE, H. D., ARMSTRONG, P. W., FOX, K. A., PRABHAKARAN, D., OHMAN, E. M. & INVESTIGATORS, T. A. 2015. Long-term outcomes for women versus men with unstable angina/non-ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction managed medically without revascularization: insights from the TaRgeted platelet Inhibition to cLarify the Optimal strateGy to medicallY manage Acute Coronary Syndromes trial. *Am Heart J*, 170, 695-705 e5.
- COLEMAN, C. I. & LIMONE, B. L. 2013. Cost-effectiveness of universal and platelet reactivity assay-driven antiplatelet therapy in acute coronary syndrome. *Am J Cardiol*, 112, 355-62.

- COLLET, J. P., CUISSET, T., RANGE, G., CAYLA, G., ELHADAD, S., POUILLOT, C., HENRY, P., MOTREFF, P., CARRIE, D., BOUERI, Z., BELLE, L., VAN BELLE, E., ROUSSEAU, H., AUBRY, P., MONSEGU, J., SABOURET, P., O'CONNOR, S. A., ABTAN, J., KERNEIS, M., SAINT-ETIENNE, C., BARTHELEMY, O., BEYGUI, F., SILVAIN, J., VICAUT, E., MONTALESCOT, G. & INVESTIGATORS, A. 2012. Bedside monitoring to adjust antiplatelet therapy for coronary stenting. N Engl J Med, 367, 2100-9.
- COLLET, J. P., HULOT, J. S., ANZAHA, G., PENA, A., CHASTRE, T., CARON, C., SILVAIN, J., CAYLA, G., BELLEMAIN-APPAIX, A., VIGNALOU, J. B., GALIER, S., BARTHELEMY, O., BEYGUI, F., GALLOIS, V., MONTALESCOT, G. & INVESTIGATORS, C.-. 2011. High doses of clopidogrel to overcome genetic resistance: the randomized crossover CLOVIS-2 (Clopidogrel and Response Variability Investigation Study 2). JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 4, 392-402.
- COLLET, J. P., HULOT, J. S., PENA, A., VILLARD, E., ESTEVE, J. B., SILVAIN, J., PAYOT, L., BRUGIER, D., CAYLA, G., BEYGUI, F., BENSIMON, G., FUNCK-BRENTANO, C. & MONTALESCOT, G. 2009. Cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphism in young patients treated with clopidogrel after myocardial infarction: a cohort study. *Lancet*, 373, 309-17.
- COMMITTEE, A. S., INVESTIGATORS, ALEXANDER, J. H., BECKER, R. C., BHATT, D. L., COOLS, F., CREA, F., DELLBORG, M., FOX, K. A., GOODMAN, S. G., HARRINGTON, R. A., HUBER, K., HUSTED, S., LEWIS, B. S., LOPEZ-SENDON, J., MOHAN, P., MONTALESCOT, G., RUDA, M., RUZYLLO, W., VERHEUGT, F. & WALLENTIN, L. 2009. Apixaban, an oral, direct, selective factor Xa inhibitor, in combination with antiplatelet therapy after acute coronary syndrome: results of the Apixaban for Prevention of Acute Ischemic and Safety Events (APPRAISE) trial. *Circulation*, 119, 2877-85.
- CONROTTO, F., BERTAINA, M., RAPOSEIRAS-ROUBIN, S., KINNAIRD, T., ARIZA-SOLE, A., MANZANO-FERNANDEZ, S., TEMPLIN, C., VELICKI, L., XANTHOPOULOU, I., CERRATO, E., ROGNONI, A., BOCCUZZI, G., OMEDE, P., MONTABONE, A., TAHA, S., DURANTE, A., GILI, S., MAGNANI, G., AUTELLI, M., GROSSO, A., FLORES BLANCO, P., GARAY, A., QUADRI, G., VARBELLA, F., CANEIRO QUEIJA, B., COBAS PAZ, R., CESPON FERNANDEZ, M., MUNOZ POUSA, I., GALLO, D., MORBIDUCCI, U., DOMINGUEZ-RODRIGUEZ, A., VALDES, M., CEQUIER, A., ALEXOPOULOS, D., INIGUEZ-ROMO, A., GAITA, F., ABU-ASSI, E. & D'ASCENZO, F. 2018. Prasugrel or ticagrelor in patients with acute coronary syndrome and diabetes: a propensity matched substudy of RENAMI. *Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care*, 2048872618802783.
- CORNEL, J. H., OHMAN, E. M., NEELY, B., CLEMMENSEN, P., SRITARA, P., ZAMORYAKHIN, D., ARMSTRONG, P. W., PRABHAKARAN, D., WHITE, H. D., FOX, K. A., GURBEL, P. A., ROE, M. T. & INVESTIGATORS, T. A. 2014. Impact of smoking status on platelet function and clinical outcomes with prasugrel vs. clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes managed without revascularization: Insights from the TRILOGY ACS trial. *Am Heart J*, 168, 76-87 e1.
- CRESCI, S., DEPTA, J. P., LENZINI, P. A., LI, A. Y., LANFEAR, D. E., PROVINCE, M. A., SPERTUS, J. A. & BACH, R. G. 2014. Cytochrome p450 gene variants, race, and mortality among clopidogrel-treated patients after acute myocardial infarction. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet*, 7, 277-86.
- CUBERO GOMEZ, J. M., ACOSTA MARTINEZ, J., MENDIAS BENITEZ, C., DIAZ DE LA LLERA, L. S., FERNANDEZ-QUERO, M., GUISADO RASCO, A., VILLA GIL-ORTEGA, M. & SANCHEZ GONZALEZ, A. 2015. VERifyNow in Dlabetes high-on-treatment platelet reactivity: a pharmacodynamic study on switching from clopidogrel to prasugrel. *Acta Cardiol*, 70, 728-34.
- CUISSET, T., FRERE, C., POYET, R., QUILICI, J., GABORIT, B., BALI, L., BRISSY, O., LAMBERT, M., MORANGE, P. E., ALESSI, M. C. & BONNET, J. L. 2010. Clopidogrel response: head-to-

head comparison of different platelet assays to identify clopidogrel non responder patients after coronary stenting. *Arch Cardiovasc Dis*, 103, 39-45.

- CUISSET, T., FRERE, C., QUILICI, J., MORANGE, P. E., SAUT, N., LAMBERT, M., CAMOIN, L., VAGUE, I. J., BONNET, J. L. & ALESSI, M. C. 2007. Role of the T744C polymorphism of the P2Y12 gene on platelet response to a 600-mg loading dose of clopidogrel in 597 patients with non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndrome. *Thromb Res*, 120, 893-9.
- CUISSET, T., LOOSVELD, M., MORANGE, P. E., QUILICI, J., MORO, P. J., SAUT, N., GABORIT, B., CASTELLI, C., BEGUIN, S., GROSDIDIER, C., FOURCADE, L., BONNET, J. L. & ALESSI, M.
 C. 2012. CYP2C19*2 and *17 alleles have a significant impact on platelet response and bleeding risk in patients treated with prasugrel after acute coronary syndrome. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 5, 1280-7.
- DANESE, E., FAVA, C., BELTRAME, F., TAVELLA, D., CALABRIA, S., BENATI, M., GELATI, M., GOTTARDO, R., TAGLIARO, F., GUIDI, G. C., CATTANEO, M. & MINUZ, P. 2016. Relationship between pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of clopidogrel in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: comparison between vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein phosphorylation assay and multiple electrode aggregometry. *J Thromb Haemost*, 14, 282-93.
- DANIELAK, D., KOMOSA, A., TOMCZAK, A., GRACZYK-SZUSTER, A., LESIAK, M., GLOWKA, F. & KARAZNIEWICZ-LADA, M. 2017. Determinants of high on-treatment platelet reactivity and agreement between VerifyNow and Multiplate assays. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest*, 77, 190-198.
- DE GAETANO, G. & COLLABORATIVE GROUP OF THE PRIMARY PREVENTION, P. 2001. Lowdose aspirin and vitamin E in people at cardiovascular risk: a randomised trial in general practice. Collaborative Group of the Primary Prevention Project. *Lancet*, 357, 89-95.
- DE IULIIS, V., URSI, S., PENNELLI, A., CARUSO, M., NUNZIATA, A., MARINO, A., FLATI, V., CIPOLLONE, F., GIAMBERARDINO, M. A., VITULLO, G., TONIATO, E., CONTI, P. & MARTINOTTI, S. 2018. Differential TBXA2 receptor transcript stability is dependent on the C924T polymorphism. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*, 134, 141-147.
- DE MIRANDA TEIXEIRA, R., CRUZ DE SA, N., CAIRES DOS SANTOS, A. P., ANJOS, E. S. V. R., DE MAGALHAES CABRAL ALBUQUERQUE, E. C., LEMOS CORREIA, L. C. & COUTO, R. D. 2019. HDL Particle Size and Functionality Comparison between Patients with and without Confirmed Acute Myocardial Infarction. *Cardiol Res Pract*, 2019, 3074602.
- DEMCSAK, A., LANTOS, T., BALINT, E. R., HARTMANN, P., VINCZE, A., BAJOR, J., CZOPF, L., ALIZADEH, H., GYONGYI, Z., MARTA, K., MIKO, A., SZAKACS, Z., PECSI, D., HEGYI, P. & SZABO, I. L. 2018. PPIs Are Not Responsible for Elevating Cardiovascular Risk in Patients on Clopidogrel-A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Front Physiol*, 9, 1550.
- DEPTA, J. P., LENZINI, P. A., LANFEAR, D. E., WANG, T. Y., SPERTUS, J. A., BACH, R. G. & CRESCI, S. 2015. Clinical outcomes associated with proton pump inhibitor use among clopidogrel-treated patients within CYP2C19 genotype groups following acute myocardial infarction. *Pharmacogenomics J*, 15, 20-5.
- DESHPANDE, N., V, S., V, V. R., H, V. V. M., M, S., BANERJEE, R., TANDAN, M. & D, N. R. 2016. Rapid and ultra-rapid metabolizers with CYP2C19*17 polymorphism do not respond to standard therapy with proton pump inhibitors. *Meta Gene*, 9, 159-64.
- DHARMASAROJA, P. A. & SAE-LIM, S. 2014. Comparison of aspirin response measured by urinary 11-dehydrothromboxane B2 and VerifyNow aspirin assay in patients with ischemic stroke. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis*, 23, 953-7.

- DI GIOSIA, P., PASSACQUALE, G., PETRARCA, M., GIORGINI, P., MARRA, A. M. & FERRO, A. 2017. Gender differences in cardiovascular prophylaxis: Focus on antiplatelet treatment. *Pharmacol Res*, 119, 36-47.
- DICHIARA, J., BLIDEN, K. P., TANTRY, U. S., CHAGANTI, S. K., KREUTZ, R. P., GESHEFF, T. B., KREUTZ, Y. & GURBEL, P. A. 2007. Platelet function measured by VerifyNow identifies generalized high platelet reactivity in aspirin treated patients. *Platelets*, 18, 414-23.
- DOMINIAK, M., WCISLO, T., KRZEMINSKA-PAKULA, M., BEDNARKIEWICZ, Z., FIGIEL, L. & KASPRZAK, J. D. 2013. Predictors of successful acetylsalicylic acid resistance suppression after percutaneous coronary revascularisation. *Kardiol Pol*, **71**, 1229-36.
- DOSH, K., BERGER, P. B., MARSO, S., VAN LENTE, F., BRENNAN, D. M., CHARNIGO, R., TOPOL, E. J. & STEINHUBL, S. 2009. Relationship between baseline inflammatory markers, antiplatelet therapy, and adverse cardiac events after percutaneous coronary intervention: an analysis from the clopidogrel for the reduction of events during observation trial. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 2, 503-12.
- DRETZKE, J., RILEY, R. D., LORDKIPANIDZE, M., JOWETT, S., O'DONNELL, J., ENSOR, J., MOLONEY, E., PRICE, M., RAICHAND, S., HODGKINSON, J., BAYLISS, S., FITZMAURICE, D. & MOORE, D. 2015. The prognostic utility of tests of platelet function for the detection of 'aspirin resistance' in patients with established cardiovascular or cerebrovascular disease: a systematic review and economic evaluation. *Health Technol Assess*, 19, 1-366.
- DRIDI, N. P., JOHANSSON, P. I., CLEMMENSEN, P., STISSING, T., RADU, M. D., QAYYUM, A., PEDERSEN, F., HELQVIST, S., SAUNAMAKI, K., KELBAEK, H., JORGENSEN, E., ENGSTROM, T. & HOLMVANG, L. 2014. Prasugrel or double-dose clopidogrel to overcome clopidogrel low-response--the TAILOR (Thrombocytes And IndividuaLization of ORal antiplatelet therapy in percutaneous coronary intervention) randomized trial. *Platelets*, 25, 506-12.
- DU, L., CHENG, Z., ZHANG, Y., LI, Y. & MEI, D. 2017. The impact of medication adherence on clinical outcomes of coronary artery disease: A meta-analysis. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*, 24, 962-970.
- DUNN, S. P., STEINHUBL, S. R., BAUER, D., CHARNIGO, R. J., BERGER, P. B. & TOPOL, E. J. 2013. Impact of proton pump inhibitor therapy on the efficacy of clopidogrel in the CAPRIE and CREDO trials. *J Am Heart Assoc*, **2**, e004564.
- EIKELBOOM, J. W., CONNOLLY, S. J., BOSCH, J., DAGENAIS, G. R., HART, R. G., SHESTAKOVSKA,
 O., DIAZ, R., ALINGS, M., LONN, E. M., ANAND, S. S., WIDIMSKY, P., HORI, M.,
 AVEZUM, A., PIEGAS, L. S., BRANCH, K. R. H., PROBSTFIELD, J., BHATT, D. L., ZHU, J.,
 LIANG, Y., MAGGIONI, A. P., LOPEZ-JARAMILLO, P., O'DONNELL, M., KAKKAR, A. K.,
 FOX, K. A. A., PARKHOMENKO, A. N., ERTL, G., STORK, S., KELTAI, M., RYDEN, L.,
 POGOSOVA, N., DANS, A. L., LANAS, F., COMMERFORD, P. J., TORP-PEDERSEN, C.,
 GUZIK, T. J., VERHAMME, P. B., VINEREANU, D., KIM, J. H., TONKIN, A. M., LEWIS, B.
 S., FELIX, C., YUSOFF, K., STEG, P. G., METSARINNE, K. P., COOK BRUNS, N.,
 MISSELWITZ, F., CHEN, E., LEONG, D., YUSUF, S. & INVESTIGATORS, C. 2017.
 Rivaroxaban with or without Aspirin in Stable Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med, 377, 1319-1330.
- EIKELBOOM, J. W., HIRSH, J., WEITZ, J. I., JOHNSTON, M., YI, Q. & YUSUF, S. 2002. Aspirinresistant thromboxane biosynthesis and the risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, or cardiovascular death in patients at high risk for cardiovascular events. *Circulation*, 105, 1650-5.
- ELIZALDE, J. I., PEREZ-PUJOL, S., HERAS, M., SIONIS, A., CASANOVAS, N., MARTORELL, T., LOZANO, M., GONZALEZ, J., ESCOLAR, G., SANZ, G. & PIQUE, J. M. 2004. Effects of Helicobacter pylori eradication on platelet activation and disease recurrence in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Helicobacter*, 9, 681-9.

- EREN, E., ELLIDAG, H. Y., YILMAZ, A., AYDIN, O. & YILMAZ, N. 2015. No association between vitamin D levels and inflammation markers in patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Adv Med Sci*, 60, 89-93.
- ERTEM, A. G., EFE, T. H., YAYLA, C., AKBOGA, M. K., ACAR, B., UNAL, S., KIRBAS, O., SEZER TEKCE, Y., MADEN, O., SELCUK, H. & SELCUK, M. T. 2017. The Association Between Serum Procalcitonin Levels and Severity of Coronary Artery Disease Assessed by SYNTAX Score in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Angiology*, 68, 40-45.
- FARADAY, N., BECKER, D. M., YANEK, L. R., HERRERA-GALEANO, J. E., SEGAL, J. B., MOY, T. F., BRAY, P. F. & BECKER, L. C. 2006. Relation between atherosclerosis risk factors and aspirin resistance in a primary prevention population. *Am J Cardiol*, 98, 774-9.
- FARADAY, N., YANEK, L. R., MATHIAS, R., HERRERA-GALEANO, J. E., VAIDYA, D., MOY, T. F., FALLIN, M. D., WILSON, A. F., BRAY, P. F., BECKER, L. C. & BECKER, D. M. 2007. Heritability of platelet responsiveness to aspirin in activation pathways directly and indirectly related to cyclooxygenase-1. *Circulation*, 115, 2490-6.
- FARHAT, N., HADDAD, N., CRISPO, J., BIRKETT, N., MCNAIR, D., MOMOLI, F., WEN, S. W., MATTISON, D. R. & KREWSKI, D. 2019. Trends in concomitant clopidogrel and proton pump inhibitor treatment among ACS inpatients, 2000-2016. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 75, 227-235.
- FARID, N. A., PAYNE, C. D., SMALL, D. S., WINTERS, K. J., ERNEST, C. S., 2ND, BRANDT, J. T., DARSTEIN, C., JAKUBOWSKI, J. A. & SALAZAR, D. E. 2007. Cytochrome P450 3A inhibition by ketoconazole affects prasugrel and clopidogrel pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics differently. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 81, 735-41.
- FAXON, D. P. 2010. Antiplatelet therapy: cangrelor for ACS-lessons from the CHAMPION trials. *Nat Rev Cardiol*, **7**, 124-5.
- FERREIRO, J. L., UENO, M., TELLO-MONTOLIU, A., TOMASELLO, S. D., SEECHERAN, N., DESAI, B., ROLLINI, F., GUZMAN, L. A., BASS, T. A. & ANGIOLILLO, D. J. 2013. Impact of prasugrel reload dosing regimens on high on-treatment platelet reactivity rates in patients on maintenance prasugrel therapy. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 6, 182-4.
- FITZGERALD, R. & PIRMOHAMED, M. 2011. Aspirin resistance: effect of clinical, biochemical and genetic factors. *Pharmacol Ther*, 130, 213-25.
- FLOYD, C. N. & FERRO, A. 2014. The PIA1/A2 polymorphism of glycoprotein IIIa in relation to efficacy of antiplatelet drugs: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Clin Pharmacol, 77, 446-57.
- FONTANA, P., JAMES, R., BARAZER, I., BERDAGUE, P., SCHVED, J. F., REBSAMEN, M., VUILLEUMIER, N. & RENY, J. L. 2011. Relationship between paraoxonase-1 activity, its Q192R genetic variant and clopidogrel responsiveness in the ADRIE study. *J Thromb Haemost*, *9*, 1664-6.
- FONTANA, P., SENOUF, D. & MACH, F. 2008. Biological effect of increased maintenance dose of clopidogrel in cardiovascular outpatients and influence of the cytochrome P450 2C19*2 allele on clopidogrel responsiveness. *Thromb Res*, 121, 463-8.
- FORTUNA, L. A., PAWLOSKI, P. A., PARKER, E. D., TROWER, N. K. & KOTTKE, T. E. 2016. Proton pump inhibitor use by aspirin-treated coronary artery disease patients is not associated with increased risk of cardiovascular events. *Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother*, 2, 13-9.
- FRANCHI, F., ROLLINI, F., AGGARWAL, N., HU, J., KURETI, M., DURAIRAJ, A., DUARTE, V. E., CHO, J. R., BEEN, L., ZENNI, M. M., BASS, T. A. & ANGIOLILLO, D. J. 2016. Pharmacodynamic Comparison of Prasugrel Versus Ticagrelor in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus and Coronary Artery Disease: The OPTIMUS (Optimizing Antiplatelet Therapy in Diabetes Mellitus)-4 Study. *Circulation*, 134, 780-92.
- FRELINGER, A. L., 3RD, BHATT, D. L., LEE, R. D., MULFORD, D. J., WU, J., NUDURUPATI, S., NIGAM, A., LAMPA, M., BROOKS, J. K., BARNARD, M. R. & MICHELSON, A. D. 2013.

Clopidogrel pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics vary widely despite exclusion or control of polymorphisms (CYP2C19, ABCB1, PON1), noncompliance, diet, smoking, co-medications (including proton pump inhibitors), and pre-existent variability in platelet function. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 61, 872-9.

- FRERE, C., CUISSET, T., MORANGE, P. E., QUILICI, J., CAMOIN-JAU, L., SAUT, N., FAILLE, D., LAMBERT, M., JUHAN-VAGUE, I., BONNET, J. L. & ALESSI, M. C. 2008. Effect of cytochrome p450 polymorphisms on platelet reactivity after treatment with clopidogrel in acute coronary syndrome. *Am J Cardiol*, 101, 1088-93.
- GAGNE, J. J., BYKOV, K., CHOUDHRY, N. K., TOOMEY, T. J., CONNOLLY, J. G. & AVORN, J. 2013. Effect of smoking on comparative efficacy of antiplatelet agents: systematic review, meta-analysis, and indirect comparison. *BMJ*, 347, f5307.
- GAJOS, G., ZALEWSKI, J., NESSLER, J., ZMUDKA, K., UNDAS, A. & PIWOWARSKA, W. 2012. Polyunsaturated omega-3 fatty acids improve responsiveness to clopidogrel after percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-offunction polymorphism. *Kardiol Pol*, 70, 439-45.
- GAO, S., ZHAO, D., QI, Y., WANG, W., WANG, M., SUN, J., LIU, J., LI, Y. & LIU, J. 2018. Circulating Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Levels Independently Predict 10-Year Progression of Subclinical Carotid Atherosclerosis: A Community-Based Cohort Study. J Atheroscler Thromb, 25, 1032-1043.
- GAO, S., ZHAO, D., WANG, M., ZHAO, F., HAN, X., QI, Y. & LIU, J. 2017. Association Between Circulating Oxidized LDL and Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease: A Meta-analysis of Observational Studies. *Can J Cardiol*, 33, 1624-1632.
- GARGIULO, G., WINDECKER, S., DA COSTA, B. R., FERES, F., HONG, M. K., GILARD, M., KIM, H. S., COLOMBO, A., BHATT, D. L., KIM, B. K., MORICE, M. C., PARK, K. W., CHIEFFO, A., PALMERINI, T., STONE, G. W. & VALGIMIGLI, M. 2016. Short term versus long term dual antiplatelet therapy after implantation of drug eluting stent in patients with or without diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data from randomised trials. *BMJ*, 355, i5483.
- GE, H., ZHOU, Y., LIU, X., NIE, X., WANG, Z., GUO, Y., CHEN, W. & YANG, Q. 2012. Relationship between plasma inflammatory markers and platelet aggregation in patients with clopidogrel resistance after angioplasty. *Angiology*, 63, 62-6.
- GEISLER, T., MUELLER, K., AICHELE, S., BIGALKE, B., STELLOS, K., HTUN, P., NINCI, E., FATEH-MOGHADAM, S., MAY, A. E. & GAWAZ, M. 2010. Impact of inflammatory state and metabolic control on responsiveness to dual antiplatelet therapy in type 2 diabetics after PCI: prognostic relevance of residual platelet aggregability in diabetics undergoing coronary interventions. *Clin Res Cardiol*, 99, 743-52.
- GENCER, B., MONTECUCCO, F., NANCHEN, D., CARBONE, F., KLINGENBERG, R., VUILLEUMIER, N., AGHLMANDI, S., HEG, D., RABER, L., AUER, R., JUNI, P., WINDECKER, S., LUSCHER, T. F., MATTER, C. M., RODONDI, N. & MACH, F. 2016. Prognostic value of PCSK9 levels in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Eur Heart J*, 37, 546-53.
- GENGO, F., WESTPHAL, E. S., RAINKA, M. M., JANDA, M., ROBSON, M. J., HOURIHANE, J. M. & BATES, V. 2016. Platelet response to increased aspirin dose in patients with persistent platelet aggregation while treated with aspirin 81 mg. *J Clin Pharmacol*, 56, 414-21.
- GILARD, M., ARNAUD, B., CORNILY, J. C., LE GAL, G., LACUT, K., LE CALVEZ, G., MANSOURATI, J., MOTTIER, D., ABGRALL, J. F. & BOSCHAT, J. 2008. Influence of omeprazole on the antiplatelet action of clopidogrel associated with aspirin: the randomized, doubleblind OCLA (Omeprazole CLopidogrel Aspirin) study. J Am Coll Cardiol, 51, 256-60.
- GIUSTI, B., GORI, A. M., MARCUCCI, R., SARACINI, C., SESTINI, I., PANICCIA, R., BUONAMICI, P., ANTONIUCCI, D., ABBATE, R. & GENSINI, G. F. 2009. Relation of cytochrome P450

2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism to occurrence of drug-eluting coronary stent thrombosis. *Am J Cardiol*, 103, 806-11.

- GIUSTI, B., GORI, A. M., MARCUCCI, R., SARACINI, C., SESTINI, I., PANICCIA, R., VALENTE, S., ANTONIUCCI, D., ABBATE, R. & GENSINI, G. F. 2007. Cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-offunction polymorphism, but not CYP3A4 IVS10 + 12G/A and P2Y12 T744C polymorphisms, is associated with response variability to dual antiplatelet treatment in high-risk vascular patients. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*, 17, 1057-64.
- GLEIM, S., STITHAM, J., TANG, W. H., LI, H., DOUVILLE, K., CHELIKANI, P., RADE, J. J., MARTIN,
 K. A. & HWA, J. 2013. Human thromboxane A2 receptor genetic variants: in silico, in
 vitro and "in platelet" analysis. *PLoS One*, *8*, e67314.
- GODINO, C., PAVON, A. G., MANGIERI, A., SALERNO, A., CERA, M., MONELLO, A., CHIEFFO, A., MAGNI, V., CAPPELLETTI, A., MARGONATO, A. & COLOMBO, A. 2017. Platelet reactivity in response to loading dose of atorvastatin or rosuvastatin in patients with stable coronary disease before percutaneous coronary intervention: The STATIPLAT randomized study. *Clin Cardiol*, 40, 605-611.
- GONZALEZ-PACHECO, H., AMEZCUA-GUERRA, L. M., VAZQUEZ-RANGEL, A., MARTINEZ-SANCHEZ, C., PEREZ-MENDEZ, O., VERDEJO, J. & BOJALIL, R. 2015. Levels of High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol are Associated With Biomarkers of Inflammation in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Am J Cardiol*, 116, 1651-7.
- GOODMAN, T., FERRO, A. & SHARMA, P. 2008. Pharmacogenetics of aspirin resistance: a comprehensive systematic review. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 66, 222-32.
- GOTO, S., HUANG, C. H., PARK, S. J., EMANUELSSON, H. & KIMURA, T. 2015. Ticagrelor vs. clopidogrel in Japanese, Korean and Taiwanese patients with acute coronary syndrome -- randomized, double-blind, phase III PHILO study. *Circ J*, 79, 2452-60.
- GREBE, A., HOSS, F. & LATZ, E. 2018. NLRP3 Inflammasome and the IL-1 Pathway in Atherosclerosis. *Circ Res*, 122, 1722-1740.
- GRECO, T. P., CONTI-KELLY, A. M., ANTHONY, J. R., GRECO, T., JR., DOYLE, R., BOISEN, M., KOJIMA, K., MATSUURA, E. & LOPEZ, L. R. 2010. Oxidized-LDL/beta(2)-glycoprotein I complexes are associated with disease severity and increased risk for adverse outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndromes. Am J Clin Pathol, 133, 737-43.
- GREEN, A., POTTEGARD, A., BROE, A., DINESS, T. G., EMNEUS, M., HASVOLD, P. & GISLASON, G. H. 2016. Initiation and persistence with dual antiplatelet therapy after acute myocardial infarction: a Danish nationwide population-based cohort study. *BMJ Open*, 6, e010880.
- GREENHALGH, J., BAGUST, A., BOLAND, A., DWAN, K., BEALE, S., FLEEMAN, N., MCENTEE, J., DUNDAR, Y., RICHARDSON, M. & FISHER, M. 2015. Prasugrel (Efient(R)) with percutaneous coronary intervention for treating acute coronary syndromes (review of TA182): systematic review and economic analysis. *Health Technol Assess*, 19, 1-130.
- GREMMEL, T., KOPP, C. W., MOERTL, D., SEIDINGER, D., KOPPENSTEINER, R., PANZER, S., MANNHALTER, C. & STEINER, S. 2012. Influence of cytochrome 2C19 allelic variants on on-treatment platelet reactivity evaluated by five different platelet function tests. *Thromb Res*, 129, 616-22.
- GREMMEL, T., KOPP, C. W., SEIDINGER, D., KOPPENSTEINER, R., PANZER, S., SUNDER-PLASSMANN, R., MANNHALTER, C. & STEINER, S. 2013. Differential impact of cytochrome 2C9 allelic variants on clopidogrel-mediated platelet inhibition determined by five different platelet function tests. *Int J Cardiol*, 166, 126-31.
- GREMMEL, T., KOPPENSTEINER, R. & PANZER, S. 2015. Comparison of Aggregometry with Flow Cytometry for the Assessment of Agonists -Induced Platelet Reactivity in Patients on Dual Antiplatelet Therapy. *PLoS One,* 10, e0129666.

- GUERIN, A., MODY, R., CARTER, V., AYAS, C., PATEL, H., LASCH, K. & WU, E. 2016. Changes in Practice Patterns of Clopidogrel in Combination with Proton Pump Inhibitors after an FDA Safety Communication. *PLoS One*, 11, e0145504.
- GURBEL, P. A., ANTONINO, M. J. & TANTRY, U. S. 2009. Recent developments in clopidogrel pharmacology and their relation to clinical outcomes. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol*, 5, 989-1004.
- GURBEL, P. A., BLIDEN, K. P., DICHIARA, J., NEWCOMER, J., WENG, W., NEERCHAL, N. K., GESHEFF, T., CHAGANTI, S. K., ETHERINGTON, A. & TANTRY, U. S. 2007. Evaluation of dose-related effects of aspirin on platelet function: results from the Aspirin-Induced Platelet Effect (ASPECT) study. *Circulation*, 115, 3156-64.
- GURBEL, P. A., BLIDEN, K. P., LOGAN, D. K., KEREIAKES, D. J., LASSETER, K. C., WHITE, A., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., NOLIN, T. D., MAA, J. F., BAILEY, W. L., JAKUBOWSKI, J. A., OJEH, C. K., JEONG, Y. H., TANTRY, U. S. & BAKER, B. A. 2013. The influence of smoking status on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of clopidogrel and prasugrel: the PARADOX study. J Am Coll Cardiol, 62, 505-12.
- GURBEL, P. A., JEONG, Y. H. & TANTRY, U. S. 2016. The Dogged Search for Cryptic Effects of Ticagrelor: Wishful Thinking or Real Benefits Beyond P2Y12 Inhibition? *Circulation*, 134, 1720-1723.
- HAHN, J. Y., SONG, Y. B., OH, J. H., CHO, D. K., LEE, J. B., DOH, J. H., KIM, S. H., JEONG, J. O., BAE, J. H., KIM, B. O., CHO, J. H., SUH, I. W., KIM, D. I., PARK, H. K., PARK, J. S., CHOI, W. G., LEE, W. S., KIM, J., CHOI, K. H., PARK, T. K., LEE, J. M., YANG, J. H., CHOI, J. H., CHOI, S. H., GWON, H. C. & INVESTIGATORS, S.-D. 2018. 6-month versus 12-month or longer dual antiplatelet therapy after percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with acute coronary syndrome (SMART-DATE): a randomised, open-label, non-inferiority trial. *Lancet*, 391, 1274-1284.
- HAHN, J. Y., SONG, Y. B., OH, J. H., CHUN, W. J., PARK, Y. H., JANG, W. J., IM, E. S., JEONG, J. O., CHO, B. R., OH, S. K., YUN, K. H., CHO, D. K., LEE, J. Y., KOH, Y. Y., BAE, J. W., CHOI, J. W., LEE, W. S., YOON, H. J., LEE, S. U., CHO, J. H., CHOI, W. G., RHA, S. W., LEE, J. M., PARK, T. K., YANG, J. H., CHOI, J. H., CHOI, S. H., LEE, S. H., GWON, H. C. & INVESTIGATORS, S.-C. 2019. Effect of P2Y12 Inhibitor Monotherapy vs Dual Antiplatelet Therapy on Cardiovascular Events in Patients Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: The SMART-CHOICE Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA, 321, 2428-2437.
- HAJSADEGHI, S., CHITSAZAN, M., CHITSAZAN, M., SALEHI, N., AMIN, A., BIDOKHTI, A. A., BABAALI, N., BORDBAR, A., HEJRATI, M. & MOGHADAMI, S. 2016a. Prasugrel Results in Higher Decrease in High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein Level in Patients Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Comparing to Clopidogrel. *Clin Med Insights Cardiol*, 10, 149-55.
- HAJSADEGHI, S., CHITSAZAN, M., CHITSAZAN, M., SALEHI, N., AMIN, A., MALEKI, M., BABAALI, N., ABDI, S. & MOHSENIAN, M. 2016b. Changes of High Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein During Clopidogrel Therapy in Patients Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. *Res Cardiovasc Med*, 5, e28997.
- HALUSHKA, M. K., WALKER, L. P. & HALUSHKA, P. V. 2003. Genetic variation in cyclooxygenase 1: effects on response to aspirin. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 73, 122-30.
- HAMED, S. A., AMINE, N. F., GALAL, G. M., HELAL, S. R., TAG EL-DIN, L. M., SHAWKY, O. A., AHMED, E. A. & ABDEL RAHMAN, M. S. 2008. Vascular risks and complications in diabetes mellitus: the role of helicobacter pylori infection. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis*, 17, 86-94.
- HAN, Y., LV, H. H., LIU, X., DONG, Q., YANG, X. L., LI, S. X., WU, S., JIANG, J. M., LUO, Z., ZHU,D. S., ZHANG, Y., ZHENG, Y., GUAN, Y. T. & XU, J. F. 2015. Influence of Genetic Polymorphisms on Clopidogrel Response and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with

Acute Ischemic Stroke CYP2C19 Genotype on Clopidogrel Response. *Cns Neuroscience & Therapeutics*, 21, 692-697.

- HANSSON, L., ZANCHETTI, A., CARRUTHERS, S. G., DAHLOF, B., ELMFELDT, D., JULIUS, S., MENARD, J., RAHN, K. H., WEDEL, H. & WESTERLING, S. 1998. Effects of intensive blood-pressure lowering and low-dose aspirin in patients with hypertension: principal results of the Hypertension Optimal Treatment (HOT) randomised trial. HOT Study Group. *Lancet*, 351, 1755-62.
- HARMSZE, A., VAN WERKUM, J. W., BOUMAN, H. J., RUVEN, H. J., BREET, N. J., TEN BERG, J.
 M., HACKENG, C. M., TJOENG, M. M., KLUNGEL, O. H., DE BOER, A. & DENEER, V. H.
 2010a. Besides CYP2C19*2, the variant allele CYP2C9*3 is associated with higher onclopidogrel platelet reactivity in patients on dual antiplatelet therapy undergoing elective coronary stent implantation. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*, 20, 18-25.
- HARMSZE, A. M., VAN WERKUM, J. W., TEN BERG, J. M., ZWART, B., BOUMAN, H. J., BREET, N. J., VAN 'T HOF, A. W., RUVEN, H. J., HACKENG, C. M., KLUNGEL, O. H., DE BOER, A. & DENEER, V. H. 2010b. CYP2C19*2 and CYP2C9*3 alleles are associated with stent thrombosis: a case-control study. *Eur Heart J*, 31, 3046-53.
- HARRINGTON, R. A., STONE, G. W., MCNULTY, S., WHITE, H. D., LINCOFF, A. M., GIBSON, C.
 M., POLLACK, C. V., JR., MONTALESCOT, G., MAHAFFEY, K. W., KLEIMAN, N. S.,
 GOODMAN, S. G., AMINE, M., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., BECKER, R. C., CHEW, D. P., FRENCH,
 W. J., LEISCH, F., PARIKH, K. H., SKERJANEC, S. & BHATT, D. L. 2009. Platelet inhibition
 with cangrelor in patients undergoing PCI. N Engl J Med, 361, 2318-29.
- HARRISON, P., BETHEL, M. A., KENNEDY, I., DINSDALE, R., COLEMAN, R. & HOLMAN, R. R. 2018. Comparison of nine platelet function tests used to determine responses to different aspirin dosages in people with type 2 diabetes. *Platelets*, 1-9.
- HARTLEY, A., HASKARD, D. & KHAMIS, R. 2019. Oxidized LDL and anti-oxidized LDL antibodies in atherosclerosis - Novel insights and future directions in diagnosis and therapy<sup/>. *Trends Cardiovasc Med*, 29, 22-26.
- HASUNUMA, Y., MATSUURA, E., MAKITA, Z., KATAHIRA, T., NISHI, S. & KOIKE, T. 1997. Involvement of beta 2-glycoprotein I and anticardiolipin antibodies in oxidatively modified low-density lipoprotein uptake by macrophages. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 107, 569-73.
- HAZARBASANOV, D., VELCHEV, V., FINKOV, B., POSTADJIAN, A., KOSTOV, E., RIFAI, N. & ARADI, D. 2012. Tailoring clopidogrel dose according to multiple electrode aggregometry decreases the rate of ischemic complications after percutaneous coronary intervention. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*, 34, 85-90.
- HERRERA-GALEANO, J. E., BECKER, D. M., WILSON, A. F., YANEK, L. R., BRAY, P., VAIDYA, D., FARADAY, N. & BECKER, L. C. 2008. A novel variant in the platelet endothelial aggregation receptor-1 gene is associated with increased platelet aggregability. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 28, 1484-90.
- HESS, C. N., JAMES, S., LOPES, R. D., WOJDYLA, D. M., NEELY, M. L., LIAW, D., HAGSTROM, E., BHATT, D. L., HUSTED, S., GOODMAN, S. G., LEWIS, B. S., VERHEUGT, F. W. A., DE CATERINA, R., OGAWA, H., WALLENTIN, L. & ALEXANDER, J. H. 2015. Apixaban Plus Mono Versus Dual Antiplatelet Therapy in Acute Coronary Syndromes: Insights From the APPRAISE-2 Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol, 66, 777-787.
- HESS, C. N., MCCOY, L. A., DUGGIRALA, H. J., TAVRIS, D. R., O'CALLAGHAN, K., DOUGLAS, P. S., PETERSON, E. D. & WANG, T. Y. 2014. Sex-based differences in outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention for acute myocardial infarction: a report from TRANSLATE-ACS. J Am Heart Assoc, 3, e000523.
- HILLARP, A., PALMQVIST, B., LETHAGEN, S., VILLOUTREIX, B. O. & MATTIASSON, I. 2003. Mutations within the cyclooxygenase-1 gene in aspirin non-responders with recurrence of stroke. *Thromb Res*, 112, 275-83.

- HOBL, E. L., REITER, B., SCHOERGENHOFER, C., SCHWAMEIS, M., DERHASCHNIG, U., KUBICA, J., STIMPFL, T. & JILMA, B. 2016a. Morphine decreases ticagrelor concentrations but not its antiplatelet effects: a randomized trial in healthy volunteers. *Eur J Clin Invest*, 46, 7-14.
- HOBL, E. L., REITER, B., SCHOERGENHOFER, C., SCHWAMEIS, M., DERHASCHNIG, U., LANG, I.
 M., STIMPFL, T. & JILMA, B. 2016b. Morphine interaction with prasugrel: a doubleblind, cross-over trial in healthy volunteers. *Clin Res Cardiol*, 105, 349-55.
- HOCHHOLZER, W., TRENK, D., FROMM, M. F., VALINA, C. M., STRATZ, C., BESTEHORN, H. P., BUTTNER, H. J. & NEUMANN, F. J. 2010. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-offunction polymorphism and of major demographic characteristics on residual platelet function after loading and maintenance treatment with clopidogrel in patients undergoing elective coronary stent placement. J Am Coll Cardiol, 55, 2427-34.
- HOKIMOTO, S., MIZOBE, M., AKASAKA, T., ARIMA, Y., KAIKITA, K., NAKAGAWA, K. & OGAWA, H. 2014. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism and proton pump inhibitors on platelet reactivity to clopidogrel and clinical outcomes following stent implantation. *Thromb Res*, 133, 599-605.
- HOLM, M., TORNVALL, P., DALEN, M. & VAN DER LINDEN, J. 2014. Correlation between pointof-care platelet function testing and bleeding after coronary angiography according to two different definitions for bleeding. *Am J Cardiol*, 114, 1347-53.
- HOLMBERG, M. T., TORNIO, A., HYVARINEN, H., NEUVONEN, M., NEUVONEN, P. J., BACKMAN, J. T. & NIEMI, M. 2015. Effect of grapefruit juice on the bioactivation of prasugrel. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 80, 139-45.
- HOLMBERG, M. T., TORNIO, A., JOUTSI-KORHONEN, L., NEUVONEN, M., NEUVONEN, P. J., LASSILA, R., NIEMI, M. & BACKMAN, J. T. 2013. Grapefruit juice markedly increases the plasma concentrations and antiplatelet effects of ticagrelor in healthy subjects. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 75, 1488-96.
- HOLMES, M. V., PEREL, P., SHAH, T., HINGORANI, A. D. & CASAS, J. P. 2011. CYP2C19 genotype, clopidogrel metabolism, platelet function, and cardiovascular events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA*, 306, 2704-14.
- HONG, J., SHU, X., LIU, D., ZHU, Y., XIE, C., XIE, Y., ZHANG, K., WANG, A., XIONG, H., ZENG, H.,
 YU, H., MA, J., CHEN, Y., ZHU, X. & LU, N. 2016. Antibiotic resistance and CYP2C19 polymorphisms affect the efficacy of concomitant therapies for Helicobacter pylori infection: an open-label, randomized, single-centre clinical trial. J Antimicrob Chemother, 71, 2280-5.
- HU, L., CHANG, L., ZHANG, Y., ZHAI, L., ZHANG, S., QI, Z., YAN, H., YAN, Y., LUO, X., ZHANG,
 S., WANG, Y., KUNAPULI, S. P., YE, H. & DING, Z. 2017. Platelets Express Activated
 P2Y12 Receptor in Patients With Diabetes Mellitus. *Circulation*, 136, 817-833.
- HUA, Y., XUE, J., SUN, F., ZHU, L. & XIE, M. 2009. Aspirin inhibits MMP-2 and MMP-9 expressions and activities through upregulation of PPARalpha/gamma and TIMP gene expressions in ox-LDL-stimulated macrophages derived from human monocytes. *Pharmacology*, 83, 18-25.
- HUANG, B., CHEN, Y., XIE, Q., LIN, G., WU, Y., FENG, Y., LI, J., ZHUO, Y. & ZHANG, P. 2011. CagA-positive Helicobacter pylori strains enhanced coronary atherosclerosis by increasing serum OxLDL and HsCRP in patients with coronary heart disease. *Dig Dis Sci*, 56, 109-14.
- HUANG, W. S., TSENG, C. H., LIN, C. L., TSAI, C. H. & KAO, C. H. 2014. Helicobacter pylori infection increases subsequent ischemic stroke risk: a nationwide population-based retrospective cohort study. *QJM*, 107, 969-75.
- HULOT, J. S., BURA, A., VILLARD, E., AZIZI, M., REMONES, V., GOYENVALLE, C., AIACH, M., LECHAT, P. & GAUSSEM, P. 2006. Cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function

polymorphism is a major determinant of clopidogrel responsiveness in healthy subjects. *Blood*, 108, 2244-7.

- HULOT, J. S., COLLET, J. P., CAYLA, G., SILVAIN, J., ALLANIC, F., BELLEMAIN-APPAIX, A., SCOTT, S. A. & MONTALESCOT, G. 2011. CYP2C19 but not PON1 genetic variants influence clopidogrel pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and clinical efficacy in postmyocardial infarction patients. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 4, 422-8.
- HUSTED, S., JAMES, S. K., BACH, R. G., BECKER, R. C., BUDAJ, A., HERAS, M., HIMMELMANN, A., HORROW, J., KATUS, H. A., LASSILA, R., MORAIS, J., NICOLAU, J. C., STEG, P. G., STOREY, R. F., WOJDYLA, D., WALLENTIN, L. & GROUP, P. S. 2014. The efficacy of ticagrelor is maintained in women with acute coronary syndromes participating in the prospective, randomized, PLATelet inhibition and patient Outcomes (PLATO) trial. *Eur Heart J*, 35, 1541-50.
- HUSTED, S., STOREY, R. F., HARRINGTON, R. A., EMANUELSSON, H. & CANNON, C. P. 2010. Changes in inflammatory biomarkers in patients treated with ticagrelor or clopidogrel. *Clin Cardiol*, 33, 206-12.
- HWANG, S. J., JEONG, Y. H., KIM, I. S., KOH, J. S., KANG, M. K., PARK, Y., KWAK, C. H. & HWANG, J. Y. 2011a. The cytochrome 2C19*2 and *3 alleles attenuate response to clopidogrel similarly in East Asian patients undergoing elective percutaneous coronary intervention. *Thromb Res*, 127, 23-8.
- HWANG, S. J., JEONG, Y. H., KIM, I. S., PARK, K. S., KANG, M. K., KOH, J. S., PARK, J. R., PARK, Y., KOH, E. H., KWAK, C. H., HWANG, J. Y. & KIM, S. 2010. Cytochrome 2C19 polymorphism and response to adjunctive cilostazol versus high maintenance-dose clopidogrel in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 3, 450-9.
- HWANG, S. J., PARK, K. W., KWON, D. A., KANG, H. J., KOO, B. K., CHAE, I. H., GWON, H. C., PARK, S. J., SEUNG, K. B., AHN, T., YOON, J. H., JANG, Y. S., JEONG, M. H., TAHK, S. J., KIM, H. S. & KOREA STENT THROMBOSIS, I. 2011b. High plasma interleukin-6 is associated with drug-eluting stent thrombosis: possible role of inflammatory cytokines in the development of stent thrombosis from the Korea Stent Thrombosis Registry. *Circ J*, 75, 1350-7.
- IBANEZ, B., JAMES, S., AGEWALL, S., ANTUNES, M. J., BUCCIARELLI-DUCCI, C., BUENO, H., CAFORIO, A. L. P., CREA, F., GOUDEVENOS, J. A., HALVORSEN, S., HINDRICKS, G., KASTRATI, A., LENZEN, M. J., PRESCOTT, E., ROFFI, M., VALGIMIGLI, M., VARENHORST, C., VRANCKX, P., WIDIMSKY, P. & GROUP, E. S. C. S. D. 2018. 2017 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation: The Task Force for the management of acute myocardial infarction in patients presenting with ST-segment elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Eur Heart J, 39, 119-177.
- IKEDA, A., ISO, H., SASAZUKI, S., INOUE, M., TSUGANE, S. & GROUP, J. S. 2013. The combination of Helicobacter pylori- and cytotoxin-associated gene-A seropositivity in relation to the risk of myocardial infarction in middle-aged Japanese: The Japan Public Health Center-based study. *Atherosclerosis*, 230, 67-72.
- IKONOMIDIS, I., LEKAKIS, J., VAMVAKOU, G., ANDREOTTI, F. & NIHOYANNOPOULOS, P. 2005. Cigarette smoking is associated with increased circulating proinflammatory and procoagulant markers in patients with chronic coronary artery disease: effects of aspirin treatment. *Am Heart J*, 149, 832-9.
- ISORDIA-SALAS, I., OLALDE-ROMAN, M. J., SANTIAGO-GERMAN, D., DE LA PENA, N. C. & VALENCIA-SANCHEZ, J. S. 2012. The impact of CYP3A5*1/*3, PIA1/A2 and T744C polymorphisms on clopidogrel and acetylsalicylic acid response variability in Mexican population. *Thromb Res*, 130, e67-72.

- IZADI, M., FAZEL, M., SHARUBANDI, S. H., SAADAT, S. H., FARAHANI, M. M., NASSERI, M. H., DABIRI, H., SAFIARYAN, R., ESFAHANI, A. A., AHMADI, A., JONAIDI JAFARI, N., RANJBAR, R., JAMALI-MOGHADDAM, S. R., KAZEMI-SALEH, D., KALANTAR-MOTAMED, M. H. & TAHERI, S. 2012. Helicobacter species in the atherosclerotic plaques of patients with coronary artery disease. *Cardiovasc Pathol*, 21, 307-11.
- JACKSON, L. R., 2ND, PETERSON, E. D., MCCOY, L. A., JU, C., ZETTLER, M., BAKER, B. A., MESSENGER, J. C., FARIES, D. E., EFFRON, M. B., COHEN, D. J. & WANG, T. Y. 2016. Impact of Proton Pump Inhibitor Use on the Comparative Effectiveness and Safety of Prasugrel Versus Clopidogrel: Insights From the Treatment With Adenosine Diphosphate Receptor Inhibitors: Longitudinal Assessment of Treatment Patterns and Events After Acute Coronary Syndrome (TRANSLATE-ACS) Study. J Am Heart Assoc, 5.
- JALIL, N. J., BANNUR, Z., DERAHMAN, A., MASKON, O., DARINAH, N., HAMIDI, H., GUNASEKARAN, O. A., RAFIZI, M., AZREEN, N. I., KEK, T. L. & SALLEH, M. Z. 2015. The Implication of the Polymorphisms of COX-1, UGT1A6, and CYP2C9 among Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) Patients Treated with Aspirin. J Pharm Pharm Sci, 18, 474-83.
- JAMKHANDE, P. G., GATTANI, S. G. & FARHAT, S. A. 2016. Helicobacter pylori and cardiovascular complications: a mechanism based review on role of Helicobacter pylori in cardiovascular diseases. *Integr Med Res*, 5, 244-249.
- JEONG, Y. H., ABADILLA, K. A., TANTRY, U. S., PARK, Y., KOH, J. S., KWAK, C. H., HWANG, J. Y. & GURBEL, P. A. 2013. Influence of CYP2C19*2 and *3 loss-of-function alleles on the pharmacodynamic effects of standard- and high-dose clopidogrel in East Asians undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: the results of the ACCEL-DOUBLE-2N3 study. J Thromb Haemost, 11, 1194-7.
- JEONG, Y. H., PARK, Y., MUSE, W. C., KWON, T. J., KOH, J. S., HWANG, S. J., KWAK, C. H. & HWANG, J. Y. 2012. Pharmacodynamic effect of clopidogrel therapy and switching to cilostazol in patients with the CYP2C19 loss-of-function allele (ACCEL-SWITCH) study. *J Thromb Haemost*, 10, 1685-8.
- JEONG, Y. H., TANTRY, U. S., KIM, I. S., KOH, J. S., KWON, T. J., PARK, Y., HWANG, S. J., BLIDEN, K. P., KWAK, C. H., HWANG, J. Y. & GURBEL, P. A. 2011. Effect of CYP2C19*2 and *3 loss-of-function alleles on platelet reactivity and adverse clinical events in East Asian acute myocardial infarction survivors treated with clopidogrel and aspirin. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 4, 585-94.
- JIANG, M. & YOU, J. H. 2017. CYP2C19 LOF and GOF-Guided Antiplatelet Therapy in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther*, 31, 39-49.
- JIN, P. & CONG, S. 2019. LOX-1 and atherosclerotic-related diseases. *Clin Chim Acta*, 491, 24-29.
- JOHNSTON, L. R., LA FLAMME, A. C., LARSEN, P. D. & HARDING, S. A. 2015. Prasugrel inhibits platelet-enhanced pro-inflammatory CD4+ T cell responses in humans. *Atherosclerosis*, 239, 283-6.
- JONES, W. S., BAUMGARTNER, I., HIATT, W. R., HEIZER, G., CONTE, M. S., WHITE, C. J., BERGER, J. S., HELD, P., KATONA, B. G., MAHAFFEY, K. W., NORGREN, L., BLOMSTER, J., MILLEGARD, M., REIST, C., PATEL, M. R., FOWKES, F. G., INTERNATIONAL STEERING, C. & INVESTIGATORS OF THE, E. T. 2017. Ticagrelor Compared With Clopidogrel in Patients With Prior Lower Extremity Revascularization for Peripheral Artery Disease. *Circulation*, 135, 241-250.
- KAIKITA, K., ONO, T., IWASHITA, S., NAKAYAMA, N., SATO, K., HORIO, E., NAKAMURA, S., TSUJITA, K., TAYAMA, S., HOKIMOTO, S., SAKAMOTO, T., NAKAO, K., OSHIMA, S., SUGIYAMA, S. & OGAWA, H. 2014. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism on platelet

function tests and coagulation and inflammatory biomarkers in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *J Atheroscler Thromb*, **21**, 64-76.

- KANG, M. K., JEONG, Y. H., YOON, S. E., KOH, J. S., KIM, I. S., PARK, Y., HWANG, S. J., KWAK, C. H. & HWANG, J. Y. 2010. Pre-procedural platelet reactivity after clopidogrel loading in korean patients undergoing scheduled percutaneous coronary intervention. J Atheroscler Thromb, 17, 1122-31.
- KANG, Y. H., LAO, H. Y., WU, H., LAI, W. H., LI, X. X., YU, X. Y., CHEN, J. Y. & ZHONG, S. L. 2013. Association of PON1 genotype and haplotype with susceptibility to coronary artery disease and clinical outcomes in dual antiplatelet-treated Han Chinese patients. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 69, 1511-9.
- KARON, B. S., TOLAN, N. V., KOCH, C. D., WOCKENFUS, A. M., MILLER, R. S., LINGINENI, R. K., PRUTHI, R. K., CHEN, D. & JAFFE, A. S. 2014. Precision and reliability of 5 platelet function tests in healthy volunteers and donors on daily antiplatelet agent therapy. *Clin Chem*, 60, 1524-31.
- KASSIMIS, G., DAVLOUROS, P., XANTHOPOULOU, I., STAVROU, E. F., ATHANASSIADOU, A. & ALEXOPOULOS, D. 2012. CYP2C19*2 and other genetic variants affecting platelet response to clopidogrel in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Thromb Res*, 129, 441-6.
- KATOUAH, H., CHEN, A., OTHMAN, I. & GIESEG, S. P. 2015. Oxidised low density lipoprotein causes human macrophage cell death through oxidant generation and inhibition of key catabolic enzymes. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 67, 34-42.
- KATTOOR, A. J., POTHINENI, N. V. K., PALAGIRI, D. & MEHTA, J. L. 2017. Oxidative Stress in Atherosclerosis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep*, 19, 42.
- KAUFMANN, J., WELLNHOFER, E., KAPPERT, K., URBAN, D., MEYBORG, H., HAUPTMANN, T., MULLER, A., MEIXNER, M., GRAF, K., FLECK, E. & STAWOWY, P. 2013. Soluble Pselectin level correlates with acetylsalicylic acid but not with clopidogrel response in patients with stable coronary artery disease after a percutaneous coronary intervention. *Coron Artery Dis*, 24, 312-20.
- KEBAPCILAR, L., SARI, I., RENKAL, A. H., ALACACIOGLU, A., YUKSEL, A., ILHAN, E., ALKAN, B., YUKSEL, D., KOZACI, D. L. & GUNAY, N. 2009. The influence of Helicobacter pylori eradication on leptin, soluble CD40 ligand, oxidative stress and body composition in patients with peptic ulcer disease. *Intern Med*, 48, 2055-9.
- KELLY, R. P., CLOSE, S. L., FARID, N. A., WINTERS, K. J., SHEN, L., NATANEGARA, F., JAKUBOWSKI, J. A., HO, M., WALKER, J. R. & SMALL, D. S. 2012. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics following maintenance doses of prasugrel and clopidogrel in Chinese carriers of CYP2C19 variants. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 73, 93-105.
- KERAMATI, A. R., YANEK, L. R., IYER, K., TAUB, M. A., RUCZINSKI, I., BECKER, D. M., BECKER, L. C., FARADAY, N. & MATHIAS, R. A. 2018. Targeted deep sequencing of the PEAR1 locus for platelet aggregation in European and African American families. *Platelets*, 1-7.
- KHAN, S. U., ARSHAD, A., RIAZ, I. B., TALLURI, S., NASIR, F. & KALUSKI, E. 2018. Meta-Analysis of the Safety and Efficacy of the Oral Anticoagulant Agents (Apixaban, Rivaroxaban, Dabigatran) in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome. Am J Cardiol, 121, 301-307.
- KHERA, A. V., QAMAR, A., MURPHY, S. A., CANNON, C. P., SABATINE, M. S. & RADER, D. J. 2015. On-Statin Resistin, Leptin, and Risk of Recurrent Coronary Events After Hospitalization for an Acute Coronary Syndrome (from the Pravastatin or Atorvastatin Evaluation and Infection Therapy-Thrombolysis in Myocardial Infarction 22 Study). Am J Cardiol, 116, 694-8.
- KIM, H., KIM, Y., KOH, Y. S., LEE, H. K., CHAE, H., JEKARL, D. W., LEE, J. M., SHIN, W. S. & KIM, T. H. 2015. Evaluation of the INNOVANCE PFA P2Y assay and its association with CYP2C19 genotypes. *Platelets*, 26, 148-53.
- KIM, H. K., JEONG, M. H., LIM, K. S., KIM, J. H., LIM, H. C., KIM, M. C., HONG, Y. J., KIM, S. S., PARK, K. H. & CHANG, K. S. 2017a. Effects of ticagrelor on neointimal hyperplasia and endothelial function, compared with clopidogrel and prasugrel, in a porcine coronary stent restenosis model. *Int J Cardiol*, 240, 326-331.
- KIM, H. S., CHANG, K., KOH, Y. S., PARK, M. W., CHOI, Y. S., PARK, C. S., OH, M., KIM, E. Y., SHON, J. H., SHIN, J. G. & SEUNG, K. B. 2013. CYP2C19 poor metabolizer is associated with clinical outcome of clopidogrel therapy in acute myocardial infarction but not stable angina. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet*, 6, 514-21.
- KIM, I. S., CHOI, B. R., JEONG, Y. H., KWAK, C. H. & KIM, S. 2009. The CYP2C19*2 and CYP2C19*3 polymorphisms are associated with high post-treatment platelet reactivity in Asian patients with acute coronary syndrome. J Thromb Haemost, 7, 897-9.
- KIM, I. S., JEONG, Y. H., PARK, Y., YOON, S. E., KWON, T. J., PARK, J. R., HWANG, S. J., KOH, E. H., KWAK, C. H., HWANG, J. Y. & KIM, S. 2012. Interaction analysis between genetic polymorphisms and pharmacodynamic effect in patients treated with adjunctive cilostazol to dual antiplatelet therapy: results of the ACCEL-TRIPLE (Accelerated Platelet Inhibition by Triple Antiplatelet Therapy According to Gene Polymorphism) study. Br J Clin Pharmacol, 73, 629-40.
- KIM, K. A., PARK, P. W., HONG, S. J. & PARK, J. Y. 2008. The effect of CYP2C19 polymorphism on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of clopidogrel: a possible mechanism for clopidogrel resistance. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 84, 236-42.
- KIM, M. S., SONG, H. J., LEE, J., YANG, B. R., CHOI, N. K. & PARK, B. J. 2019. Effectiveness and Safety of Clopidogrel Co-administered With Statins and Proton Pump Inhibitors: A Korean National Health Insurance Database Study. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*.
- KIM, T. J., LEE, H., KANG, M., KIM, J. E., CHOI, Y. H., MIN, Y. W., MIN, B. H., LEE, J. H., SON, H. J., RHEE, P. L., BAEK, S. Y., AHN, S. H. & KIM, J. J. 2016. Helicobacter pylori is associated with dyslipidemia but not with other risk factors of cardiovascular disease. *Sci Rep*, 6, 38015.
- KIM, Y. G., SUH, J. W., PARK, J. J., OH, I. Y., YOON, C. H., CHO, Y. S., YOUN, T. J., CHAE, I. H. & CHOI, D. J. 2014. Different influences of hematocrit on the results of two Point-Of-Care platelet function tests, the VerifyNow assay and multiple electrode platelet aggregometry. *PLoS One*, 9, e114053.
- KIM, Y. G., SUH, J. W., SIBBING, D., KASTRATI, A., KO, Y. G., JANG, Y., CHO, Y. S., YOUN, T. J., CHAE, I. H., CHOI, D. J. & KIM, H. S. 2017b. A laboratory association between hemoglobin and VerifyNow P2Y12 reaction unit: A systematic review and metaanalysis. Am Heart J, 188, 53-64.
- KLEIN, M. D., WILLIAMS, A. K., LEE, C. R. & STOUFFER, G. A. 2019. Clinical Utility of CYP2C19 Genotyping to Guide Antiplatelet Therapy in Patients With an Acute Coronary Syndrome or Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, ATVBAHA118311963.
- KNOWLES, R. B. & WARNER, T. D. 2019. Anti-platelet drugs and their necessary interaction with endothelial mediators and platelet cyclic nucleotides for therapeutic efficacy. *Pharmacol Ther*, 193, 83-90.
- KOBZAR, G., MARDLA, V. & SAMEL, N. 2017. Glucose impairs aspirin inhibition in platelets through a NAD(P)H oxidase signaling pathway. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*, 131, 33-40.
- KODAIRA, M., MIYATA, H., NUMASAWA, Y., UEDA, I., MAEKAWA, Y., SUEYOSHI, K., ISHIKAWA, S., OHKI, T., NEGISHI, K., FUKUDA, K. & KOHSAKA, S. 2016. Effect of Smoking Status on Clinical Outcome and Efficacy of Clopidogrel in Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Circ J*, 80, 1590-9.

- KOLTAI, K., KESMARKY, G., FEHER, G., TIBOLD, A. & TOTH, K. 2017. Platelet Aggregometry Testing: Molecular Mechanisms, Techniques and Clinical Implications. *Int J Mol Sci*, 18.
- KONISHI, A., SHINKE, T., OTAKE, H., NISHIO, R., SAWADA, T., TAKAYA, T., NAKAGAWA, M., OSUE, T., TANIGUCHI, Y., IWASAKI, M., KINUTANI, H., MASARU, K., TAKAHASHI, H., TERASHITA, D., SHITE, J. & HIRATA, K. 2015. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19 lossof-function polymorphism on intra-stent thrombi and lesion outcome after everolimus-eluting stent implantation compared to that after first-generation drugeluting stent implantation. *Int J Cardiol*, 179, 476-83.
- KOVACS, E. G., KATONA, E., BERECZKY, Z., HOMORODI, N., BALOGH, L., TOTH, E., PETERFY, H., KISS, R. G., EDES, I. & MUSZBEK, L. 2014. Evaluation of laboratory methods routinely used to detect the effect of aspirin against new reference methods. *Thromb Res*, 133, 811-6.
- KOZINSKI, M., OBONSKA, K., STANKOWSKA, K., NAVARESE, E. P., FABISZAK, T., STOLAREK, W., KASPRZAK, M., SILLER-MATULA, J. M., ROSC, D., KUBICA, J. & DE SERVI, S. 2014.
 Prasugrel overcomes high on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity in the acute phase of acute coronary syndrome and maintains its antiplatelet potency at 30-day follow-up. *Cardiol J*, 21, 547-56.
- KOZINSKI, M., OSTROWSKA, M., ADAMSKI, P., SIKORA, J., SIKORA, A., KARCZMARSKA-WODZKA, A., MARSZALL, M. P., BOINSKA, J., LASKOWSKA, E., OBONSKA, E., FABISZAK, T. & KUBICA, J. 2016. Which platelet function test best reflects the in vivo plasma concentrations of ticagrelor and its active metabolite? The HARMONIC study. *Thromb Haemost*, 116, 1140-1149.
- KRAGHOLM, K., NEWBY, L. K. & MELLONI, C. 2015. Emerging treatment options to improve cardiovascular outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndrome: focus on losmapimod. *Drug Des Devel Ther*, 9, 4279-86.
- KRASOPOULOS, G., BRISTER, S. J., BEATTIE, W. S. & BUCHANAN, M. R. 2008. Aspirin "resistance" and risk of cardiovascular morbidity: systematic review and metaanalysis. *BMJ*, 336, 195-8.
- KREUTZ, R. P., NYSTROM, P., KREUTZ, Y., MIAO, J., DESTA, Z., BREALL, J. A., LI, L., CHIANG, C., KOVACS, R., FLOCKHART, D. A. & JIN, Y. 2012. Influence of paraoxonase-1 Q192R and cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphisms on clopidogrel response. *Clin Pharmacol*, 4, 13-20.
- KREUTZ, R. P., OWENS, J., JIN, Y., NYSTROM, P., DESTA, Z., KREUTZ, Y., BREALL, J. A., LI, L., CHIANG, C., KOVACS, R. J. & FLOCKHART, D. A. 2013. Cytochrome P450 3A4*22, PPAR-alpha, and ARNT polymorphisms and clopidogrel response. *Clin Pharmacol*, 5, 185-92.
- KUBICA, J., ADAMSKI, P., OSTROWSKA, M., SIKORA, J., KUBICA, J. M., SROKA, W. D., STANKOWSKA, K., BUSZKO, K., NAVARESE, E. P., JILMA, B., SILLER-MATULA, J. M., MARSZALL, M. P., ROSC, D. & KOZINSKI, M. 2016. Morphine delays and attenuates ticagrelor exposure and action in patients with myocardial infarction: the randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled IMPRESSION trial. *Eur Heart J*, 37, 245-52.
- KUCUKAZMAN, M., YENIOVA, O., DAL, K. & YAVUZ, B. 2015. Helicobacter pylori and cardiovascular disease. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*, 19, 3731-41.
- KUEHL, G. E., BIGLER, J., POTTER, J. D. & LAMPE, J. W. 2006. Glucuronidation of the aspirin metabolite salicylic acid by expressed UDP-glucuronosyltransferases and human liver microsomes. *Drug Metab Dispos*, 34, 199-202.
- KUO, C. H., LU, C. Y., SHIH, H. Y., LIU, C. J., WU, M. C., HU, H. M., HSU, W. H., YU, F. J., WU, D.
 C. & KUO, F. C. 2014. CYP2C19 polymorphism influences Helicobacter pylori eradication. *World J Gastroenterol*, 20, 16029-36.

- LABUZ-ROSZAK, B., PIERZCHALA, K. & TYRPIEN, K. 2014. Resistance to acetylsalicylic acid in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus is associated with lipid disorders and history of current smoking. *J Endocrinol Invest*, 37, 331-8.
- LARA-GUZMAN, O. J., GIL-IZQUIERDO, A., MEDINA, S., OSORIO, E., ALVAREZ-QUINTERO, R., ZULUAGA, N., OGER, C., GALANO, J. M., DURAND, T. & MUNOZ-DURANGO, K. 2018. Oxidized LDL triggers changes in oxidative stress and inflammatory biomarkers in human macrophages. *Redox Biol*, 15, 1-11.
- LARSEN, S. B., GROVE, E. L., NEERGAARD-PETERSEN, S., WURTZ, M., HVAS, A. M. & KRISTENSEN, S. D. 2017. Reduced Antiplatelet Effect of Aspirin Does Not Predict Cardiovascular Events in Patients With Stable Coronary Artery Disease. J Am Heart Assoc, 6.
- LATKOVSKIS, G., URTANE, I., KNIPSE, A., PECULIS, R., CAKSTINA, I., KLOVINS, J. & ERGLIS, A. 2014. Role of genetic factors on the effect of additional loading doses and two maintenance doses used to overcome clopidogrel hyporesponsiveness. *Medicina-Lithuania*, 50, 19-27.
- LAU, E. S., BRAUNWALD, E., MURPHY, S. A., WIVIOTT, S. D., BONACA, M. P., HUSTED, S., JAMES, S. K., WALLENTIN, L., CLEMMENSEN, P., ROE, M. T., OHMAN, E. M., HARRINGTON, R. A., MEGA, J. L., BHATT, D. L., SABATINE, M. S. & O'DONOGHUE, M. L. 2017. Potent P2Y12 Inhibitors in Men Versus Women: A Collaborative Meta-Analysis of Randomized Trials. J Am Coll Cardiol, 69, 1549-1559.
- LAYNE, K., DI GIOSIA, P., FERRO, A. & PASSACQUALE, G. 2016. Anti-platelet drugs attenuate the expansion of circulating CD14highCD16+ monocytes under pro-inflammatory conditions. *Cardiovasc Res*, 111, 26-33.
- LEE, C. R., NORTH, K. E., BRAY, M. S., COUPER, D. J., HEISS, G. & ZELDIN, D. C. 2008. Cyclooxygenase polymorphisms and risk of cardiovascular events: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 83, 52-60.
- LEE, C. R., SRIRAMOJU, V. B., CERVANTES, A., HOWELL, L. A., VARUNOK, N., MADAN, S., HAMRICK, K., POLASEK, M. J., LEE, J. A., CLARKE, M., CICCI, J. D., WECK, K. E. & STOUFFER, G. A. 2018. Clinical Outcomes and Sustainability of Using CYP2C19 Genotype-Guided Antiplatelet Therapy After Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. *Circ Genom Precis Med*, 11, e002069.
- LEE, J. B., LEE, K. A. & LEE, K. Y. 2011. Cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphism is associated with reduced clopidogrel response in cerebrovascular disease. *Yonsei Med J*, 52, 734-8.
- LEE, J. H., AHN, S. G., LEE, J. W., YOUN, Y. J., AHN, M. S., KIM, J. Y., YOO, B. S., LEE, S. H., YOON, J., KIM, J., CHOI, E., YOO, S. Y., HUNG, O. Y. & SAMADY, H. 2016. Switching from prasugrel to clopidogrel based on Cytochrome P450 2C19 genotyping in East Asian patients stabilized after acute myocardial infarction. *Platelets*, 27, 301-7.
- LEE, J. M., PARK, S., SHIN, D. J., CHOI, D., SHIM, C. Y., KO, Y. G., KIM, J. S., SHIN, E. S., CHANG, C. W., LEE, J. E. & JANG, Y. 2009. Relation of genetic polymorphisms in the cytochrome P450 gene with clopidogrel resistance after drug-eluting stent implantation in Koreans. *Am J Cardiol*, 104, 46-51.
- LEE, R. H. & BERGMEIER, W. 2017. Sugar makes neutrophils RAGE: linking diabetesassociated hyperglycemia to thrombocytosis and platelet reactivity. *J Clin Invest*, 127, 2040-2043.
- LEE, S., VARGOVA, K., HIZOH, I., HORVATH, Z., GULACSI-BARDOS, P., SZTUPINSZKI, Z., APRO, A., KOVACS, A., PREDA, I., TOTH-ZSAMBOKI, E. & KISS, R. G. 2014. High on clopidogrel treatment platelet reactivity is frequent in acute and rare in elective stenting and can be functionally overcome by switch of therapy. *Thromb Res*, 133, 257-64.

- LEIBUNDGUT, G., WITZTUM, J. L. & TSIMIKAS, S. 2013. Oxidation-specific epitopes and immunological responses: Translational biotheranostic implications for atherosclerosis. *Curr Opin Pharmacol*, 13, 168-79.
- LEMESLE, G., DELHAYE, C., SUDRE, A., BROUCQSAULT, D., ROSEY, G., BAUTERS, C. & LABLANCHE, J. M. 2009. Impact of high loading and maintenance dose of clopidogrel within the first 15 days after percutaneous coronary intervention on patient outcome. *Am Heart J*, 157, 375-82.
- LEMESLE, G., LANDEL, J. B., BAUTERS, A., DELHAYE, C., BONELLO, L., SUDRE, A., SUSEN, S., BAUTERS, C. & LABLANCHE, J. M. 2014. Poor agreement between light transmission aggregometry, Verify Now P2Y(1)(2) and vasodilatator-stimulated phosphoprotein for clopidogrel low-response assessment: a potential explanation of negative results of recent randomized trials. *Platelets*, 25, 499-505.
- LEMESLE, G., SCHURTZ, G., BAUTERS, C. & HAMON, M. 2015. High on-treatment platelet reactivity with ticagrelor versus prasugrel: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Thromb Haemost*, 13, 931-42.
- LENNON, M. J., GIBBS, N. M., WEIGHTMAN, W. M., MCGUIRE, D. & MICHALOPOULOS, N. 2004. A comparison of Plateletworks and platelet aggregometry for the assessment of aspirin-related platelet dysfunction in cardiac surgical patients. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth*, 18, 136-40.
- LEPANTALO, A., MIKKELSSON, J., RESENDIZ, J. C., VIIRI, L., BACKMAN, J. T., KANKURI, E., KARHUNEN, P. J. & LASSILA, R. 2006. Polymorphisms of COX-1 and GPVI associate with the antiplatelet effect of aspirin in coronary artery disease patients. *Thromb Haemost*, 95, 253-9.
- LESCHZINER, G. D., ANDREW, T., PIRMOHAMED, M. & JOHNSON, M. R. 2007. ABCB1 genotype and PGP expression, function and therapeutic drug response: a critical review and recommendations for future research. *Pharmacogenomics J*, **7**, 154-79.
- LEV, E. I., ALVIAR, C. L., ARIKAN, M. E., DAVE, B. P., GRANADA, J. F., DELAO, T., TELLEZ, A., MARESH, K. & KLEIMAN, N. S. 2007a. Platelet reactivity in patients with subacute stent thrombosis compared with non-stent-related acute myocardial infarction. *Am Heart J*, 153, 41 e1-6.
- LEV, E. I., PATEL, R. T., GUTHIKONDA, S., LOPEZ, D., BRAY, P. F. & KLEIMAN, N. S. 2007b. Genetic polymorphisms of the platelet receptors P2Y(12), P2Y(1) and GP IIIa and response to aspirin and clopidogrel. *Thromb Res*, 119, 355-60.
- LEWIS, J. P., RYAN, K., O'CONNELL, J. R., HORENSTEIN, R. B., DAMCOTT, C. M., GIBSON, Q., POLLIN, T. I., MITCHELL, B. D., BEITELSHEES, A. L., PAKZY, R., TANNER, K., PARSA, A., TANTRY, U. S., BLIDEN, K. P., POST, W. S., FARADAY, N., HERZOG, W., GONG, Y., PEPINE, C. J., JOHNSON, J. A., GURBEL, P. A. & SHULDINER, A. R. 2013. Genetic variation in PEAR1 is associated with platelet aggregation and cardiovascular outcomes. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet*, 6, 184-92.
- LI, M., HU, Y., LI, H., WEN, Z., HU, X., ZHANG, D., ZHANG, Y., XIAO, J., TANG, J. & CHEN, X. 2017a. No Effect of SLCO1B1 and CYP3A4/5 Polymorphisms on the Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Ticagrelor in Healthy Chinese Male Subjects. *Biol Pharm Bull*, 40, 88-96.
- LI, M. P., TANG, J., WEN, Z. P., ZHANG, Y. J., ZHANG, W., ZHOU, H. H., ZHANG, Z. L. & CHEN, X. P. 2015a. Influence of P2Y12 polymorphisms on platelet activity but not ex-vivo antiplatelet effect of ticagrelor in healthy Chinese male subjects. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*, 26, 874-81.
- LI, M. P., XIONG, Y., XU, A., ZHOU, J. P., TANG, J., ZHANG, Z. L., ZHOU, H. H., ZHANG, W. & CHEN, X. P. 2014. Association of platelet ITGA2B and ITGB3 polymorphisms with ex vivo antiplatelet effect of ticagrelor in healthy Chinese male subjects. *Int J Hematol*, 99, 263-71.

- LI, N., TANG, B., JIA, Y. P., ZHU, P., ZHUANG, Y., FANG, Y., LI, Q., WANG, K., ZHANG, W. J., GUO, G., WANG, T. J., FENG, Y. J., QIAO, B., MAO, X. H. & ZOU, Q. M. 2017b. Helicobacter pylori CagA Protein Negatively Regulates Autophagy and Promotes Inflammatory Response via c-Met-PI3K/Akt-mTOR Signaling Pathway. Front Cell Infect Microbiol, 7, 417.
- LI, Q., CHEN, B. L., OZDEMIR, V., JI, W., MAO, Y. M., WANG, L. C., LEI, H. P., FAN, L., ZHANG, W., LIU, J. & ZHOU, H. H. 2007. Frequency of genetic polymorphisms of COX1, GPIIIa and P2Y1 in a Chinese population and association with attenuated response to aspirin. *Pharmacogenomics*, 8, 577-86.
- LI, R., CHEN, L. Z., ZHAO, S. P. & HUANG, X. S. 2016a. Inflammation Activation Contributes to Adipokine Imbalance in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome. *PLoS One*, 11, e0151916.
- LI, S., CHOI, J. L., GUO, L. Z., GOH, R. Y., KIM, B. R., WOO, K. S., KIM, M. H. & HAN, J. Y. 2016b. Correlation between the CYP2C19 phenotype status and the results of three different platelet function tests in cardiovascular disease patients receiving antiplatelet therapy: an emphasis on newly introduced platelet function analyzer-200 P2Y test. Ann Lab Med, 36, 42-8.
- LI, S., SHI, Y., WANG, H., ZHANG, W. & LIU, J. 2015b. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism on intra-stent thrombus assessed by follow-up optical coherence tomography in Chinese patients receiving clopidogrel. *J Thromb Thrombolysis,* 40, 88-96.
- LI, X., WANG, Q., XUE, Y., CHEN, J. & LV, Q. 2017c. Ticagrelor Compared with Clopidogrel Increased Adenosine and Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate Plasma Concentration in Acute Coronary Syndrome Patients. *Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol*, 120, 610-614.
- LI, X., ZHANG, L., CHEN, X., QU, F., LI, J., MA, C., YANG, J., XU, B., WANG, H., XU, Q., ZHANG, Y., LI, Y., LU, C. & YIN, T. 2013a. PON1 Q192R genotype influences clopidogrel responsiveness by relative platelet inhibition instead of on-treatment platelet reactivity. *Thromb Res*, 132, 444-9.
- LI, X. L., CAO, J., FAN, L., WANG, Q., YE, L., CUI, C. P., WANG, Y. Z., LIU, L., LI, B., WU, R. J., ZHOU, F. C. & ZHANG, J. H. 2013b. Genetic polymorphisms of HO-1 and COX-1 are associated with aspirin resistance defined by light transmittance aggregation in Chinese Han patients. *Clin Appl Thromb Hemost*, 19, 513-21.
- LIANG, Z. Y., HAN, Y. L., ZHANG, X. L., LI, Y., YAN, C. H. & KANG, J. 2013. The impact of gene polymorphism and high on-treatment platelet reactivity on clinical follow-up: outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndrome after drug-eluting stent implantation. *EuroIntervention*, 9, 316-27.
- LIN, K. Y., PAN, J. P., YANG, D. L., HUANG, K. T., CHANG, M. S., DING, P. Y. & CHIANG, A. N. 2001. Evidence for inhibition of low density lipoprotein oxidation and cholesterol accumulation by apolipoprotein H (beta2-glycoprotein I). *Life Sci*, 69, 707-19.
- LIN, Y., OBATA, Y., KIKUCHI, S., TAMAKOSHI, A., ISO, H. & GROUP, J. S. 2015. Helicobacter Pylori Infection and Risk of Death From Cardiovascular Disease Among the Japanese Population: a Nested Case-Control Study within the JACC Study. J Atheroscler Thromb, 22, 1207-13.
- LIN, Y. A., WANG, H., GU, Z. J., WANG, W. J., ZENG, X. Y., DU, Y. L., YING, S. S. & ZHANG, B. H. 2017. Effect of CYP2C19 Gene Polymorphisms on Proton Pump Inhibitor, Amoxicillin, and Levofloxacin Triple Therapy for Eradication of Helicobacter Pylori. *Med Sci Monit*, 23, 2701-2707.
- LIN, Y. J., LI, J. W., ZHANG, M. J., QIAN, L., YANG, W. J., ZHANG, C. L., SHAO, Y., ZHANG, Y., HUANG, Y. J. & XU, Y. 2014. The association between CYP2C19 genotype and of instent restenosis among patients with vertebral artery stent treatment. *CNS Neurosci Ther*, 20, 125-30.

- LIU, J., WANG, F. & SHI, S. 2015. Helicobacter pylori Infection Increase the Risk of Myocardial Infarction: A Meta-Analysis of 26 Studies Involving more than 20,000 Participants. *Helicobacter*, 20, 176-83.
- LIU, L., GAO, Y. H., CAO, J., ZHANG, H. X., FAN, L., HU, G. L., HU, Y. X., LI, X. L., ZOU, X. & LI, J.
 H. 2016. High prevalence of aspirin resistance in elderly patients with cardiovascular disease and metabolic syndrome. *J Geriatr Cardiol*, 13, 531-6.
- LIU, S., SHI, X., TIAN, X., ZHANG, X., SUN, Z. & MIAO, L. 2017. Effect of CYP3A4(*)1G and CYP3A5(*)3 Polymorphisms on Pharmacokinetics and Pharmacodynamics of Ticagrelor in Healthy Chinese Subjects. *Front Pharmacol*, 8, 176.
- LIU, T., YIN, T., LI, Y., SONG, L. Q., YU, J., SI, R., ZHANG, Y. M., HE, Y., GUO, W. Y. & WANG, H.
 C. 2014. CYP2C19 polymorphisms and coronary heart disease risk factors synergistically impact clopidogrel response variety after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Coronary Artery Disease*, 25, 412-420.
- LIU, X. L., WANG, Z. J., YANG, Q., GE, H. L., GAO, F., LIU, Y. Y., SHI, D. M., ZHAO, Y. X. & ZHOU,
 Y. J. 2010. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism and smoking on response to clopidogrel in patients with stable coronary artery disease. *Chin Med J (Engl)*, 123, 3178-83.
- LORDKIPANIDZE, M., DIODATI, J. G., PALISAITIS, D. A., SCHAMPAERT, E., TURGEON, J. & PHARAND, C. 2011. Genetic determinants of response to aspirin: appraisal of 4 candidate genes. *Thromb Res*, 128, 47-53.
- LOTRIONTE, M., BIONDI-ZOCCAI, G. G., AGOSTONI, P., ABBATE, A., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., VALGIMIGLI, M., MORETTI, C., MELIGA, E., CUISSET, T., ALESSI, M. C., MONTALESCOT, G., COLLET, J. P., DI SCIASCIO, G., WAKSMAN, R., TESTA, L., SANGIORGI, G., LAUDITO, A., TREVI, G. P. & SHEIBAN, I. 2007. Meta-analysis appraising high clopidogrel loading in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am J Cardiol*, 100, 1199-206.
- LU, C., JIA, H., XU, A., TANG, J., XU, G., YUE, W. & ZHANG, J. 2014. Helicobacter pylori infection and pepsinogen levels have clinical significance in hypertension patients. *Int J Clin Exp Med*, 7, 5675-80.
- LUBRANO, V., PINGITORE, A., TRAGHELLA, I., STORTI, S., PARRI, S., BERTI, S., NDREU, R., ANDRENELLI, A., PALMIERI, C., IERVASI, G., MASTORCI, F. & VASSALLE, C. 2019. Emerging Biomarkers of Oxidative Stress in Acute and Stable Coronary Artery Disease: Levels and Determinants. *Antioxidants (Basel)*, 8.
- LUO, Y., ZHAO, Y. T., VERDO, A., QI, W. G., ZHANG, D. F. & HU, B. 2011. Relationship between cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism and stent thrombosis following percutaneous coronary intervention in Chinese patients receiving clopidogrel. J Int Med Res, 39, 2012-9.
- LV, H. H., WU, S., LIU, X., YANG, X. L., XU, J. F., GUAN, Y. T., DONG, Q., ZHENG, S. L., JIANG, J. M., LI, S. X., LUO, Z., LI, L., AN, L. X. & HAN, Y. 2016. Comparison of VerifyNow P2Y12 and thrombelastography for assessing clopidogrel response in stroke patients in China. *Neurol Sci*, 37, 277-82.
- MALEK, L. A., PRZYLUSKI, J., SPIEWAK, M., KLOPOTOWSKI, M., KOSTRZEWA, G., KRUK, M., PLOSKI, R., WITKOWSKI, A. & RUZYLLO, W. 2010. Cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphism, suboptimal reperfusion and all-cause mortality in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *Cardiology*, 117, 81-7.
- MALHOTRA, N., ABUNASSAR, J., WELLS, G. A., MCPHERSON, R., FU, A., HIBBERT, B., LABINAZ,
 M., LE MAY, M., DICK, A., GLOVER, C., FROESCHL, M., MARQUIS, J. F., TRAN, L.,
 BERNICK, J., CHONG, A. Y., SO, D. Y. & INVESTIGATORS, C. A. P. I. T. 2015. A pharmacodynamic comparison of a personalized strategy for anti-platelet therapy versus ticagrelor in achieving a therapeutic window. *Int J Cardiol*, 197, 318-25.
- MANGIACAPRA, F., CAVALLARI, I., BARBATO, E., RICOTTINI, E., PATTI, G., VIZZI, V., D'AMBROSIO, A., DE BRUYNE, B., WIJNS, W. & DI SCIASCIO, G. 2014. Impact of

chronic kidney disease on platelet reactivity and outcomes of patients receiving clopidogrel and undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am J Cardiol*, 113, 1124-9.

- MANGIACAPRA, F., PANAIOLI, E., COLAIORI, I., RICOTTINI, E., LAURIA PANTANO, A., POZZILLI,
 P., BARBATO, E. & DI SCIASCIO, G. 2016. Clopidogrel Versus Ticagrelor for Antiplatelet Maintenance in Diabetic Patients Treated With Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: Results of the CLOTILDIA Study (Clopidogrel High Dose Versus Ticagrelor for Antiplatelet Maintenance in Diabetic Patients). *Circulation*, 134, 835-7.
- MARCHIO, P., GUERRA-OJEDA, S., VILA, J. M., ALDASORO, M., VICTOR, V. M. & MAURICIO, M. D. 2019. Targeting Early Atherosclerosis: A Focus on Oxidative Stress and Inflammation. Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2019, 8563845.
- MARCUCCI, R., GIUSTI, B., PANICCIA, R., GORI, A. M., SARACINI, C., VALENTE, S., GIGLIOLI, C., PARODI, G., ANTONIUCCI, D., GENSINI, G. F. & ABBATE, R. 2012. High on-treatment platelet reactivity by ADP and increased risk of MACE in good clopidogrel metabolizers. *Platelets*, 23, 586-93.
- MARCUCCI, R., GRIFONI, E. & GIUSTI, B. 2016. On-treatment platelet reactivity: State of the art and perspectives. *Vascul Pharmacol*, 77, 8-18.
- MAREE, A. O., CURTIN, R. J., CHUBB, A., DOLAN, C., COX, D., O'BRIEN, J., CREAN, P., SHIELDS,
 D. C. & FITZGERALD, D. J. 2005. Cyclooxygenase-1 haplotype modulates platelet response to aspirin. *J Thromb Haemost*, 3, 2340-5.
- MARKSTAD, H., EDSFELDT, A., YAO MATTISON, I., BENGTSSON, E., SINGH, P., CAVALERA, M., ASCIUTTO, G., BJORKBACKA, H., FREDRIKSON, G. N., DIAS, N., VOLKOV, P., ORHO-MELANDER, M., NILSSON, J., ENGSTROM, G. & GONCALVES, I. 2019. High Levels of Soluble Lectinlike Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Receptor-1 Are Associated With Carotid Plaque Inflammation and Increased Risk of Ischemic Stroke. J Am Heart Assoc, 8, e009874.
- MARTINEZ, G. J., ROBERTSON, S., BARRACLOUGH, J., XIA, Q., MALLAT, Z., BURSILL, C., CELERMAJER, D. S. & PATEL, S. 2015. Colchicine Acutely Suppresses Local Cardiac Production of Inflammatory Cytokines in Patients With an Acute Coronary Syndrome. J Am Heart Assoc, 4, e002128.
- MATHEWS, R., PETERSON, E. D., HONEYCUTT, E., CHIN, C. T., EFFRON, M. B., ZETTLER, M., FONAROW, G. C., HENRY, T. D. & WANG, T. Y. 2015. Early Medication Nonadherence After Acute Myocardial Infarction: Insights into Actionable Opportunities From the TReatment with ADP receptor iNhibitorS: Longitudinal Assessment of Treatment Patterns and Events after Acute Coronary Syndrome (TRANSLATE-ACS) Study. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*, 8, 347-56.
- MATHIAS, R. A., KIM, Y., SUNG, H., YANEK, L. R., MANTESE, V. J., HERERRA-GALEANO, J. E., RUCZINSKI, I., WILSON, A. F., FARADAY, N., BECKER, L. C. & BECKER, D. M. 2010. A combined genome-wide linkage and association approach to find susceptibility loci for platelet function phenotypes in European American and African American families with coronary artery disease. *BMC Med Genomics*, 3, 22.
- MCADAM, B. F., BYRNE, D., MORROW, J. D. & OATES, J. A. 2005. Contribution of cyclooxygenase-2 to elevated biosynthesis of thromboxane A2 and prostacyclin in cigarette smokers. *Circulation*, 112, 1024-9.
- MCCASLIN, J., ASHOUR, H., BHATTACHARYA, V., CLEANTHIS, M., DALY, A. & STANSBY, G. 2008. Increased platelet-monocyte aggregation in male claudicants with the PI(A1/A2) polymorphism of Gp IIb/IIIa. *Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg*, 36, 132-7.
- MCDONOUGH, C. W., MCCLURE, L. A., MITCHELL, B. D., GONG, Y., HORENSTEIN, R. B., LEWIS, J. P., FIELD, T. S., TALBERT, R. L., BENAVENTE, O. R., JOHNSON, J. A. & SHULDINER, A.

R. 2015. CYP2C19 metabolizer status and clopidogrel efficacy in the Secondary Prevention of Small Subcortical Strokes (SPS3) study. *J Am Heart Assoc,* 4, e001652.

- MCNEIL, J. J., NELSON, M. R., WOODS, R. L., LOCKERY, J. E., WOLFE, R., REID, C. M., KIRPACH,
 B., SHAH, R. C., IVES, D. G., STOREY, E., RYAN, J., TONKIN, A. M., NEWMAN, A. B.,
 WILLIAMSON, J. D., MARGOLIS, K. L., ERNST, M. E., ABHAYARATNA, W. P., STOCKS,
 N., FITZGERALD, S. M., ORCHARD, S. G., TREVAKS, R. E., BEILIN, L. J., DONNAN, G. A.,
 GIBBS, P., JOHNSTON, C. I., RADZISZEWSKA, B., GRIMM, R., MURRAY, A. M. &
 GROUP, A. I. 2018a. Effect of Aspirin on All-Cause Mortality in the Healthy Elderly. N
 Engl J Med, 379, 1519-1528.
- MCNEIL, J. J., WOLFE, R., WOODS, R. L., TONKIN, A. M., DONNAN, G. A., NELSON, M. R., REID,
 C. M., LOCKERY, J. E., KIRPACH, B., STOREY, E., SHAH, R. C., WILLIAMSON, J. D.,
 MARGOLIS, K. L., ERNST, M. E., ABHAYARATNA, W. P., STOCKS, N., FITZGERALD, S.
 M., ORCHARD, S. G., TREVAKS, R. E., BEILIN, L. J., JOHNSTON, C. I., RYAN, J.,
 RADZISZEWSKA, B., JELINEK, M., MALIK, M., EATON, C. B., BRAUER, D., CLOUD, G.,
 WOOD, E. M., MAHADY, S. E., SATTERFIELD, S., GRIMM, R., MURRAY, A. M. & GROUP,
 A. I. 2018b. Effect of Aspirin on Cardiovascular Events and Bleeding in the Healthy
 Elderly. N Engl J Med, 379, 1509-1518.
- MCNEIL, J. J., WOODS, R. L., NELSON, M. R., REID, C. M., KIRPACH, B., WOLFE, R., STOREY, E., SHAH, R. C., LOCKERY, J. E., TONKIN, A. M., NEWMAN, A. B., WILLIAMSON, J. D., MARGOLIS, K. L., ERNST, M. E., ABHAYARATNA, W. P., STOCKS, N., FITZGERALD, S. M., ORCHARD, S. G., TREVAKS, R. E., BEILIN, L. J., DONNAN, G. A., GIBBS, P., JOHNSTON, C. I., RYAN, J., RADZISZEWSKA, B., GRIMM, R., MURRAY, A. M. & GROUP, A. I. 2018c. Effect of Aspirin on Disability-free Survival in the Healthy Elderly. N Engl J Med, 379, 1499-1508.
- MEGA, J. L., BRAUNWALD, E., WIVIOTT, S. D., BASSAND, J. P., BHATT, D. L., BODE, C., BURTON,
 P., COHEN, M., COOK-BRUNS, N., FOX, K. A., GOTO, S., MURPHY, S. A., PLOTNIKOV,
 A. N., SCHNEIDER, D., SUN, X., VERHEUGT, F. W., GIBSON, C. M. & INVESTIGATORS,
 A. A. T. 2012. Rivaroxaban in patients with a recent acute coronary syndrome. *N Engl J Med*, 366, 9-19.
- MEGA, J. L., BRAUNWALD, E., WIVIOTT, S. D., MURPHY, S. A., PLOTNIKOV, A., GOTCHEVA, N., RUDA, M. & GIBSON, C. M. 2013. Comparison of the efficacy and safety of two rivaroxaban doses in acute coronary syndrome (from ATLAS ACS 2-TIMI 51). Am J Cardiol, 112, 472-8.
- MEGA, J. L., CLOSE, S. L., WIVIOTT, S. D., MAN, M., DUVVURU, S., WALKER, J. R., SUNDSETH,
 S. S., COLLET, J. P., DELANEY, J. T., HULOT, J. S., MURPHY, S. A., PARE, G., PRICE, M.
 J., SIBBING, D., SIMON, T., TRENK, D., ANTMAN, E. M. & SABATINE, M. S. 2016. PON1
 Q192R genetic variant and response to clopidogrel and prasugrel: pharmacokinetics,
 pharmacodynamics, and a meta-analysis of clinical outcomes. J Thromb Thrombolysis, 41, 374-83.
- MEGA, J. L., CLOSE, S. L., WIVIOTT, S. D., SHEN, L., HOCKETT, R. D., BRANDT, J. T., WALKER, J. R., ANTMAN, E. M., MACIAS, W., BRAUNWALD, E. & SABATINE, M. S. 2009.
 Cytochrome p-450 polymorphisms and response to clopidogrel. *N Engl J Med*, 360, 354-62.
- MEGA, J. L., CLOSE, S. L., WIVIOTT, S. D., SHEN, L., WALKER, J. R., SIMON, T., ANTMAN, E. M., BRAUNWALD, E. & SABATINE, M. S. 2010a. Genetic variants in ABCB1 and CYP2C19 and cardiovascular outcomes after treatment with clopidogrel and prasugrel in the TRITON-TIMI 38 trial: a pharmacogenetic analysis. *Lancet*, 376, 1312-9.
- MEGA, J. L., HOCHHOLZER, W., FRELINGER, A. L., 3RD, KLUK, M. J., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., KEREIAKES, D. J., ISSERMAN, S., ROGERS, W. J., RUFF, C. T., CONTANT, C., PENCINA, M. J., SCIRICA, B. M., LONGTINE, J. A., MICHELSON, A. D. & SABATINE, M. S. 2011.

Dosing clopidogrel based on CYP2C19 genotype and the effect on platelet reactivity in patients with stable cardiovascular disease. *JAMA*, 306, 2221-8.

- MEGA, J. L., SIMON, T., COLLET, J. P., ANDERSON, J. L., ANTMAN, E. M., BLIDEN, K., CANNON, C. P., DANCHIN, N., GIUSTI, B., GURBEL, P., HORNE, B. D., HULOT, J. S., KASTRATI, A., MONTALESCOT, G., NEUMANN, F. J., SHEN, L., SIBBING, D., STEG, P. G., TRENK, D., WIVIOTT, S. D. & SABATINE, M. S. 2010b. Reduced-function CYP2C19 genotype and risk of adverse clinical outcomes among patients treated with clopidogrel predominantly for PCI: a meta-analysis. JAMA, 304, 1821-30.
- MEHRAN, R., BRODIE, B., COX, D. A., GRINES, C. L., RUTHERFORD, B., BHATT, D. L., DANGAS, G., FEIT, F., OHMAN, E. M., PARISE, H., FAHY, M., LANSKY, A. J. & STONE, G. W. 2008.
 The Harmonizing Outcomes with RevasculariZatiON and Stents in Acute Myocardial Infarction (HORIZONS-AMI) Trial: study design and rationale. Am Heart J, 156, 44-56.
- MEHTA, S. R., TANGUAY, J. F., EIKELBOOM, J. W., JOLLY, S. S., JOYNER, C. D., GRANGER, C. B., FAXON, D. P., RUPPRECHT, H. J., BUDAJ, A., AVEZUM, A., WIDIMSKY, P., STEG, P. G., BASSAND, J. P., MONTALESCOT, G., MACAYA, C., DI PASQUALE, G., NIEMELA, K., AJANI, A. E., WHITE, H. D., CHROLAVICIUS, S., GAO, P., FOX, K. A., YUSUF, S. & INVESTIGATORS, C.-O. T. 2010. Double-dose versus standard-dose clopidogrel and high-dose versus low-dose aspirin in individuals undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention for acute coronary syndromes (CURRENT-OASIS 7): a randomised factorial trial. *Lancet*, 376, 1233-43.
- MEYER, A., WEITHAEUSER, A., STEFFENS, D., BOBBERT, P., HASSANEIN, A., AYRAL, Y., SCHULTHEISS, H. P. & RAUCH, U. 2016. Inhibition of platelet function with clopidogrel is associated with a reduction of inflammation in patients with peripheral artery disease. *Cardiovasc Revasc Med*, 17, 169-75.
- MICHELSON, A. D. 2004. Platelet function testing in cardiovascular diseases. *Circulation*, 110, e489-93.
- MIGLIORINI, A., VALENTI, R., PARODI, G., MARCUCCI, R., ABBATE, R., CARRABBA, N., GENSINI, G. F. & ANTONIUCCI, D. 2013. Comparison of the degree of platelet aggregation inhibition with prasugrel versus clopidogrel and clinical outcomes in patients with unprotected left main disease treated with everolimus-eluting stents. *Am J Cardiol*, 112, 1843-8.
- MILLER, C. H., RICE, A. S., GARRETT, K. & STEIN, S. F. 2014. Gender, race and diet affect platelet function tests in normal subjects, contributing to a high rate of abnormal results. *Br J Haematol*, 165, 842-53.
- MIURA, G., ARIYOSHI, N., SATO, Y., YAMAGUCHI, H., IWATA, Y., FUJIMOTO, Y., KOBAYASHI, Y. & ISHII, I. 2014. Genetic and non-genetic factors responsible for antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel in Japanese patients undergoing coronary stent implantation: An algorithm to predict on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity. *Thrombosis Research*, 134, 877-883.
- MIZOBE, M., HOKIMOTO, S., AKASAKA, T., ARIMA, Y., KAIKITA, K., MORITA, K., MIYAZAKI, H., ONIKI, K., NAKAGAWA, K. & OGAWA, H. 2014. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism on clinical outcome following coronary stenting is more important in non-diabetic than diabetic patients. *Thromb Res*, 134, 72-7.
- MOTOVSKA, Z., HLINOMAZ, O., KALA, P., HROMADKA, M., KNOT, J., VARVAROVSKY, I., DUSEK, J., JARKOVSKY, J., MIKLIK, R., ROKYTA, R., TOUSEK, F., KRAMARIKOVA, P., SVOBODA, M., MAJTAN, B., SIMEK, S., BRANNY, M., MROZEK, J., CERVINKA, P., OSTRANSKY, J., WIDIMSKY, P. & GROUP, P.-S. 2018. 1-Year Outcomes of Patients Undergoing Primary Angioplasty for Myocardial Infarction Treated With Prasugrel Versus Ticagrelor. J Am Coll Cardiol, 71, 371-381.
- MOTOVSKA, Z., HLINOMAZ, O., MIKLIK, R., HROMADKA, M., VARVAROVSKY, I., DUSEK, J., KNOT, J., JARKOVSKY, J., KALA, P., ROKYTA, R., TOUSEK, F., KRAMARIKOVA, P.,

MAJTAN, B., SIMEK, S., BRANNY, M., MROZEK, J., CERVINKA, P., OSTRANSKY, J., WIDIMSKY, P. & GROUP, P.-S. 2016. Prasugrel Versus Ticagrelor in Patients With Acute Myocardial Infarction Treated With Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: Multicenter Randomized PRAGUE-18 Study. *Circulation*, 134, 1603-1612.

- MOTOVSKA, Z., WIDIMSKY, P., KVASNICKA, J., PETR, R., BILKOVA, D., HAJKOVA, J., MARINOV, I., SIMEK, S., KALA, P. & INVESTIGATORS, P.-S. 2009. High loading dose of clopidogrel is unable to satisfactorily inhibit platelet reactivity in patients with glycoprotein IIIA gene polymorphism: a genetic substudy of PRAGUE-8 trial. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*, 20, 257-62.
- MOUTZOURI, E., LIBEROPOULOS, E. N., TELLIS, C. C., MILIONIS, H. J., TSELEPIS, A. D. & ELISAF, M. S. 2013. Comparison of the effect of simvastatin versus simvastatin/ezetimibe versus rosuvastatin on markers of inflammation and oxidative stress in subjects with hypercholesterolemia. *Atherosclerosis*, 231, 8-14.
- MRDOVIC, I., COLIC, M., SAVIC, L., KRLJANAC, G., KRUZLIAK, P., LASICA, R., ASANIN, M., STANKOVIC, S. & MARINKOVIC, J. 2016. Clinical Significance of Laboratorydetermined Aspirin Poor Responsiveness After Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. *Cardiovasc Drugs Ther*, 30, 151-8.
- MUIR, A. R., MCMULLIN, M. F., PATTERSON, C. & MCKEOWN, P. P. 2009. Assessment of aspirin resistance varies on a temporal basis in patients with ischaemic heart disease. *Heart*, 95, 1225-9.
- MULLER, K., AICHELE, S., HERKOMMER, M., BIGALKE, B., STELLOS, K., HTUN, P., FATEH-MOGHADAM, S., MAY, A. E., FLATHER, M., GAWAZ, M. & GEISLER, T. 2010. Impact of inflammatory markers on platelet inhibition and cardiovascular outcome including stent thrombosis in patients with symptomatic coronary artery disease. *Atherosclerosis*, 213, 256-62.
- NAGASHIMA, Z., TSUKAHARA, K., MORITA, S., ENDO, T., SUGANO, T., HIBI, K., HIMENO, H., FUKUI, K., UMEMURA, S. & KIMURA, K. 2013. Platelet reactivity in the early and late phases of acute coronary syndromes according to cytochrome P450 2C19 phenotypes. J Cardiol, 62, 158-64.
- NAKAGAWA, I., PARK, H. S., YOKOYAMA, S., WADA, T., HIRONAKA, Y., MOTOYAMA, Y., TAKAYAMA, K., KICHIKAWA, K. & NAKASE, H. 2016. Influence of Diabetes Mellitus and Cigarette Smoking on Variability of the Clopidogrel-Induced Antiplatelet Effect and Efficacy of Active Management of the Target P2Y12 Reaction Unit Range in Patients Undergoing Neurointerventional Procedures. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis*, 25, 163-71.
- NARDIN, M., VERDOIA, M., PERGOLINI, P., ROLLA, R., BARBIERI, L., MARINO, P., BELLOMO, G., KEDHI, E., SURYAPRANATA, H., CARRIERO, A., DE LUCA, G. & NOVARA ATHEROSCLEROSIS STUDY, G. 2018. Impact of adenosine A2a receptor polymorphism rs5751876 on platelet reactivity in ticagrelor treated patients. *Pharmacol Res*, 129, 27-33.
- NASYUHANA SANI, Y., SHEAU CHIN, L., LUEN HUI, L., MOHD REDHUAN SHAH EDWIN, N. E., TECK HWA, G., SEREBRUANY, V. L. & KAH HAY, Y. 2013. The CYP2C19(*)1/(*)2 Genotype Does Not Adequately Predict Clopidogrel Response in Healthy Malaysian Volunteers. *Cardiol Res Pract*, 2013, 128795.
- NAVARATNAM, K., ALFIREVIC, Z., PIRMOHAMED, M. & ALFIREVIC, A. 2017. How important is aspirin adherence when evaluating effectiveness of low-dose aspirin? *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol*, 219, 1-9.
- NAVARRO, S. L., SARACINO, M. R., MAKAR, K. W., THOMAS, S. S., LI, L., ZHENG, Y., LEVY, L., SCHWARZ, Y., BIGLER, J., POTTER, J. D. & LAMPE, J. W. 2011. Determinants of aspirin

metabolism in healthy men and women: effects of dietary inducers of UDP-glucuronosyltransferases. *J Nutrigenet Nutrigenomics*, 4, 110-8.

- NICCOLI, G., CALVIERI, C., FLEGO, D., SCALONE, G., IMAEVA, A., SABATO, V., SCHIAVINO, D., LIUZZO, G. & CREA, F. 2015. Allergic Inflammation Is Associated With Coronary Instability and a Worse Clinical Outcome After Acute Myocardial Infarction. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 8, e002554.
- NICOLAU, J. C., BHATT, D. L., ROE, M. T., LOKHNYGINA, Y., NEELY, B., CORBALAN, R., LEIVA-PONS, J. L., MARTINEZ, F., GOODMAN, S. G., WINTERS, K. J., VERHEUGT, F. W., ARMSTRONG, P. W., WHITE, H. D., FOX, K. A., PRABHAKARAN, D., OHMAN, E. M. & INVESTIGATORS, T. A. 2015. Concomitant proton-pump inhibitor use, platelet activity, and clinical outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndromes treated with prasugrel versus clopidogrel and managed without revascularization: insights from the Targeted Platelet Inhibition to Clarify the Optimal Strategy to Medically Manage Acute Coronary Syndromes trial. *Am Heart J*, 170, 683-694 e3.
- NIIJIMA, S., OHMORI, T. & KARIO, K. 2018. Differential impact of diabetes mellitus on antiplatelet effects of prasugrel and clopidogrel. *Thromb J*, 16, 5.
- NISHIO, R., SHINKE, T., OTAKE, H., NAKAGAWA, M., INOUE, T., HARIKI, H., OSUE, T., TANIGUCHI, Y., IWASAKI, M., HIRANUMA, N., KONISHI, A., KINUTANI, H., KURODA, M. & HIRATA, K. 2013. Paraoxonase-1 activity affects the clopidogrel response in CYP2C19 loss-of-function carriers. *Thromb Res*, 132, 558-64.
- NISHIO, R., SHINKE, T., OTAKE, H., SAWADA, T., HARAGUCHI, Y., SHINOHARA, M., TOH, R., ISHIDA, T., NAKAGAWA, M., NAGOSHI, R., KOZUKI, A., INOUE, T., HARIKI, H., OSUE, T., TANIGUCHI, Y., IWASAKI, M., HIRANUMA, N., KONISHI, A., KINUTANI, H., SHITE, J. & HIRATA, K. 2012. Effect of cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphism on target lesion outcome after drug-eluting stent implantation in japanese patients receiving clopidogrel. *Circ J*, 76, 2348-55.
- NORDSTROM, B. L., SIMEONE, J. C., ZHAO, Z., MOLIFE, C., MCCOLLAM, P. L., YE, X. & EFFRON, M. B. 2013. Adherence and persistence with prasugrel following acute coronary syndrome with percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am J Cardiovasc Drugs*, 13, 263-71.
- O'DONOGHUE, M. L., MORROW, D. A., CANNON, C. P., JAROLIM, P., DESAI, N. R., SHERWOOD, M. W., MURPHY, S. A., GERSZTEN, R. E. & SABATINE, M. S. 2016. Multimarker Risk Stratification in Patients With Acute Myocardial Infarction. *J Am Heart Assoc*, 5.
- ODEBERG, J., FREITAG, M., FORSSELL, H., VAARA, I., PERSSON, M. L., ODEBERG, H., HALLING, A., RASTAM, L. & LINDBLAD, U. 2016. Influence of pre-existing inflammation on the outcome of acute coronary syndrome: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open, 6*, e009968.
- OESTREICH, J. H., BEST, L. G. & DOBESH, P. P. 2014. Prevalence of CYP2C19 variant alleles and pharmacodynamic variability of aspirin and clopidogrel in Native Americans. *American Heart Journal*, 167, 413-418.
- OGAWA, K., TANAKA, T., NAGOSHI, T., SEKIYAMA, H., ARASE, S., MINAI, K., OGAWA, T. & YOSHIMURA, M. 2015. Increase in the oxidised low-density lipoprotein level by smoking and the possible inhibitory effect of statin therapy in patients with cardiovascular disease: a retrospective study. *BMJ Open*, 5, e005455.
- OH, I. Y., PARK, K. W., KANG, S. H., PARK, J. J., NA, S. H., KANG, H. J., KOO, B. K., JEONG, Y. H., HWANG, J. Y., KWAK, C. H., PARK, Y., HWANG, S. J., KO, Y. G., SHIN, D. J., JANG, Y. & KIM, H. S. 2012. Association of cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism with clopidogrel response variability and cardiovascular events in Koreans treated with drug-eluting stents. *Heart*, 98, 139-44.

- OH, M., LEE, C. W., LEE, H. S., CHANG, M., AHN, J. M., PARK, D. W., KANG, S. J., LEE, S. W., KIM, Y. H., MOON, D. H., PARK, S. W. & PARK, S. J. 2016. Similar Impact of Clopidogrel or Ticagrelor on Carotid Atherosclerotic Plaque Inflammation. *Clin Cardiol*, 39, 646-652.
- OHMORI, T., YATOMI, Y., NONAKA, T., KOBAYASHI, Y., MADOIWA, S., MIMURO, J., OZAKI, Y. & SAKATA, Y. 2006. Aspirin resistance detected with aggregometry cannot be explained by cyclooxygenase activity: involvement of other signaling pathway(s) in cardiovascular events of aspirin-treated patients. *J Thromb Haemost*, *4*, 1271-8.
- OJEIFO, O., WIVIOTT, S. D., ANTMAN, E. M., MURPHY, S. A., UDELL, J. A., BATES, E. R., MEGA, J. L., SABATINE, M. S. & O'DONOGHUE, M. L. 2013. Concomitant administration of clopidogrel with statins or calcium-channel blockers: insights from the TRITON-TIMI 38 (trial to assess improvement in therapeutic outcomes by optimizing platelet inhibition with prasugrel-thrombolysis in myocardial infarction 38). JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 6, 1275-81.
- OLSON, W. H., MA, Y. W., CRIVERA, C., SCHEIN, J., LEFEBVRE, P., LALIBERTE, F., DEA, K., GERMAIN, G. & LYNCH, S. M. 2015. Economic outcomes with prasugrel versus clopidogrel in acute coronary syndrome patients: observations from prasugrel users and matched clopidogrel users. *J Med Econ*, 18, 1074-84.
- OLSON, W. H., MA, Y. W., LALIBERTE, F., LEFEBVRE, P., CRIVERA, C., SCHEIN, J. R., FIELDS, L. E., DEA, K., GERMAIN, G. & LYNCH, S. M. 2014. Prasugrel vs. clopidogrel in acute coronary syndrome patients treated with prasugrel. *J Clin Pharm Ther*, 39, 663-72.
- ONO, T., KAIKITA, K., HOKIMOTO, S., IWASHITA, S., YAMAMOTO, K., MIYAZAKI, Y., HORIO, E., SATO, K., TSUJITA, K., ABE, T., DEGUCHI, M., TAYAMA, S., SUMIDA, H., SUGIYAMA, S., YAMABE, H., NAKAMURA, S., NAKAGAWA, K. & OGAWA, H. 2011. Determination of cut-off levels for on-clopidogrel platelet aggregation based on functional CYP2C19 gene variants in patients undergoing elective percutaneous coronary intervention. *Thromb Res*, 128, e130-6.
- ORMECI, A., EMRENCE, Z., BARAN, B., GOKTURK, S., SOYER, O. M., EVIRGEN, S., AKYUZ, F., KARACA, C., BESISIK, F., KAYMAKOGLU, S., USTEK, D. & DEMIR, K. 2016. Effect of cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphisms on the Helicobacter pylori eradication rate following two-week triple therapy with pantoprazole or rabeprazole. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci*, 20, 879-85.
- OSHIMA, T., OZONO, R., YANO, Y., OISHI, Y., TERAGAWA, H., HIGASHI, Y., YOSHIZUMI, M. & KAMBE, M. 2005. Association of Helicobacter pylori infection with systemic inflammation and endothelial dysfunction in healthy male subjects. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 45, 1219-22.
- OSMANCIK, P., PAULU, P., TOUSEK, P., KOCKA, V. & WIDIMSKY, P. 2012. High leukocyte count and interleukin-10 predict high on-treatment-platelet-reactivity in patients treated with clopidogrel. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*, 33, 349-54.
- PACHATHUNDIKANDI, S. K. & BACKERT, S. 2018. Helicobacter pylori controls NLRP3 expression by regulating hsa-miR-223-3p and IL-10 in cultured and primary human immune cells. *Innate Immun*, 24, 11-23.
- PAIKIN, J. S., HIRSH, J., GINSBERG, J. S., WEITZ, J. I., CHAN, N. C., WHITLOCK, R. P., PARE, G., JOHNSTON, M. & EIKELBOOM, J. W. 2015. Multiple daily doses of acetyl-salicylic acid (ASA) overcome reduced platelet response to once-daily ASA after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: a pilot randomized controlled trial. J Thromb Haemost, 13, 448-56.
- PALMERINI, T., BAROZZI, C., TOMASI, L., SANGIORGI, D., MARZOCCHI, A., DE SERVI, S., ORTOLANI, P., REGGIANI, L. B., ALESSI, L., LAURIA, G., BASSI, M. & BRANZI, A. 2010.
 A randomised study comparing the antiplatelet and antiinflammatory effect of clopidogrel 150 mg/day versus 75 mg/day in patients with ST-segment elevation

acute myocardial infarction and poor responsiveness to clopidogrel: results from the DOUBLE study. *Thromb Res,* 125, 309-14.

- PALMERINI, T., CALABRO, P., PISCIONE, F., DE SERVI, S., CATTANEO, M., MAFFEO, D., TOSO, A., BARTORELLI, A., PALMIERI, C., DE CARLO, M., CAPODANNO, D., BAROZZI, C., TOMASI, L., DELLA RIVA, D., MARIANI, A., TAGLIERI, N., REGGIANI, L. B., BIANCHI, R., DE ROSA, R., MARIANI, M., PODDA, G., GENEREUX, P., STONE, G. W. & ANGIOLILLO, D. J. 2014. Impact of gene polymorphisms, platelet reactivity, and the SYNTAX score on 1-year clinical outcomes in patients with non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndrome undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: the GEPRESS study. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 7, 1117-27.
- PAMUKCU, B. 2007. A review of aspirin resistance; definition, possible mechanisms, detection with platelet function tests, and its clinical outcomes. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*, 23, 213-22.
- PANICCIA, R., ANTONUCCI, E., MAGGINI, N., ROMANO, E., GORI, A. M., MARCUCCI, R., PRISCO, D. & ABBATE, R. 2009. Assessment of platelet function on whole blood by multiple electrode aggregometry in high-risk patients with coronary artery disease receiving antiplatelet therapy. Am J Clin Pathol, 131, 834-42.
- PARE, G., MEHTA, S. R., YUSUF, S., ANAND, S. S., CONNOLLY, S. J., HIRSH, J., SIMONSEN, K., BHATT, D. L., FOX, K. A. & EIKELBOOM, J. W. 2010. Effects of CYP2C19 genotype on outcomes of clopidogrel treatment. *N Engl J Med*, 363, 1704-14.
- PARK, D. W., AHN, J. M., SONG, H. G., LEE, J. Y., KIM, W. J., KANG, S. J., YUN, S. C., LEE, S. W., KIM, Y. H., LEE, C. W., PARK, S. W. & PARK, S. J. 2013a. Differential prognostic impact of high on-treatment platelet reactivity among patients with acute coronary syndromes versus stable coronary artery disease undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. Am Heart J, 165, 34-42 e1.
- PARK, J. J., PARK, K. W., KANG, J., JEON, K. H., KANG, S. H., AHN, H. S., HAN, J. K., KOH, J. S., LEE, S. E., YANG, H. M., LEE, H. Y., KANG, H. J., KOO, B. K., OH, B. H., PARK, Y. B. & KIM, H. S. 2013b. Genetic determinants of clopidogrel responsiveness in Koreans treated with drug-eluting stents. *Int J Cardiol*, 163, 79-86.
- PARK, K. W., KANG, J., PARK, J. J., YANG, H. M., LEE, H. Y., KANG, H. J., KOO, B. K., OH, B. H., PARK, Y. B. & KIM, H. S. 2012. Amlodipine, clopidogrel and CYP3A5 genetic variability: effects on platelet reactivity and clinical outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Heart*, 98, 1366-72.
- PARK, K. W., PARK, J. J., JEON, K. H., KANG, S. H., OH, I. Y., YANG, H. M., CHO, H. J., LEE, H. Y., KANG, H. J., KOO, B. K., OH, B. H., PARK, Y. B. & KIM, H. S. 2011a. Enhanced clopidogrel responsiveness in smokers: smokers' paradox is dependent on cytochrome P450 CYP1A2 status. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 31, 665-71.
- PARK, K. W., PARK, J. J., LEE, S. P., OH, I. Y., SUH, J. W., YANG, H. M., LEE, H. Y., KANG, H. J., CHO, Y. S., KOO, B. K., YOUN, T. J., CHAE, I. H., CHOI, D. J., OH, B. H., PARK, Y. B. & KIM, H. S. 2011b. Cilostazol attenuates on-treatment platelet reactivity in patients with CYP2C19 loss of function alleles receiving dual antiplatelet therapy: a genetic substudy of the CILON-T randomised controlled trial. *Heart*, 97, 641-7.
- PARK, Y., JUNG, J. M., TANTRY, U. S., KIM, K., KOH, J. S., PARK, J. R., HWANG, S. J., KWAK, C. H., HWANG, J. Y., KIM, S., GURBEL, P. A. & JEONG, Y. H. 2014. Pharmacodynamic Effects of Cilostazol Versus Clopidogrel in Stented Patients under Proton Pump Inhibitor Co-administration: The ACCEL-PARAZOL Study. *Journal of Atherosclerosis* and Thrombosis, 21, 1121-1139.
- PARODI, G., BELLANDI, B., XANTHOPOULOU, I., CAPRANZANO, P., CAPODANNO, D., VALENTI, R., STAVROU, K., MIGLIORINI, A., ANTONIUCCI, D., TAMBURINO, C. & ALEXOPOULOS, D. 2015. Morphine is associated with a delayed activity of oral antiplatelet agents in

patients with ST-elevation acute myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 8.

- PARODI, G., MARCUCCI, R., VALENTI, R., GORI, A. M., MIGLIORINI, A., GIUSTI, B., BUONAMICI, P., GENSINI, G. F., ABBATE, R. & ANTONIUCCI, D. 2011. High residual platelet reactivity after clopidogrel loading and long-term cardiovascular events among patients with acute coronary syndromes undergoing PCI. JAMA, 306, 1215-23.
- PARONI STERBINI, F., PALLADINI, A., MASUCCI, L., CANNISTRACI, C. V., PASTORINO, R., IANIRO, G., BUGLI, F., MARTINI, C., RICCIARDI, W., GASBARRINI, A., SANGUINETTI, M., CAMMAROTA, G. & POSTERARO, B. 2016. Effects of Proton Pump Inhibitors on the Gastric Mucosa-Associated Microbiota in Dyspeptic Patients. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 82, 6633-6644.
- PARRA, E. S., PANZOLDO, N. B., ZAGO, V. H., SCHERRER, D. Z., ALEXANDRE, F., BAKKARAT, J., NUNES, V. S., NAKANDAKARE, E. R., QUINTAO, E. C., NADRUZ, W., JR., DE FARIA, E. C. & SPOSITO, A. C. 2014. HDL size is more accurate than HDL cholesterol to predict carotid subclinical atherosclerosis in individuals classified as low cardiovascular risk. *PLoS One*, 9, e114212.
- PARSONS, B. N., IJAZ, U. Z., D'AMORE, R., BURKITT, M. D., ECCLES, R., LENZI, L., DUCKWORTH, C. A., MOORE, A. R., TISZLAVICZ, L., VARRO, A., HALL, N. & PRITCHARD, D. M. 2017. Comparison of the human gastric microbiota in hypochlorhydric states arising as a result of Helicobacter pylori-induced atrophic gastritis, autoimmune atrophic gastritis and proton pump inhibitor use. *PLoS Pathog*, 13, e1006653.
- PATRIGNANI, P. 2003. Aspirin insensitive eicosanoid biosynthesis in cardiovascular disease. *Thromb Res*, 110, 281-6.
- PATRIGNANI, P., FILABOZZI, P. & PATRONO, C. 1982. Selective cumulative inhibition of platelet thromboxane production by low-dose aspirin in healthy subjects. *J Clin Invest*, 69, 1366-72.
- PATTI, G., COLONNA, G., PASCERI, V., PEPE, L. L., MONTINARO, A. & DI SCIASCIO, G. 2005. Randomized trial of high loading dose of clopidogrel for reduction of periprocedural myocardial infarction in patients undergoing coronary intervention: results from the ARMYDA-2 (Antiplatelet therapy for Reduction of MYocardial Damage during Angioplasty) study. *Circulation*, 111, 2099-106.
- PATTI, G., GRIECO, D., DICUONZO, G., PASCERI, V., NUSCA, A. & DI SCIASCIO, G. 2011. High versus standard clopidogrel maintenance dose after percutaneous coronary intervention and effects on platelet inhibition, endothelial function, and inflammation results of the ARMYDA-150 mg (antiplatelet therapy for reduction of myocardial damage during angioplasty) randomized study. J Am Coll Cardiol, 57, 771-8.
- PATTI, G., POLACCO, M., TAURINO, E., GAUDIO, C. & GRECO, C. 2016. Effects of cigarette smoking on platelet reactivity during P2Y12 inhibition in patients with myocardial infarction undergoing drug-eluting stent implantation: results from the prospective cigarette smoking on platelet reactivity (COPTER) study. *J Thromb Thrombolysis*, 41, 648-53.
- PEACE, A. J., MANGIACAPRA, F., BAILLEUL, E., DELRUE, L., DIERICKX, K., CONTE, M., PUYMIRAT, E., FRAEYMANS, A. L., MEEUS, P., BARTUNEK, J., VOLPE, M. & BARBATO, E. 2014. alpha(2A) -Adrenergic Receptor Polymorphism Potentiates Platelet Reactivity in Patients With Stable Coronary Artery Disease Carrying the Cytochrome P450 2C19*2 Genetic Variant. Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology, 34, 1314-1319.
- PELLETIER-GALARNEAU, M., HUNTER, C., ASCAH, K. J., BEANLANDS, R. S. B., DWIVEDI, G., DEKEMP, R. A., CHOW, B. J. W. & RUDDY, T. D. 2017. Randomized Trial Comparing

the Effects of Ticagrelor Versus Clopidogrel on Myocardial Perfusion in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease. *J Am Heart Assoc,* 6.

- PELLICCIA, F., ROLLINI, F., MARAZZI, G., GRECO, C., GAUDIO, C. & ANGIOLILLO, D. J. 2015. Drug-drug interactions between clopidogrel and novel cardiovascular drugs. *Eur J Pharmacol,* 765, 332-6.
- PELLO LAZARO, A. M., CRISTOBAL, C., FRANCO-PELAEZ, J. A., TARIN, N., ACENA, A., CARDA, R., HUELMOS, A., MARTIN-MARISCAL, M. L., FUENTES-ANTRAS, J., MARTINEZ-MILLA, J., ALONSO, J., LORENZO, O., EGIDO, J., LOPEZ-BESCOS, L. & TUNON, J. 2017. Use of Proton-Pump Inhibitors Predicts Heart Failure and Death in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease. *PLoS One*, 12, e0169826.
- PELUSO, I., MORABITO, G., URBAN, L., IOANNONE, F. & SERAFINI, M. 2012. Oxidative stress in atherosclerosis development: the central role of LDL and oxidative burst. *Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets*, 12, 351-60.
- PENG, L. L., ZHAO, Y. Q., ZHOU, Z. Y., JIN, J., ZHAO, M., CHEN, X. M., CHEN, L. Y., CAI, Y. F., LI, J. L. & HUANG, M. 2016. Associations of MDR1, TBXA2R, PLA2G7, and PEAR1 genetic polymorphisms with the platelet activity in Chinese ischemic stroke patients receiving aspirin therapy. Acta Pharmacol Sin, 37, 1442-1448.
- PENG, Y., CHEN, M., LIU, X. J., LIU, W., LI, Q., CHAI, H., REN, X., WANG, X. Q., ZHAO, Z. G., ZHANG, C., LUO, X. L. & HUANG, D. J. 2013. The CYP2C19 genotype does not impact the long-term prognosis of patients with coronary artery disease. *Atherosclerosis*, 227, 106-11.
- PESARO, A. E., SERRANO, C. V., JR., FERNANDES, J. L., CAVALCANTI, A. B., CAMPOS, A. H., MARTINS, H. S., MARANHAO, R. C., DE LEMOS, J. A., SOUZA, H. P. & NICOLAU, J. C. 2012. Pleiotropic effects of ezetimibe/simvastatin vs. high dose simvastatin. *Int J Cardiol*, 158, 400-4.
- PICCOLO, R., GALASSO, G., DE LUCA, G., PARODI, G., ANTONIUCCI, D., ESPOSITO, G., TRIMARCO, B. & PISCIONE, F. 2014. Relationship between changes in platelet reactivity and ischemic events following percutaneous coronary intervention: a meta-regression analysis of 30 randomized trials. *Atherosclerosis*, 234, 176-84.
- PICHLER, G., AMIGO, N., TELLEZ-PLAZA, M., PARDO-CEA, M. A., DOMINGUEZ-LUCAS, A., MARRACHELLI, V. G., MONLEON, D., MARTIN-ESCUDERO, J. C., ASCASO, J. F., CHAVES, F. J., CARMENA, R. & REDON, J. 2018. LDL particle size and composition and incident cardiovascular disease in a South-European population: The Hortega-Liposcale Follow-up Study. Int J Cardiol, 264, 172-178.
- PIRILLO, A., NORATA, G. D. & CATAPANO, A. L. 2013. LOX-1, OxLDL, and atherosclerosis. *Mediators Inflamm*, 2013, 152786.
- POSTULA, M., JANICKI, P. K., ROSIAK, M., KAPLON-CIESLICKA, A., KONDRACKA, A., TRZEPLA, E., FILIPIAK, K. J., KOSIOR, D. A., CZLONKOWSKI, A. & OPOLSKI, G. 2013. Effect of common single-nucleotide polymorphisms in acetylsalicylic acid metabolic pathway genes on platelet reactivity in patients with diabetes. *Med Sci Monit*, 19, 394-408.
- POSTULA, M., KAPLON-CIESLICKA, A., ROSIAK, M., KONDRACKA, A., SERAFIN, A., FILIPIAK, K. J., CZLONKOWSKI, A., OPOLSKI, G. & JANICKI, P. K. 2011. Genetic determinants of platelet reactivity during acetylsalicylic acid therapy in diabetic patients: evaluation of 27 polymorphisms within candidate genes. *J Thromb Haemost*, 9, 2291-301.
- PRICE, M. J., BERGER, P. B., TEIRSTEIN, P. S., TANGUAY, J. F., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., SPRIGGS, D., PURI, S., ROBBINS, M., GARRATT, K. N., BERTRAND, O. F., STILLABOWER, M. E., ARAGON, J. R., KANDZARI, D. E., STINIS, C. T., LEE, M. S., MANOUKIAN, S. V., CANNON, C. P., SCHORK, N. J., TOPOL, E. J. & INVESTIGATORS, G. 2011. Standard- vs high-dose clopidogrel based on platelet function testing after percutaneous coronary intervention: the GRAVITAS randomized trial. JAMA, 305, 1097-105.

- PRZESPOLEWSKI, E. R., WESTPHAL, E. S., RAINKA, M., SMITH, N. M., BATES, V. & GENGO, F.
 M. 2018. Evaluating the Effect of Six Proton Pump Inhibitors on the Antiplatelet Effects of Clopidogrel. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis, 27, 1582-1589.
- QAMAR, A. & BHATT, D. L. 2016. Current status of data on cangrelor. *Pharmacol Ther*, 159, 102-9.
- RAGHAVAN, R. P., LAIGHT, D. W. & CUMMINGS, M. H. 2014. Aspirin in type 2 diabetes, a randomised controlled study: effect of different doses on inflammation, oxidative stress, insulin resistance and endothelial function. *Int J Clin Pract*, 68, 271-7.
- RAMADAN, R., DHAWAN, S. S., SYED, H., POHLEL, F. K., BINONGO, J. N., GHAZZAL, Z. B. & QUYYUMI, A. A. 2014. Effects of clopidogrel therapy on oxidative stress, inflammation, vascular function, and progenitor cells in stable coronary artery disease. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 63, 369-74.
- RENY, J. L., DE MOERLOOSE, P., DAUZAT, M. & FONTANA, P. 2008. Use of the PFA-100 closure time to predict cardiovascular events in aspirin-treated cardiovascular patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Thromb Haemost*, 6, 444-50.
- RIDEG, O., KOMOCSI, A., MAGYARLAKI, T., TOKES-FUZESI, M., MISETA, A., KOVACS, G. L. & ARADI, D. 2011. Impact of genetic variants on post-clopidogrel platelet reactivity in patients after elective percutaneous coronary intervention. *Pharmacogenomics*, **12**, 1269-80.
- RIDKER, P. M., COOK, N. R., LEE, I. M., GORDON, D., GAZIANO, J. M., MANSON, J. E., HENNEKENS, C. H. & BURING, J. E. 2005. A randomized trial of low-dose aspirin in the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease in women. *N Engl J Med*, 352, 1293-304.
- RIDKER, P. M., EVERETT, B. M., THUREN, T., MACFADYEN, J. G., CHANG, W. H., BALLANTYNE,
 C., FONSECA, F., NICOLAU, J., KOENIG, W., ANKER, S. D., KASTELEIN, J. J. P., CORNEL,
 J. H., PAIS, P., PELLA, D., GENEST, J., CIFKOVA, R., LORENZATTI, A., FORSTER, T.,
 KOBALAVA, Z., VIDA-SIMITI, L., FLATHER, M., SHIMOKAWA, H., OGAWA, H.,
 DELLBORG, M., ROSSI, P. R. F., TROQUAY, R. P. T., LIBBY, P., GLYNN, R. J. & GROUP,
 C. T. 2017. Antiinflammatory Therapy with Canakinumab for Atherosclerotic Disease. *N Engl J Med*, 377, 1119-1131.
- ROBERTS, J. D., WELLS, G. A., LE MAY, M. R., LABINAZ, M., GLOVER, C., FROESCHL, M., DICK, A., MARQUIS, J. F., O'BRIEN, E., GONCALVES, S., DRUCE, I., STEWART, A., GOLLOB, M. H. & SO, D. Y. 2012. Point-of-care genetic testing for personalisation of antiplatelet treatment (RAPID GENE): a prospective, randomised, proof-of-concept trial. *Lancet*, 379, 1705-11.
- RODRIGUEZ, S. E., NAVARRO-GARCIA, J. A., ACEVES-RIPOLL, J., GONZALEZ-LAFUENTE, L., CORBACHO-ALONSO, N., MARTINEZ, P., CALVO-BONACHO, E., ALVAREZ-LLAMAS, G., BARDERAS, M. G., RUILOPE, L. M. & RUIZ-HURTADO, G. 2019. Lifetime cardiovascular risk is associated with a multimarker score of systemic oxidative status in young adults independently of traditional risk factors. *Transl Res*, 212, 54-66.
- ROE, M. T., ARMSTRONG, P. W., FOX, K. A., WHITE, H. D., PRABHAKARAN, D., GOODMAN, S.
 G., CORNEL, J. H., BHATT, D. L., CLEMMENSEN, P., MARTINEZ, F., ARDISSINO, D., NICOLAU, J. C., BODEN, W. E., GURBEL, P. A., RUZYLLO, W., DALBY, A. J., MCGUIRE,
 D. K., LEIVA-PONS, J. L., PARKHOMENKO, A., GOTTLIEB, S., TOPACIO, G. O., HAMM,
 C., PAVLIDES, G., GOUDEV, A. R., OTO, A., TSENG, C. D., MERKELY, B., GASPAROVIC,
 V., CORBALAN, R., CINTEZA, M., MCLENDON, R. C., WINTERS, K. J., BROWN, E. B.,
 LOKHNYGINA, Y., AYLWARD, P. E., HUBER, K., HOCHMAN, J. S., OHMAN, E. M. &
 INVESTIGATORS, T. A. 2012. Prasugrel versus clopidogrel for acute coronary
 syndromes without revascularization. N Engl J Med, 367, 1297-309.
- ROFFI, M., PATRONO, C., COLLET, J. P., MUELLER, C., VALGIMIGLI, M., ANDREOTTI, F., BAX, J. J., BORGER, M. A., BROTONS, C., CHEW, D. P., GENCER, B., HASENFUSS, G., KJELDSEN,

K., LANCELLOTTI, P., LANDMESSER, U., MEHILLI, J., MUKHERJEE, D., STOREY, R. F., WINDECKER, S. & GROUP, E. S. C. S. D. 2016. 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of acute coronary syndromes in patients presenting without persistent ST-segment elevation: Task Force for the Management of Acute Coronary Syndromes in Patients Presenting without Persistent ST-Segment Elevation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). *Eur Heart J*, 37, 267-315.

- ROSIAK, M., POSTULA, M., KAPLON-CIESLICKA, A., KONDRACKA, A., TRZEPLA, E., ZAREMBA, M., FILIPIAK, K. J., KOSIOR, D. A., CZLONKOWSKI, A., OPOLSKI, G. & JANICKI, P. K. 2013. Lack of effect of common single nucleotide polymorphisms in leukotriene pathway genes on platelet reactivity in patients with diabetes. *Mol Med Rep*, 8, 853-60.
- ROSSI, J. S., CAMMARATA, M., DHARMAVARAM, J., WECK, K., WALKO, C., GABRIEL, D., KURITZKY, J., MULDREW, K. & STOUFFER, G. A. 2014. Clopidogrel dose adjustment after outpatient screening for CYP2C19 variant alleles: a pilot study. *Pharmacogenomics*, 15, 915-923.
- ROTHENBACHER, D., HOFFMANN, M. M., BREITLING, L. P., RAJMAN, I., KOENIG, W. & BRENNER, H. 2013. Cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism in patients with stable coronary heart disease and risk for secondary cardiovascular disease events: results of a long-term follow-up study in routine clinical care. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*, 13, 61.
- ROULLET, S., LABROUCHE, S., CARRIE, C., AUQUE, H., BERARD, X. & FREYBURGER, G. 2018. Multiplate((R)) evaluation of acetylsalicylic acid efficacy in carotid surgery: routine and genetic influencing factors. *J Thromb Haemost*, 16, 583-591.
- RUSSO, A., PIRISINU, I., VACCA, C., REGINATO, E., TOMARO, E. S., PIPPI, R., AIELLO, C., TALESA, V. N., DE FEO, P. & ROMANI, R. 2018. An intensive lifestyle intervention reduces circulating oxidised low-density lipoprotein and increases human paraoxonase activity in obese subjects. *Obes Res Clin Pract*, **12**, 108-114.
- SABATINE, M. S., CANNON, C. P., GIBSON, C. M., LOPEZ-SENDON, J. L., MONTALESCOT, G., THEROUX, P., LEWIS, B. S., MURPHY, S. A., MCCABE, C. H., BRAUNWALD, E. & CLOPIDOGREL AS ADJUNCTIVE REPERFUSION THERAPY -THROMBOLYSIS IN MYOCARDIAL INFARCTION, I. 2005. Effect of clopidogrel pretreatment before percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction treated with fibrinolytics: the PCI-CLARITY study. JAMA, 294, 1224-32.
- SAIA, F., MARINO, M., CAMPO, G., VALGIMIGLI, M., GUASTAROBA, P., TAGLIERI, N., TONDI, S., MANARI, A., GUIDUCCI, V., SANGIORGIO, P., VARANI, E., MAGNAVACCHI, P., DE PALMA, R. & MARZOCCHI, A. 2013. Incidence and outcome of high on-treatment platelet reactivity in patients with non-ST elevation acute coronary syndromes undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention (from the VIP [VerifyNow and Inhibition of Platelet Reactivity] study). *Am J Cardiol*, 112, 792-8.
- SARDELLA, G., CALCAGNO, S., MANCONE, M., PALMIROTTA, R., LUCISANO, L., CANALI, E., STIO, R. E., PENNACCHI, M., DI ROMA, A., BENEDETTI, G., GUADAGNI, F., BIONDI-ZOCCAI, G. & FEDELE, F. 2012. Pharmacodynamic effect of switching therapy in patients with high on-treatment platelet reactivity and genotype variation with high clopidogrel Dose versus prasugrel: the RESET GENE trial. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*, 5, 698-704.
- SATO, T., NAMBA, Y., KASHIHARA, Y., TANAKA, M., FUKE, S., YUMOTO, A. & SAITO, H. 2017. Clinical significance of platelet reactivity during prasugrel therapy in patients with acute myocardial infarction. *J Cardiol*, 70, 35-40.
- SAWADA, T., SHINKE, T., SHITE, J., HONJO, T., HARAGUCHI, Y., NISHIO, R., SHINOHARA, M., TOH, R., ISHIDA, T., KAWAMORI, H., KOZUKI, A., INOUE, T., HARIKI, H. & HIRATA, K. 2011. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism on intra-stent thrombus

after drug-eluting stent implantation in Japanese patients receiving clopidogrel. *Circ J*, 75, 99-105.

- SCHUETTE, C., STEFFENS, D., WITKOWSKI, M., STELLBAUM, C., BOBBERT, P., SCHULTHEISS, H. P. & RAUCH, U. 2015. The effect of clopidogrel on platelet activity in patients with and without type-2 diabetes mellitus: a comparative study. *Cardiovasc Diabetol*, 14, 15.
- SCOPEL-GUERRA, A., OLIVERA-SEVERO, D., STANISCUASKI, F., UBERTI, A. F., CALLAI-SILVA, N., JAEGER, N., PORTO, B. N. & CARLINI, C. R. 2017. The Impact of Helicobacter pylori Urease upon Platelets and Consequent Contributions to Inflammation. *Front Microbiol*, 8, 2447.
- SCOTT, S. A., OWUSU OBENG, A. & HULOT, J. S. 2014. Antiplatelet drug interactions with proton pump inhibitors. *Expert Opin Drug Metab Toxicol*, 10, 175-89.
- SCOTT, S. A., SANGKUHL, K., STEIN, C. M., HULOT, J. S., MEGA, J. L., RODEN, D. M., KLEIN, T. E., SABATINE, M. S., JOHNSON, J. A., SHULDINER, A. R. & CLINICAL PHARMACOGENETICS IMPLEMENTATION, C. 2013. Clinical Pharmacogenetics Implementation Consortium guidelines for CYP2C19 genotype and clopidogrel therapy: 2013 update. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 94, 317-23.
- SEREBRUANY, V. L., POKOV, A. N., MALININ, A. I., O'CONNOR, C., BHATT, D. L., TANGUAY, J. F., SANE, D. C. & HENNEKENS, C. H. 2006. Valsartan inhibits platelet activity at different doses in mild to moderate hypertensives: Valsartan Inhibits Platelets (VIP) trial. Am Heart J, 151, 92-9.
- SEVERINO, A., ZARA, C., CAMPIONI, M., FLEGO, D., ANGELINI, G., PEDICINO, D., GIGLIO, A. F., TROTTA, F., GIUBILATO, S., PAZZANO, V., LUCCI, C., IACONELLI, A., RUGGIO, A., BIASUCCI, L. M., CREA, F. & LIUZZO, G. 2017. Atorvastatin inhibits the immediateearly response gene EGR1 and improves the functional profile of CD4+T-lymphocytes in acute coronary syndromes. *Oncotarget*, 8, 17529-17550.
- SHAH, R., RASHID, A., HWANG, I., FAN, T. M., KHOUZAM, R. N. & REED, G. L. 2017. Meta-Analysis of the Relative Efficacy and Safety of Oral P2Y12 Inhibitors in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome. Am J Cardiol, 119, 1723-1728.
- SHALAEVA, E. V., SANER, H., JANABAEV, B. B. & SHALAEVA, A. V. 2017. Tenfold risk increase of major cardiovascular events after high limb amputation with non-compliance for secondary prevention measures. *Eur J Prev Cardiol*, 24, 708-716.
- SHANG, L. L., GUO, D. D., ZHAO, H. Y., QUAN, A. J. & CAO, P. G. 2018. Comparison of pharmacodynamic effects of ticagrelor vs prasugrel in type 2 diabetes mellitus patients with coronary heart disease. J Clin Pharm Ther, 43, 342-347.
- SHARMA, V., DADHEECH, S., KAUL, S., JYOTHY, A. & MUNSHI, A. 2013. Association of ALOX5AP1 SG13S114T/A variant with ischemic stroke, stroke subtypes and aspirin resistance. J Neurol Sci, 331, 108-13.
- SHEN, D. L., WANG, B., BAI, J., HAN, Q., LIU, C., HUANG, X. H. & ZHANG, J. Y. 2016. Clinical Value of CYP2C19 Genetic Testing for Guiding the Antiplatelet Therapy in a Chinese Population. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 67, 232-6.
- SHIFFMAN, D., LOUIE, J. Z., CAULFIELD, M. P., NILSSON, P. M., DEVLIN, J. J. & MELANDER, O. 2017. LDL subfractions are associated with incident cardiovascular disease in the Malmo Prevention Project Study. *Atherosclerosis*, 263, 287-292.
- SHULDINER, A. R., O'CONNELL, J. R., BLIDEN, K. P., GANDHI, A., RYAN, K., HORENSTEIN, R. B., DAMCOTT, C. M., PAKYZ, R., TANTRY, U. S., GIBSON, Q., POLLIN, T. I., POST, W., PARSA, A., MITCHELL, B. D., FARADAY, N., HERZOG, W. & GURBEL, P. A. 2009. Association of cytochrome P450 2C19 genotype with the antiplatelet effect and clinical efficacy of clopidogrel therapy. *JAMA*, 302, 849-57.
- SIBBING, D., ARADI, D., JACOBSHAGEN, C., GROSS, L., TRENK, D., GEISLER, T., ORBAN, M., HADAMITZKY, M., MERKELY, B., KISS, R. G., KOMOCSI, A., DEZSI, C. A., HOLDT, L.,

FELIX, S. B., PARMA, R., KLOPOTOWSKI, M., SCHWINGER, R. H. G., RIEBER, J., HUBER, K., NEUMANN, F. J., KOLTOWSKI, L., MEHILLI, J., HUCZEK, Z., MASSBERG, S. & INVESTIGATORS, T.-A. 2017. Guided de-escalation of antiplatelet treatment in patients with acute coronary syndrome undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention (TROPICAL-ACS): a randomised, open-label, multicentre trial. *Lancet*, 390, 1747-1757.

- SIBBING, D., KOCH, W., MASSBERG, S., BYRNE, R. A., MEHILLI, J., SCHULZ, S., MAYER, K., BERNLOCHNER, I., SCHOMIG, A. & KASTRATI, A. 2011. No association of paraoxonase-1 Q192R genotypes with platelet response to clopidogrel and risk of stent thrombosis after coronary stenting. *Eur Heart J*, 32, 1605-13.
- SIBBING, D., STEGHERR, J., LATZ, W., KOCH, W., MEHILLI, J., DORRLER, K., MORATH, T., SCHOMIG, A., KASTRATI, A. & VON BECKERATH, N. 2009. Cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism and stent thrombosis following percutaneous coronary intervention. *Eur Heart J*, 30, 916-22.
- SIBLE, A. M. & NAWARSKAS, J. J. 2017. Cangrelor: A New Route for P2Y12 Inhibition. *Cardiol Rev*, 25, 133-139.
- SILLER-MATULA, J. M., DELLE-KARTH, G., LANG, I. M., NEUNTEUFL, T., KOZINSKI, M., KUBICA, J., MAURER, G., LINKOWSKA, K., GRZYBOWSKI, T., HUBER, K. & JILMA, B. 2012. Phenotyping vs. genotyping for prediction of clopidogrel efficacy and safety: the PEGASUS-PCI study. J Thromb Haemost, 10, 529-42.
- SILLER-MATULA, J. M., JILMA, B., SCHROR, K., CHRIST, G. & HUBER, K. 2010. Effect of proton pump inhibitors on clinical outcome in patients treated with clopidogrel: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Thromb Haemost*, **8**, 2624-41.
- SILLER-MATULA, J. M., TRENK, D., SCHROR, K., GAWAZ, M., KRISTENSEN, S. D., STOREY, R. F., HUBER, K. & EPA 2013. Response variability to P2Y12 receptor inhibitors: expectations and reality. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*, 6, 1111-28.
- SIMON, T., BHATT, D. L., BERGOUGNAN, L., FARENC, C., PEARSON, K., PERRIN, L., VICAUT, E., LACRETA, F., HURBIN, F. & DUBAR, M. 2011a. Genetic polymorphisms and the impact of a higher clopidogrel dose regimen on active metabolite exposure and antiplatelet response in healthy subjects. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 90, 287-95.
- SIMON, T., STEG, P. G., BECQUEMONT, L., VERSTUYFT, C., KOTTI, S., SCHIELE, F., FERRARI, E., DROUET, E., GROLLIER, G. & DANCHIN, N. 2011b. Effect of paraoxonase-1 polymorphism on clinical outcomes in patients treated with clopidogrel after an acute myocardial infarction. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 90, 561-7.
- SIMON, T., VERSTUYFT, C., MARY-KRAUSE, M., QUTEINEH, L., DROUET, E., MENEVEAU, N., STEG, P. G., FERRIERES, J., DANCHIN, N., BECQUEMONT, L., FRENCH REGISTRY OF ACUTE, S. T. E. & NON, S. T. E. M. I. I. 2009. Genetic determinants of response to clopidogrel and cardiovascular events. N Engl J Med, 360, 363-75.
- SMITH, C. J., FISCHER, T. H., HEAVNER, D. L., RUMPLE, M. A., BOWMAN, D. L., BROWN, B. G., MORTON, M. J. & DOOLITTLE, D. J. 2001. Urinary thromboxane, prostacyclin, cortisol, and 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine in nonsmokers exposed and not exposed to environmental tobacco smoke. *Toxicol Sci*, 59, 316-23.
- SNOEP, J. D., HOVENS, M. M., EIKENBOOM, J. C., VAN DER BOM, J. G. & HUISMAN, M. V. 2007a. Association of laboratory-defined aspirin resistance with a higher risk of recurrent cardiovascular events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Intern Med, 167, 1593-9.
- SNOEP, J. D., HOVENS, M. M., EIKENBOOM, J. C., VAN DER BOM, J. G., JUKEMA, J. W. & HUISMAN, M. V. 2007b. Clopidogrel nonresponsiveness in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention with stenting: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Am Heart J, 154, 221-31.

- SO, D. Y., WELLS, G. A., MCPHERSON, R., LABINAZ, M., LE MAY, M. R., GLOVER, C., DICK, A. J., FROESCHL, M., MARQUIS, J. F., GOLLOB, M. H., TRAN, L., BERNICK, J., HIBBERT, B. & ROBERTS, J. D. 2016. A prospective randomized evaluation of a pharmacogenomic approach to antiplatelet therapy among patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction: the RAPID STEMI study. *Pharmacogenomics J*, 16, 71-8.
- SORICH, M. J., HOROWITZ, J. D., SORICH, W., WIESE, M. D., PEKARSKY, B. & KARNON, J. D. 2013. Cost-effectiveness of using CYP2C19 genotype to guide selection of clopidogrel or ticagrelor in Australia. *Pharmacogenomics*, 14, 2013-21.
- SOROKIN, A. V., KOTANI, K., ELNABAWI, Y. A., DEY, A. K., SAJJA, A. P., YAMADA, S., UEDA, M., HARRINGTON, C. L., BAUMER, Y., RODANTE, J. A., GELFAND, J. M., CHEN, M. Y., JOSHI, A. A., PLAYFORD, M. P., REMALEY, A. T. & MEHTA, N. N. 2018. Association Between Oxidation-Modified Lipoproteins and Coronary Plaque in Psoriasis. *Circ Res*, 123, 1244-1254.
- SPECTRE, G., MOSSERI, M., ABDELRAHMAN, N. M., BRISKIN, E., BULUT, A., LONCAR, S., VARON, D. & ALCALAI, R. 2011. Clinical and prognostic implications of the initial response to aspirin in patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Am J Cardiol,* 108, 1112-8.
- SPIEWAK, M., MALEK, L. A., KOSTRZEWA, G., KISIEL, B., SERAFIN, A., FILIPIAK, K. J., PLOSKI, R. & OPOLSKI, G. 2009. Influence of C3435T multidrug resistance gene-1 (MDR-1) polymorphism on platelet reactivity and prognosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Kardiol Pol*, 67, 827-34.
- STARITZ, P., KURZ, K., STOLL, M., GIANNITSIS, E., KATUS, H. A. & IVANDIC, B. T. 2009. Platelet reactivity and clopidogrel resistance are associated with the H2 haplotype of the P2Y12-ADP receptor gene. *Int J Cardiol*, 133, 341-5.
- STEINHUBL, S. R., BERGER, P. B., MANN, J. T., 3RD, FRY, E. T., DELAGO, A., WILMER, C., TOPOL, E. J. & OBSERVATION, C. I. C. F. T. R. O. E. D. 2002. Early and sustained dual oral antiplatelet therapy following percutaneous coronary intervention: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA, 288, 2411-20.
- STEINHUBL, S. R., BHATT, D. L., BRENNAN, D. M., MONTALESCOT, G., HANKEY, G. J., EIKELBOOM, J. W., BERGER, P. B., TOPOL, E. J. & INVESTIGATORS, C. 2009. Aspirin to prevent cardiovascular disease: the association of aspirin dose and clopidogrel with thrombosis and bleeding. *Ann Intern Med*, 150, 379-86.
- STERNBERG, Z., CHICHELLI, T., STERNBERG, D., SAWYER, R., CHING, M., JANICKE, D., AMBRUS, J. L., YU, J. & MUNSCHAUER, F. 2016. Relationship between Inflammation and Aspirin and Clopidogrel Antiplatelet Responses in Acute Ischemic Stroke. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis, 25, 327-34.
- STOLAREK, W., KASPRZAK, M., OBONSKA, K., OSTROWSKA, M., WICINSKI, M., KUBICA, A., KUBICA, J. & GRZESK, G. 2015. Acetylsalicylic acid resistance risk factors in patients with myocardial infarction. *Pharmacol Rep*, 67, 952-8.
- STONE, G. W., WITZENBICHLER, B., WEISZ, G., RINALDI, M. J., NEUMANN, F. J., METZGER, D. C., HENRY, T. D., COX, D. A., DUFFY, P. L., MAZZAFERRI, E., GURBEL, P. A., XU, K., PARISE, H., KIRTANE, A. J., BRODIE, B. R., MEHRAN, R., STUCKEY, T. D. & INVESTIGATORS, A.-D. 2013. Platelet reactivity and clinical outcomes after coronary artery implantation of drug-eluting stents (ADAPT-DES): a prospective multicentre registry study. *Lancet*, 382, 614-23.
- SUGIMOTO, M., SHIRAI, N., NISHINO, M., KODAIRA, C., UOTANI, T., SAHARA, S., ICHIKAWA, H., KAGAMI, T., SUGIMOTO, K. & FURUTA, T. 2014. Comparison of acid inhibition with standard dosages of proton pump inhibitors in relation to CYP2C19 genotype in Japanese. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 70, 1073-8.
- SUH, J. W., KOO, B. K., ZHANG, S. Y., PARK, K. W., CHO, J. Y., JANG, I. J., LEE, D. S., SOHN, D. W., LEE, M. M. & KIM, H. S. 2006. Increased risk of atherothrombotic events

associated with cytochrome P450 3A5 polymorphism in patients taking clopidogrel. *CMAJ*, 174, 1715-22.

- SUN, B., LI, J., DONG, M., YANG, L., WU, C., ZHU, L. & CONG, Y. L. 2015a. Diversity of platelet function and genetic polymorphism in clopidogrel-treated Chinese patients. *Genet Mol Res*, 14, 1434-42.
- SUN, W., LI, Y., LI, J., ZHANG, Z., ZHU, W., LIU, W., CAI, Q., WANG, X., CAO, L., BAI, W., FAN, X., MA, M., GUO, R., LIU, X. & XU, G. 2015b. Variant recurrent risk among stroke patients with different CYP2C19 phenotypes and treated with clopidogrel. *Platelets*, 26, 558-62.
- SWEENY, J. M., GOROG, D. A. & FUSTER, V. 2009. Antiplatelet drug 'resistance'. Part 1: mechanisms and clinical measurements. *Nat Rev Cardiol*, 6, 273-82.
- TABATA, N., HOKIMOTO, S., AKASAKA, T., ARIMA, Y., SAKAMOTO, K., YAMAMOTO, E., TSUJITA, K., IZUMIYA, Y., YAMAMURO, M., KOJIMA, S., KAIKITA, K., KUMAGAE, N., MORITA, K., ONIKI, K., NAKAGAWA, K., MATSUI, K. & OGAWA, H. 2016a. Patients with both CYP2C19 loss-of-function allele and peripheral endothelial dysfunction are significantly correlated with adverse cardiovascular events following coronary stent implantation. J Cardiol, 67, 104-9.
- TABATA, N., HOKIMOTO, S., AKASAKA, T., SUETA, D., ARIMA, Y., SAKAMOTO, K., YAMAMOTO, E., IZUMIYA, Y., YAMAMURO, M., TSUJITA, K., KOJIMA, S., KAIKITA, K., MORITA, K., ONIKI, K., SARUWATARI, J., NAKAGAWA, K. & OGAWA, H. 2016b. Helicobacter Pyloriseropositivity along with genetic and environmental factors predicts clinical outcome after acute coronary syndrome. *Int J Cardiol*, 212, 54-6.
- TABATA, N., SUETA, D., AKASAKA, T., ARIMA, Y., SAKAMOTO, K., YAMAMOTO, E., IZUMIYA, Y., YAMAMURO, M., TSUJITA, K., KOJIMA, S., KAIKITA, K., MORITA, K., ONIKI, K., SARUWATARI, J., NAKAGAWA, K. & HOKIMOTO, S. 2016c. Helicobacter pylori Seropositivity in Patients with Interleukin-1 Polymorphisms Is Significantly Associated with ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction. *PLoS One*, 11, e0166240.
- TACCONELLI, S., DOVIZIO, M., DI FRANCESCO, L., MENEGUZZI, A., D'AGOSTINO, I., EVANGELISTA, V., MANARINI, S., CAPONE, M. L., GROSSI, L., PORRECA, E., DI FEBBO, C., BRUNO, A., BALLERINI, P., LEVANTESI, G., FAVA, C., MINUZ, P. & PATRIGNANI, P. 2018. Reduced Variability to Aspirin Antiplatelet Effect by the Coadministration of Statins in High-Risk Patients for Cardiovascular Disease. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 104, 111-119.
- TAKASHIMA, S., USUI, S., KUROKAWA, K., KITANO, T., KATO, T., MURAI, H., FURUSHO, H., ODA, H., MARUYAMA, M., NAGATA, Y., USUDA, K., KUBOTA, K., TAKESHITA, Y., SAKAI, Y., HONDA, M., KANEKO, S. & TAKAMURA, M. 2016. Altered gene expression in T-cell receptor signalling in peripheral blood leucocytes in acute coronary syndrome predicts secondary coronary events. *Open Heart*, 3, e000400.
- TAN, Q., JIANG, X., HUANG, S., ZHANG, T., CHEN, L., XIE, S., MO, E., XU, J. & CAI, S. 2017. The clinical efficacy and safety evaluation of ticagrelor for acute coronary syndrome in general ACS patients and diabetic patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One*, 12, e0177872.
- TANG, N. & YIN, S. Y. 2016. Advanced age and high-residual platelet reactivity in patients receiving dual antiplatelet therapy with clopidogrel or ticagrelor: comment. J Thromb Haemost, 14, 1484-5.
- TANG, N., YIN, S. Y., SUN, Z. Y., XU, X. D. & QIN, J. 2015. The relationship between onclopidogrel platelet reactivity, genotype, and post-percutaneous coronary intervention outcomes in Chinese patients. *Scandinavian Journal of Clinical & Laboratory Investigation*, 75, 223-229.

- TANG, X. F., WANG, J., ZHANG, J. H., MENG, X. M., XU, B., QIAO, S. B., WU, Y. J., CHEN, J., WU,
 Y., CHEN, J. L., GAO, R. L., YUAN, J. Q. & YANG, Y. J. 2013a. Effect of the CYP2C19 2 and 3 genotypes, ABCB1 C3435T and PON1 Q192R alleles on the pharmacodynamics and adverse clinical events of clopidogrel in Chinese people after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 69, 1103-12.
- TANG, X. F., ZHANG, J. H., WANG, J., HAN, Y. L., XU, B., QIAO, S. B., WU, Y. J., CHEN, J., WU, Y., CHEN, J. L., GAO, R. L., YANG, Y. J. & YUAN, J. Q. 2013b. Effects of coexisting polymorphisms of CYP2C19 and P2Y12 on clopidogrel responsiveness and clinical outcome in patients with acute coronary syndromes undergoing stent-based coronary intervention. *Chin Med J (Engl)*, 126, 1069-75.
- TAUBERT, D., VON BECKERATH, N., GRIMBERG, G., LAZAR, A., JUNG, N., GOESER, T., KASTRATI, A., SCHOMIG, A. & SCHOMIG, E. 2006. Impact of P-glycoprotein on clopidogrel absorption. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*, 80, 486-501.
- TEIXEIRA, R., MONTEIRO, P., MARQUES, G., PEGO, J., LOURENCO, M., TAVARES, C., REBOREDO, A., MONTEIRO, S., GONCALVES, F., FERREIRA, M. J., FREITAS, M., RIBEIRO, G. & PROVIDENCIA, L. A. 2012. CYP2C19*2 and prognosis after an acute coronary syndrome: Insights from a Portuguese center. *Rev Port Cardiol*, 31, 265-73.
- TEMPERILLI, F., RINA, A., MASSIMI, I., MONTEMARI, A. L., GUARINO, M. L., ZICARI, A. & PULCINELLI, F. M. 2015. Arachidonic acid-stimulated platelet tests: Identification of patients less sensitive to aspirin treatment. *Platelets*, 26, 783-7.
- THOMAS, A., RAHMANIAN, S., BORDBAR, A., PALSSON, B. O. & JAMSHIDI, N. 2014. Network reconstruction of platelet metabolism identifies metabolic signature for aspirin resistance. *Sci Rep*, *4*, 3925.
- THOMAS, M. R., OUTTERIDGE, S. N., AJJAN, R. A., PHOENIX, F., SANGHA, G. K., FAULKNER, R.
 E., ECOB, R., JUDGE, H. M., KHAN, H., WEST, L. E., DOCKRELL, D. H., SABROE, I. & STOREY, R. F. 2015. Platelet P2Y12 Inhibitors Reduce Systemic Inflammation and Its Prothrombotic Effects in an Experimental Human Model. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 35, 2562-70.
- TIERNEY, J. F., STEWART, L. A., GHERSI, D., BURDETT, S. & SYDES, M. R. 2007. Practical methods for incorporating summary time-to-event data into meta-analysis. *Trials*, 8, 16.
- TIMUR, A. A., MURUGESAN, G., ZHANG, L., AUNG, P. P., BARNARD, J., WANG, Q. K., GAUSSEM, P., SILVERSTEIN, R. L., BHATT, D. L. & KOTTKE-MARCHANT, K. 2012. P2RY1 and P2RY12 polymorphisms and on-aspirin platelet reactivity in patients with coronary artery disease. *Int J Lab Hematol*, 34, 473-83.
- TIROCH, K. A., SIBBING, D., KOCH, W., ROOSEN-RUNGE, T., MEHILLI, J., SCHOMIG, A. & KASTRATI, A. 2010. Protective effect of the CYP2C19 *17 polymorphism with increased activation of clopidogrel on cardiovascular events. *Am Heart J*, 160, 506-12.
- TONKIN, A. M., BLANKENBERG, S., KIRBY, A., ZELLER, T., COLQUHOUN, D. M., FUNKE-KAISER,
 A., HAGUE, W., HUNT, D., KEECH, A. C., NESTEL, P., STEWART, R., SULLIVAN, D. R.,
 THOMPSON, P. L., WEST, M., WHITE, H. D., SIMES, J. & INVESTIGATORS, L. S. 2015.
 Biomarkers in stable coronary heart disease, their modulation and cardiovascular
 risk: The LIPID biomarker study. *Int J Cardiol*, 201, 499-507.
- TOUSOULIS, D., SIASOS, G., ZAROMITIDOU, M., OIKONOMOU, E., MANIATIS, K., KIOUFIS, S., KOKKOU, E., PAPAVASSILIOU, A. G. & STEFANADIS, C. 2013. The impact of CYP2C19 genotype on cardiovascular events and platelet reactivity in patients with coronary artery disease receiving clopidogrel. *Int J Cardiol*, 168, 1594-6.
- TRENK, D., HOCHHOLZER, W., FROMM, M. F., CHIALDA, L. E., PAHL, A., VALINA, C. M., STRATZ, C., SCHMIEBUSCH, P., BESTEHORN, H. P., BUTTNER, H. J. & NEUMANN, F. J. 2008. Cytochrome P450 2C19 681G>A polymorphism and high on-clopidogrel

platelet reactivity associated with adverse 1-year clinical outcome of elective percutaneous coronary intervention with drug-eluting or bare-metal stents. *J Am Coll Cardiol*, 51, 1925-34.

- TRENK, D., HOCHHOLZER, W., FROMM, M. F., ZOLK, O., VALINA, C. M., STRATZ, C. & NEUMANN, F. J. 2011. Paraoxonase-1 Q192R polymorphism and antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel in patients undergoing elective coronary stent placement. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet*, *4*, 429-36.
- TRENK, D., STONE, G. W., GAWAZ, M., KASTRATI, A., ANGIOLILLO, D. J., MULLER, U., RICHARDT, G., JAKUBOWSKI, J. A. & NEUMANN, F. J. 2012. A randomized trial of prasugrel versus clopidogrel in patients with high platelet reactivity on clopidogrel after elective percutaneous coronary intervention with implantation of drug-eluting stents: results of the TRIGGER-PCI (Testing Platelet Reactivity In Patients Undergoing Elective Stent Placement on Clopidogrel to Guide Alternative Therapy With Prasugrel) study. J Am Coll Cardiol, 59, 2159-64.
- TSANTES, A. E., IKONOMIDIS, I., PAPADAKIS, I., BONOVAS, S., GIALERAKI, A., KOTTARIDI, C., KYRIAKOU, E., KOKORI, S., DOURAMANI, P., KOPTERIDES, P., KARAKITSOS, P., LEKAKIS, J. & KAPSIMALI, V. 2013. Impact of the proton pump inhibitors and CYP2C19*2 polymorphism on platelet response to clopidogrel as assessed by four platelet function assays. *Thromb Res*, 132, e105-11.
- ULEHLOVA, J., SLAVIK, L., KUCEROVA, J., KRCOVA, V., VACLAVIK, J. & INDRAK, K. 2014. Genetic polymorphisms of platelet receptors in patients with acute myocardial infarction and resistance to antiplatelet therapy. *Genet Test Mol Biomarkers*, 18, 599-604.
- UMEMURA, K., FURUTA, T. & KONDO, K. 2008. The common gene variants of CYP2C19 affect pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in an active metabolite of clopidogrel in healthy subjects. *J Thromb Haemost*, 6, 1439-41.
- UNVERDORBEN, M., PARODI, G., PISTOLESI, M. & STOREY, R. F. 2016. Dyspnea related to reversibly-binding P2Y12 inhibitors: A review of the pathophysiology, clinical presentation and diagnostics. *Int J Cardiol*, 202, 167-73.
- VALENTI, R., MARCUCCI, R., COMITO, V., MARRANI, M., CANTINI, G., MIGLIORINI, A., PARODI, G., GENSINI, G. F., ABBATE, R. & ANTONIUCCI, D. 2015. Prasugrel in Clopidogrel Nonresponders Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention: The RECLOSE-3 Study (REsponsiveness to CLOpidogrel and StEnt Thrombosis). JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 8, 1563-70.
- VALLES, J., SANTOS, M. T., FUSET, M. P., MOSCARDO, A., RUANO, M., PEREZ, F., PINON, M., BRENA, S. & AZNAR, J. 2007. Partial inhibition of platelet thromboxane A2 synthesis by aspirin is associated with myonecrosis in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol, 99, 19-25.
- VAN OIJEN, M. G., BARTHELEMY, C., JANSSEN, M. J., JOIRIS, E., PETERS, W. H., LAHEIJ, R. J., SMITS, P., ODOU, P. & JANSEN, J. B. 2009. Effect of genetic polymorphisms in UDPglucuronosyltransferase 1A6 (UGT1A6) on acetylsalicylic acid metabolism in healthy female volunteers. *Pharmacology*, 83, 237-42.
- VARENHORST, C., ERIKSSON, N., JOHANSSON, A., BARRATT, B. J., HAGSTROM, E., AKERBLOM, A., SYVANEN, A. C., BECKER, R. C., JAMES, S. K., KATUS, H. A., HUSTED, S., STEG, P. G., SIEGBAHN, A., VOORA, D., TENG, R., STOREY, R. F., WALLENTIN, L. & INVESTIGATORS, P. 2015. Effect of genetic variations on ticagrelor plasma levels and clinical outcomes. *Eur Heart J*, 36, 1901-12.
- VENETSANOS, D., SEDERHOLM LAWESSON, S., ALFREDSSON, J., JANZON, M., CEQUIER, A., CHETTIBI, M., GOODMAN, S. G., VAN'T HOF, A. W., MONTALESCOT, G. & SWAHN, E. 2017. Association between gender and short-term outcome in patients with ST elevation myocardial infraction participating in the international, prospective, randomised Administration of Ticagrelor in the catheterisation Laboratory or in the

Ambulance for New ST elevation myocardial Infarction to open the Coronary artery (ATLANTIC) trial: a prespecified analysis. *BMJ Open*, 7, e015241.

- VERDOIA, M., NARDIN, M., SARTORI, C., PERGOLINI, P., ROLLA, R., BARBIERI, L., MARINO, P., BELLOMO, G., SURYAPRANATA, H., DE LUCA, G. & NOVARA ATHEROSCLEROSIS STUDY, G. 2015. Impact of atorvastatin or rosuvastatin co-administration on platelet reactivity in patients treated with dual antiplatelet therapy. *Atherosclerosis*, 243, 389-94.
- VERNSTROM, L., FUNCK, K. L., GROVE, E. L., LAUGESEN, E., BAIER, J. M., HVAS, A. M. & POULSEN, P. L. 2018. Antiplatelet effect of aspirin during 24h in patients with type 2 diabetes without cardiovascular disease. *Thromb Res*, 161, 1-6.
- VERSCHUREN, J. J., BODEN, H., WESSELS, J. A., VAN DER HOEVEN, B. L., TROMPET, S., HEIJMANS, B. T., PUTTER, H., GUCHELAAR, H. J., SCHALIJ, M. J. & JUKEMA, J. W. 2013. Value of platelet pharmacogenetics in common clinical practice of patients with STsegment elevation myocardial infarction. *Int J Cardiol*, 167, 2882-8.
- VIVIANI ANSELMI, C., BRIGUORI, C., RONCARATI, R., PAPA, L., VISCONTI, G., FOCACCIO, A., DE MICCO, F., LATRONICO, M. V., PAGNOTTA, P. & CONDORELLI, G. 2013. Routine assessment of on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity and gene polymorphisms in predicting clinical outcome following drug-eluting stent implantation in patients with stable coronary artery disease. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 6, 1166-75.
- VON BECKERATH, N., KASTRATI, A., WIECZOREK, A., POGATSA-MURRAY, G., SIBBING, D., GRAF, I. & SCHOMIG, A. 2007. A double-blind, randomized study on platelet aggregation in patients treated with a daily dose of 150 or 75 mg of clopidogrel for 30 days. *Eur Heart J*, 28, 1814-9.
- VRIJENS, B., CLAEYS, M. J., LEGRAND, V., VANDENDRIESSCHE, E. & VAN DE WERF, F. 2014. Projected inhibition of platelet aggregation with ticagrelor twice daily vs. clopidogrel once daily based on patient adherence data (the TWICE project). *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 77, 746-55.
- WALLENTIN, L., BECKER, R. C., BUDAJ, A., CANNON, C. P., EMANUELSSON, H., HELD, C., HORROW, J., HUSTED, S., JAMES, S., KATUS, H., MAHAFFEY, K. W., SCIRICA, B. M., SKENE, A., STEG, P. G., STOREY, R. F., HARRINGTON, R. A., INVESTIGATORS, P., FREIJ, A. & THORSEN, M. 2009. Ticagrelor versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med, 361, 1045-57.
- WALLENTIN, L., JAMES, S., STOREY, R. F., ARMSTRONG, M., BARRATT, B. J., HORROW, J., HUSTED, S., KATUS, H., STEG, P. G., SHAH, S. H., BECKER, R. C. & INVESTIGATORS, P. 2010. Effect of CYP2C19 and ABCB1 single nucleotide polymorphisms on outcomes of treatment with ticagrelor versus clopidogrel for acute coronary syndromes: a genetic substudy of the PLATO trial. *Lancet*, 376, 1320-8.
- WAN, Z., HU, L., HU, M., LEI, X., HUANG, Y. & LV, Y. 2018. Helicobacter pylori infection and prevalence of high blood pressure among Chinese adults. *J Hum Hypertens*, 32, 158-164.
- WANG, A., LI, S., ZHANG, N., DAI, L., ZUO, Y., WANG, Y., MENG, X. & WANG, Y. 2018a. Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein to High-Density Lipoprotein Ratio Predicts Recurrent Stroke in Minor Stroke or Transient Ischemic Attack. *Stroke*, 49, 2637-2642.
- WANG, A., XU, J., CHEN, G., WANG, D., JOHNSTON, S. C., MENG, X., LIN, J., LI, H., CAO, Y., ZHANG, N., MA, C., DAI, L., ZHAO, X., LIU, L., WANG, Y. & WANG, Y. 2018b. Oxidized low-density lipoprotein predicts recurrent stroke in patients with minor stroke or TIA. *Neurology*, 91, e947-e955.
- WANG, B. Y. & TAN, S. J. 2014. Platelet glycoprotein IIIa gene polymorphism (Leu33Pro) and aspirin resistance in a very elderly Chinese population. *Genet Test Mol Biomarkers*, 18, 389-93.

- WANG, J., FENG, M. J., ZHANG, R., YU, D. M., ZHOU, S. J., CHEN, R. & YU, P. 2016. Creactive protein/oxidized low density lipoprotein/beta2glycoprotein i complexes induce lipid accumulation and inflammatory reaction in macrophages via p38/mitogenactivated protein kinase and nuclear factorkappaB signaling pathways. *Mol Med Rep*, 14, 3490-8.
- WANG, S., XIE, X., LEI, T., ZHANG, K., LAI, B., ZHANG, Z., GUAN, Y., MAO, G., XIAO, L. & WANG, N. 2017. Statins Attenuate Activation of the NLRP3 Inflammasome by Oxidized LDL or TNFalpha in Vascular Endothelial Cells through a PXR-Dependent Mechanism. *Mol Pharmacol*, 92, 256-264.
- WANG, T., OUYANG, H., ZHOU, H., XIA, L., WANG, X. & WANG, T. 2018c. Proatherogenic activation of A7r5 cells induced by the oxLDL/beta2GPI/antibeta2GPI complex. *Int J Mol Med*, 42, 1955-1966.
- WANG, T. Y., HENRY, T. D., MCCOY, L. A., BERGER, P. B., COHEN, D. J., EFFRON, M. B., ZETTLER, M., BAKER, B. A., MESSENGER, J. C. & PETERSON, E. D. 2015. Contemporary use of platelet function and pharmacogenomic testing among patients with acute myocardial infarction undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention in the United States. Am Heart J, 170, 706-14.
- WANG, X., FU, Y. F., LIU, X., FENG, G., XIONG, D., MU, G. F. & CHEN, F. P. 2018d. ROS Promote Ox-LDL-Induced Platelet Activation by Up-Regulating Autophagy Through the Inhibition of the PI3K/AKT/mTOR Pathway. *Cell Physiol Biochem*, 50, 1779-1793.
- WANG, Y., YAN, B. P., LIEW, D. & LEE, V. W. Y. 2018e. Cost-effectiveness of cytochrome P450 2C19 *2 genotype-guided selection of clopidogrel or ticagrelor in Chinese patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Pharmacogenomics J*, 18, 113-120.
- WANG, Z., GAO, F., MEN, J., YANG, J., MODI, P. & WEI, M. 2013. Polymorphisms and high onaspirin platelet reactivity after off-pump coronary artery bypass grafting. *Scand Cardiovasc J*, 47, 194-9.
- WASSERMANN, G. E., OLIVERA-SEVERO, D., UBERTI, A. F. & CARLINI, C. R. 2010. Helicobacter pylori urease activates blood platelets through a lipoxygenase-mediated pathway. *J Cell Mol Med*, 14, 2025-34.
- WATANABE, H., DOMEI, T., MORIMOTO, T., NATSUAKI, M., SHIOMI, H., TOYOTA, T., OHYA, M., SUWA, S., TAKAGI, K., NANASATO, M., HATA, Y., YAGI, M., SUEMATSU, N., YOKOMATSU, T., TAKAMISAWA, I., DOI, M., NODA, T., OKAYAMA, H., SEINO, Y., TADA, T., SAKAMOTO, H., HIBI, K., ABE, M., KAWAI, K., NAKAO, K., ANDO, K., TANABE, K., IKARI, Y., HANAOKA, K. I., MORINO, Y., KOZUMA, K., KADOTA, K., FURUKAWA, Y., NAKAGAWA, Y., KIMURA, T. & INVESTIGATORS, S.-. 2019. Effect of 1-Month Dual Antiplatelet Therapy Followed by Clopidogrel vs 12-Month Dual Antiplatelet Therapy on Cardiovascular and Bleeding Events in Patients Receiving PCI: The STOPDAPT-2 Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA, 321, 2414-2427.
- WATT, J., KENNEDY, S., AHMED, N., HAYHURST, J., MCCLURE, J. D., BERRY, C., WADSWORTH, R. M. & OLDROYD, K. G. 2016. The relationship between oxidised LDL, endothelial progenitor cells and coronary endothelial function in patients with CHD. *Open Heart*, 3, e000342.
- WEI, J., MEHTA, P. K., GREY, E., GARBERICH, R. F., HAUSER, R., BAIREY MERZ, C. N. & HENRY, T. D. 2017a. Sex-based differences in quality of care and outcomes in a health system using a standardized STEMI protocol. *Am Heart J*, 191, 30-36.
- WEI, P., HAN, B., ZHANG, W. J., BAI, J., JIANG, C. Y., QIU, C. R., ZHANG, Q., FU, Q. & YANG, X.
 J. 2017b. Effect of ticagrelor on the serum level of hs-CRP, ESM-1 and short-term prognosis of patients with acute STEMI. *Exp Ther Med*, 13, 604-608.
- WEI, Y. Q., WANG, D. G., YANG, H. & CAO, H. 2015. Cytochrome P450 CYP 2C19*2 Associated with Adverse 1-Year Cardiovascular Events in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome. *PLoS One*, 10, e0132561.

- WENG, Z., LI, X., LI, Y., LIN, J., PENG, F. & NIU, W. 2013. The association of four common polymorphisms from four candidate genes (COX-1, COX-2, ITGA2B, ITGA2) with aspirin insensitivity: a meta-analysis. *PLoS One*, 8, e78093.
- WESTMAN, P. C., LIPINSKI, M. J., TORGUSON, R. & WAKSMAN, R. 2017. A comparison of cangrelor, prasugrel, ticagrelor, and clopidogrel in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: A network meta-analysis. *Cardiovasc Revasc Med*, 18, 79-85.
- WEYRICH, A. S., SCHWERTZ, H., KRAISS, L. W. & ZIMMERMAN, G. A. 2009. Protein synthesis by platelets: historical and new perspectives. *J Thromb Haemost*, **7**, 241-6.
- WISMAN, P. P., ROEST, M., ASSELBERGS, F. W., DE GROOT, P. G., MOLL, F. L., VAN DER GRAAF,
 Y. & DE BORST, G. J. 2014. Platelet-reactivity tests identify patients at risk of secondary cardiovascular events: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Thromb Haemost, 12, 736-47.
- WITTFELDT, A., EMANUELSSON, H., BRANDRUP-WOGNSEN, G., VAN GIEZEN, J. J., JONASSON, J., NYLANDER, S. & GAN, L. M. 2013. Ticagrelor enhances adenosine-induced coronary vasodilatory responses in humans. J Am Coll Cardiol, 61, 723-7.
- WIVIOTT, S. D., BRAUNWALD, E., MCCABE, C. H., MONTALESCOT, G., RUZYLLO, W., GOTTLIEB, S., NEUMANN, F. J., ARDISSINO, D., DE SERVI, S., MURPHY, S. A., RIESMEYER, J., WEERAKKODY, G., GIBSON, C. M., ANTMAN, E. M. & INVESTIGATORS, T.-T. 2007. Prasugrel versus clopidogrel in patients with acute coronary syndromes. N Engl J Med, 357, 2001-15.
- WU, H., QIAN, J., SUN, A., WANG, Q. & GE, J. 2012. Association of CYP2C19 genotype with periprocedural myocardial infarction after uneventful stent implantation in Chinese patients receiving clopidogrel pretreatment. *Circ J*, 76, 2773-8.
- XANTHOPOULOU, I., DAVLOUROS, P., DEFTEREOS, S., HAMILOS, M., SITAFIDIS, G., KANAKAKIS, I., VAVOURANAKIS, M., GOUDEVENOS, J., LEKAKIS, J. & ALEXOPOULOS, D. 2017. Gender-related differences in antiplatelet treatment patterns and outcome: Insights from the GReekAntiPlatElet Registry. *Cardiovasc Ther*, 35.
- XIAN, Y., WANG, T. Y., MCCOY, L. A., EFFRON, M. B., HENRY, T. D., BACH, R. G., ZETTLER, M. E., BAKER, B. A., FONAROW, G. C. & PETERSON, E. D. 2015. Association of Discharge Aspirin Dose With Outcomes After Acute Myocardial Infarction: Insights From the Treatment with ADP Receptor Inhibitors: Longitudinal Assessment of Treatment Patterns and Events after Acute Coronary Syndrome (TRANSLATE-ACS) Study. *Circulation*, 132, 174-81.
- XIANG, Q., CUI, Y., ZHAO, X. & ZHAO, N. 2013. Identification of PEAR1 SNPs and their influences on the variation in prasugrel pharmacodynamics. *Pharmacogenomics*, 14, 1179-89.
- XIE, C., DING, X., GAO, J., WANG, H., HANG, Y., ZHANG, H., ZHANG, J., JIANG, B. & MIAO, L. 2014. The effects of CES1A2 A(-816)C and CYP2C19 loss-of-function polymorphisms on clopidogrel response variability among Chinese patients with coronary heart disease. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*, 24, 204-10.
- XIE, X., MA, Y. T., YANG, Y. N., LI, X. M., MA, X., FU, Z. Y., ZHENG, Y. Y., CHEN, B. D. & LIU, F. 2013. CYP2C19 phenotype, stent thrombosis, myocardial infarction, and mortality in patients with coronary stent placement in a Chinese population. *PLoS One*, 8, e59344.
- XIONG, R., LIU, W., CHEN, L., KANG, T., NING, S. & LI, J. 2015. A randomized controlled trial to assess the efficacy and safety of doubling dose clopidogrel versus ticagrelor for the treatment of acute coronary syndrome in patients with CYP2C19*2 homozygotes. *Int J Clin Exp Med*, 8, 13310-6.
- XU, Y., KONG, X., ZHOU, H., ZHANG, X., LIU, J., YAN, J., XIE, H. & XIE, Y. 2014. oxLDL/beta2GPI/anti-beta2GPI complex induced macrophage differentiation to

foam cell involving TLR4/NF-kappa B signal transduction pathway. *Thromb Res,* 134, 384-92.

- YAMADA, K., HIRAYAMA, T. & HASEGAWA, Y. 2007. Antiplatelet effect of losartan and telmisartan in patients with ischemic stroke. *J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis*, 16, 225-31.
- YANG, J., CHEN, X., ZHOU, J., HU, S. & TANG, Y. 2018a. Associations of candidate gene polymorphisms with poor responsiveness to aspirin: a meta-analysis. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*.
- YANG, J., SONG, H., CAO, K., SONG, J. & ZHOU, J. 2018b. Comprehensive analysis of Helicobacter pylori infection-associated diseases based on miRNA-mRNA interaction network. *Brief Bioinform*.
- YAO, Y., TANG, X. F., HE, C., SONG, Y., XU, J. J., MENG, X. M., XU, B., GAO, R. L. & YUAN, J. Q. 2018. Effect of PEAR1 Genetic Variants on 1-Year Outcomes in Chinese Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction After Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. J Atheroscler Thromb, 25, 454-459.
- YAO, Y., ZHANG, J. H., TANG, X. F., HE, C., MA, Y. L., XU, J. J., SONG, Y., LIU, R., MENG, X. M., SONG, L., WANG, M., GAO, R. L. & YUAN, J. Q. 2016. Head to Head Comparison of Two Point-of-care Platelet Function Tests Used for Assessment of On-clopidogrel Platelet Reactivity in Chinese Acute Myocardial Infarction Patients Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. *Chin Med J (Engl)*, 129, 2269-74.
- YASMINA, A., DE BOER, A., DENEER, V. H., SOUVEREIN, P. C. & KLUNGEL, O. H. 2017. Patterns of antiplatelet drug use after a first myocardial infarction during a 10-year period. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*, 83, 632-641.
- YASSINE, H. N., DAVIS-GORMAN, G., STUMP, C. S., THOMSON, S. S., PETERSON, J. & MCDONAGH, P. F. 2010. Effect of glucose or fat challenge on aspirin resistance in diabetes. *Int J Endocrinol*, 2010, 820876.
- YI, X., LIN, J., LUO, H., WANG, C. & LIU, Y. 2017a. Genetic variants of PTGS2, TXA2R and TXAS1 are associated with carotid plaque vulnerability, platelet activation and TXA2 levels in ischemic stroke patients. *PLoS One*, **12**, e0180704.
- YI, X., WANG, C., ZHOU, Q. & LIN, J. 2017b. Interaction among COX-2, P2Y1 and GPIIIa gene variants is associated with aspirin resistance and early neurological deterioration in Chinese stroke patients. *BMC Neurol*, 17, 4.
- YI, X., ZHOU, Q., LIN, J., CHI, L. & HAN, Z. 2013. Platelet response to aspirin in Chinese stroke patients is independent of genetic polymorphisms of COX-1 C50T and COX-2 G765C. *J Atheroscler Thromb*, 20, 65-72.
- YIN, S. H., XU, P., WANG, B., LU, Y., WU, Q. Y., ZHOU, M. L., WU, J. R., CAI, J. J., SUN, X. & YUAN, H. 2019. Duration of dual antiplatelet therapy after percutaneous coronary intervention with drug-eluting stent: systematic review and network meta-analysis. *BMJ*, 365, 12222.
- YU, J., BABER, U., MASTORIS, I., DANGAS, G., SARTORI, S., STEG, P. G., COHEN, D. J., GIUSTINO, G., CHANDRASEKHAR, J., ARITI, C., WITZENBICHLER, B., HENRY, T. D., KINI, A. S., KRUCOFF, M. W., GIBSON, C. M., CHIEFFO, A., MOLITERNO, D. J., COLOMBO, A., POCOCK, S. & MEHRAN, R. 2016. Sex-Based Differences in Cessation of Dual-Antiplatelet Therapy Following Percutaneous Coronary Intervention With Stents. JACC Cardiovasc Interv, 9, 1461-9.
- YU, M., ZHANG, Y., YANG, Z., DING, J., XIE, C. & LU, N. 2014. Association between Helicobacter pylori infection and stroke: a meta-analysis of prospective observational studies. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis, 23, 2233-9.
- YU, R., YUAN, Y., NIU, D., SONG, J., LIU, T., WU, J. & WANG, J. 2015. Elevated beta2glycoprotein I-low-density lipoprotein levels are associated with the presence of diabetic microvascular complications. *J Diabetes Complications*, 29, 59-63.

- YU, X. H., FU, Y. C., ZHANG, D. W., YIN, K. & TANG, C. K. 2013. Foam cells in atherosclerosis. *Clin Chim Acta*, 424, 245-52.
- YUSUF, S., ZHAO, F., MEHTA, S. R., CHROLAVICIUS, S., TOGNONI, G., FOX, K. K. & CLOPIDOGREL IN UNSTABLE ANGINA TO PREVENT RECURRENT EVENTS TRIAL, I. 2001. Effects of clopidogrel in addition to aspirin in patients with acute coronary syndromes without ST-segment elevation. N Engl J Med, 345, 494-502.
- ZHANG, H. Z., KIM, M. H., HAN, J. Y. & JEONG, Y. H. 2014a. Defining predictive values using three different platelet function tests for CYP2C19 phenotype status on maintenance dual antiplatelet therapy after PCI. *Platelets*, 25, 285-91.
- ZHANG, J. H., TANG, X. F., ZHANG, Y., WANG, J., YAO, Y., MA, Y. L., XU, B., GAO, R. L., GAO, Z., CHEN, J., SONG, L., WU, Y., MENG, X. M. & YUAN, J. Q. 2014b. Relationship between ABCB1 polymorphisms, thromboelastography and risk of bleeding events in clopidogrel-treated patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. *Thromb Res*, 134, 970-5.
- ZHANG, J. R., WANG, D. Q., DU, J., QU, G. S., DU, J. L., DENG, S. B., LIU, Y. J., CAI, J. X. & SHE, Q. 2015. Efficacy of Clopidogrel and Clinical Outcome When Clopidogrel Is Coadministered With Atorvastatin and Lansoprazole: A Prospective, Randomized, Controlled Trial. *Medicine (Baltimore)*, 94, e2262.
- ZHANG, L., CHEN, Y., JIN, Y., QU, F., LI, J., MA, C., YANG, J., XU, B., WANG, H., LI, X., LI, Y., ZHANG, Y., LU, C. & YIN, T. 2013. Genetic determinants of high on-treatment platelet reactivity in clopidogrel treated Chinese patients. *Thromb Res*, 132, 81-7.
- ZHANG, L., WU, Y., QIU, L., LIU, Y. & LI, Q. 2018. Elevated Levels of Serum beta2-Glycoprotein I/Oxidized Low-Density Lipoprotein Complexes Are Associated with Cerebral Infarction in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. *Med Sci Monit*, 24, 1232-1240.
- ZHANG, S. J., LAI, X. Q., LI, W. X., JING, Z., XIONG, Z. L., XU, A. D., RUAN, Y. W. & HUANG, L. 2014c. VASP phosphorylation and genetic polymorphism for clopidogrel resistance in Chinese patients with non-cardioembolic ischemic stroke. *Thrombosis Research*, 134, 1272-1277.
- ZHANG, X., XIE, Y., ZHOU, H., XU, Y., LIU, J., XIE, H. & YAN, J. 2014d. Involvement of TLR4 in oxidized LDL/beta2GPI/anti-beta2GPI-induced transformation of macrophages to foam cells. *J Atheroscler Thromb*, 21, 1140-51.
- ZHAO, J., QI, R., LI, R., WU, W., GAO, X., BAO, L. & LU, S. 2008. Protective effects of aspirin against oxidized LDL-induced inflammatory protein expression in human endothelial cells. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 51, 32-7.
- ZHAO, J., ZHENG, L., FEI, Q., FU, Y., WENG, Y., WU, H., LI, H., JUN, Q., SHAO, J. & XU, Y. 2013. Association of thromboxane A2 receptor gene polymorphisms with cerebral infarction in a Chinese population. *Neurol Sci*, 34, 1791-6.
- ZHAO, Z. G., CHEN, M., PENG, Y., CHAI, H., LIU, W., LI, Q., REN, X., WANG, X. Q., LUO, X. L., ZHANG, C. & HUANG, D. J. 2014. The impact of smoking on clinical efficacy and pharmacodynamic effects of clopidogrel: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Heart*, 100, 192-9.
- ZIDAR, D. A., MUDD, J. C., JUCHNOWSKI, S., LOPES, J. P., SPARKS, S., PARK, S. S., ISHIKAWA, M., OSBORNE, R., WASHAM, J. B., CHAN, C., FUNDERBURG, N. T., OWOYELE, A., ALAITI, M. A., MAYUGA, M., ORRINGER, C., COSTA, M. A., SIMON, D. I., TATSUOKA, C., CALIFF, R. M., NEWBY, L. K., LEDERMAN, M. M. & WEINHOLD, K. J. 2016. Altered Maturation Status and Possible Immune Exhaustion of CD8 T Lymphocytes in the Peripheral Blood of Patients Presenting With Acute Coronary Syndromes. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*, 36, 389-97.
- ZIEGLER, S., SCHILLINGER, M., FUNK, M., FELBER, K., EXNER, M., MLEKUSCH, W., SABETI, S., AMIGHI, J., MINAR, E., BRUNNER, M., MULLER, M. & MANNHALTER, C. 2005. Association of a functional polymorphism in the clopidogrel target receptor gene,

P2Y12, and the risk for ischemic cerebrovascular events in patients with peripheral artery disease. *Stroke*, 36, 1394-9.

- ZOU, J. J., XIE, H. G., CHEN, S. L., TAN, J., LIN, L., ZHAO, Y. Y., XU, H. M., LIN, S., ZHANG, J. & WANG, G. J. 2013. Influence of CYP2C19 loss-of-function variants on the antiplatelet effects and cardiovascular events in clopidogrel-treated Chinese patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*, 69, 771-7.
- ZULIANI, G., MORIERI, M. L., VOLPATO, S., VIGNA, G. B., BOSI, C., MAGGIO, M., CHERUBINI, A., BANDINELLI, S., GURALNIK, J. M. & FERRUCCI, L. 2013. Determinants and clinical significance of plasma oxidized LDLs in older individuals. A 9 years follow-up study. *Atherosclerosis*, 226, 201-7.

Appendix 1 – Reference List for Tables in Chapter 2

S1. Frelinger AL, 3rd, Bhatt DL, Lee RD, Mulford DJ, Wu J, Nudurupati S, et al. Clopidogrel pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics vary widely despite exclusion or control of polymorphisms (CYP2C19, ABCB1, PON1), noncompliance, diet, smoking, co-medications (including proton pump inhibitors), and pre-existent variability in platelet function. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2013;61:872-9.

S2. Park KW, Park JJ, Jeon KH, Kang SH, Oh IY, Yang HM, et al. Enhanced clopidogrel responsiveness in smokers: smokers' paradox is dependent on cytochrome P450 CYP1A2 status. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31:665-71.

S3. Campo G, Parrinello G, Ferraresi P, Lunghi B, Tebaldi M, Miccoli M, et al. Prospective evaluation of on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity over time in patients treated with percutaneous coronary intervention relationship with gene polymorphisms and clinical outcome. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2011;57:2474-83.

S4. Kim IS, Jeong YH, Park Y, Yoon SE, Kwon TJ, Park JR, et al. Interaction analysis between genetic polymorphisms and pharmacodynamic effect in patients treated with adjunctive cilostazol to dual antiplatelet therapy: results of the ACCEL-TRIPLE (Accelerated Platelet Inhibition by Triple Antiplatelet Therapy According to Gene Polymorphism) study. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2012;73:629-40.

S5. Miura G, Ariyoshi N, Sato Y, Yamaguchi H, Iwata Y, Fujimoto Y, et al. Genetic and non-genetic factors responsible for antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel in Japanese patients undergoing coronary stent implantation: An algorithm to predict on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity. *Thromb Res.* 2014;134:877-883.

S6. Harmsze A, van Werkum JW, Bouman HJ, Ruven HJ, Breet NJ, Ten Berg JM, et al. Besides CYP2C19*2, the variant allele CYP2C9*3 is associated with higher on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity in patients on dual antiplatelet therapy undergoing elective coronary stent implantation. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2010;20:18-25.

S7. Kassimis G, Davlouros P, Xanthopoulou I, Stavrou EF, Athanassiadou A and Alexopoulos D. CYP2C19*2 and other genetic variants affecting platelet response to clopidogrel in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Thromb Res.* 2012;129:441-6.

S8. Gremmel T, Kopp CW, Seidinger D, Koppensteiner R, Panzer S, Sunder-Plassmann R, et al. Differential impact of cytochrome 2C9 allelic variants on clopidogrel-mediated platelet inhibition determined by five different platelet function tests. *Int J Cardiol*. 2013;166:126-31.

S9. Rideg O, Komocsi A, Magyarlaki T, Tokes-Fuzesi M, Miseta A, Kovacs GL, et al. Impact of genetic variants on post-clopidogrel platelet reactivity in patients after elective percutaneous coronary intervention. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2011;12:1269-80.

S10. Jeong YH, Tantry US, Kim IS, Koh JS, Kwon TJ, Park Y, et al. Effect of CYP2C19*2 and *3 lossof-function alleles on platelet reactivity and adverse clinical events in East Asian acute myocardial infarction survivors treated with clopidogrel and aspirin. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*. 2011;4:585-94.

S11. Liang ZY, Han YL, Zhang XL, Li Y, Yan CH and Kang J. The impact of gene polymorphism and high on-treatment platelet reactivity on clinical follow-up: outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndrome after drug-eluting stent implantation. *EuroIntervention*. 2013;9:316-27.

S12. Park Y, Jung JM, Tantry US, Kim K, Koh JS, Park JR, et al. Pharmacodynamic Effects of Cilostazol Versus Clopidogrel in Stented Patients under Proton Pump Inhibitor Co-administration: The ACCEL-PARAZOL Study. *J AtherosclerThromb*. 2014;21:1121-1139.

S13. Park JJ, Park KW, Kang J, Jeon KH, Kang SH, Ahn HS, et al. Genetic determinants of clopidogrel responsiveness in Koreans treated with drug-eluting stents. *Int J Cardiol*. 2013;163:79-86.

S14. Latkovskis G, Urtane I, Knipse A, Peculis R, Cakstina I, Klovins J, et al. Role of genetic factors on the effect of additional loading doses and two maintenance doses used to overcome clopidogrel hyporesponsiveness. *Medicina-Lithuania*. 2014;50:19-27.

S15. Palmerini T, Calabro P, Piscione F, De Servi S, Cattaneo M, Maffeo D, et al. Impact of Gene Polymorphisms, Platelet Reactivity, and the SYNTAX Score on 1-Year Clinical Outcomes in Patients With Non-ST-Segment Elevation Acute Coronary Syndrome Undergoing Percutaneous Coronary Intervention The GEPRESS Study. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. 2014;7:1117-1127.

S16. Kreutz RP, Nystrom P, Kreutz Y, Miao J, Desta Z, Breall JA, et al. Influence of paraoxonase-1 Q192R and cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphisms on clopidogrel response. *Clin Pharmacol.* 2012;4:13-20.

S17. Li X, Zhang L, Chen X, Qu F, Li J, Ma C, et al. PON1 Q192R genotype influences clopidogrel responsiveness by relative platelet inhibition instead of on-treatment platelet reactivity. *Thromb Res.* 2013;132:444-9.

S18. Fontana P, James R, Barazer I, Berdague P, Schved JF, Rebsamen M, et al. Relationship between paraoxonase-1 activity, its Q192R genetic variant and clopidogrel responsiveness in the ADRIE study. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2011;9:1664-6.

S19. Bonello L, Camoin-Jau L, Mancini J, Bessereau J, Grosdidier C, Alessi MC, et al. Factors associated with the failure of clopidogrel dose-adjustment according to platelet reactivity monitoring to optimize P2Y12-ADP receptor blockade. *Thromb Res.* 2012;130:70-4.

S20. Hulot JS, Collet JP, Cayla G, Silvain J, Allanic F, Bellemain-Appaix A, et al. CYP2C19 but not PON1 genetic variants influence clopidogrel pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and clinical efficacy in post-myocardial infarction patients. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*. 2011;4:422-8.

S21. Chan MY, Tan K, Tan HC, Huan PT, Li B, Phua QH, et al. CYP2C19 and PON1 polymorphisms regulating clopidogrel bioactivation in Chinese, Malay and Indian subjects. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2012;13:533-42.

S22. Zhang L, Chen Y, Jin Y, Qu F, Li J, Ma C, et al. Genetic determinants of high on-treatment platelet reactivity in clopidogrel treated Chinese patients. *Thromb Res.* 2013;132:81-7.

S23. Jeong YH, Kim IS, Park Y, Kang MK, Koh JS, Hwang SJ, et al. Carriage of cytochrome 2C19 polymorphism is associated with risk of high post-treatment platelet reactivity on high maintenancedose clopidogrel of 150 mg/day: results of the ACCEL-DOUBLE (Accelerated Platelet Inhibition by a Double Dose of Clopidogrel According to Gene Polymorphism) study. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. 2010;3:731-41.

S24. Spiewak M, Malek LA, Kostrzewa G, Kisiel B, Serafin A, Filipiak KJ, et al. Influence of C3435T multidrug resistance gene-1 (MDR-1) polymorphism on platelet reactivity and prognosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes. *Kardiol Pol*. 2009;67:827-34.

S25. Tang XF, Wang J, Zhang JH, Meng XM, Xu B, Qiao SB, et al. Effect of the CYP2C19 2 and 3 genotypes, ABCB1 C3435T and PON1 Q192R alleles on the pharmacodynamics and adverse clinical events of clopidogrel in Chinese people after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2013;69:1103-12.

S26. Wang XQ, Shen CL, Wang BN, Huang XH, Hu ZL and Li J. Genetic polymorphisms of CYP2C19*2 and ABCB1 C3435T affect the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic responses to clopidogrel in 401 patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Gene*. 2015;558:200-207.

S27. Calderon-Cruz B, Rodriguez-Galvan K, Manzo-Francisco LA, Vargas-Alarcon G, Fragoso JM, Pena-Duque MA, et al. C3435T polymorphism of the ABCB1 gene is associated with poor clopidogrel responsiveness in a Mexican population undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Thromb Res.* 2015;136:894-8.

S28. Zou JJ, Fan HW, Chen SL, Tan J, He BS and Xie HG. Efffect of the ABCC3 -211C/T polymorphism on clopidogrel responsiveness in patients with percutaneous coronary intervention. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*. 2013;40:504-9.

S29. Kreutz RP, Owens J, Jin Y, Nystrom P, Desta Z, Kreutz Y, et al. Cytochrome P450 3A4*22, PPARalpha, and ARNT polymorphisms and clopidogrel response. *Clin Pharmacol*. 2013;5:185-92.

S30. Peace AJ, Mangiacapra F, Bailleul E, Delrue L, Dierickx K, Conte M, et al. alpha(2A) -Adrenergic Receptor Polymorphism Potentiates Platelet Reactivity in Patients With Stable Coronary Artery Disease Carrying the Cytochrome P450 2C19*2 Genetic Variant. *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis and Vascular Biology*. 2014;34:1314-1319.

S31. Tarkiainen EK, Holmberg MT, Tornio A, Neuvonen M, Neuvonen PJ, Backman JT, et al. Carboxylesterase 1 c.428G>A single nucleotide variation increases the antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel by reducing its hydrolysis in humans. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2015;97:650-658.

S32. Zou JJ, Chen SL, Fan HW, Tan J, He BS and Xie HG. CES1A -816C as a Genetic Marker to Predict Greater Platelet Clopidogrel Response in Patients with Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol*. 2014;63:178-183.

S33. Xie C, Ding XL, Gao J, Wang HP, Hang YF, Zhang H, et al. The effects of CES1A2 A(-816)C and CYP2C19 loss-of-function polymorphisms on clopidogrel response variability among Chinese patients with coronary heart disease. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2014;24:204-210.

S34. Lee JM, Park S, Shin DJ, Choi D, Shim CY, Ko YG, et al. Relation of genetic polymorphisms in the cytochrome P450 gene with clopidogrel resistance after drug-eluting stent implantation in Koreans. *Am J Cardiol*. 2009;104:46-51.

S35. Simon T, Bhatt DL, Bergougnan L, Farenc C, Pearson K, Perrin L, et al. Genetic polymorphisms and the impact of a higher clopidogrel dose regimen on active metabolite exposure and antiplatelet response in healthy subjects. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2011;90:287-95.

S36. Mega JL, Close SL, Wiviott SD, Shen L, Hockett RD, Brandt JT, et al. Cytochrome p-450 polymorphisms and response to clopidogrel. *N Engl J Med*. 2009;360:354-62.

S37. Sibbing D, Koch W, Massberg S, Byrne RA, Mehilli J, Schulz S, et al. No association of paraoxonase-1 Q192R genotypes with platelet response to clopidogrel and risk of stent thrombosis after coronary stenting. *Eur Heart J*. 2011;32:1605-13.

S38. Nasyuhana Sani Y, Sheau Chin L, Luen Hui L, Mohd Redhuan Shah Edwin NE, Teck Hwa G, Serebruany VL, et al. The CYP2C19(*)1/(*)2 Genotype Does Not Adequately Predict Clopidogrel Response in Healthy Malaysian Volunteers. *Cardiol Res Pract*. 2013;2013:128795.

S39. Tsantes AE, Ikonomidis I, Papadakis I, Bonovas S, Gialeraki A, Kottaridi C, et al. Impact of the proton pump inhibitors and CYP2C19*2 polymorphism on platelet response to clopidogrel as assessed by four platelet function assays. *Thromb Res.* 2013;132:e105-11.

S40. Bonello-Palot N, Armero S, Paganelli F, Mancini J, De Labriolle A, Bonello C, et al. Relation of body mass index to high on-treatment platelet reactivity and of failed clopidogrel dose adjustment according to platelet reactivity monitoring in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Am J Cardiol*. 2009;104:1511-5.

S41. Mega JL, Hochholzer W, Frelinger AL, 3rd, Kluk MJ, Angiolillo DJ, Kereiakes DJ, et al. Dosing clopidogrel based on CYP2C19 genotype and the effect on platelet reactivity in patients with stable cardiovascular disease. *JAMA*. 2011;306:2221-8.

S42. Hwang SJ, Jeong YH, Kim IS, Park KS, Kang MK, Koh JS, et al. Cytochrome 2C19 polymorphism and response to adjunctive cilostazol versus high maintenance-dose clopidogrel in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv*. 2010;3:450-9.

S43. Hwang SJ, Jeong YH, Kim IS, Koh JS, Kang MK, Park Y, et al. The cytochrome 2C19*2 and *3 alleles attenuate response to clopidogrel similarly in East Asian patients undergoing elective percutaneous coronary intervention. *Thromb Res.* 2011;127:23-8.

S44. Liu XL, Wang ZJ, Yang Q, Ge HL, Gao F, Liu YY, et al. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism and smoking on response to clopidogrel in patients with stable coronary artery disease. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. 2010;123:3178-83.

S45. Gajos G, Zalewski J, Nessler J, Zmudka K, Undas A and Piwowarska W. Polyunsaturated omega-3 fatty acids improve responsiveness to clopidogrel after percutaneous coronary intervention in patients with cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism. *Kardiol Pol.* 2012;70:439-45.

S46. Frere C, Cuisset T, Morange PE, Quilici J, Camoin-Jau L, Saut N, et al. Effect of cytochrome p450 polymorphisms on platelet reactivity after treatment with clopidogrel in acute coronary syndrome. *Am J Cardiol*. 2008;101:1088-93.

S47. Hulot JS, Bura A, Villard E, Azizi M, Remones V, Goyenvalle C, et al. Cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism is a major determinant of clopidogrel responsiveness in healthy subjects. *Blood*. 2006;108:2244-7.

S48. Marcucci R, Giusti B, Paniccia R, Gori AM, Saracini C, Valente S, et al. High on-treatment platelet reactivity by ADP and increased risk of MACE in good clopidogrel metabolizers. *Platelets*. 2012;23:586-93.

S49. Shuldiner AR, O'Connell JR, Bliden KP, Gandhi A, Ryan K, Horenstein RB, et al. Association of cytochrome P450 2C19 genotype with the antiplatelet effect and clinical efficacy of clopidogrel therapy. *JAMA*. 2009;302:849-57.

S50. Fontana P, Senouf D and Mach F. Biological effect of increased maintenance dose of clopidogrel in cardiovascular outpatients and influence of the cytochrome P450 2C19*2 allele on clopidogrel responsiveness. *Thromb Res.* 2008;121:463-8.

S51. Bonello L, Armero S, Ait Mokhtar O, Mancini J, Aldebert P, Saut N, et al. Clopidogrel loading dose adjustment according to platelet reactivity monitoring in patients carrying the 2C19*2 loss of function polymorphism. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2010;56:1630-6.

S52. Gremmel T, Kopp CW, Moertl D, Seidinger D, Koppensteiner R, Panzer S, et al. Influence of cytochrome 2C19 allelic variants on on-treatment platelet reactivity evaluated by five different platelet function tests. *Thromb Res.* 2012;129:616-22.

S53. Collet JP, Hulot JS, Anzaha G, Pena A, Chastre T, Caron C, et al. High doses of clopidogrel to overcome genetic resistance: the randomized crossover CLOVIS-2 (Clopidogrel and Response Variability Investigation Study 2). *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. 2011;4:392-402.

S54. Oh IY, Park KW, Kang SH, Park JJ, Na SH, Kang HJ, et al. Association of cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism with clopidogrel response variability and cardiovascular events in Koreans treated with drug-eluting stents. *Heart*. 2012;98:139-44.

S55. Roberts JD, Wells GA, Le May MR, Labinaz M, Glover C, Froeschl M, et al. Point-of-care genetic testing for personalisation of antiplatelet treatment (RAPID GENE): a prospective, randomised, proof-of-concept trial. *Lancet*. 2012;379:1705-11.

S56. Tousoulis D, Siasos G, Zaromitidou M, Oikonomou E, Maniatis K, Kioufis S, et al. The impact of CYP2C19 genotype on cardiovascular events and platelet reactivity in patients with coronary artery disease receiving clopidogrel. *Int J Cardiol*. 2013;168:1594-6.

S57. Giusti B, Gori AM, Marcucci R, Saracini C, Sestini I, Paniccia R, et al. Cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism, but not CYP3A4 IVS10 + 12G/A and P2Y12 T744C polymorphisms, is associated with response variability to dual antiplatelet treatment in high-risk vascular patients. *Pharmacogenet Genomics*. 2007;17:1057-64.

S58. Geisler T, Schaeffeler E, Dippon J, Winter S, Buse V, Bischofs C, et al. CYP2C19 and nongenetic factors predict poor responsiveness to clopidogrel loading dose after coronary stent implantation. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2008;9:1251-9.

S59. Brandt JT, Close SL, Iturria SJ, Payne CD, Farid NA, Ernest CS, 2nd, et al. Common polymorphisms of CYP2C19 and CYP2C9 affect the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic response to clopidogrel but not prasugrel. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2007;5:2429-36.

S60. Alexopoulos D, Panagiotou A, Xanthopoulou I, Komninakis D, Kassimis G, Davlouros P, et al. Antiplatelet effects of prasugrel vs. double clopidogrel in patients on hemodialysis and with high ontreatment platelet reactivity. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2011;9:2379-85.

S61. Aleil B, Leon C, Cazenave JP and Gachet C. CYP2C19*2 polymorphism is not the sole determinant of the response to clopidogrel: implications for its monitoring. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2009;7:1747-9.

S62. Giusti B, Gori AM, Marcucci R, Saracini C, Sestini I, Paniccia R, et al. Relation of cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism to occurrence of drug-eluting coronary stent thrombosis. *Am J Cardiol.* 2009;103:806-11.

S63. Malek LA, Kisiel B, Spiewak M, Grabowski M, Filipiak KJ, Kostrzewa G, et al. Coexisting polymorphisms of P2Y12 and CYP2C19 genes as a risk factor for persistent platelet activation with clopidogrel. *Circ J*. 2008;72:1165-9.

S64. Trenk D, Hochholzer W, Fromm MF, Chialda LE, Pahl A, Valina CM, et al. Cytochrome P450 2C19 681G>A polymorphism and high on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity associated with adverse 1-year clinical outcome of elective percutaneous coronary intervention with drug-eluting or bare-metal stents. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2008;51:1925-34.

S65. Fontana P, Hulot JS, De Moerloose P and Gaussem P. Influence of CYP2C19 and CYP3A4 gene polymorphisms on clopidogrel responsiveness in healthy subjects. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2007;5:2153-5. S66. Hochholzer W, Trenk D, Fromm MF, Valina CM, Stratz C, Bestehorn HP, et al. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism and of major demographic characteristics on residual platelet function after loading and maintenance treatment with clopidogrel in patients undergoing elective coronary stent placement. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2010;55:2427-34.

S67. Sibbing D, Gebhard D, Koch W, Braun S, Stegherr J, Morath T, et al. Isolated and interactive impact of common CYP2C19 genetic variants on the antiplatelet effect of chronic clopidogrel therapy. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2010;8:1685-93.

S68. Pettersen AA, Arnesen H, Opstad TB and Seljeflot I. The influence of CYP 2C19*2 polymorphism on platelet function testing during single antiplatelet treatment with clopidogrel. *Thromb J*. 2011;9:4.

S69. Sardella G, Calcagno S, Mancone M, Palmirotta R, Lucisano L, Canali E, et al. Pharmacodynamic effect of switching therapy in patients with high on-treatment platelet reactivity and genotype variation with high clopidogrel Dose versus prasugrel: the RESET GENE trial. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* 2012;5:698-704.

S70. Shalia KK, Shah VK, Pawar P, Divekar SS and Payannavar S. Polymorphisms of MDR1, CYP2C19 and P2Y12 genes in Indian population: effects on clopidogrel response. *Indian Heart J*. 2013;65:158-67.

S71. Rossi JS, Cammarata M, Dharmavaram J, Weck K, Walko C, Gabriel D, et al. Clopidogrel dose adjustment after outpatient screening for CYP2C19 variant alleles: a pilot study. *Pharmacogenomics*. 2014;15:915-923.

S72. Tresukosol D, Suktitipat B, Hunnangkul S, Kamkaew R, Poldee S, Tassaneetrithep B, et al. Effects of Cytochrome P450 2C19 and Paraoxonase 1 Polymorphisms on Antiplatelet Response to Clopidogrel Therapy in Patients with Coronary Artery Disease. *Plos One*. 2014;9.

S73. Zhang SJ, Lai XQ, Li WX, Jing Z, Xiong ZL, Xu AD, et al. VASP phosphorylation and genetic polymorphism for clopidogrel resistance in Chinese patients with non-cardioembolic ischemic stroke. *Thromb Res.* 2014;134:1272-1277.

S74. Sun B, Li J, Dong M, Yang L, Wu C, Zhu L, et al. Diversity of platelet function and genetic polymorphism in clopidogrel-treated Chinese patients. *Genet Mol Res.* 2015;14:1434-1442.

S75. Bin Sayeed MS, Apu MNH, Munir MT, Ahmed MU, Islam MS, Haq MM, et al. Prevalence of CYP2C19 alleles, pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic variation of clopidogrel and prasugrel in Bangladeshi population. *ClinExp Pharmacol Physiol*. 2015;42:451-457.

S76. Li S, Shi Y, Wang HJ, Zhang W and Liu JF. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism on intra-stent thrombus assessed by follow-up optical coherence tomography in Chinese patients receiving clopidogrel. *J ThrombThrombolysis*. 2015;40:88-96.

S77. Nakkam N, Tiamkao S, Kanjanawart S, Tiamkao S, Vannaprasaht S, Tassaneeyakul W, et al. The impact of genetic polymorphisms of drug metabolizing enzymes on the pharmacodynamics of clopidogrel under steady state conditions. *Drug Metab Pharmacokinet*. 2015;30:295-304.

S78. Wei YQ, Wang DG, Yang H and Cao H. Cytochrome P450 CYP 2C19*2 Associated with Adverse 1-Year Cardiovascular Events in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Plos One*. 2015;10.

S79. Arya V, Mahajan P, Saraf A, Mohanty A, Sawhney JP and Bhargava M. Association of CYP2C19, CYP3A5 and GPIIb/IIIa gene polymorphisms with Aspirin and Clopidogrel Resistance in a cohort of Indian patients with Coronary Artery Disease. *Int J Lab Hematol*. 2015;37:809-18.

S80. Chen BL, Zhang W, Li Q, Li YL, He YJ, Fan L, et al. Inhibition of ADP-induced platelet aggregation by clopidogrel is related to CYP2C19 genetic polymorphisms. *Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol*. 2008;35:904-8.

S81. Kim IS, Choi BR, Jeong YH, Kwak CH and Kim S. The CYP2C19*2 and CYP2C19*3 polymorphisms are associated with high post-treatment platelet reactivity in Asian patients with acute coronary syndrome. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2009;7:897-9.

S82. Kang MK, Jeong YH, Yoon SE, Koh JS, Kim IS, Park Y, et al. Pre-procedural platelet reactivity after clopidogrel loading in korean patients undergoing scheduled percutaneous coronary intervention. *J Atheroscler Thromb*. 2010;17:1122-31.

S83. Zhang HZ, Kim MH, Han JY and Jeong YH. Defining predictive values using three different platelet function tests for CYP2C19 phenotype status on maintenance dual antiplatelet therapy after PCI. *Platelets*. 2014;25:285-91.

S84. Ono T, Kaikita K, Hokimoto S, Iwashita S, Yamamoto K, Miyazaki Y, et al. Determination of cut-off levels for on-clopidogrel platelet aggregation based on functional CYP2C19 gene variants in patients undergoing elective percutaneous coronary intervention. *Thromb Res.* 2011;128:e130-6.

S85. Zou JJ, Xie HG, Chen SL, Tan J, Lin L, Zhao YY, et al. Influence of CYP2C19 loss-of-function variants on the antiplatelet effects and cardiovascular events in clopidogrel-treated Chinese patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2013;69:771-7.

S86. Kaikita K, Ono T, Iwashita S, Nakayama N, Sato K, Horio E, et al. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism on platelet function tests and coagulation and inflammatory biomarkers in patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. *J Atheroscler Thromb*. 2014;21:64-76.

S87. Umemura K, Furuta T and Kondo K. The common gene variants of CYP2C19 affect pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics in an active metabolite of clopidogrel in healthy subjects. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2008;6:1439-41.

S88. Barker CM, Murray SS, Teirstein PS, Kandzari DE, Topol EJ and Price MJ. Pilot study of the antiplatelet effect of increased clopidogrel maintenance dosing and its relationship to CYP2C19 genotype in patients with high on-treatment reactivity. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* 2010;3:1001-7.

S89. Park KW, Park JJ, Lee SP, Oh IY, Suh JW, Yang HM, et al. Cilostazol attenuates on-treatment platelet reactivity in patients with CYP2C19 loss of function alleles receiving dual antiplatelet therapy: a genetic substudy of the CILON-T randomised controlled trial. *Heart*. 2011;97:641-7.

S90. Lee JB, Lee KA and Lee KY. Cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphism is associated with reduced clopidogrel response in cerebrovascular disease. *Yonsei Med J.* 2011;52:734-8.

S91. Nagashima Z, Tsukahara K, Morita S, Endo T, Sugano T, Hibi K, et al. Platelet reactivity in the early and late phases of acute coronary syndromes according to cytochrome P450 2C19 phenotypes. *J Cardiol*. 2013;62:158-64.

S92. Nishio R, Shinke T, Otake H, Nakagawa M, Inoue T, Hariki H, et al. Paraoxonase-1 activity affects the clopidogrel response in CYP2C19 loss-of-function carriers. *Thromb Res.* 2013;132:558-64.

S93. Gong IY, Crown N, Suen CM, Schwarz UI, Dresser GK, Knauer MJ, et al. Clarifying the importance of CYP2C19 and PON1 in the mechanism of clopidogrel bioactivation and in vivo antiplatelet response. *Eur Heart J.* 2012;33:2856-2464a.

S94. Price MJ, Murray SS, Angiolillo DJ, Lillie E, Smith EN, Tisch RL, et al. Influence of genetic polymorphisms on the effect of high- and standard-dose clopidogrel after percutaneous coronary intervention: the GIFT (Genotype Information and Functional Testing) study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2012;59:1928-37.

S95. Gladding P, Webster M, Zeng I, Farrell H, Stewart J, Ruygrok P, et al. The pharmacogenetics and pharmacodynamics of clopidogrel response: an analysis from the PRINC (Plavix Response in Coronary Intervention) trial. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. 2008;1:620-7.

S96. Grosdidier C, Quilici J, Loosveld M, Camoin L, Moro PJ, Saut N, et al. Effect of CYP2C19*2 and *17 genetic variants on platelet response to clopidogrel and prasugrel maintenance dose and relation to bleeding complications. *Am J Cardiol*. 2013;111:985-90.

S97. Jinnai T, Horiuchi H, Makiyama T, Tazaki J, Tada T, Akao M, et al. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphisms on the antiplatelet effect of clopidogrel in an actual clinical setting in Japan. *Circ J*. 2009;73:1498-503.

S98. Kim KA, Park PW, Hong SJ and Park JY. The effect of CYP2C19 polymorphism on the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of clopidogrel: a possible mechanism for clopidogrel resistance. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2008;84:236-42.

S99. Yamamoto K, Hokimoto S, Chitose T, Morita K, Ono T, Kaikita K, et al. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism on residual platelet reactivity in patients with coronary heart disease during antiplatelet therapy. *J Cardiol*. 2011;57:194-201.

S100. Maeda A, Ando H, Asai T, Ishiguro H, Umemoto N, Ohta M, et al. Differential impacts of CYP2C19 gene polymorphisms on the antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel and ticlopidine. *Clin Pharmacol Ther*. 2011;89:229-33.

S101. Kelly RP, Close SL, Farid NA, Winters KJ, Shen L, Natanegara F, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics following maintenance doses of prasugrel and clopidogrel in Chinese carriers of CYP2C19 variants. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2012;73:93-105.

S102. Subraja K, Dkhar SA, Priyadharsini R, Ravindra BK, Shewade DG, Satheesh S, et al. Genetic polymorphisms of CYP2C19 influences the response to clopidogrel in ischemic heart disease patients in the South Indian Tamilian population. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2013;69:415-22.

S103. Wu H, Qian J, Xu J, Sun A, Sun W, Wang Q, et al. Besides CYP2C19, PON1 genetic variant influences post-clopidogrel platelet reactivity in Chinese patients. *Int J Cardiol*. 2013;165:204-6.

S104. Wu H, Qian J, Sun A, Wang Q and Ge J. Association of CYP2C19 genotype with periprocedural myocardial infarction after uneventful stent implantation in Chinese patients receiving clopidogrel pretreatment. *Circ J.* 2012;76:2773-8.

S105. Park JJ, Park KW, Kang J, Jeon KH, Kang SH, Ahn HS, et al. CYP3A4 genetic status may be associated with increased vulnerability to the inhibitory effect of calcium-channel blockers on clopidogrel. *Circ J*. 2013;77:1289-96.

S106. Nakata T, Miyahara M, Nakatani K, Wada H, Tanigawa T, Komada F, et al. Relationship between CYP2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism and platelet reactivities with clopidogrel treatment in Japanese patients undergoing coronary stent implantation. *Circ J*. 2013;77:1436-44.

S107. Jeong YH, Abadilla KA, Tantry US, Park Y, Koh JS, Kwak CH, et al. Influence of CYP2C19*2 and *3 loss-of-function alleles on the pharmacodynamic effects of standard- and high-dose clopidogrel in East Asians undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: the results of the ACCEL-DOUBLE-2N3 study. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2013;11:1194-7.

S108. Chae H, Kim M, Koh YS, Hwang BH, Kang MK, Kim Y, et al. Feasibility of a microarray-based point-of-care CYP2C19 genotyping test for predicting clopidogrel on-treatment platelet reactivity. *Biomed Res Int*. 2013;2013:154073.

S109. Jia DM, Chen ZB, Zhang MJ, Yang WJ, Jin JL, Xia YQ, et al. CYP2C19 polymorphisms and antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel in acute ischemic stroke in China. *Stroke*. 2013;44:1717-9.

S110. Mejin M, Tiong WN, Lai LY, Tiong LL, Bujang AM, Hwang SS, et al. CYP2C19 genotypes and their impact on clopidogrel responsiveness in percutaneous coronary intervention. *Int J Clin Pharm*. 2013;35:621-8.

S111. Sukasem C, Tunthong R, Chamnanphon M, Santon S, Jantararoungtong T, Koomdee N, et al. CYP2C19 polymorphisms in the Thai population and the clinical response to clopidogrel in patients with atherothrombotic-risk factors. *Pharmgenomics Pers Med*. 2013;6:85-91.

S112. Kim HS, Chang K, Koh YS, Park MW, Choi YS, Park CS, et al. CYP2C19 poor metabolizer is associated with clinical outcome of clopidogrel therapy in acute myocardial infarction but not stable angina. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet*. 2013;6:514-21.

S113. Hokimoto S, Mizobe M, Akasaka T, Arima Y, Kaikita K, Nakagawa K, et al. Impact of CYP2C19 Polymorphism and Proton Pump Inhibitors on Platelet Reactivity to Clopidogrel and Clinical Outcomes Following Stent Implantation. *Thromb Res.* 2014;133:599-605.

S114. Liu T, Yin T, Li Y, Song LQ, Yu J, Si R, et al. CYP2C19 polymorphisms and coronary heart disease risk factors synergistically impact clopidogrel response variety after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Coronary Artery Disease*. 2014;25:412-420.

S115. Hokimoto S, Chitose T, Mizobe M, Akasaka T, Arima Y, Kaikita K, et al. Impact of CYP3A5 polymorphism on platelet reactivity at percutaneous coronary intervention and after 9 months of aspirin and clopidogrel therapy in Japanese patients with coronary artery disease. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2014;70:667-673.

S116. Mizobe M, Hokimoto S, Akasaka T, Arima Y, Kaikita K, Morita K, et al. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism on clinical outcome following coronary stenting is more important in non-diabetic than diabetic patients. *Thromb Res.* 2014;134:72-77.

S117. Guo BL, Tan QW, Guo DQ, Shi ZY, Zhang CY and Guo W. Patients carrying CYP2C19 loss of function alleles have a reduced response to clopidogrel therapy and a greater risk of in-stent restenosis after endovascular treatment of lower extremity peripheral arterial disease. *J Vasc Surg*. 2014;60:993-1001.

S118. Arima Y, Hokimoto S, Akasaka T, Mizobe K, Kaikita K, Oniki K, et al. Comparison of the effect of CYP2C19 polymorphism on clinical outcome between acute coronary syndrome and stable angina. *J Cardiol*. 2015;65:494-500.

S119. Konishi A, Shinke T, Otake H, Nishio R, Sawada T, Takaya T, et al. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism on intra-stent thrombi and lesion outcome after everolimuseluting stent implantation compared to that after first-generation drug-eluting stent implantation. *Int J Cardiol*. 2015;179:476-483.

S120. Tang N, Yin SY, Sun ZY, Xu XD and Qin J. The relationship between on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity, genotype, and post-percutaneous coronary intervention outcomes in Chinese patients. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest*. 2015;75:223-229.

S121. Hokimoto S, Akasaka T, Tabata N, Arima Y, Tsujita K, Sakamoto K, et al. Impact of esomeprazole on platelet reactivity and clinical outcome according to CYP2C19 genotype in coronary heart disease patients during dual antiplatelet therapy. *Thromb Res.* 2015;135:1081-1086.

S122. Han Y, Lv HH, Liu X, Dong Q, Yang XL, Li SX, et al. Influence of Genetic Polymorphisms on Clopidogrel Response and Clinical Outcomes in Patients with Acute Ischemic Stroke CYP2C19 Genotype on Clopidogrel Response. *CNS Neurosci Ther*. 2015;21:692-697.

S123. Qiu LN, Sun Y, Wang L, Han RF, Xia XS, Liu J, et al. Influence of CYP2C19 polymorphisms on platelet reactivity and clinical outcomes in ischemic stroke patients treated with clopidogrel. *Eur J Pharmacol*. 2015;747:29-35.

S124. Jeong YH, Park Y, Muse WC, Kwon TJ, Koh JS, Hwang SJ, et al. Pharmacodynamic effect of clopidogrel therapy and switching to cilostazol in patients with the CYP2C19 loss-of-function allele (ACCEL-SWITCH) study. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2012;10:1685-8.

S125. Frere C, Cuisset T, Gaborit B, Alessi MC and Hulot JS. The CYP2C19*17 allele is associated with better platelet response to clopidogrel in patients admitted for non-ST acute coronary syndrome. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2009;7:1409-11.

S126. Dai ZL, Chen H and Wu XY. Relationship between cytochrome P450 2C19*17 genotype distribution, platelet aggregation and bleeding risk in patients with blood stasis syndrome of coronary artery disease treated with clopidogrel. *Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Xue Bao*. 2012;10:647-54.

S127. Oestreich JH, Best LG and Dobesh PP. Prevalence of CYP2C19 variant alleles and pharmacodynamic variability of aspirin and clopidogrel in Native Americans. *American Heart Journal*. 2014;167:413-418.

S128. Angiolillo DJ, Fernandez-Ortiz A, Bernardo E, Ramirez C, Cavallari U, Trabetti E, et al. Contribution of gene sequence variations of the hepatic cytochrome P450 3A4 enzyme to variability in individual responsiveness to clopidogrel. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2006;26:1895-900.
S129. Park KW, Kang J, Park JJ, Yang HM, Lee HY, Kang HJ, et al. Amlodipine, clopidogrel and CYP3A5 genetic variability: effects on platelet reactivity and clinical outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention. *Heart*. 2012;98:1366-72.

S130. Kim KA, Park PW and Park JY. Effect of CYP3A5*3 genotype on the pharmacokinetics and antiplatelet effect of clopidogrel in healthy subjects. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol*. 2008;64:589-97.

S131. Smith SM, Judge HM, Peters G, Armstrong M, Fontana P, Gaussem P, et al. Common sequence variations in the P2Y12 and CYP3A5 genes do not explain the variability in the inhibitory effects of clopidogrel therapy. *Platelets*. 2006;17:250-8.

S132. Motovska Z, Widimsky P, Kvasnicka J, Petr R, Bilkova D, Hajkova J, et al. High loading dose of clopidogrel is unable to satisfactorily inhibit platelet reactivity in patients with glycoprotein IIIA gene polymorphism: a genetic substudy of PRAGUE-8 trial. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*. 2009;20:257-62.

S133. Giusti B, Gori AM, Marcucci R, Sestini I, Saracini C, Paniccia R, et al. Role of glycoprotein la gene polymorphisms in determining platelet function in myocardial infarction patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention on dual antiplatelet treatment. *Atherosclerosis*. 2008;196:341-8. S134. Angiolillo DJ, Fernandez-Ortiz A, Bernardo E, Ramirez C, Cavallari U, Trabetti E, et al. Variability in platelet aggregation following sustained aspirin and clopidogrel treatment in patients with coronary heart disease and influence of the 807 C/T polymorphism of the glycoprotein la gene. *Am J Cardiol*. 2005;96:1095-9.

S135. Angiolillo DJ, Fernandez-Ortiz A, Bernardo E, Ramirez C, Escaned J, Moreno R, et al. 807 C/T Polymorphism of the glycoprotein la gene and pharmacogenetic modulation of platelet response to dual antiplatelet treatment. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*. 2004;15:427-33.

S136. Lev EI, Patel RT, Guthikonda S, Lopez D, Bray PF and Kleiman NS. Genetic polymorphisms of the platelet receptors P2Y(12), P2Y(1) and GP IIIa and response to aspirin and clopidogrel. *Thromb Res.* 2007;119:355-60.

S137. Angiolillo DJ, Fernandez-Ortiz A, Bernardo E, Alfonso F, Sabate M, Fernandez C, et al. PIA polymorphism and platelet reactivity following clopidogrel loading dose in patients undergoing coronary stent implantation. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*. 2004;15:89-93.

S138. Sibbing D, von Beckerath O, Schomig A, Kastrati A and von Beckerath N. P2Y1 gene A1622G dimorphism is not associated with adenosine diphosphate-induced platelet activation and aggregation after administration of a single high dose of clopidogrel. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2006;4:912-4.

S139. Kar R, Meena A, Yadav BK, Yadav R, Kar SS and Saxena R. Clopidogrel resistance in North Indian patients of coronary artery disease and lack of its association with platelet ADP receptors P2Y1 and P2Y12 gene polymorphisms. *Platelets*. 2013;24:297-302.

S140. Cuisset T, Frere C, Quilici J, Morange PE, Saut N, Lambert M, et al. Role of the T744C polymorphism of the P2Y12 gene on platelet response to a 600-mg loading dose of clopidogrel in 597 patients with non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndrome. *Thromb Res.* 2007;120:893-9.

S141. Angiolillo DJ, Fernandez-Ortiz A, Bernardo E, Ramirez C, Cavallari U, Trabetti E, et al. Lack of association between the P2Y12 receptor gene polymorphism and platelet response to clopidogrel in patients with coronary artery disease. *Thromb Res.* 2005;116:491-7.

S142. Zoheir N, Abd Elhamid S, Abulata N, El Sobky M, Khafagy D and Mostafa A. P2Y12 receptor gene polymorphism and antiplatelet effect of clopidogrel in patients with coronary artery disease after coronary stenting. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*. 2013;24:525-31.

S143. Bura A, Bachelot-Loza C, Ali FD, Aiach M and Gaussem P. Role of the P2Y12 gene polymorphism in platelet responsiveness to clopidogrel in healthy subjects. *J Thromb Haemost*. 2006;4:2096-7.

S144. Bonello L, Bonello-Palot N, Armero S, Bonello C, Mokhtar OA, Arques S, et al. Impact of P2Y12-ADP receptor polymorphism on the efficacy of clopidogrel dose-adjustment according to platelet reactivity monitoring in coronary artery disease patients. *Thromb Res*. 2010;125:e167-70.

S145. Staritz P, Kurz K, Stoll M, Giannitsis E, Katus HA and Ivandic BT. Platelet reactivity and clopidogrel resistance are associated with the H2 haplotype of the P2Y12-ADP receptor gene. *Int J Cardiol*. 2009;133:341-5.

S146. von Beckerath N, von Beckerath O, Koch W, Eichinger M, Schomig A and Kastrati A. P2Y12 gene H2 haplotype is not associated with increased adenosine diphosphate-induced platelet aggregation after initiation of clopidogrel therapy with a high loading dose. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*. 2005;16:199-204.

S147. Tang XF, Zhang JH, Wang J, Han YL, Xu B, Qiao SB, et al. Effects of coexisting polymorphisms of CYP2C19 and P2Y12 on clopidogrel responsiveness and clinical outcome in patients with acute coronary syndromes undergoing stent-based coronary intervention. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. 2013;126:1069-75.

S148. Galic E, Vrbanic L, Kapitanovic S, Catela Ivkovic T, Petro D, Vukovic I, et al. P2RY12 gene polymorphisms and effect of clopidogrel on platelet aggregation. *Coll Antropol.* 2013;37:491-8.

S149. Rudez G, Bouman HJ, van Werkum JW, Leebeek FW, Kruit A, Ruven HJ, et al. Common variation in the platelet receptor P2RY12 gene is associated with residual on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity in patients undergoing elective percutaneous coronary interventions. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet*. 2009;2:515-21.

S150. Gremmel T, Kopp CW, Steiner S, Seidinger D, Ay C, Koppensteiner R, et al. The P-selectin gene Pro715 allele and low levels of soluble P-selectin are associated with reduced P2Y12 adenosine diphosphate receptor reactivity in clopidogrel-treated patients. *Atherosclerosis*. 2011;217:135-8.

Appendix 2 – Reference List for Tables in Chapter 3

T1. Sibbing D, Koch W, Gebhard D, Schuster T, Braun S, Stegherr J, et al. Cytochrome 2C19*17 allelic variant, platelet aggregation, bleeding events, and stent thrombosis in clopidogrel-treated patients with coronary stent placement. Circulation. 2010;121(4):512-8.

T2. Spiewak M, Malek LA, Kostrzewa G, Kisiel B, Serafin A, Filipiak KJ, et al. Influence of C3435T multidrug resistance gene-1 (MDR-1) polymorphism on platelet reactivity and prognosis in patients with acute coronary syndromes. Kardiol Pol. 2009;67(8):827-34.

T3. Shuldiner AR, O'Connell JR, Bliden KP, Gandhi A, Ryan K, Horenstein RB, et al. Association of cytochrome P450 2C19 genotype with the antiplatelet effect and clinical efficacy of clopidogrel therapy. JAMA. 2009;302(8):849-57.

T4. Giusti B, Gori AM, Marcucci R, Saracini C, Sestini I, Paniccia R, et al. Relation of cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism to occurrence of drug-eluting coronary stent thrombosis. Am J Cardiol. 2009;103(6):806-11.

T5. Sibbing D, Stegherr J, Latz W, Koch W, Mehilli J, Dorrler K, et al. Cytochrome P450 2C19 lossof-function polymorphism and stent thrombosis following percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur Heart J. 2009;30(8):916-22.

T6. Collet JP, Hulot JS, Pena A, Villard E, Esteve JB, Silvain J, et al. Cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphism in young patients treated with clopidogrel after myocardial infarction: a cohort study. Lancet. 2009;373(9660):309-17.

T7. Mega JL, Close SL, Wiviott SD, Shen L, Hockett RD, Brandt JT, et al. Cytochrome p-450 polymorphisms and response to clopidogrel. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(4):354-62.

T8. Simon T, Verstuyft C, Mary-Krause M, Quteineh L, Drouet E, Meneveau N, et al. Genetic determinants of response to clopidogrel and cardiovascular events. N Engl J Med. 2009;360(4):363-75.

T9. Trenk D, Hochholzer W, Fromm MF, Chialda LE, Pahl A, Valina CM, et al. Cytochrome P450 2C19 681G>A polymorphism and high on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity associated with adverse 1year clinical outcome of elective percutaneous coronary intervention with drug-eluting or baremetal stents. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2008;51(20):1925-34.

T10. Suh JW, Koo BK, Zhang SY, Park KW, Cho JY, Jang IJ, et al. Increased risk of atherothrombotic events associated with cytochrome P450 3A5 polymorphism in patients taking clopidogrel. CMAJ. 2006;174(12):1715-22.

T11. Ziegler S, Schillinger M, Funk M, Felber K, Exner M, Mlekusch W, et al. Association of a functional polymorphism in the clopidogrel target receptor gene, P2Y12, and the risk for ischemic cerebrovascular events in patients with peripheral artery disease. Stroke. 2005;36(7):1394-9.

T12. Syros G, Mehran R, Weisz G, Kittas C, Moses JW, Leon M, et al. Role of PLA2 polymorphism on clinical events after percutaneous coronary intervention. Acute Card Care. 2009;11(2):88-91.
T13. Hochholzer W, Trenk D, Fromm MF, Valina CM, Stratz C, Bestehorn HP, et al. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism and of major demographic characteristics on

residual platelet function after loading and maintenance treatment with clopidogrel in patients undergoing elective coronary stent placement. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2010;55(22):2427-34.

T14. Wallentin L, James S, Storey RF, Armstrong M, Barratt BJ, Horrow J, et al. Effect of CYP2C19 and ABCB1 single nucleotide polymorphisms on outcomes of treatment with ticagrelor versus clopidogrel for acute coronary syndromes: a genetic substudy of the PLATO trial. Lancet. 2010;376(9749):1320-8.

T15. Mega JL, Close SL, Wiviott SD, Shen L, Walker JR, Simon T, et al. Genetic variants in ABCB1 and CYP2C19 and cardiovascular outcomes after treatment with clopidogrel and prasugrel in the TRITON-TIMI 38 trial: a pharmacogenetic analysis. Lancet. 2010;376(9749):1312-9.

T16. Pare G, Mehta SR, Yusuf S, Anand SS, Connolly SJ, Hirsh J, et al. Effects of CYP2C19 genotype on outcomes of clopidogrel treatment. N Engl J Med. 2010;363(18):1704-14.

T17. Malek LA, Przyluski J, Spiewak M, Klopotowski M, Kostrzewa G, Kruk M, et al. Cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphism, suboptimal reperfusion and all-cause mortality in patients with acute myocardial infarction. Cardiology. 2010;117(2):81-7.

T18. Harmsze AM, van Werkum JW, Ten Berg JM, Zwart B, Bouman HJ, Breet NJ, et al. CYP2C19*2 and CYP2C9*3 alleles are associated with stent thrombosis: a case-control study. Eur Heart J. 2010;31(24):3046-53.

T19. Tiroch KA, Sibbing D, Koch W, Roosen-Runge T, Mehilli J, Schomig A, et al. Protective effect of the CYP2C19 *17 polymorphism with increased activation of clopidogrel on cardiovascular events. Am Heart J. 2010;160(3):506-12.

T20. Sawada T, Shinke T, Shite J, Honjo T, Haraguchi Y, Nishio R, et al. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism on intra-stent thrombus after drug-eluting stent implantation in Japanese patients receiving clopidogrel. Circ J. 2011;75(1):99-105.

T21. Simon T, Steg PG, Gilard M, Blanchard D, Bonello L, Hanssen M, et al. Clinical events as a function of proton pump inhibitor use, clopidogrel use, and cytochrome P450 2C19 genotype in a large nationwide cohort of acute myocardial infarction: results from the French Registry of Acute ST-Elevation and Non-ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction (FAST-MI) registry. Circulation. 2011;123(5):474-82.

T22. Sibbing D, Koch W, Massberg S, Byrne RA, Mehilli J, Schulz S, et al. No association of paraoxonase-1 Q192R genotypes with platelet response to clopidogrel and risk of stent thrombosis after coronary stenting. Eur Heart J. 2011;32(13):1605-13.

T23. Bouman HJ, Schomig E, van Werkum JW, Velder J, Hackeng CM, Hirschhauser C, et al. Paraoxonase-1 is a major determinant of clopidogrel efficacy. Nat Med. 2011;17(1):110-6.

T24. Trenk D, Hochholzer W, Fromm MF, Zolk O, Valina CM, Stratz C, et al. Paraoxonase-1 Q192R polymorphism and antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel in patients undergoing elective coronary stent placement. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2011;4(4):429-36.

T25. Campo G, Parrinello G, Ferraresi P, Lunghi B, Tebaldi M, Miccoli M, et al. Prospective evaluation of on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity over time in patients treated with percutaneous coronary intervention relationship with gene polymorphisms and clinical outcome. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2011;57(25):2474-83.

T26. Oh IY, Park KW, Kang SH, Park JJ, Na SH, Kang HJ, et al. Association of cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism with clopidogrel response variability and cardiovascular events in Koreans treated with drug-eluting stents. Heart. 2012;98(2):139-44.

T27. Rideg O, Komocsi A, Magyarlaki T, Tokes-Fuzesi M, Miseta A, Kovacs GL, et al. Impact of genetic variants on post-clopidogrel platelet reactivity in patients after elective percutaneous coronary intervention. Pharmacogenomics. 2011;12(9):1269-80.

T28. Simon T, Steg PG, Becquemont L, Verstuyft C, Kotti S, Schiele F, et al. Effect of paraoxonase-1 polymorphism on clinical outcomes in patients treated with clopidogrel after an acute myocardial infarction. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 2011;90(4):561-7.

T29. Hulot JS, Collet JP, Cayla G, Silvain J, Allanic F, Bellemain-Appaix A, et al. CYP2C19 but not PON1 genetic variants influence clopidogrel pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and clinical efficacy in post-myocardial infarction patients. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2011;4(5):422-8.

T30. Cayla G, Hulot JS, O'Connor SA, Pathak A, Scott SA, Gruel Y, et al. Clinical, angiographic, and genetic factors associated with early coronary stent thrombosis. JAMA. 2011;306(16):1765-74.

T31. Jeong YH, Tantry US, Kim IS, Koh JS, Kwon TJ, Park Y, et al. Effect of CYP2C19*2 and *3 lossof-function alleles on platelet reactivity and adverse clinical events in East Asian acute myocardial infarction survivors treated with clopidogrel and aspirin. Circ Cardiovasc Interv. 2011;4(6):585-94.

T32. Mega JL, Hochholzer W, Frelinger AL, 3rd, Kluk MJ, Angiolillo DJ, Kereiakes DJ, et al. Dosing clopidogrel based on CYP2C19 genotype and the effect on platelet reactivity in patients with stable cardiovascular disease. JAMA. 2011;306(20):2221-8.

T33. Luo Y, Zhao YT, Verdo A, Qi WG, Zhang DF, Hu B. Relationship between cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism and stent thrombosis following percutaneous coronary intervention in Chinese patients receiving clopidogrel. J Int Med Res. 2011;39(5):2012-9.

T34. Siller-Matula JM, Delle-Karth G, Lang IM, Neunteufl T, Kozinski M, Kubica J, et al. Phenotyping vs. genotyping for prediction of clopidogrel efficacy and safety: the PEGASUS-PCI study. J Thromb Haemost. 2012;10(4):529-42.

T35. Teixeira R, Monteiro P, Marques G, Pego J, Lourenco M, Tavares C, et al. CYP2C19*2 and prognosis after an acute coronary syndrome: Insights from a Portuguese center. Rev Port Cardiol. 2012;31(4):265-73.

T36. Marcucci R, Giusti B, Paniccia R, Gori AM, Saracini C, Valente S, et al. High on-treatment platelet reactivity by ADP and increased risk of MACE in good clopidogrel metabolizers. Platelets. 2012;23(8):586-93.

T37. Bhatt DL, Pare G, Eikelboom JW, Simonsen KL, Emison ES, Fox KA, et al. The relationship between CYP2C19 polymorphisms and ischaemic and bleeding outcomes in stable outpatients: the CHARISMA genetics study. Eur Heart J. 2012;33(17):2143-50.

T38. Dai ZL, Chen H, Wu XY. Relationship between cytochrome P450 2C19*17 genotype distribution, platelet aggregation and bleeding risk in patients with blood stasis syndrome of coronary artery disease treated with clopidogrel. Zhong Xi Yi Jie He Xue Bao. 2012;10(6):647-54.

T39. Chen DY, Wang CY, Wen MS, Lee TH, Chu Y, Hsieh MJ, et al. Paraoxonase-1 is not a major determinant of stent thrombosis in a Taiwanese population. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e39178.

T40. Park KW, Kang J, Park JJ, Yang HM, Lee HY, Kang HJ, et al. Amlodipine, clopidogrel and CYP3A5 genetic variability: effects on platelet reactivity and clinical outcomes after percutaneous coronary intervention. Heart. 2012;98(18):1366-72.

T41. Nishio R, Shinke T, Otake H, Sawada T, Haraguchi Y, Shinohara M, et al. Effect of cytochrome P450 2C19 polymorphism on target lesion outcome after drug-eluting stent implantation in japanese patients receiving clopidogrel. Circ J. 2012;76(10):2348-55.

T42. Verschuren JJ, Boden H, Wessels JA, van der Hoeven BL, Trompet S, Heijmans BT, et al. Value of platelet pharmacogenetics in common clinical practice of patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Int J Cardiol. 2013;167(6):2882-8.

T43. Wu H, Qian J, Sun A, Wang Q, Ge J. Association of CYP2C19 genotype with periprocedural myocardial infarction after uneventful stent implantation in Chinese patients receiving clopidogrel pretreatment. Circ J. 2012;76(12):2773-8.

T44. Zou JJ, Xie HG, Chen SL, Tan J, Lin L, Zhao YY, et al. Influence of CYP2C19 loss-of-function variants on the antiplatelet effects and cardiovascular events in clopidogrel-treated Chinese patients undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;69(4):771-7.

T45. Tang XF, Wang J, Zhang JH, Meng XM, Xu B, Qiao SB, et al. Effect of the CYP2C19 2 and 3 genotypes, ABCB1 C3435T and PON1 Q192R alleles on the pharmacodynamics and adverse clinical events of clopidogrel in Chinese people after percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;69(5):1103-12.

T46. Peng Y, Chen M, Liu XJ, Liu W, Li Q, Chai H, et al. The CYP2C19 genotype does not impact the long-term prognosis of patients with coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis. 2013;227(1):106-11.

T47. Tousoulis D, Siasos G, Zaromitidou M, Oikonomou E, Maniatis K, Kioufis S, et al. The impact of CYP2C19 genotype on cardiovascular events and platelet reactivity in patients with coronary artery disease receiving clopidogrel. Int J Cardiol. 2013;168(2):1594-6.

T48. Tang XF, Zhang JH, Wang J, Han YL, Xu B, Qiao SB, et al. Effects of coexisting polymorphisms of CYP2C19 and P2Y12 on clopidogrel responsiveness and clinical outcome in patients with acute coronary syndromes undergoing stent-based coronary intervention. Chin Med J (Engl). 2013;126(6):1069-75.

T49. Xie X, Ma YT, Yang YN, Li XM, Ma X, Fu ZY, et al. CYP2C19 phenotype, stent thrombosis, myocardial infarction, and mortality in patients with coronary stent placement in a Chinese population. PLoS One. 2013;8(3):e59344.

T50. Kang YH, Lao HY, Wu H, Lai WH, Li XX, Yu XY, et al. Association of PON1 genotype and haplotype with susceptibility to coronary artery disease and clinical outcomes in dual antiplatelet-treated Han Chinese patients. Eur J Clin Pharmacol. 2013;69(8):1511-9.

T51. Jia DM, Chen ZB, Zhang MJ, Yang WJ, Jin JL, Xia YQ, et al. CYP2C19 polymorphisms and antiplatelet effects of clopidogrel in acute ischemic stroke in China. Stroke. 2013;44(6):1717-9.
T52. Spokoyny I, Barazangi N, Jaramillo V, Rose J, Chen C, Wong C, et al. Reduced clopidogrel metabolism in a multiethnic population: prevalence and rates of recurrent cerebrovascular events. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2014;23(4):694-8.

T53. Liang ZY, Han YL, Zhang XL, Li Y, Yan CH, Kang J. The impact of gene polymorphism and high on-treatment platelet reactivity on clinical follow-up: outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndrome after drug-eluting stent implantation. EuroIntervention. 2013;9(3):316-27.

T54. Nagashima Z, Tsukahara K, Morita S, Endo T, Sugano T, Hibi K, et al. Platelet reactivity in the early and late phases of acute coronary syndromes according to cytochrome P450 2C19 phenotypes. J Cardiol. 2013;62(3):158-64.

T55. Rothenbacher D, Hoffmann MM, Breitling LP, Rajman I, Koenig W, Brenner H. Cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism in patients with stable coronary heart disease and risk for secondary

cardiovascular disease events: results of a long-term follow-up study in routine clinical care. BMC Cardiovasc Disord. 2013;13:61.

T56. Kim HS, Chang K, Koh YS, Park MW, Choi YS, Park CS, et al. CYP2C19 poor metabolizer is associated with clinical outcome of clopidogrel therapy in acute myocardial infarction but not stable angina. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2013;6(5):514-21.

T57. Nishio R, Shinke T, Otake H, Nakagawa M, Inoue T, Hariki H, et al. Paraoxonase-1 activity affects the clopidogrel response in CYP2C19 loss-of-function carriers. Thromb Res. 2013;132(5):558-64.

T58. Viviani Anselmi C, Briguori C, Roncarati R, Papa L, Visconti G, Focaccio A, et al. Routine assessment of on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity and gene polymorphisms in predicting clinical outcome following drug-eluting stent implantation in patients with stable coronary artery disease. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2013;6(11):1166-75.

T59. Lin YJ, Li JW, Zhang MJ, Qian L, Yang WJ, Zhang CL, et al. The association between CYP2C19 genotype and of in-stent restenosis among patients with vertebral artery stent treatment. CNS Neurosci Ther. 2014;20(2):125-30.

T60. Hokimoto S, Mizobe M, Akasaka T, Arima Y, Kaikita K, Nakagawa K, et al. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism and proton pump inhibitors on platelet reactivity to clopidogrel and clinical outcomes following stent implantation. Thromb Res. 2014;133(4):599-605.

T61. Martinez-Quintana E, Medina-Gil JM, Rodriguez-Gonzalez F, Garay-Sanchez P, Liminana JM, Saavedra P, et al. Positive clinical response to clopidogrel is independent of paraoxonase 1 Q192R and CYP2C19 genetic variants. J Clin Pharmacol. 2014;54(8):843-9.

T62. Zou JJ, Chen SL, Fan HW, Tan J, He BS, Xie HG. CES1A -816C as a genetic marker to predict greater platelet clopidogrel response in patients with percutaneous coronary intervention. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol. 2014;63(2):178-83.

T63. Xie C, Ding X, Gao J, Wang H, Hang Y, Zhang H, et al. The effects of CES1A2 A(-816)C and CYP2C19 loss-of-function polymorphisms on clopidogrel response variability among Chinese patients with coronary heart disease. Pharmacogenet Genomics. 2014;24(4):204-10.

T64. Shetkar SS, Ramakrishnan S, Seth S, Chandna P, Verma SK, Bhargava B, et al. CYP 450 2C19 polymorphisms in Indian patients with coronary artery disease. Indian Heart J. 2014;66(1):16-24.
T65. Cresci S, Depta JP, Lenzini PA, Li AY, Lanfear DE, Province MA, et al. Cytochrome p450 gene variants, race, and mortality among clopidogrel-treated patients after acute myocardial infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Genet. 2014;7(3):277-86.

T66. Yoshimura H, Kaikita K, Ono T, Iwashita S, Nakayama N, Sato K, et al. Lack of association between peri-procedural myocardial damage and CYP2C19 gene variant in elective percutaneous coronary intervention. Heart Vessels. 2015;30(5):572-9.

T67. Mizobe M, Hokimoto S, Akasaka T, Arima Y, Kaikita K, Morita K, et al. Impact of CYP2C19 polymorphism on clinical outcome following coronary stenting is more important in non-diabetic than diabetic patients. Thromb Res. 2014;134(1):72-7.

T68. Guo B, Tan Q, Guo D, Shi Z, Zhang C, Guo W. Patients carrying CYP2C19 loss of function alleles have a reduced response to clopidogrel therapy and a greater risk of in-stent restenosis after endovascular treatment of lower extremity peripheral arterial disease. J Vasc Surg. 2014;60(4):993-1001.

T69. Depta JP, Lenzini PA, Lanfear DE, Wang TY, Spertus JA, Bach RG, et al. Clinical outcomes associated with proton pump inhibitor use among clopidogrel-treated patients within CYP2C19 genotype groups following acute myocardial infarction. Pharmacogenomics J. 2015;15(1):20-5.

T70. Arima Y, Hokimoto S, Akasaka T, Mizobe K, Kaikita K, Oniki K, et al. Comparison of the effect of CYP2C19 polymorphism on clinical outcome between acute coronary syndrome and stable angina. J Cardiol. 2015;65(6):494-500.

T71. Sun W, Li Y, Li J, Zhang Z, Zhu W, Liu W, et al. Variant recurrent risk among stroke patients with different CYP2C19 phenotypes and treated with clopidogrel. Platelets. 2015;26(6):558-62.

T72. Zhang JH, Tang XF, Zhang Y, Wang J, Yao Y, Ma YL, et al. Relationship between ABCB1 polymorphisms, thromboelastography and risk of bleeding events in clopidogrel-treated patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Thromb Res. 2014;134(5):970-5.

T73. Palmerini T, Calabro P, Piscione F, De Servi S, Cattaneo M, Maffeo D, et al. Impact of gene polymorphisms, platelet reactivity, and the SYNTAX score on 1-year clinical outcomes in patients with non-ST-segment elevation acute coronary syndrome undergoing percutaneous coronary intervention: the GEPRESS study. JACC Cardiovasc Interv. 2014;7(10):1117-27.

T74. Konishi A, Shinke T, Otake H, Nishio R, Sawada T, Takaya T, et al. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19 loss-of-function polymorphism on intra-stent thrombi and lesion outcome after everolimus-eluting stent implantation compared to that after first-generation drug-eluting stent implantation. Int J Cardiol. 2015;179:476-83.

T75. Qiu LN, Sun Y, Wang L, Han RF, Xia XS, Liu J, et al. Influence of CYP2C19 polymorphisms on platelet reactivity and clinical outcomes in ischemic stroke patients treated with clopidogrel. Eur J Pharmacol. 2015;747:29-35.

T76. Tang N, Yin SY, Sun ZY, Xu XD, Qin J. The relationship between on-clopidogrel platelet reactivity, genotype, and post-percutaneous coronary intervention outcomes in Chinese patients. Scand J Clin Lab Inv. 2015;75(3):223-9.

T77. Sun B, Li J, Dong M, Yang L, Wu C, Zhu L, et al. Diversity of platelet function and genetic polymorphism in clopidogrel-treated Chinese patients. Genet Mol Res. 2015;14(1):1434-42.

T78. Li S, Shi Y, Wang H, Zhang W, Liu J. Impact of cytochrome P450 2C19*2 polymorphism on intra-stent thrombus assessed by follow-up optical coherence tomography in Chinese patients receiving clopidogrel. J Thromb Thrombolysis. 2015;40(1):88-96.

T79. Tabata N, Hokimoto S, Akasaka T, Arima Y, Sakamoto K, Yamamoto E, et al. Patients with both CYP2C19 loss-of-function allele and peripheral endothelial dysfunction are significantly correlated with adverse cardiovascular events following coronary stent implantation. J Cardiol. 2016;67(1):104-9.

T80. Sen HM, Silan F, Silan C, Degirmenci Y, Ozisik Kamaran HI. Effects of CYP2C19 and P2Y12 Gene Polymorphisms on Clinical Results of Patients Using Clopidogrel after Acute Ischemic Cerebrovascular Disease. Balkan J Med Genet. 2014;17(2):37-41.

T81. McDonough CW, McClure LA, Mitchell BD, Gong Y, Horenstein RB, Lewis JP, et al. CYP2C19 metabolizer status and clopidogrel efficacy in the Secondary Prevention of Small Subcortical Strokes (SPS3) study. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;4(6):e001652.

T82. Wei YQ, Wang DG, Yang H, Cao H. Cytochrome P450 CYP 2C19*2 Associated with Adverse
1-Year Cardiovascular Events in Patients with Acute Coronary Syndrome. PLoS One.
2015;10(7):e0132561.